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Department of Justice  
Annual Report 2014-15
 
It is with pleasure that I introduce the annual 
report of the Department of Justice for the 
2014–15 financial year. It has been a year of 
progress and change.
I have been impressed with results achieved 
in many of our projects and programs of 
work supporting our core vision of a just 
and safe place for the people of NSW. The 
breadth of our work encompassed legislative 
changes which have made the laws easier 
to understand and to apply, the expansion 
of programs to reduce crime and reoffending 
in adults and young people, the creation 
of simpler online systems that meet our 
customers’ needs and initiatives to address 
the terrible issue of domestic violence in our 
communities.
The Domestic Violence Justice Strategy 
2013-2017 is now in its second year of 
implementation. A number of legal reforms, 
aligned with this strategy, are fundamentally 
changing and improving the way we address 
this tragic and unacceptable situation for 
the victims of violence at the hands of family 
members. Legislation changes have allowed 
information sharing to facilitate victims’ 
access to domestic violence support services, 
domestic violence complainants can now 
give their evidence in chief by way of a prior 
recorded video or audio statement without 
having to face their partner or family member 
in court and senior police can now determine 
applications for provisional Apprehended 
Domestic Violence Orders. 
Our Department assists the Attorney General 
and other Ministers in the management of over 
200 pieces of legislation. This year, in a first for 
Australia, legislative change in NSW creates 
a presumption in favour of recording and 
broadcasting certain judgment remarks of the 
Supreme Court and District Court delivered in 
open court. In May, the State Coroner allowed 
video recording of the opening address of 
the inquest into the Lindt Cafe siege with the 

Department live streaming the event on the 
Department’s website, the first ever live online 
streaming of a NSW court matter. A recent 
Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research 
Report has shown an increase over the past 
four years in public confidence in the justice 
system. I strongly believe that making it more 
accessible to the public is an important step in 
demystifying the system.
In the case of the tragic events that unfolded 
in Martin Place, in December 2014, I am 
immensely proud of the exceptional work 
of our Sheriff’s Officers who worked behind 
the scenes. Many of our officers were on site 
throughout the siege offering comfort and 
support to the families of the hostages and 
providing liaison and support to the emergency 
services involved. 
In 2014-15, Corrective Services responded to 
continued growth in inmate numbers meeting 
the demand pressure successfully with 
increased staffing and additional beds within 
existing facilities. The year ahead will be a 
challenging one as we continue to work within 
our resources but think creatively to solve the 
issues created by rising inmate numbers.
The disproportionate number of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people in contact with 
the criminal justice system in NSW presents a 
continuing challenge for the Department. The 
complexity of the issues is well represented by 
recent recognition, in our system, that a history 
of victimisation is likely to be a contributing 
factor to offending behaviour. Counselling 
is now offered to Aboriginal women inmates 
who have themselves been victims of a violent 
crime as a child or as an adult prior to their 
incarceration. A wide and diverse number of 
programs are in place for Aboriginal offenders 
to reduce risks of reoffending. As well, in adult 
and juvenile corrections, there is a focus on 
maintaining strong connection to community. 
Also making a powerful impact on risks of 
reoffending, is Corrective Services Industries 
providing work opportunities to inmates at 
106 commercial business units and 54 service 
industries. Particularly successful, this year, 
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was the Heavy Vehicle Driver Training Program. 
Of the 117 participants released from custody, 
87 have secured either full-time or casual 
employment, a 74 per cent increase on last 
year’s result and an outstanding outcome with a 
very real chance of changing lives for the better.
During the year, Corrective Services innovation 
was also recognised with a Premier’s Award 
for Zachary Xie, developer of the Criminal Re-
imprisonment Estimate Scale, an Australian-
first analytical tool to determine the probability 
of reoffending or a return to custody. 
In the centre of the City of Sydney, the Safe 
Space Program, providing support for young 
people on weekend nights, has proved its 
worth with the Department continuing to invest, 
in partnership with the City of Sydney and other 
agencies, to de-escalate potentially harmful, 
alcohol fuelled situations - from violence to 
sexual assault to traffic incidents. 
Our year ahead looks to be as busy with 
change, reform and improvement. Results 
at the State election in March 2015 brought 
revision of our ministerial and Justice 
Cluster arrangements. I am proud to say the 
Department responded with flexibility and 
agility to meet the challenges of change as 
it continues to do as we move forward to 
2015-16 and welcome new divisions into our 
Department and agencies into the Justice 
Cluster. Department changes have focused on 
bringing our corporate services systems up 
to date – a fundamental in any modern public 
organisation meeting the challenges of the drive 
for better use of public resources and emerging 
demands. 
Achieving efficiencies in the way we run our 
organisation means we can focus even more 
on the services we provide to the community. 
An exciting and important piece of work in 
the justice sector in the coming year is the 
development of a Civil Justice Strategy. Of the 
almost three million people in NSW with a legal 
problem each year, 86 per cent are civil legal 
problems. Nearly 20 per cent do not pursue 
legal action as they perceive it will take too 
long and be too stressful and around three 
per cent of civil disputes are finalised through 
legal proceedings in a court or tribunal. These 

remarkable statistics demonstrate the need for 
a new approach. 
As is elsewhere evident in the Department, 
technology is playing an increasingly important 
role in Corrective Services procedures. This 
year, over 44,000 court and NSW State Parole 
Authority appearances were facilitated via video 
conferencing, representing nearly two thirds of 
all court appearances and a massive reduction 
in costly and high-risk inmate movements. As 
well, over 200 visits were made to loved ones in 
custody via video conferencing – visits that, for 
many, are simply impossible any other way.
Court users are a central beneficiary of 
improved technologies. Alongside our major 
capitol works program to refurbish courts, 
including, this year, completion of the Coffs 
Harbour justice complex, there has been 
marked progress in electronic connections 
between justice agencies, between justice 
facilities with audio-visual links and between 
court users and the justice system through 
the online registry. As the online registry 
reduces the need to physically visit a facility, 
preparations were undertaken this year for 
trialling of an online court allowing users to 
conduct more court business at a distance. 
Technological innovation can also be seen 
in the trialling, during the year, of an online 
dispute resolution service by the NSW Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal to reduce expense and 
increase convenience for the parties. 
I look forward to leading the Department’s 
executive team and the Justice Cluster 
agencies into the new year and continuing our 
work in the range of reforms necessary to build 
and maintain a just and safe society in NSW, 
to provide effective coordination of emergency 
responses across the State and to support and 
enhance the arts in NSW.

Andrew Cappie-Wood 
Secretary
October 2015
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Our role
The Department of Justice is committed to 
justice and safety for the people of NSW. 
To meet this commitment, the Department 
manages courts and justice services, 
implements programs to reduce crime 
and reoffending, manages custodial and 
community-based correctional services for 
adult and juvenile offenders, protects rights 
and community standards and provides 
services and programs to support the 
vulnerable and advises on law reform and legal 
matters. 
The Department is responsible for: 

 ^ advising the government on law, justice and 
legal reforms

 ^ administering courts, tribunals and 
alternative dispute resolution services

 ^ implementing effective intervention and 
diversionary programs to reduce re 
offending risks, prevent crime and divert, 
support and rehabilitate young and adult 
offenders

 ^ providing support services for victims of 
crime including counselling, compensation 
and court support

 ^ delivering offence-specific programs 
relating to violence and sexual offending

 ^ supervising and monitoring adult offenders 
in the community

 ^ supervising children and young people in 
custody, on bail or sentenced to community 
based orders

 ^ providing secure, safe and humane 
management of juvenile detainees and 
adult inmates

 ^ providing legal, professional and regulatory 
services

 ^ recording life events 
 ^ providing responsive services to vulnerable 

members of the community requiring life 
management and decision-making support. 

The Justice Cluster
The Department of Justice is the Principal 
Department for the Justice Cluster. The Cluster 
is made up of 12 agencies which together 
provide effective and efficient operation of the 
justice and emergency services systems in 
NSW.
These agencies are:

 ^ Department of Justice (Principal 
Department)

 ^ NSW Police Force
 ^ Legal Aid NSW
 ^ Information and Privacy Commission NSW
 ^ Judicial Commission of NSW
 ^ Crown Solicitor’s Office
 ^ Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 

NSW
 ^ NSW Crime Commission
 ^ Ministry for Police and Emergency Services
 ^ Fire and Rescue NSW
 ^ NSW State Emergency Service
 ^ NSW Rural Fire Service 
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Organisation structure
The Secretary oversees the Department’s nine divisions and one Office. The Divisions and their 
constituent Branches are as follows.

Office of the Secretary

 ê Ministerial and Executive 
Services

 ê Communications and Public 
Affairs

Organisational Performance 
and Operations 

 ê General Counsel
 ê Organisational Performance 

and Governance
 ê Business Support Centre
 ê Corporate Services 

Management Office
 ê Information Communications 

and Technology Services
 ê Asset Management Services
 ê Registry of Births, Deaths 

and Marriages

Justice Strategy and Policy 

 ê Civil Justice Strategy Project
 ê Strategy and Policy
 ê Performance and System 

Design
 ê Regulation and Customer 

Service Bodies
 ê Victims Services
 ê Bureau of Crime Statistics 

and Research
 ê Statutory Offices1

 ê Expert Advisory Bodies2

Corrective Services NSW 

 ê Community Corrections
 ê Custodial Corrections
 ê Governance and Continuous 

Improvement
 ê Offender Management 

Programs
 ê Security and Intelligence
 ê Strategy and Policy
 ê Corrections Reform

Courts and Tribunal 
Services

 ê Supreme Court
 ê Land and Environment Court
 ê Industrial Court and Industrial 

Relations Commission
 ê District Courts
 ê Local Courts 
 ê NSW Civil and Administrative 

Tribunal and tribunals
 ê Court Support Services

Juvenile Justice 

 ê Operational Standards and 
Compliance

 ê Operations
 ê Metropolitan Northern Region
 ê Metropolitan Southern Region
 ê Western Region
 ê Northern Region
 ê Office of the Executive 

Director

NSW Trustee & Guardian 

 ê Public Guardian
 ê Client Services
 ê Specialist Services
 ê Finance and Funds 

Management
 ê Business Development
 ê Quality Control and Audit

Finance 

 ê Management Accounting
 ê Treasury and External 

Reporting
 ê Financial Reporting
 ê Financial Strategy
 ê Procurement

Strategic Human Resources 

 ê Strategic Workplace Relations 
and Ethics

 ê Strategic Talent and 
Workforce Management

 ê Strategic Projects and Policy
 ê Division Business Partners

1.Statutory Offices are: Inspector of Custodial Services; Legal Services Council; Solicitor General and Crown Advocate and 
Public Defenders Office. 2.Expert Advisory Bodies are: Law Reform Commission; Sentencing Council; Domestic Violence 
Death Review Team and Victims Advisory Board.

Office of the Solicitor General and Crown Advocate
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The executive team

The Secretary of the Department leads the executive team made up of the following roles.
 ^ Secretary (Chair) 

 Andrew Cappie-Wood
 ^ Deputy Secretary Organisational Performance and Operations 

 Peter Connelly
 ^ Deputy Secretary Justice Strategy and Policy 

 Brendan Thomas 
 ^ Deputy Secretary (Commissioner) Corrective Services NSW 

 Peter Severin
 ^ Deputy Secretary Courts and Tribunal Services 

 Michael Talbot
 ^ Executive Director Juvenile Justice 

 Valda Rusis
 ^ Executive Director NSW Trustee & Guardian 

 Imelda Dodds
 ^ Executive Director Finance 

 John Clark
 ^ Executive Director Strategic Human Resources 

 Amber Williams 

The executive team works with the Secretary to maintain an overview of the Department’s 
performance. The Executive monitors the delivery of strategic priorities, and financial and 
organisational performance.
 
The executive team oversees the progress of Government, Justice Cluster and Department plans 
and priorities such as NSW 2021, roadmaps, savings plans, Department strategic and business 
plans, and ensures Ministers and the Government are appropriately advised.
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NSW 2021 Goals and the Department Strategic 
Plan 2014-2015

1. Prevent and reduce Crime
A. Build safe and resilient communities
B. Reduce the number of individuals entering  

the Criminal Justice System
C. Reduce high volume and high impact crime
D. Strategic support for the cluster approach to 

target organised crime

3. Leading practice offender management
A. Improve effectiveness of offender 

management in custody/community
B. Target and increase success rates of 

intervention programs, contributing to a 
reduction in reoffending

C. Drive sustainability of custodial facilities

Goal 30 Restore trust in State and Local 
Government as a service provider

Goal 31 Improve government transparency 
by increasing access to government 
information

Goal 32 Involve the community in decision 
making on government policy, 
services and projects

 
The Department of Justice Strategic Plan 
2014-2015 sets the strategic direction for the 
Department. This plan is the key to ensuring 
we achieve our strategic goals, including 
government commitments and priorities.

 
Department of Justice Strategic Plan 2014-2015

The Department of Justice contributes to and 
supports NSW 2021 government commitments 
and regional action plans. Our Department 
partners with other NSW government agencies 
to deliver on 2021 goals. The goals the 
Department contributes to and supports include 
the following:
Goal 16 Prevent and reduce the level of crime
Goal 17 Prevent and reduce the level of 

reoffending
Goal 18 Improve community confidence in the 

justice system
Goal 23 Increase opportunities for people to 

look after their own neighbourhoods 
and environments

2. Create courts and tribunals that put 
people first

A. Support and improve charge and pre-trial 
processes

B. Support and improve civil remedies and  
access to alternative dispute resolution

C. Improve court and tribunal administration 
processes and services

D. Improve effectiveness of penalties and 
sentencing options

4. Protection of rights and provision of 
support for the most vulnerable

A. Reduce over representation of Aboriginal 
people in the Criminal Justice System

B. Improve services provided to victims of crime
C. Improve support for people with mental 

health and cognitive impairments
D. Representation and strengthening of life 

matters for individuals

5. Innovative organisation providing high 
quality and value for money services

A. Increase adaptability and appropriateness of 
justice processes

B. Improve community understanding and 
confidence in the criminal justice system

C. Maximise efficiency and effectiveness of 
Department and cluster corporate services

D. Deliver key strategic frameworks and plans 
for the cluster

E. Deliver government budget and savings 
targets
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Prevent and reduce 
crime

 ^ Implementation of the Domestic Violence 
Justice Strategy 2013-2017 including legal 
reforms for information sharing to better 
facilitate victims’ access to support services, 
allowing complainants to give evidence in 
chief by way of a recorded video or audio 
statement and allowing senior police to 
determine applications for provisional 
Apprehended Domestic Violence Orders.

 ^ The Safer Community Compacts Program 
awarding of monies to 13 NSW local 
councils in urban, coastal and regional 
NSW for programs targeting malicious 
damage, graffiti, assaults, break and enter, 
mail theft, steal from motor vehicle and steal 
from retail. 

 ^ Extension of the Safe Space Program, in 
Sydney’s CBD, for three years as a result of 
its successful contribution to de-escalation 
of late-night, alcohol-fuelled violence.

 ^ Expansion of the Youth on Track early 
intervention scheme a further five police 
local area commands at Manning Great 
Lakes, Port Stephens, Lake Macquarie, 
Mount Druitt, and Quakers Hill with 
management of the scheme transferred to 
Juvenile Justice, in early 2015, to ensure a 
streamlined approach to early interventions 
for young people at risk of entering the 
criminal justice system. 

 ^ The Crimes (High Risk Offenders) Act 
2006, enacted in early 2015, providing 
for extended supervision and continuing 
detention of high risk sex offenders and 
high risk violent offenders, strengthening 
the safety and protection of the community.

 ^ A newly established collaboration between 
Corrective Services Extended Supervision 
Order Team, Security and Intelligence, 
Psychological Services, and the Office of 
the General Counsel resulting in a ‘wrap-
around’ service for Extended Supervision 
Orders that enhances protection of the 
community while ensuring offenders 
address their offending behaviour.

 ^ Amendments to the Bail Act 2013 
introducing a ‘show cause’ requirement 
for adults charged with serious offences 
to justify their release on bail thereby 
tightening requirements as an added 
community protection.

 ^ Initial meetings held and progress begun 
towards development of a national scheme 
for unexplained wealth targeting proceeds 
of organised crime.

 ^ Support for Graffiti Removal Day continuing 
to grow with volunteers in 2014 almost 
doubling from 1,090 to 1,889 and sites 
increasing from 210 to 275.

 ^ 3,846 hours of graffiti removal completed 
by young offenders supervised by Juvenile 
Justice. 

 
Create courts and 
tribunals that put 
people first

 ^ The successful trial of an online dispute 
resolution service by the NSW Civil 
and Administrative Tribunal to facilitate 
negotiation and resolution of disputes 
with reduced expense and increased 
convenience for the parties.

 ^ Successful completion of the Final Court 
Outcomes Project, the final stage of 
the Joined Up Justice Police Project. 
Judgments of guilty or not guilty and the 
sentence are transferred in near real time to 
the NSW Police Force.

 ^ The Courts Audio Visual Link Project 
achieving upgrades to eight Local and 
District Courts including installations at five 
new court locations. 

 ^ Launch of the Search NSW Court List 
mobile application replicating online 
searchable court lists, attracting 6,000 
installs on smart devices and registering 
5,000 hits per day by the end of the 
reporting year.

 ^ Trial of a user-pays model for reporting 
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and transcription services for multi-day 
civil matters in the Supreme Court civil 
jurisdiction designed to lower costs, reduce 
delays and increase availability of transcripts 
for clients and users.

 ^ Finalisation of the implementation of the 
Jury Management System with outcomes 
including reduction of waiting times in jury 
assembly rooms from an average of three 
hours to 25 minutes using an airline type 
check-in service. 

 ^ Implementation of a more user-friendly, 
scalable and cost effective online Caselaw 
website which, since going live in early 
2015, attracted 2.5 million page views with 
some 180,000 unique users on smartphone, 
tablet and web-browsers - all  achieved with 
zero downtime.

 ^ Court Services receipt of $12.4m in funding 
over four years, commencing 2014-15, to 
support increased work in the Children’s 
Court.

 ^ Exceeding of state government key 
performance indicators for court clearances 
in Local and District Courts.

Leading practice 
offender management

 ^ Facilitation, by Corrective Services, 
of  44,802 court and NSW State Parole 
Authority appearances via video 
conferencing, representing 63.1 per cent of 
all court appearances and 207 occasions 
when families benefited from a visit with their 
loved one in custody via video conferencing.

 ^ The trial of trauma-informed practice training 
to frontline staff at Dillwynia and Silverwater 
Women’s Correctional Centres.

 ^ In education and vocational training 
programs, a total of 433 certificate courses 
completed through all providers including 
TAFE NSW, Corrective Services NSW Adult 
Education and Vocational Training Institute 
and distance education, a 32 per cent 
increase from the previous year.

 ^ Corrective Services Industries continuing 
provision of work opportunities to inmates 

at 106 commercial business units and 54 
service industries in 26 correctional centres. 
In 2014-15, 139 inmates successfully 
completed the Heavy Vehicle Driver Training 
Program, up from 58 inmates last year. Of 
117 participants released from custody, 
87 have secured either full-time or casual 
employment, a 74 per cent increase on last 
year.

 ^ The cost of custody services per inmate per 
day, in the secure category, at $190.29, was 
a decrease from 2013-14 ($193.90) and 
well below the 2013-14 national average of 
$226.67.

 ^ The conversion of Kariong Correctional 
Centre to accommodate short-sentenced 
(less than two years) male young adult 
(18-25 years) offenders, with a focus on 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, 
where specific program pathways motivate 
behavioural change to deter offenders from 
entrenchment in the system.  

 ^ Launch of the Funded Partnership Initiative 
in September 2014. Under the Initiative, a 
total of 18 funding agreements signed with 
15 non-government organisations. Service 
delivery, across NSW, focuses on post-
release support for higher risk offenders to 
assist in reducing reoffending and improving 
public safety. 

 ^ An overall completion rate of 71 per cent for 
offender programs delivered in custody and 
in the community. 

 ^ In 2014-15, 43 offenders (97.7 per cent)
completed the intensive Custody-based 
Intensive Treatment program, a six to ten 
month treatment program for male inmates 
who have sexually abused adults or children 
and are at a moderate to high risk of 
reoffending. This is an increase of 48 per 
cent on 2013-14.

 ^ In 2014-15, the completion rate for male 
participants in the Gurnang Life Challenge, 
at Oberon Correctional Centre, increased to 
71 per cent from 59 per cent in 2013-14.

 ^ In 2014-15, the completion rate for alcohol, 
drugs, and addiction programs was 72.6 per 
cent, continuing increases reported in 2013-
14 (68.5 per cent) and 2012-13 (66.9 per 
cent).
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 ^ Introduction of new, tamper-resistant 
e-monitoring anklets and tracking software 
for offenders on community orders and 
expansion of the program across the State.

 ^ Response to continued growth in 
adult inmate numbers with changes to 
infrastructure and staffing and an additional 
1,641 beds created within existing facilities.

 ^ Finalisation of the Extreme Threat Inmate 
Management Policy which covers all 
extreme risk inmates, such as gang 
members, for implementation in 2015-16.

 ^ Successful completion of an innovative 
pilot program to formally involve families in 
offender case management conducted at 
the Intensive Drug and Alcohol Treatment 
Program and at the Bolwara Transitional 
Centre. 

 ^ A review of community and practice 
resources and community roles in Juvenile 
Justice to simplify employment structures, 
improve delivery of quality programs to 
young people and ensure equitable resource 
allocation across the State.

 ^ Introduction of an evidence-based screening 
tool by Juvenile Justice to assist youth 
justice conferencing convenors to identify 
a young person’s strengths and underlying 
needs. 

 ^ Development and implementation, by 
Juvenile Justice, of the Chisholm Behaviour 
Program to manage high classification A1 
detainees who present with challenging 
behaviours. The program facilitated the 
transfer of high risk young offenders from 
Kariong Correctional Centre back into the 
Juvenile Justice population.

 ^ Development and implementation by 
Corrective Services of a new suite of 
programs to reduce reoffending, EQUIPS 
(Explore, Question, Understand, Investigate, 
Practice, and Succeed) consisting of 
EQUIPS Foundation (a general offender 
program), EQUIPS Aggression, EQUIPS 
Addiction, and EQUIPS Domestic Abuse. 

 ^ Transfer of forum sentencing services, from 
the Justice Strategy and Policy Division to 
Corrective Services, providing an opportunity 
for strategic alignment of restorative justice 
services for adults across NSW.

 ^ Commencement of an inter-agency project 
to develop a NSW Strategy to Reduce 
Reoffending led by the Department of 
Justice. 

 
Protection of rights and 
provision of support for 
the most vulnerable

 ^ The launch of the Corrective Services 
Strategy for Supporting Aboriginal Offenders 
to Desist from Reoffending and the formation 
of the Aboriginal Advisory Council.

 ^ Launch of the Juvenile Justice Working 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Peoples Good Practice Guide to support the 
Division’s Cultural Respect Framework.

 ^ Expansion of the It Stops Here: Safer 
Pathway for victims of domestic or family 
violence who are ‘at threat’ or at ‘serious 
threat’ to their life, health or safety to 
Bankstown, Broken Hill, Parramatta and 
Tweed Heads.

 ^ A specialist support service response 
delivered to the victims of the Lindt Café 
Siege in Martin Place.

 ^ Results of a three-year research project, 
completed by the University of NSW, 
showing restorative justice programs 
successfully meeting unmet justice needs 
of victims and offenders in the aftermath of 
serious, often violent, crime.

 ^ Statewide Disability Services training and 
support for 821 custodial and non-custodial 
staff to better manage offenders with 
disabilities and assist with identifying and 
providing access to services and programs.

 ^ Initiation, by NSW Trustee & Guardian, 
of a cross-sector partnership to deliver 
information for carers in Aboriginal 
communities as part of the NSW Carers 
Strategy 2014-2019, including development 
of a culturally appropriate resource for 
Aboriginal people on planning ahead 
documents, Taking Care of Business.

 ^ Corrective Services facilitation of 463 Work 
and development orders discharging a total 
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debt of over $850,000 owed by offenders to 
the Office of State Revenue and Juvenile 
Justice facilitation of 485 Orders, resulting in 
fines worth $302,961 being repaid.

 ^ Evaluation of the Bail Assistance Line, 
for juvenile offenders, by the Sydney 
University Institute of Criminology, resulting 
in recommendations for further expansion of 
services and continued training and liaison 
with the NSW Police Force. 

 ^ Trialling of Approved Counselling Services 
to inmates in Dillwynia and Wellington 
Correctional Centres who were victims of 
a violent crime as a child or as an adult, 
acknowledging that a history of victimisation 
is likely to be a contributing factor to 
offending behaviour.

 ^ In a partnership between Victims 
Services Branch and Juvenile Justice, 
victim’s counselling provided to juvenile 
detainees at Reiby and Juniperina Juvenile 
Justice centres, with nearly 300 hours of 
individualised counselling provided.

 
Innovative organisation 
providing high quality 
and value for money 
services

 ^ In a first for Australia, legislative change 
creating a presumption in favour of recording 
and broadcasting certain judgment remarks 
of the Supreme Court and District Court 
delivered in open court.

 ^ Improvements in process efficiencies at the 
Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages 
including system improvements to LifeLink, 
a business system launched in June 2014. 
As a direct result, the Registry returned to 
profitability in the months of March, April and 
May in 2015.

 ^ Commencement of the Criminal Records 
Amendment (Historical Homosexual 
Offences) Act 2014 allowing convictions 
for historical homosexual offences to be 
extinguished.  

 ^ Contributions to, and preparations for, 
commencement of the Legal Profession 

Uniform Law Application Act 2014 
introducing a uniform approach to admission 
and regulation of the legal profession across 
NSW and Victoria.  

 ^ A new online application process for Justices 
of the Peace.

 ^ A new legal topic, After Someone Dies, 
added to the LawAccess website as part of 
its free legal information service providing 
help for people dealing with deceased 
estates.

 ^ Development, by the Bureau of Crime 
Statistics and Research, of statistical models 
to predict future demands on the criminal 
justice system and measure the flow-on 
impact of policy changes.  In April 2015, the 
Bureau published a forecast of the growth in 
the NSW prison population up to 2036. 

 ^ A public survey conducted by the Bureau 
of Crime Statistics and Research finding 
that confidence in the NSW criminal justice 
system has increased between 2007 and 
2014.

 ^ Two community education seminars, 
facilitated by Juvenile Justice in collaboration 
with the Sydney Institute of Criminology, 
titled Descent into crime: Serious repeat 
offending in the early to mid-life course and 
Ephebiphobia: Why are we scared of young 
people?

 ^ Restructure of the legal teams from across 
the Department into the single Office of the 
General Counsel to streamline legal support 
services in the Department. 

 ^ Under the Corporate Services 
Transformation Program, the procurement 
of an enterprise resource planning system, 
SAP ‘as a service’, using cloud technology 
housed in the NSW Government Data 
Centre, to provide a consolidated finance 
and human resources management 
technology solution.

 ^ Completion of construction of the Coffs 
Harbour Justice Precinct including a new 
courthouse and police station at a combined 
cost of $142m.

 ^ A 2,668 square metre reduction in leased 
CBD office accommodation, under the whole 
of government Decade of Decentralisation 
Policy, achieved through a building works 
program and 54 separate office relocations 
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involving more than 980 staff.
 ^ The successful first year of a five-year 

implementation of the Information and 
Communications Technology Consolidation, 
Optimisation, Remediation and 
Enhancement program addressing long-
standing critical infrastructure, application 
and information management risks within 
key areas of the Department including 
moving all staff into a single network for the 
first time.

 ^ The One Department One Web Project 
resulting in a new internet and intranet 
bringing diverse digital services onto one 
platform and restructuring information to 
focus on needs of customers, stakeholders 
and employees.

 ^ A central governance model established 
to manage the Department’s social media 
presence and business areas assisted 
with specialist advice to strengthen their 
presence and customer engagement online.
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Build safe and resilient communities
 
Reduce the number of individuals 
entering the Criminal Justice System
 
Reduce high volume and high impact 
crime
 
Strategic support for the cluster 
approach to target organised crime

In 2014-15, the Department continued to partner with communities, business 
and other government agencies, across a diverse range of programs, to 
reduce crime and build safe and resilient communities. 
Programs included interventions to divert young people from entrenchment in 
the criminal justice system. For offenders of all ages, whose drug addictions 
motivate criminal activity or whose circumstances have led them into a 
personal downward spiral, a wide range of opportunities for life improvement 
and alternate pathways were made available to reduce the number of people 
entering the criminal justice system.
Other initiatives looked at ways communities could be better protected and 
safety enhanced through funding of community programs targeting crime 
prevention. In the case of high risk offenders, legislative change during 
the year provided for extended supervision and continuing detention of 
sex offenders and violent offenders to ensure safety and protection of the 
community. Recommendations from the High Risk Offenders Taskforce, 
implemented by Corrective Services, included introduction of Emergency 
Detention Orders.
Domestic violence was addressed with a range of coordinated programs 
under The Domestic Violence Justice Strategy 2013-2017 with implementation 
of changes for victims and for offenders. Importantly, this includes 
development of a multi-agency response to address victim’s immediate needs 
for safety and access to support.
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Build safe and resilient 
communities

Community safety grants
During 2014–15, the Safer Community 
Compacts Program awarded monies to 13 
NSW local councils in urban, coastal and 
regional NSW. These grants were made to 
assist councils develop and implement local 
crime prevention strategies for identified local 
crime problems. The crimes targeted included 
malicious damage, graffiti, assaults, break and 
enter, mail theft, steal from motor vehicles and 
steal from retail. 
The strategies funded included community 
education, information campaigns, crime 
prevention audits, Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design improvements at local 
crime hotspots - including car parks, pedestrian 
walkways and laneways, providing security 
items for homes and vehicles and providing 
late-night transport options.

In the year ahead
With funds made available from the Proceeds 
of Crime Fund, in March 2015, the NSW 
Government committed to providing $10m over 
four years to implement a Community Safety 
Fund.
In 2015-16, the Department will undertake 
consultation to determine the best use of 
the funds then implement a program which 
gives funding opportunities to community and 
business groups for solutions which:

 ^ address local crime hotspots 
 ^ address anti-social behaviour in local 

communities 
 ^ promote safe and inclusive use of public 

space
 ^ promote collaborative approaches to 

community safety and crime reduction 
initiatives. 

Safe Space in Sydney’s CBD
The Safe Space is part of the government’s 
holistic response to alcohol-related violence 
in Sydney’s central business district which 
included changes to liquor licensing 
restrictions. 
The Safe Space is run by the Salvation Army 
and assisted by the Thomas Kelly Youth 
Foundation. Since its inception in December 
2014, it has reduced the potential of harm to 
intoxicated and vulnerable persons on Friday 
and Saturday nights by providing a shelter, 
water for hydration, information about transport 
services and referrals to appropriate services. 
The Safe Space has helped to de-escalate a 
number of potentially harmful situations – from 
violence to sexual assault to traffic incidents.
The Department contributed to the plan of 
management and provided funding in 2014-
15 to support the implementation of the Safe 
Space enabling it to run from December 
2014 to March 2015. In February 2015, the 
Department contributed an additional $37,500 
to enable the Safe Space to function for an 
additional three months. 
The City of Sydney Council was identified as 
the lead agency and has extended the program 
for three years. The Department has agreed 
to provide $100,000 to the Salvation Army for 
each of the next three financial years, up to 
June 2018, to assist in the ongoing operation of 
the Safe Space.

Graffiti Removal Day 
The Department again partnered with Rotary 
Down Under to deliver Graffiti Removal Day 
on 26 October 2014.   Support for the day 
continues to grow and 2014 saw the number 
of volunteers who participated increase from 
1,090 to 1,889 and the number of sites cleaned 
increase from 210 to 275 locations across 
NSW.  The combined work of volunteers in 
2014 resulted in 20,937 square metres of graffiti 
being removed providing a significant benefit 
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to local communities.   Volunteers were also 
supported by 56 councils across NSW.

Community graffiti partnerships
In 2014-15, Juvenile Justice maintained 
community partnerships with 65 community 
and government organisations within the 
Community Service Order and Community 
Clean Up Order schemes. The schemes 
together achieved a total number of 3,846 
hours of graffiti removal.
Juvenile Justice administers the Community 
Clean Up Order scheme as part of the 
Government’s strategy to address graffiti 
vandalism. Community Clean Up Orders assist 
young people to pay their fines by participating 
in graffiti removal, as well as participating in 
graffiti prevention program, De-Tag.
De-Tag is an educational program that is 
used as part of Community Clean Up Orders 
to engage young people in discussion on 
topics related to graffiti. It is a theory-based 
program specifically for graffiti offenders. It was 
developed by the Police-Citizens Youth Clubs 
in conjunction with the Department of Justice.
Juvenile Justice has staff trained in the delivery 
of De-Tag in 13 Juvenile Justice community 
offices and in three Juvenile Justice centres. 
Ninety-three young people were referred to the 
De-Tag Program in 2014-15. 
 

Reduce the number of 
individuals entering the 
Criminal Justice System
Youth on Track
The Youth on Track early intervention scheme 
commenced operation on 1 July 2013 in 
Newcastle, Mid-North Coast and Blacktown 
NSW Police Force Local Area Commands. 
The Newcastle site was expanded to Lake 
Macquarie Local Area Command in April 2014. 
In December 2014, the Department extended 
the scheme until 30 December 2015 and 
expanded the start-up sites to a further five 
police local area commands: Manning Great 
Lakes, Port Stephens, Lake Macquarie, Mount 
Druitt and Quakers Hill. 
Following a tender process, the Department 
of Justice entered into an agreement with 
UnitingCare Burnside to engage young people 
and their families in casework and interventions 
targeted at addressing the young person’s 
individual offending-related needs. The scheme 
has the benefit of multi-agency support and 
provides police and schools with an avenue 
to refer young people at risk of offending into 
support without requiring a mandate.
In the first two years of operation, 440 young 
people were referred to Youth on Track for 
case management and offending-focused 
interventions. Fifty-three per cent of young 
people assessed as eligible to participate, 
voluntarily engaged with the scheme. 
Youth on Track completes the Youth Level of 
Service/Case Management Inventory (YLS/
CMI) tool every 12 weeks to assess the young 
person’s offending risk and needs. Sixty-six 
per cent of the 88 young people who had 
participated in the scheme for longer than 
12 weeks, and 83 per cent of those who 
completed the scheme reduced or stabilised 
their YLS/CMI risk score. Positive change was 
also seen for participants who completed Youth 
on Track in regards to contact with police and 
a number of social outcomes such as family 
functioning and school engagement.
The Department will complete a social outcome 
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evaluation and reoffending evaluation by mid-
2018. The results of the evaluations will inform 
potential statewide expansion of the scheme.

Life on Track 
Life on Track is a case management service 
that offers person-centred support and case 
management to eligible and suitable adult 
defendants appearing at the Local Court. In 
2014-15, Life on Track operated in seven Local 
Courts: Bankstown, Sutherland, Kogarah, 
Lismore, Ballina, Casino and Kyogle. Mission 
Australia continued to deliver the services 
in the four Northern Rivers courts while the 
Department assumed delivery in the three 
metropolitan courts in early 2015. 
Life on Track is primarily aimed at defendants 
with a medium to high risk of reoffending or 
medium to high-level needs and provides 
assistance to identify and address the broad 
range of issues that contribute to a defendant’s 
likelihood of reoffending. Between 1 July 2014 
and 30 June 2015, Life on Track completed 
444 screens of defendants, 248 assessments 
of defendants and accepted 224 participants 
for case management. In the same period, 127 
defendants completed the requirements of the 
program.
The metropolitan Sydney Life on Track site, 
covering Bankstown and Sutherland Local 
Courts, is scheduled to close on 16 October 
2015. 

Magistrates Early Referral into 
Treatment Program
Magistrates Early Referral into Treatment 
Program (MERIT) is a Local Court-based 
program that targets adult defendants with illicit 
drug use problems motivated to undertake drug 
treatment. Defendants assessed as suitable 
for MERIT can undertake supervised drug 
treatment prior to sentencing. The primary 
goal of the MERIT program is to break the 
drug-crime cycle by involving defendants in 
treatment and rehabilitation. Between 1 July 
2014 and 31 March 2015, 1,538 defendants 
entered the program and 949 defendants 
completed the requirements of MERIT. 

MERIT operates in 65 Local Courts across the 
State, providing access to the program for 
more than 80 per cent of defendants coming 
before magistrates. Defendants at seven NSW 
Local Courts can also be referred to Alcohol 
MERIT for treatment where alcohol is their 
primary drug of concern. Services provided 
as part of MERIT can include withdrawal 
management, residential rehabilitation, mental 
health services, family support and individual 
and group counselling.

Compulsory Drug Treatment 
Orders 
In 2014-15, the Drug Court of NSW received 
76 referrals from Local and District Courts 
(compared with 63 in 2013-14 and 68 in 2012-
13) for Compulsory Drug Treatment Order 
(CDTO) assessments. Of these referrals, 55 
offenders met the eligibility criteria for a CDTO. 
Forty-three of these were assessed as suitable, 
an increase from 33 in 2013-14. 
 
Table 1.01 Progression through stages of the 
Compulsory Drug Treatment Program 2011-
2015

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Stage 
1 to 2 24 21 25 19

Stage 
2 to 3 11 9 7 15

Stage 
3 to 

parole 9 7 9 6

Participants spend more than six months in 
each of the three stages of the Compulsory 
Drug Treatment Program. A group of 10 will 
progress to Stage 2 in July 2015.

Urinalysis
In 2014-15, 5,785 urine samples of offenders 
subject to Compulsory Drug Treatment Orders 
were taken and analysed. Of these, 94 samples 
(1.62 per cent) tested positive to an illegal/illicit 
drug; 16 samples (0.27 per cent) tested positive 
to a synthetic drug (synthetic cannabis). These 
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results are very encouraging considering that 
program participants are entrenched drug users 
with co-morbid severe substance use disorder 
and related criminal lifestyle.

Alternatives to custody for 
female offenders
Miruma is a residential facility at Cessnock 
which provides a diversionary program for 
women with co-existing mental health disorders 
and long-term alcohol and other drugs issues. 
In 2014-15, 45 women participated in the 
Miruma program, which is a decrease from 
52 participants in 2013-14; 45 per cent were 
released to stable accommodation. 

Reduce high volume and 
high impact crime
High risk offenders

Amendments to legislation
The Crimes (High Risk Offenders) Act 2006 (the 
Act) provides for extended supervision and 
continuing detention of high risk sex offenders 
and high risk violent offenders to ensure the 
safety and protection of the community. The 
Act allows the State to apply to the Supreme 
Court for a continuing detention order or 
extended supervision order for an initial period 
of up to five years. 
Legislative change was enacted in January 
2015 significantly strengthening procedures 
and options to deal with Extended Supervision 
Order offenders by the following:

 ^ an increase in penalties for breaches of 
Extended Supervision Orders from two to 
five years

 ^ the introduction of Emergency Detention 
Orders so offenders can be temporarily 
detained if a change in their circumstance 
creates an imminent risk to the community

 ^ establishment of the High Risk Offenders 
Assessment Committee to ensure a 
multi-disciplinary approach from Justice 
and Human Service representatives to 

review the risk assessments of sexual and 
violent offenders being considered for 
an Extended Supervision Order with the 
role of the Committee including making 
recommendations to the Commissioner of 
Corrective Services for the State to take 
action in respect of these offenders.

 
Extended Supervision Orders
In 2014-15, 16 Extended Supervision Orders, 
and one Continuing Detention Order were 
imposed by the Supreme Court. These orders 
are imposed in the interests of community 
safety when an offender poses an unacceptable 
risk of committing a further serious sexual or 
violent offence.
At 14 July 2015, 52 offenders were registered 
as on an Extended Supervision Order. A strong 
collaboration between Corrective Services’ 
Extended Supervision Order Team, Security 
and Intelligence Division, and Psychological 
Services, and the Office of the General 
Counsel resulted in a ‘wrap-around’ service 
that manages the risks associated with these 
offenders, enhancing the protection of the 
community while ensuring offenders address 
their offending behaviour.
Additional recurrent funding has been provided 
to the Department for improved supervision and 
monitoring of offenders subject to Extended 
Supervision Orders. 
Funding of $1.8m was allocated in 2014-
15, providing for the following program 
enhancements.

 ^ Six police detectives were seconded 
in February 2015 to form the Extended 
Supervision Order Compliance Unit based 
with the Extended Supervision Order team. 
The police undertake investigations into 
Extended Supervision Order offenders, 
manage breaches and provide an enhanced 
targeted service to these high risk offenders

 ^ Two psychologists commenced with 
the Extended Supervision Order team 
in June 2015 to improve service to 
Extended Supervision Order offenders 
through assessment and ongoing case 
management.
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Emergency Detention Orders
In 2014-15, recommendations from the High 
Risk Offenders Taskforce, implemented by 
Corrective Services, included development 
of procedures regarding the introduction 
of Emergency Detention Orders. Protocols 
for Emergency Detention Orders have been 
completed.

Domestic Violence
The Domestic Violence Justice Strategy 2013-
2017 (the Strategy) provides NSW justice 
agencies with a framework to improve the 
criminal justice system’s response to domestic 
violence.  

In 2014-2015, progress on implementation, 
of the Strategy, was achieved in the following 
areas.

Information sharing 
The Crimes (Domestic and Personal Violence) 
Amendment (Information Sharing) Act 2014 and 
an accompanying Information Sharing Protocol 
commenced on 15 September 2014 allowed 
information sharing to facilitate victims’ access 
to domestic violence support services and to 
prevent or reduce serious threats to the life, 
health and safety of victims. These reforms 
support the strategy and It Stops Here Safer 
Pathway reforms. 

Evidence in chief 
The Criminal Procedure Amendment (Domestic 
Violence Complainants) Act 2014 commenced 
with statewide application on 1 June 2015. It 
enables domestic violence complainants to 
give their evidence in chief by way of a prior 
recorded video or audio statement in criminal 
proceedings for a domestic violence offence. 
These new measures reduce trauma faced by 
victims when testifying in court.

Apprehended Domestic Violence 
Orders
Legislative amendments to the Crimes 
(Domestic and Personal Violence) Act 2007 
allow senior police to determine applications 

for provisional Apprehended Domestic 
Violence Orders (ADVOs), and provide police 
with enhanced powers to direct and detain 
defendants for the purposes of applying for 
and serving the order, commenced on 27 May 
2014. The reforms were monitored through the 
first year of implementation to 27 May 2015 
by a committee comprising the Department of 
Justice, the NSW Police Force, the Ministry of 
Police and Emergency Services and Women 
NSW and a report prepared for the Attorney 
General. 

Victims are safe and supported 
Strategies introduced, in 2014-15, to increase 
victim safety and access to support include 
referring victims immediately to support 
services across NSW when the police attend 
a domestic violence incident, providing 
information, support and advocacy at mentions 
and hearings, greater access to counselling 
and financial assistance and coordinated 
interagency risk management and safety 
planning through It Stops Here Safer Pathway. 
It Stops Here Safer Pathway commenced at 
Orange and Waverley in September 2014 and 
new programs were established at Bankstown, 
Parramatta, Broken Hill and Tweed Heads on 1 
July 2015.  

Offender interventions to reduce 
reoffending
To reduce reoffending, defendants charged or 
given an ADVO are provided with information 
on legal services. Eligible defendants are 
referred to case management and treatment 
where available. In addition, suitable high 
to medium risk offenders can access the 
Domestic Abuse Program, a men’s behaviour 
change program provided to offenders in 
custody and under community supervision by 
Corrective Services. 

Improved policing and prosecution
Strategies introduced to improve police 
practice include legal action targets for police 
where there is evidence of a crime; to ensure 
victim safety, proactively investigating alleged 
breaches of ADVOs; specialist police training 
to improve evidence collection, specialist 
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domestic violence training for NSW Police 
Force Domestic Violence Liaison Officers and 
police prosecutors, serving mini-briefs on 
defendants at first mention to encourage early 
guilty pleas and monitoring repeat offenders 
to reduce reoffending. From introducing the 
reforms on 27 May 2014 until the end of July 
2015, police used their powers to direct and 
detain just under 4,000 individuals.

Improved court processes 
Specialist domestic violence list days have 
been introduced in Local Courts across NSW. 
Local Court practice notes have been adopted 
that set out specific time frames for the 
completion of domestic violence matters. The 
practice notes reduced time taken to finalise 
domestic violence charges from an average 
of 98 days in 2008 to 73 days in 2013, with 93 
per cent of criminal trials involving at least one 
domestic violence offence now finalised in six 
months and 99 per cent finalised in 12 months. 

 
The year ahead

Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme 

A disclosure scheme based on an initiative in 
the United Kingdom known as ‘Clare’s Law’ 
would provide a right to ask to members of 
the public. The NSW Police Force would be 
given a right to disclose to a member of the 
public information on whether that individual’s 
partner has a history of domestic violence. The 
Department of Justice and Women NSW held 
a public consultation, from 21 May to 19 June 
2015, on a proposed model. A pilot scheme is 
expected to commence in 2016.

Plain-English ADVO project
The Department is working in partnership with 
the Behavioural Insights Unit at the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet on a project to apply 
behavioural insights techniques to the ADVO 
process.  The objective of the interventions is 
to reduce ADVO breach rates and domestic 
violence reoffending while ensuring that a 
victim’s safety is not compromised. The first 
phase, to be implemented by early 2016, 
includes plain-English personalised ADVOs. 

The second phase will involve trialling the use 
of text message reminders and meetings with 
defendants to increase their understanding of, 
and compliance with, orders. 

Minimum standards for men’s behaviour 
change programs 
The Department introduced minimum standards 
for men’s domestic violence behaviour change 
programs in December 2012 to ensure all 
programs in NSW reflect good practice and are 
safe and effective in changing the behaviour 
of perpetrators of domestic violence. While 
there is room for variation in the methods and 
approaches adopted by program providers, 
these minimum standards set benchmarks that 
apply to all programs. A planned review of the 
NSW minimum standards is proposed for the 
end of 2015. 

Global positioning system tracking
The Department will review the benefits of 
expanding global positioning system (GPS) 
to include the monitoring of medium to high 
risk domestic violence offenders. It would 
be limited to domestic violence relationships 
where risk factors related to geographical 
location such as where an offender has serious 
repeat stalking offending in their history and is 
living separately from the victim. GPS tracking 
would be combined with program intervention 
to ensure the offender’s offence-related issues 
and criminogenic needs are simultaneously 
addressed.  

Increasing access to men’s behaviour 
change programs
In NSW, community programs are made 
available, to the general population, by a small 
number of non-government welfare groups 
and counselling services. Referrals are made 
by a range of agencies, including Corrective 
Services NSW, NSW Local Courts and the 
Department of Family and Community Services, 
and self-referrals are also accepted. There 
is a high demand for and a significant gap 
in service capacity, with only six community 
providers compliant with the NSW Minimum 
Standards, providing programs in 14 locations. 
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The Department of Justice and Women NSW 
will review the feasibility of expanding these 
community-run men’s behaviour change 
programs in 2015-16.

Specialist training for magistrates
There is currently a statutory review of the Crimes 
(Domestic and Personal Violence) Act 2007. 
Following this review, the Department of Justice 
will develop improved resources for magistrates 
on domestic and family violence.

Amendments to the Bail Act 
2013 
The amended Bail Act 2013 commenced on 
28 January 2015. During 2014, significant 
work was done to the Act which introduced a 
‘show cause’ requirement for adults charged 
with serious offences to justify why they should 
be released on bail. The amendments also 
made it clear that bail is to be refused if an 
accused person presents an unacceptable 
risk of endangering the safety of individuals or 
the community, interfering with witnesses or 
evidence, failing to attend court or committing a 
serious offence.
The government has also adopted the NSW 
Sentencing Council’s recommendation to 
expand the definition of ‘serious personal 
violence offences’ for the purposes of the 
show cause test. The Sentencing Council has 
an ongoing role in monitoring the show cause 
categories. 
Bail will continue to be a key area of work 
with further legislative reform including in 
response to the Martin Place Siege Joint 
Commonwealth-NSW Review and the ongoing 
role of the Sentencing Council in monitoring the 
show cause categories.

Strategic support for 
the cluster approach to 
target organised crime
The Justice Cluster has responded to organised 
crime by creating new offences, expanding 
police powers and increasing penalties. New 
powers for police include United Kingdom-style 
Serious Crime Prevention Orders to disrupt 
the activities of serious criminals and Public 
Safety Orders to prevent people from going to 
certain places, where they are likely to present 
a serious risk to public safety. Under the new 
package, the NSW Government will:

 ^ introduce Serious Crime Prevention Orders 
to restrict the activities of persons or 
businesses that are involved in serious 
crime

 ^ allow senior police to issue temporary 
Public Safety Orders to prevent people from 
attending places or events where they are 
expected to engage in violence or present a 
serious threat to public safety or security

 ^ improve ability to confiscate the assets of 
serious criminals

 ^ enhance money laundering offences relating 
to the proceeds of crime.

National scheme for unexplained 
wealth
A national cooperative scheme on unexplained 
wealth is being developed for consideration. A 
working group, which includes representatives 
from the Commonwealth, NSW, Victoria and 
Western Australia has been meeting since 
August 2014 to develop the scheme. 
The working group is developing a cohesive 
package of measures, including a limited, 
text-based referral of powers and provisions 
to support enhanced operational coordination, 
greater information sharing and renewed 
arrangements for the equitable sharing of 
seized criminal assets in both unexplained 
wealth matters and other criminal asset 
forfeiture proceedings.
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Support and improve charge and  
pre-trial processes
 
Support and improve civil remedies 
and access to alternative dispute 
resolution 

Improve court and tribunal 
administration processes and services

Improve effectiveness of penalties and 
sentencing options

In 2014-15, the NSW courts and tribunal system, supported and administered by 
the Department of Justice, continued to introduce technological innovation into 
court processes to make access to justice faster, cheaper and more convenient 
for the people of NSW in civil and criminal matters.
In many cases, new technologies reduce time and costs for individuals and for 
the Department. As well, near real-time electronic exchanges of information 
between justice agencies is significantly reducing errors common to manual 
systems and improving response times thereby improving justice outcomes.
Among the Department’s key initiatives, in this area, is the trialling of online 
dispute resolution by the NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal for individuals 
and businesses to reduce expense and increase convenience for parties.
During the year, court users also gained from a mobile application allowing them 
to search court lists from a smart device. Clients can quickly find individual 
court listings by searching by case number or party name and keep abreast of 
any last-minute changes.
The Jury Management System, initiated in early 2014, continues to deliver 
results with waiting times in jury assembly rooms reduced from up to three 
hours to 25 minutes using an airline type check-in service. Payments to jurors 
have also been modernised to ensure small payments are made through 
electronic transfer directly to bank accounts rather than by cheque which many 
jurors found inconvenient.
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Support and improve 
charge and pre-trial 
processes

Law Reform Commission 
Report on early guilty pleas
The report on achieving early appropriate 
guilty pleas in criminal cases was released 
on 23 June 2015. It responds to significant 
concerns with the current system for dealing 
with serious criminal matters. The report 
makes over 30 recommendations that 
aim to encourage appropriate guilty pleas 
and increase effectiveness and fairness in 
indictable proceedings. The government is 
considering its recommendations.

Support and improve 
civil remedies and 
access to alternative 
dispute resolution

Online dispute resolution
The NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
(NCAT) conducted a trial of online dispute 
resolution (ODR) in the first half of the reporting 
year. This innovative service uses technology 
to facilitate negotiation and resolution of 
disputes for individuals and businesses to 
reduce expense and increase convenience for 
the parties.
Participation in the three-month trial was on an 
‘opt in’ basis and involved consumer disputes 
with claims less than $5,000 brought to 
NCAT’s Consumer and Commercial Division. 
Participants accessed the ODR pilot via a 
secure, 24/7 online portal that allowed the 
parties in dispute to exchange information in 
a structured way without the need to meet, 
speak or attend NCAT in person.  
This ODR framework is designed to assist 
parties to focus on the issues and to lead to 

a negotiated agreement. Where agreement is 
reached, parties seek an enforceable consent 
order from the tribunal to give effect to their 
agreement. Where agreement is not reached 
or if either party chooses not to use ODR, the 
dispute remains listed for hearing before the 
Tribunal and the parties need to attend.
NCAT’s ODR trial involved over 300 identified 
consumer disputes. An evaluation of the trial 
indicated that is it was successful and that 
further trials could include:

 ^ expanding categories of matters that could 
be referred to ODR

 ^ integrating the ODR facility with the NCAT 
case management system and online 
lodgement

 ^ developing business requirements for 
market testing.

 
In 2015-16, the expansion of ODR into NCAT’s 
suite of dispute resolution techniques will 
be considered as part of the ongoing NCAT 
Transformation Project consolidating and 
aligning systems and processes across 
tribunals that came together to form NCAT in 
2014.

Alternative dispute resolution
Community Justice Centres continued to 
provide alternative dispute resolution services, 
throughout NSW, to assist parties resolve civil 
disputes without a court decision. 
In 2014-15, the centres received 35,097 phone 
calls and finalised 4,169 referral files, 1,337 
mediation sessions were arranged and 1,216 
mediation sessions held. Of the matters that 
went to mediation, 78 per cent reached an 
agreement.
Community Justice Centres also continued to 
engage with stakeholders and the community 
to increase awareness and use of alternative 
dispute resolution. Engagement activities in 
the second half of the financial year resulted in 
an increase in the rate of referrals. Of the 4,169 
files opened in the year, 1,775 were opened 
in the first half and 2,382 were opened in the 
second half of the year.   
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Mediation as part of court 
processes 
Supreme Court 
In 2014, 839 matters were referred to 
mediation in the Supreme Court with 486 listed 
and 51 per cent settled.
Throughout 2014, the court piloted informal 
settlement conferences for family provision 
cases where the estate was valued under 
$500,000. In this pilot, for 159 cases, Justice 
Hallen conducted conferences at an early 
stage of case management with a view to 
achieving settlement as soon as possible to 
reduce the costs of the litigation. 

District Court 
In 2014, the Sydney District Court referred 
543 matters to mediation with 83 referred to 
private mediation and 460 to court-provided 
mediation. Approximately 54 per cent of 
matters referred to mediation were settled 
compared to 49  per cent in 2013-14. 

Improve court and 
tribunal administration 
processes and services

Expansion of the Court Service 
Centre
The Courts Service Centre, open from 
8.30am-5pm Monday-Friday, answered over 
50,000 calls per month in 2014-15. The centre 
provides support for jury enquiries, telephone 
payments for all registries, Supreme Court, 
Downing Centre and John Maddison Tower 
Registries (Local and District) and 41 court 
locations (Local and District). 
From the previous year, in 2014-15, the service 
centre showed an increase of 2.3 per cent 
in calls answered, a 10 per cent increase in 
payments processed and a 15.6 per cent 
increase in receipts. 
The service centre also responded to over 
23,000 email inquiries (from January 2015). 
During the reporting year 33,000 transactions 
were processed worth a total of $12m.

Exchange of final outcomes 
with the NSW Police Force
All information from the NSW Police Force is 
now received electronically by courts in NSW.
The Final Court Outcomes project was 
successfully implemented in early February 
2015. Final outcomes from courts are 
judgments of guilty or not guilty and 
the sentence. All final court outcomes 
electronically transfer in near real-time from 
JusticeLink, the Online Registry for the 
NSW Supreme, District and Local courts, to 
the NSW Police Force system, WebCOPS. 
Supreme and District Court registries are no 
longer required to send final court outcomes to 
NSW Police Force criminal records section.
Electronic data exchange systems are used 
to make over 1.2 million exchanges each 
year between justice system agencies. This 
includes: 

 ^ 98 per cent of Court Attendance Notices 
and applications for Apprehended Violence 
Orders 

 ^ 100 per cent of court outcomes 
communicated to police 

 ^ 85 per cent of arrest warrants issued. 
 
The Final Court Outcomes project was the final 
stage in the Joined Up Justice Police project. 
The project successfully addressed issues 
with the exchange of information between 
the two agencies relating to arrest warrants, 
AVOs, bails and final outcomes.  Results of the 
project are near real-time electronic exchanges 
of data improving efficiency, timeliness and 
accuracy of the criminal justice system.

Exchange of warrants
The collaborative Exchange of Warrants 
Project between Courts and Tribunal Services, 
Corrective Services and Juvenile Justice 
commenced in 2014-15, aims to address data 
quality issues in the electronic transfer of court 
outcome information. The project reduces 
the number of manual document transfers 
and ensures court outcome information is 
current, accurate and consistent across the 
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justice sector. This increase in the integrity of 
data and efficiency of operations assists in 
promoting community confidence in the justice 
system.
Enhancements have been made to JusticeLink 
and to the Corrective Services case 
management system. As all information and 
data about court orders is shared between 
case management systems, there is less 
reliance on hard copy documents to convey 
court order details.  
The project is anticipated to be completed in 
late 2015.

Delivery of electronic 
indictments system
Around 7,000 indictments are filed in the 
District and Supreme Court each year.
The Electronic Indictments project 
implemented the electronic exchange of 
information between the Office of the Director 
of Public Prosecutions (ODPP) and the courts 
in March 2015. Since that date, indictments 
have successfully been filed by the ODPP into 
JusticeLink and processed by registry staff. 
In 2015-16, the final phase of the project 
will allow immediate update of indictment 
information in court from mobile devices. 

Implementation of audio visual 
link technology
At the end of the reporting year, the Audio 
Visual Link (AVL) project had work in progress 
including planned upgrades to 20 courts and 
installations at six new court locations in 2015-
16. This phase will result in an increase of 
29 AVL courtrooms, with 21 remote witness 
rooms. 
In addition to installation of equipment 
and technology, focus is given to the user 
experience and the service requirements 
to ensure the system is easy to use, 
accessible and supported. As part of the 
project, consultation was undertaken with 
all participating justice agencies: the NSW 
Police Force, the NSW Law Society and Bar 
Association of NSW, the NSW Aboriginal Legal 

Services and Justice Health & Forensic Mental 
Health Network.
During 2014-15, the following upgrades and 
installations were undertaken.

 ^ Additional video conferencing equipment 
was installed at eight Local and District 
Court locations, including five new 
court locations: Bankstown, Coffs 
Harbour, Hornsby, Katoomba, Newtown, 
Queanbeyan, Goulburn and Fairfield.

 ^ Each upgrade included provision of high-
definition (HD) AVL to all courtrooms and 
the upgrade of remote witness rooms. 
Electronic evidence presentation trolleys 
with document cameras and laptops were 
provided for each courtroom. At District 
Court locations, jury deliberation rooms 
were provided with laptops and HD video 
screens to view and consider electronic 
evidence. Specialist witness testimony 
recording equipment was installed in 
District Courts.

 ^ At larger locations, multi-purpose video 
suites were provided for access to clients in 
custody or for remote witnesses by lawyers 
and other professional service providers.

 ^ A partnership with the NSW Police Force 
enabled enhancement to existing network 
capabilities to allow for the expanded use 
of AVL between agencies. A pilot program 
was initiated to provide AVL equipment 
at NSW Police Force facilities across the 
State, with more than 250 installation 
locations.

Installation of video conferencing capability 
was installed on computers in over 50 
community correctional centres across NSW.
In 2014-15, approximately 69,000 AVL sessions 
were held across the justice network.

JusticeLink e-service 
At the end of the reporting year, almost 3,000 
forms were lodged online each week through 
the online registry website (ORW). Over 
200,000 have been filed since its inception in 
February 2012.
The key features of this self-service portal 
include allowing users to:
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 ^ file and pay for over 60 civil forms 
(approximately 90 per cent of civil forms) 
online with real-time turnaround

 ^ bulk-file eight key civil forms
 ^ search for a court listing date 
 ^ view and manage case information 
 ^ download court sealed documents
 ^ publish and search for probate notices. 

Legal practitioners or litigants no longer need 
to visit the court registry in person to file 
court forms available online, or call the court 
to confirm an outcome This saves time and 
money for all parties involved while increasing 
accessibility, especially for court users isolated 
by distance across the State.
In 2014-15, over 30 per cent of online filings in 
the Supreme, District and Local Courts were 
lodged out of court registry opening hours.  
Over two-thirds of all those civil forms available 
in the online registry are e-filed.

Search NSW Court List mobile 
app
The Search NSW Court List mobile application 
(app) was launched in 2014. The app replicates 
the current online searchable court lists 
enabling court clients to search courts lists 
for the NSW Supreme, District, Local and 
Coroner’s Courts up to two weeks in advance 
and one week in the past.  Using the app, 
court clients can quickly find individual court 
listings by searching by case number or party 
name and keep abreast of any last minute 
changes.  By the end of the reporting year, the 
Search NSW Court List mobile app had 6,000 
installs on smart devices and was registering 
5,000 hits per day.
In 2014-15, 19 instructional ‘how to’ videos 
related to the Online Registry, and hosted on 
the Justice NSW You Tube channel, attracted 
over 20,000 hits, demonstrating increasing 
interest from the legal profession and public in 
using online registry services.

Pilot program for outsourcing 
civil transcript services
In 2014-15, the Department completed a 
trial of a user-pays model for reporting and 
transcription services for multi-day civil 
matters in the Supreme Court civil jurisdiction.
The user-pays model is a method of service 
delivery that enables parties to proceedings 
to engage pre-qualified private commercial 
service providers for reporting and 
transcription services. It is designed to lower 
costs, reduce delays and increase availability 
of transcripts for clients and users.
The user-pays model has been introduced 
to assist the Department in providing 
a sustainable system for reporting and 
transcription services across all jurisdictions. 
The model has been successfully implemented 
in the civil jurisdiction of the District Court and 
the Land and Environment Court.

Jury Management System
The new online Jury Management System was 
implemented in February 2014. At the end of 
the reporting year, over 150,000 members of 
the NSW public had interacted with the system 
on smart phones, tablets and other devices.
By 30 June 2015, the system had submitted 
over 345,000 Notice of Inclusions items 
with over 11,000 individuals successfully 
empanelled across 902 trials. Over 370,000 
summons were sent resulting in over 92,000 
people attending court and over 35,000 jurors 
being assigned to a trial.
Waiting times in jury assembly rooms 
have been reduced significantly. What had 
previously been an up to three-hour wait has 
been reduced to an average 25 minutes using 
an airline type check-in service for potential 
jurors. 
Since implementation of the Jury Management 
System, and as part of collaboration with 
the Department’s Finance Division to reduce 
cheque payments, electronic transfers of 
payments to jurors have reduced costly issuing 
of cheques. There has been a reduction in the 
issuing of cheques from 90 per cent to 19 per 
cent.
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New Caselaw system
All NSW courts and tribunals make use 
of Caselaw to publish decisions and 
judgments. The new Caselaw website 
has a multi-purpose publishing, authoring 
and editing capability. It provides storage, 
document search and retrieval and distribution 
to Caselaw subscribers. 
The new website went live in January 2015 
after six months of internal development. It has 
enabled publication of over 4,000 judgments, 
these being either ‘amended’, ‘published’ or 
‘restricted’. 
In its first six months the new site received 
over 2.5 million page views with 180,000 
unique users on smartphone, tablet and web-
browsers. Zero downtime over that period 
was due to use of a ‘next generation’, cloud 
platform. In addition, it is more user-friendly, 
scalable and cost effective than the previous 
system. 
The new system provides capacity to store 
large amounts of electronic judgments 
and associated assets, simple (and now 
streamlined) workflow to edit and publish 
judgments, improved security, secrecy 
and privacy of users offering unique user  
permissions based on pre-defined roles. An 
efficient, reliable and full text search with the 
ability to filter, organise and navigate through 
the search results is also available.

Expansion of the Children’s 
Court Circuit
As part of the government’s $500m investment 
in the child protection system through the Safe 
Home for Life initiative, additional funding was 
provided to allow the Children’s Court to meet 
an anticipated additional workload in the care 
and protection jurisdiction.
Court Services received $12.4m in funding 
over four years commencing 2014-15 to 
support increased work in the Children’s 
Court as a result of reforms introduced by the 
Minister for Family and Community Services. 
The reform package focuses on improving 
the statutory framework for early intervention 

with a view to reducing the number of children 
entering out-of-home care and improving the 
life outcome for those vulnerable children that 
enter out-of-home care.
The funding in the Children’s Court will be 
used for additional Children’s Magistrates, 
Children’s Registrars and staff to support the 
increased workload in the Children’s Court 
across NSW and to enhance the Court’s case 
management System, to include Children’s 
Court care matters and to interface with the 
Family and Community Services KIDSLink 
computer system. This will provide for 
improved case management, data quality and 
data interchange capability.
The President of the Children’s Court has 
decided to apply the additional resources to 
the Northern Rivers, mid-North Coast and 
Hunter regions commencing in 2015-16.

 
Court clearance rates
Report on Government Services 
2015
NSW courts continue to be national leaders 
in key productivity measures. According to 
the Productivity Commission’s Report on 
Government Services 2015, in 2013-14:

 ^ NSW Local Courts have been the most 
efficient in the nation for the seventh year 
running

 ^ NSW Local Courts had the lowest backlog 
for criminal and civil matters in Australia

 ^ NSW Children’s Court recorded the lowest 
backlog for criminal cases older than 12 
months

 ^ NSW District Court recorded the second 
lowest backlog for civil and criminal cases 
older than 12 months

 ^ The NSW Supreme Court increased its 
overall clearance rate and recorded a rate 
of 114 per cent - the second highest in the 
nation.

Note: 2014-15 figures are unavailable at the 
time of reporting. 
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State Plan Key Performance 
Indicators for NSW courts
District Court
KPI - 75 per cent of pending civil matters 
will be less than 12 months old in the 
District Court 
At 30 June 2015, 77 per cent of pending civil 
matters were less than 12 months old.

Local Court 
KPI - 90 per cent of pending criminal 
matters will be less than six months old in 
the Local Court
At 30 June 2015, 95 per cent of pending 
criminal matters were less than six months old.

The year ahead 
Online Court initiative
Similar to the way the online registry website 
is removing the need to visit a registry counter, 
an online court eliminates the need for legal 
practitioners to attend for call overs. By 
providing added flexibility through a suite of 
new online services including but not limited 
to making requests and reviews and orders, 
all parties can manage civil interlocutory 
(questions of law) matters and communicate 
and connect whenever it suits, wherever they 
are. 
The online court initiative will deliver:

 ^ opportunities for solicitors, who may work 
from suburban-based office, to participate 
online in matters listed in Sydney’s CBD

 ^ savings in time and cost otherwise spent 
on travelling, waiting for and attending pre-
trial hearings in court

 ^ convenience in completing tasks at 
a client’s convenience, within court-
prescribed timeframes rather than at set 
court times

 ^ faster completion of matters 
 ^ a system that records court events online
 ^ increased accessibility to court services for 

clients in regional or remote areas.
Other enhancements to the online registry 
include a facility to request a transcript. 

Expansion of JusticeLink
Over the coming year, there are plans to 
transition content in the Land and Environment 
Court (LEC) and Industrial Relations 
Commission (IRC) case management systems 
and e-court online services to the JusticeLink 
and online registry service platform. 
This will involve:

 ^ replacing an aging case management 
system with sustainable technologies 
using the established JusticeLink case 
management system and Justice Online 
platform

 ^ permitting the LEC to electronically share 
information within the Courts and Tribunal 
Services Division as well as establishing the 
capability for information sharing with other 
justice agencies

 ^ business process re-engineering to reduce 
manual and duplicated tasks.

 
Improve effectiveness 
of penalties and 
sentencing options
The NSW Sentencing Council
The NSW Sentencing Council is an 
independent statutory body established under 
Part 8B of the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) 
Act 1999 (NSW) that undertakes projects on 
sentencing matters at the Attorney General’s 
request.

Standard non-parole period 
In October 2014, the Sentencing Council 
released its report on the standard non-parole 
period (SNPP) scheme. The council had been 
tasked with identifying which offences should 
be included in the SNPP Table, advising what 
the SNPPs should be for those offences 
and outlining the process by which further 
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offences should be considered. The council 
was to pay particular attention to whether any 
additional child sexual assault offences should 
be included in the Scheme and whether any 
special factors should be taken into account 
when determining SNPPs for these offences. 
The final report outlined the principles 
that should be used to identify offences 
for inclusion in the SNPP scheme, and 
recommended all the existing offences be 
retained in the scheme and that a number of 
other offences be added to the scheme. The 
council proposed a method for setting SNPPs 
themselves, and recommended new SNPPs 
for the offences to be added to the scheme, 
and some adjustments to the existing SNPPs 
and maximum penalties for some of the 
offences already in the scheme.

Bail 
The Sentencing Council was asked to 
consider possible additions to the ‘show 
cause’ category under the Bail Act 2013, 
for which a more stringent test for bail is 
applied. The council considered whether those 
charged with a serious indictable offence 
committed while serving a sentence should 
be added to the category. Subsequently, the 
Council was asked to consider extending the 
repeat serious violence offence show cause 
category to offences committed outside of 
NSW, the breadth of the existing category 
of being charged with a serious indictable 
offence committed while on bail, and a 
standing reference to monitor the show cause 
categories. A report was provided to the 
Attorney General on 22 May 2015. 

The year ahead
At the start of 2015-16, the Council has three 
active projects. These are described below.

Sentencing in child sexual assault 
matters
This review is a response to the Report of the 
2014 Joint Select Committee on Sentencing 
Child Sexual Assault Offenders. It will analyse 

sentencing statistics for such matters in 
2012 and 2013, including information on the 
characteristics of the offenders, sentence 
type and length, and provide background 
information on the sentencing process and 
principles applied by the courts. 

Bail - additional show cause 
offences
The Council’s first report on the show cause 
provisions is under government consideration. 
The Council now has an ongoing role in 
monitoring and reviewing the show cause 
categories. The Council is currently awaiting 
statistics on the operation of the show cause 
provisions before finalising a second report.

Alcohol and drug-fuelled violence 
The Council was requested to report on 
proposals put forward by the Thomas Kelly 
Youth Foundation aimed at reducing alcohol 
and drug-fuelled violence in the community. 
The council was also asked to undertake a 
general examination of possible sentencing 
measures to achieve deterrence and behaviour 
change. 

Law Reform Commission
Parole 
The Law Reform Commission report on 
parole is a comprehensive review of the 
parole system in NSW. It was transmitted to 
the Attorney General on 26 June 2015. The 
review includes consideration of State Parole 
Authority procedures and the tests it must 
apply when making parole decisions. At the 
time of reporting, a decision on the review had 
not been taken by the government.
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Improvements in effectiveness of offender 
management in custody/community 

Target and increase success of intervention 
programs contributing to a reduction in 
reoffending

Drive sustainability of custodial facilities

The Department executes its responsibilities in offender management through 
Corrective Services NSW and Juvenile Justice, supported by policy and strategy 
areas.  
In 2014-15, Corrective Services NSW responded to continued growth in inmate 
numbers, meeting the demand successfully with increased staffing and an 
additional 1,641 beds within existing facilities. Beyond maintaining required 
standards for a safe, secure and humane environment, Corrective Services 
continued to build opportunities for inmates to engage in learning, develop work 
skills and deal with health issues which are fundamental to improved chances 
for rehabilitation and successful reintegration with their community on release.    
In 2014-15, Corrective Services managed a daily average of over 16,391 
offenders on community-based orders. In community corrections, continued 
implementation of a new service delivery model, adopted in the previous year, 
delivered new quality assurance standards and a centralised oversight of 
service levels for higher risk offenders.
Juvenile Justice supervises young offenders (primarily 10-18 years) in the 
community and in custody. The work of the Division has a strong focus on 
interventions that aim to prevent children and young people from becoming 
entrenched in the criminal justice system. 
During the year, results of a review of resources and roles simplified employment 
structures, improved delivery of interventions to young people and ensured 
equitable resource allocation across the State. A reallocation of staff and 
managers in Juvenile Justice community offices was based on identified trends 
in caseloads, community growth areas and needs of young people. A further 
outcome was an increase in the number of psychologists employed to provide 
therapeutic interventions. 
In 2014-15, the number of young people receiving custodial sentences remained 
steady from the previous year. In 2014-15, around 52 per cent of young people 
in custody were of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander background. A number 
of programs and initiatives continue to provide this group with specialised 
interventions to reduce risks of reoffending.
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Improvements in 
effectiveness of 
offender management 
in custody/community

Corrective Services offender 
assessment and case 
management 
Corrective Services staff conduct assessments 
and case management of adult offenders 
across all custodial and community locations. 
This includes screening of inmates at court 
cells or in correctional centres, conducting risk 
of reoffending assessments, case planning 
at the beginning of, and case management 
throughout, an offender’s sentence.
In 2014-15, discussions have commenced to 
finalise an integrated Corrective Services case 
management model.

Effective management of adult 
offenders in the community 
Operational reviews against the Standards for 
Community Operations continued throughout 
the year in metropolitan and regional locations. 
A thematic review of high risk offenders 
(sexual and violence-related convictions) in 
the community measured performance against 
the Standards. The findings were used to 
inform relevant training and support ongoing 
quality assurance strategies. Workshops 
focusing on the application of the Standards 
were facilitated for managers and supervisors 
across Community Corrections locations to 
support continuous improvement in community 
offender management. 
In 2014-15, the Community Corrections 
Branch continued consolidation within the 
service delivery model adopted in the previous 
year. Progress included implementation of 
quality assurance standards, establishment 
of centralised oversight of service levels for 
higher risk offenders, regular communication 
through a quarterly newsletter, revisions to staff 
training and enhancements to performance 

reporting systems. Community Corrections 
managers ensured quality of service delivery 
by embedding standards in day-to-day 
activities and providing quarterly progress 
reports.    
In 2014-15, Community Corrections managed 
an average of 16,391 offenders on community-
based orders on any given day, provided over 
21,400 pre-sentence reports to the courts, 
and more than 4,300 pre-release reports to the 
State Parole Authority. Over 3,300 Intensive 
Correction Order assessments and over 490 
Home Detention assessments were conducted. 

E-monitoring
Introduced in the 1990s with the introduction 
of home detention, electronic monitoring 
(e-monitoring) involves an offender on a 
community-based order being fitted with an 
electronic anklet which registers movements 
and transmits information via a global 
positioning system (GPS) to Corrective 
Services. The information is recorded, audited 
and checked against an approved schedule of 
movements.
In early 2015, Corrective Services introduced 
new anklets and tracking software. The 
anklets are tamper-resistant and more difficult 
to remove. If an offender tampers with the 
anklet or has entered an exclusion zone such 
as a school or childcare centre, an alarm is 
triggered to a Corrective Services electronic 
monitoring control room.
In 2014-15, e-monitoring became available 
across the State. At the end of the reporting 
year there were approximately 150 offenders 
on e-monitoring.

During 2014-15 electronic monitoring was 
used to monitor:  

 ^ 90 offenders on home detention 
 ^ 19 offenders on parole, as required by the 

State Parole Authority
 ^ 32 offenders on extended supervision 

orders
 ^ three participants in the Compulsory Drug 

Treatment Correctional Centre Program 
(Stages two and three)
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 ^ 264 inmates on work release, education, or 
day or weekend leave from a correctional 
centre. 

Community-based orders 
In 2014-15, on average, 97 community-based 
offenders were supervised each month, 
up from 84 in 2013-14. Community orders 
included community service orders, parole 
orders, probation orders, intensive corrections 
orders and extended supervision orders. The 
total number of offenders over the reporting 
year was 16,391, a slight decrease from the 
previous year.
The overall successful completion rate of 
community-based orders was 75.8 per cent, 
representing an increase of three per cent over 
the previous year.

Effective management of adult 
offenders in custody 
In 2014-15, Corrective Services successfully 
responded to continued growth in inmate 
numbers with changes to infrastructure and 
staffing. Demand was successfully met with an 
additional 1,641 beds created within existing 
facilities. 
Three large infrastructure projects commenced 
at Dawn De Loas, Outer Metropolitan Multi-
Purpose Centre and the John Morony 
Correctional Centre. This will change the 
Dawn De Loas and John Morony Correctional 
Centres into remand facilities to more 
effectively facilitate the movement of remand 
inmates to the metropolitan courts. The Outer 
Metropolitan Multi-Purpose Centre will become 
a medium security facility specialising in the 
Intensive Drug and Alcohol Treatment Program 
for 250 inmates and offer reintegration 
programs and vocational training to graduates. 
In 2014-15, the Management of Deaths 
in Custody Committee responded to 21 
Corrective Services investigation reports into 
deaths in custody.
Over the year, an extensive capital works 
project continued to remove obvious hanging 
points in those cells accommodating inmates 
at risk of self-harm or suicide in line with the 

coroner’s recommendations and proactive 
measures in identifying, managing and 
monitoring the psychological wellbeing 
of inmates at risk. All future new builds 
of correctional facilities will meet specific 
standards to minimise hanging points.
In 2014-15, Corrective Services continued 
to facilitate access to inmates by the Royal 
Commission into Institutional Responses to 
Child Sexual Abuse.

Training for correctional officers 
and staff
Maintaining up-to-date skills and knowledge 
among correctional staff is critical to achieving 
leading practice in custodial and community 
corrections.

Brush Farm Corrective Services 
Academy 
In 2014-15, the Brush Farm Corrective 
Services Academy maintained its status as a 
registered training organisation complying with 
the National Vocational Education and Training 
standards issuing nationally recognised 
qualifications to staff in Corrective Services 
and other divisions of the Department. 
During the year, the academy underwent 
a comprehensive review and, as a result, 
implemented a new organisational structure 
to enhance operational training available to 
frontline and support staff.
The Custodial Training Unit within Corrective 
Services continued to be a leader in the 
delivery of online learning for custodial officers 
in the Asia-Pacific region by delivering new 
e-learning programs for custodial officers in 
areas such as report writing, incident/crime 
management and managing inmate discipline, 
as well as the appropriate use of force.
Custodial primary training programs continued 
to be reviewed and improved to meet the 
needs of Corrective Services and national 
training package requirements. Training was 
delivered online with laptops through the 
entire primary training program to enhance 
computer skills of all trainee officers. A holistic, 
integrated training approach brings together all 
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training elements into several critical incident 
scenarios requiring the trainee to successfully 
demonstrate their application of appropriate 
skills and knowledge. 

e-learning 
In 2014-15, there was continued focus on 
developing e-learning opportunities for 
Corrective Services staff, and Provide First Aid 
and Security Awareness online courses were 
made available to other Department staff and 
contractors. E-learning courses and learning 
material was updated for compliance with Web 
Content Accessibility Guidelines. 
New online courses included: Alcohol, Tobacco 
& Other Drugs, Radicalisation Extremism 
Awareness Online Program, Early Intervention, 
Working with Domestic Violence Offenders 
Workshop and Working with Sex Offenders 
Workshop.
The following e-courses were released: 
Security Awareness, Information Security, 
Corrective Services Induction, Australian 
Correctional Leadership Program, Urinalysis 
Site Testing, Electronic Document Records 
Management System and Batons Refresher. 

International programs
In 2014-15, Corrective Services hosted eight 
delegations from 10 nations, predominantly 
from the Asia-Pacific region. Staff and 
delegates gained a greater understanding of 
worldwide criminal justice issues during these 
professional networking opportunities. 
The Commissioner’s Brush Farm International 
Scholarship remained one of the most 
prestigious scholarships in the corrections 
industry within the Asia-Pacific region. 
Successful candidates are given the 
opportunity to participate in part of the 
Australian Correctional Leadership Program. 
The scholarship attracted 20 applications from 
10 countries with the international positions 
being awarded to four senior officers from 
Malaysia, Papua New Guinea, Singapore and 
the Solomon Islands.
In 2014-15, joint projects with universities and 
working with overseas correctional jurisdictions 
continued. Macquarie University assisted by 

providing lectures to international scholarship 
participants on cross-cultural judiciary issues 
related to counter-terrorism, criminology and 
policing. Corrective Services assisted the 
University of Western Sydney by organising 
a correctional centre visit for a group of staff 
from Saudi Arabia as part of a one-year 
residential training program. 

New security programs
The Extreme Threat Inmate Management 
Policy which covers all extreme risk inmates 
such as gang members has been finalised and 
will be implemented in 2015-16.
An implementation plan has been developed 
for 2015-16, responding to recommendations 
from the Contraband Control Taskforce.

Mobile phones
The trial of mobile phone jamming at Lithgow 
Correctional Centre has been successfully 
completed and has been approved by the 
Australian Communications and Media 
Authority to run for another three years. 
An additional trial will be conducted at the 
Goulburn Correctional Centre.
In 2015-16, strategies for detection and 
disabling of contraband mobile phones in 
prisons will continue including new detection 
equipment and the expansion of phone 
jamming.  

Standards for correctional 
centre operations   
In 2014-15, the third suite of Standards 
for Public Correctional Centre Operations 
(Governance and Administration) were 
developed and implemented with a pilot 
program of operational reviews conducted at 
a number of correctional centres across NSW. 
The standards were ‘risk rated’ to align with 
open (minimum security) and closed (medium 
and maximum) facilities.
A revised Contract Management Framework 
that outlines how Corrective Services 
manages, monitors and reports on compliance 
with the Management Agreements for the 
operations of the two privately operated 
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correctional centres has been implemented 
to meet the requirements of the Justice 
Procurement Accreditation Stipulations – 
Custodial Outsourcing Category. This revised 
contract management model provides a risk-
based approach to scheduling and planning 
compliance activities in key operational areas. 
Quarterly assessment reports were provided 
by monitors that detailed performance and 
compliance results of Parklea and Junee 
Correctional Centres against requirements 
for the Performance Linked Fees (PLF). 
This included validation of data provided 
by the GEO Group Australia Pty. Ltd. (GEO 
Group) and specified within the management 
agreements. The monitors also assessed 
performance of the two centres against various 
operating specifications. 

Junee Correctional Centre – 
Performance Assessment Report
It was determined that 100 per cent of the PLF 
funds be paid to GEO Group for the 2014-
15 contract year for the operation of Junee 
Correctional Centre. 

Minimum Standards (Operating 
Specifications)
The Junee Correctional Centre was assessed 
as meeting the stated performance outcomes 
of the minimum standards that were reviewed 
during the contract year. The GEO Group met 
its contractual obligations for operating Junee 
Correctional Centre for the contract year 2014-
15. 

Parklea Correctional Centre - 
Performance Assessment Report
It was determined that 97 per cent of the PLF 
funds be paid to GEO Group for the operation 
of Parklea Correctional Centre for the 2013-
14 contract year. The PLF payment for the 
current contract year of 2014-15 is yet to be 
determined. 

Minimum Standards (Operating 
Specifications)
The Parklea Correctional Centre was assessed 
as meeting the stated performance outcomes 

of the minimum standards that have so far 
been reviewed during the current contract year 
which does not cease until 31 October 2015.

Offender reception, screening, 
and induction 
In 2014-15, there were 15,328 admissions 
of fresh custody inmates into correctional 
centres. Each of these inmates was provided 
with comprehensive intake screenings within 
36 hours of arrival into custody to ensure they 
are safe and are assessed for immediate risks 
such as self-harm and urgent needs. 
In 2014-15, inmate handbooks were updated 
and a comprehensive audit was conducted on 
screening in all reception centres. The inmate 
induction process was reviewed, with a report 
recommending a series of improvements to be 
completed in 2015-16. 

Offender services provided at 
correctional centres
Corrective Services provides a compendium 
of support services to inmates including crisis 
support, fundamental support, programs 
support, specific needs and wellbeing. These 
services are primarily delivered by services 
and programs officers, alcohol and other drugs 
workers or welfare officers.
Registered psychologists provide services 
in the following areas: suicide/self-harm, 
situational aggression and immediate harm to 
others, mental health impairments, cognitive 
impairments, challenging behaviours, 
criminogenic risk/needs, suitability, readiness 
and responsivity and transition, coping and 
adjustment. 
Services are also provided to inmates with 
specific needs. These services are provided 
exclusively by specialist staff in designated 
correctional centres or units.

Individual Violent Offender Unit 
The Individual Violent Offender Unit is a 
behavioural management program for inmates. 
In order to be placed into these programs, an 
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inmate must have acted in an extremely violent 
manner, to the point that his continued housing 
in the mainstream inmate population poses 
a significant risk to staff, other inmates and 
visitors. 
In 2014-15, inmates, in this unit, were able 
to attend group-based programs to assist in 
the development of self-management skills. 
In addition, the Unit provided 402 occasions 
of psychology services. Of these, 297 (74 per 
cent) were expert consultations to other case 
management staff. 
Terms of reference for review of the Individual 
Violent Offender Unit were approved in 2015 
and the review will take place 2015-16.

A new role for Kariong 
Correctional Centre 
From 2004 to May 2015, the Kariong 
Juvenile Correctional Centre was managed 
by Corrective Services offering a short-term 
placement option to stabilise young male 
detainees charged with, or sentenced for, 
serious offences. The centre was also used 
to stabilise and/or change behaviour of those 
deemed too difficult to manage in Juvenile 
Justice centres.
In May 2015, all juvenile offenders being 
managed at the centre were returned to the 
full-time care of Juvenile Justice. In June 
2015, the centre re-opened as the Kariong 
Assessment and Intervention Correctional 
Centre, a four-month assessment and 
intervention centre for newly sentenced (less 
than two years) male young adult (18-25 years) 
offenders, prioritising Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander inmates.  
The new focus at Kariong will be on intensive 
assessment and interventions using a holistic 
approach. The primary goal is to reduce 
reoffending of short-sentenced young adult 
offenders and develop clear program pathways 
and processes for community reintegration.
This will be achieved through:

 ^ supporting inmates to adopt a safe and 
healthy lifestyle

 ^ appreciation of, and engagement with, 
Aboriginal culture

 ^ engaging and working with the families of 
inmates

 ^ using therapeutic community and 
restorative justice principles to pro-
actively and positively address problematic 
institutional behaviours

 ^ establishing the use of the same language 
from EQUIPS to positively challenge and 
reward or reinforce an inmate’s behaviours.
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Escapes and apparent unnatural 
deaths in custody
Rates of escapes from custody 
In 2014-15, escape rates from secure custody 
decreased against the national average for the 
previous year. Escape rates from open custody 
decreased against the national average. There 
was one escape from a secure correctional 
centre. 

Table 3.01 Escape rate (per 100 inmates) – National Correctional Indicator 2010-2015

Rates* 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

National 
Average 
2013-14 2014-15

Open 0.60 0.34 0.17 0.31   0.36 0.13

Secure 0.02 0.05 0.02 0.02   0.05 0.01
 
* National Correctional Indicators counting rules.

Table 3.02 Number of escapes – National Correctional Indicator 2010-2015

Number* 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Open 22 12 6 12 5

Secure 1 3 1 1 1
 
* National Correctional Indicators counting rules.

Rate of apparent unnatural deaths 
in custody
In 2014-15, there was no Aboriginal death 
from unnatural causes in custody. The rate of 
unnatural deaths in custody decreased from 4 
to 2 which was below the national average (4) 
in 2013-14.

Table 3.03 Apparent unnatural deaths in correctional custody 2010-2015 

ATSI1 status 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Indigenous 1 1 0 0 0
Non-
Indigenous 10 5 8 4 2

Total 11 6 8 4 2
1. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
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Family matters 
Involving families in offender case 
management
The Children and Families of Offenders 
Steering Committee is a forum to initiate and 
coordinate projects related to contact between 
inmates and their families. Its main focus is 
on the implementation of Family Matters – A 
Strategy for Service and Program Provision to 
Children and Families of Offenders. 
In 2014-15, a ‘pre pilot’ to formally involve 
families in offender case management was 
conducted at the Intensive Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Program and at the Bolwara 
Transitional Centre. This is a result of an  
acknowledgement that if the support network 
identified for an offender does not include an 
offender’s  family members then corrections 
may be ignoring the most influential people 
in an offender’s life. Failure to tap into this 
resource may potentially undermine the 
effectiveness of the case management 
process. The results of the trial were positive 
and a fully developed longer-term pilot 
program is under consideration for 2015-16. 

Family video contact
In 2014-15, a total of 207 family video contact 
sessions were organised in collaboration with 
support agencies such as the Community 
Restorative Centre. Sessions were facilitated at 
court houses in Moree, Wagga Wagga, Walgett 
and Batemans Bay. This program will be 
extended in the new year to Wyong, Bourke, 
Wilcannia and Broken Hill. 

Table 3.04 Family contact sessions facilitated 
by video conferencing 2010-2015

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15
Number 34 103 168 192 207

Information for families in 
community languages
The Visiting a Correctional Centre booklet was 
translated into the three priority languages: 
Vietnamese, Chinese and Arabic and made 
available in print and online. Since significant 
changes to e-banking have occurred, 
information for families regarding the deposits 
into inmate accounts was also translated 
into these three community languages and 
displayed in correctional centre visiting 
areas. The poster regarding the prevention of 
communicable diseases was also translated 
and published.

Visitor Information Volunteer 
Scheme
In 2014-15, under a service partnership 
agreement with Prison Fellowship Australia 
NSW/ACT, the Visitor Information Volunteer 
Scheme was extended to the Bathurst 
Correctional Centre.

Programs and services for 
female offenders 
Recognition of gender differences  is a first 
principle of Corrective Services in its work 
with women offenders. Constituting a very low 
proportion of the total offender population, 
the majority of women serve sentences of 
less than six months. Women offenders tend 
to have high treatment needs for substance 
misuse and mental ill-health and, in general, 
backgrounds of acute socio-economic 
disadvantage and long histories of familiy 
violence and dislocation. 
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At the end of June 2015, there were 862 
women in custody representing 7.3 per cent of 
the total inmate population; 35 percent were 
Aboriginal. As at 30 June 2015, 2,425 female 
offenders were supervised in the community, 
representing 14.6 per cent of all offenders 
under supervision (down from 2,449 in 2013-
14).
Programs offered by Corrective Services 
specifically for women inmates include:

 ^ the Intensive Drug and Alcohol Treatment 
Program at Dillwynia Correctional Centre 
and a pilot counselling program for adults 
who have experienced violence 

 ^ the Mothers and Children’s Program, 
which allows young children to live with 
their incarcerated mothers at Emu Plains 
Correctional Centre 

 ^ the Mothering at a Distance Program 
that aims to enhance mother and child 
relationships 

 ^ Adventure Based Challenge which is a five-
day program to enable women to acquire 
additional skills that may assist in reduction 
of their reoffending risk. 

In 2014-15, 188 women inmates participated in 
the EQUIPS Foundation or Addiction program 
to reduce their drug or alcohol dependence or 
abuse issues. 
In 2014-15, 428 women in custody attended 
compendium programs. Of these, 196 women 
identified as Aboriginal; 66 per cent of all 
program participants. The highest attendance 
was for Mothering At a Distance, followed 
by Getting SMART and the Adventure Based 
Challenge ABC – Women. The average 
completion rate for all programs was 59 per 
cent. 
In 2014-15, 301 community-based female 
offenders attended 2,916 program sessions 
addressing offending behaviour. The highest 
attendance was for Sober Driver program, 
followed by Getting SMART. Both are programs 
addressing offences relating to alcohol and 
other drugs use. 
Courses in Aboriginal cultural activities, 
Hospitality and Tourism, Forklift, General 

Construction Induction Training (White Card), 
Transport and Distribution, Animal Care, 
Horticulture and Agriculture are delivered by 
TAFE and other external registered training 
organisations.
Traineeships in business services, animal care, 
transport and logistics, and asset maintenance 
are also available to women inmates.

Transitional centres
The Bolwara Transitional Centre at Emu Plains 
and the Parramatta Transitional Centre provide 
support for women approaching release from 
custody. 
Bolwara provides female offenders with 
entrenched alcohol and other drug issues, and 
who are in custody for serious offences, with 
a structured environment so they can address 
their offending behaviour which assists them to 
reintegrate into the community. Residents are 
appropriately referred to external agencies for 
support. 
In 30 June 2015, there were 16 women at 
Bolwara, 13 of whom identified as Aboriginal. 
In 2014-15, there were 12 new applicants 
accepted into the Parramatta Transitional 
Centre. Eleven successfully completed the 
program and were released to parole; one was 
returned to a correctional centre due to Federal 
Government immigration status changes in 
December 2014 but none of the residents were 
returned to a mainstream correctional centre 
due to revocation. 

Partnerships targeting 
reoffending and community 
safety
Corrective Services builds and maintains 
collaborative partnerships with government 
and non-government organisations to establish 
strategic and innovative service-delivery 
initiatives across custodial and community 
settings in accordance with government 
priorities of reducing risk of reoffending and 
protecting the community. 
The Funded Partnership Initiative was 
launched in September 2014 comprising 
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three service streams: transitional support 
(for offenders), offenders’ children and family 
support and victim support.
Under this initiative, a total of 18 funding 
agreements were signed with 15 non-
government organisations. Service delivery 
is across NSW and focuses on post-release 
support for higher risk offenders to assist in 
reducing reoffending and improving public 
safety. Services also include supporting 
families and children, victims of crime and 
providing property storage assistance to 
inmates. The total investment of the current 
Agreements is $13m. Performance indicators 
are included in each Agreement and an online 
portal is used for data collection, referrals and 
accountability purposes. 
Funded projects also include the Drug Summit 
and the Transitional National Partnerships 
Agreement on Homelessness Aboriginal 
Women Leaving Custody (AWLC) project, with 
a combined value of $1.1m. An independent 
evaluation has commenced in relation to the 
AWLC project and will be finalised in 2015-
2016.
A statewide ‘roundtable’, held on 30 April 2015 
and hosted by Homelessness NSW, aimed 
at improving access to accommodation and 
support services for people leaving custody 
and to develop a statewide training package 
for government staff providing public housing, 
community housing providers and specialist 
homelessness service providers. 

Effective management of 
offenders from culturally 
and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds in custody and the 
community
In 2014-15, numbers of offenders from 
culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) 
backgrounds remained stable making up 
almost 20 per cent (2,192) of the total inmate 
population in custody and near 20 per cent 
(2,789) of offenders on community-based 
orders. Arabic, Chinese and Vietnamese 
remained as the most spoken languages by 
CALD inmates. 

Community engagement 
In 2014-15, the Corrective Services Muslim 
Religious Leaders Community Engagement 
Forum continued to address key issues for 
Muslim offenders. 
In 2014-15, Corrective Services collaborated 
with the Australian National Imams Council and 
other key religious groups in a pilot to provide 
Friday prayers to Muslim inmates at Long-Bay 
Hospital, Dawn De Loas Correctional Centre 
and the Metropolitan Remand and Reception 
Centre. 
Corrective Services approved the migrant 
and refugee Services of Anglicare to conduct 
a pilot of the pre and post-release Sudanese 
Prison Support Program, in particular for 
those inmates who have only recently settled 
in Australia under the Refugee and Special 
Humanitarian and Family Stream Program. It 
will commence at Parklea Correctional Centre 
where the majority of Sudanese inmates are 
incarcerated.
The Pacific Islander Client Service Officer 
continues to work with Pearls Women Group 
to support women on parole orders. The 
group holds workshops on topics including 
domestic violence, managing emotions, 
self-development, finance and budgeting. 
The Group has entered into partnership with 
Centrelink and TAFE to offer an education 
pathway for women offenders. 
In 2015-16, Corrective Services will explore 
partnership opportunities with community 
organisations to provide services to Muslim 
offenders in the community. Preliminary 
discussions have begun between Bankstown 
Community Corrections and the Islamic 
Research and Science Academy Australia 
to conduct a pilot program aimed at helping 
Muslim offenders on parole to reintegrate into 
the community.
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Capacity building
In 2014-15, Corrective Services continued to 
collect equal employment opportunity data to 
identify the cultural and linguistic composition 
of its staff. Of the 1,551 Corrective Services 
staff who provided data, 271 (17.5 per cent) 
are fluent in a language other than English. 
Corrective Services offers simple language 
services to offenders and visitors in 36 
community languages. 
In 2014-15, nine one-day cultural inclusiveness 
training courses were attended by 184 
Corrective Services staff. In addition, 599 
new staff (custodial and non-custodial, 
administration and services and programs) 
completed the online induction cultural 
awareness training course. These figures 
exceed the number of staff who participated in 
cultural inclusiveness training in the previous 
year.
The two-day religious awareness training 
Understanding of Islam and Muslims was held 
on four occasions. The training was attended 
by 107 staff from across the Department of 
Justice. 

Young offenders in the 
community
The Juvenile Justice Division supervises 
young people in the community who receive 
a community-based order such as a good 
behaviour bond, probation, community service 
order or parole. In 2014-15, Juvenile Justice 
operated in 35 community offices across NSW.
A range of interventions are used to address 
each young offender’s criminogenic risks 
based on a ‘Risk Need Responsivity’ model 
and there is engagement with the young 
offender’s family, where possible.

Improving service delivery 
In October 2014, Juvenile Justice completed 
a review of community and practice resources 
and community roles to simplify employment 
structures, improve delivery of quality 
interventions to young people and ensure 
equitable resource allocation across the State.

A new role, Juvenile Justice Caseworker, was 
created which combines the functions of the 
three former roles: Juvenile Justice Officer, 
Youth Justice Conferencing Officer and 
Counsellor.
The allocation of staff and managers in 
Juvenile Justice community offices was 
reassessed based on trend-identified 
caseloads, young peoples’ needs, and 
community growth areas.
Juvenile Justice also improved alcohol and 
other drug services (AOD) for young people 
across NSW by up-skilling 185 caseworkers to 
deliver AOD education and harm minimisation 
programs. This replaced 17 counselling roles 
previously deployed sparsely across the State. 
A further review outcome was an increase in 
psychologists employed to 41 full-time roles, 
addressing the identified need for greater 
therapeutic support for young offenders 
and their families. In every Juvenile Justice 
community office, a psychologist is available 
to assess young people with complex needs, 
support caseworkers and deliver therapeutic 
interventions.
Juvenile Justice staff work with young people, 
their families and relevant services to develop 
and deliver a comprehensive case plan aimed 
at addressing their identified offending-related 
needs. 
An aspect of every young person’s case plan 
is participation in an evidence-based, offence-
focused intervention. These interventions 
target specific needs such as antisocial 
attitudes, alcohol and other drug use and 
violent offending. 

Remand interventions
Remand interventions are conducted by 
Juvenile Justice to assist young people 
in custody on remand to meet their bail 
conditions.
Remand intervention workers provide 
structured and effective remand intervention 
services and assistance to the courts. 
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This work includes:

 ^ providing immediate information to the 
court outlining supports for young people 
granted bail

 ^ assisting the young person to find suitable 
accommodation if required

 ^ referring the young person to an alcohol 
and other drug rehabilitation service. 

Juvenile Justice community 
partnerships
Juvenile Justice Community Services offices 
continue to improve the case management 
of young offenders in the community through 
strong partnerships with local community 
organisations, funded services and government 
agencies

Blacktown and Penrith Community 
Offices
The Nepean/Blue Mountains and Western 
Sydney Integrated Complex Case Panels 
are facilitated by Family and Community 
Services (FACS) with the Western Sydney 
Panel chaired by Juvenile Justice.  The 
panels provide a forum for all heads of local 
government services to meet and discuss 
service delivery to particularly complex 
common clients. Through this process, Penrith 
and Blacktown community offices have 
established strong working relationships with 
the FACS Community Services offices and 
Police Local Area Commands. These positive 
professional relationships have improved day-
to-day business with coordinated services 
being achieved with a simple phone call to the 
relevant counterpart. 
Penrith Community Office has also furthered 
their partnership with Platform Youth Services, 

Table 3.05 Number of remand interventions in 2010-2015 

Remand Interventions 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Number 5,483 5,137 4,632 3,818 2,763
Effective date 6 July 2015.

Mountains Youth Services Team (MYST), 
Ted Noffs Mt Druitt and many other non-
government organisations operating within 
the local area. Both MYST and Ted Noffs are 
registered as participating organisations in the 
Community Service Order scheme. 

Sydney Community Office
The Sydney office has a long-term partnership 
with Tribal Warrior, which provides support, 
intervention and mentoring to high-risk 
Aboriginal youth in the Redfern area. 
The office works in collaboration with a range 
of service providers in the Redfern/Waterloo 
area on the Redlink project which aims to 
improve government and non-government 
service delivery in the NSW housing high risk 
estates by providing onsite services. 
To proactively address the increased offending 
of young people in the Redfern area, in 2015-
16, the Department of Family and Community 
Services, Department of Justice through 
the Juvenile Justice Division, Department 
of Health, Department of Housing and 
Department of Education will hold a youth 
forum to maximise effectivenees of joint 
service delivery for core clients of all agencies.
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Dubbo Community Office
In Dubbo, Juvenile Justice staff have 
developed positive relationships with various 
local Police Citizens Youth Clubs, including 
Parkes, Forbes and Dubbo. This has allowed 
Juvenile Justice caseworkers to refer clients 
for mentoring and recreation-based activities. 
Clients have responded well to joint home 
visits by Juvenile Justice and Police Citizens 
Youth Clubs, when required.

New England Community Office
The New England Community Office has 
partnerships with Boggabilla Paper Mill 
(recycled paper from bark), Armidale Tilbusters 
(where young people assist farmers in 
fencing and general farm work), Glen Innes 
Showgrounds (general maintenance) Glen 
Innes Football Club, Glen Innes National Parks 
and Wildlife (maintenance of Goonoowigall 
Reserve in Inverell and ancestry mapping) and 
the Moree Botanical Gardens. 
The New England Community Office also 
has partnerships with Drug Arm Goondiwindi 
(servicing Boggabilla) in delivering NAIDOC 
Week activities, the Salvation Army in Narrabri 
and Moree Centacare.

Table 3.06 Key service measures for community supervision 2012-2015

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Background reports and assessments completed for 
young offenders appearing at court 4,318 4,718 4,454

Community-based orders commenced 4,176 4,641 4,591

Individual young offenders commencing supervision 
in the community 2,033 1,931 1,761

Hours of community service work allocated to young 
offenders 17,762 16,799 12,461
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There are seven juvenile justice centres across 
NSW all providing:

 ^ counselling and programs to enable young 
people to address their offending behaviour 
and other related issues, such as drug and/
or alcohol abuse

 ^ a full range of health services provided by 
the Justice Health & Forensic Mental Health 
Network, including identifying disabilities

 ^ educational and vocational programs 
in partnership with the Department of 
Education and Communities

 ^ individual case management, including 
assessments to identify the appropriate 
offence-focused interventions to be 
delivered to young people in order to 
address the needs of those in custody 
and plan their community re-integration.

Table 3.07 Admissions to Juvenile Justice Centres 2010-2015

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Remand 4,768 4,088 3,469 3,111 2,364

Remand to Control1 427 498 416 387 314

Control 148 146 152 186 169
Total 5,343 4,732 4,037 3684 2,847

 
Effective date 6 July 2015. 
1.Remand to Control are admissions on remand which become control orders during the continuous period of 
custody.

Young offenders in custody
It is always a last resort for courts to sentence 
a juvenile to detention, however in some cases 
it is necessary for the safety of the community 
and the young person.
Custodial centres run by Juvenile Justice 
provide secure and safe care for young 
offenders sentenced to custody by the courts 
or remanded to custody pending finalisation of 
their court matters.

Table 3.08 Key service measures for custody 2012-2015 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Average daily number of young people in custody 324 315 286

Average daily number of young women in custody 29 24 21

Average daily number of young people of Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander background 165 150 150

Average daily number of young people serving custodial 
sentences 166 155 149

Average daily number of young people remanded in custody 
awaiting court proceedings to be finalised 158 159 137

Effective date 6 July 2015
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In the table below, an apparent jump in the 
number of self harm incidents, assaults and 
security breaches can be accredited, in part, 
to the decline in total number of proceedings 
against young people, by the NSW Police 
Force, over the past five years. Those young 
offenders, who are detained, are therefore 
more likely to have committed more serious 
offences and more likely to exhibit extreme 
behaviours. 

Table 3.09 Rate of safety/security breaches per 1,000 admissions

Rate of safety or security 
breaches per 1,000 admissions:

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Number of deaths in custody - - - - -

Self-harm incidents 25 43 54 57 1382

Assaults on staff 6 4 4 5 10

Detainee on detainee assaults 53 60 57 59 86

Escapes from secure perimeter - - - - -

Security breaches1 13.3 17.1 22.0 15.5 29.2

Effective date 7 July 2015.       

1.This is the rate of incidents involving telephone threats, unauthorised entry, refuse direction and disturbances per 
1,000 admissions to custody. Previously reported was the rate of participants of all security breach incidents per 1,000 
admissions to custody. 
2.Eight young people were involved in 50 per cent of all self-harm incidents.     
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Health services
The Justice Health & Forensic Mental Health 
Network is responsible for providing health 
and medical services to young people in 
Juvenile Justice centres. All Juvenile Justice 
centre medical clinics operate seven days a 
week. The clinics are managed by the Network 
and staffed by registered nurses who provide 
a range of health services and coordinate 
visits from general practitioners, dentists and 
psychiatrists.
Pre-release planning for young offenders 
includes ensuring they are connected to 
community health and medical services before 
their release date. This may involve referring 
young offenders to the community integration 
team to facilitate access to services.

Juvenile Justice Centre 
community engagement 
activities
All Juvenile Justice centres maintain strong 
associations with the local community, with 
detainees regularly completing community 
service work and welcoming community 
visitors to centres on occasions such as 
the National Aborigines and Islanders Day 
Observance Committee (NAIDOC) Day. 

Frank Baxter Juvenile Justice 
Centre 
In 2015, detainees participated in the Century 
Challenge Cycle ride to raise awareness for 
the homeless and to raise funds for the Central 
Coast Homeless Shelter in Gosford.  

Cobham Juvenile Justice Centre 
In line with the year’s NAIDOC theme, the 
Cobham Juvenile Justice Centre event had 
detainees completing creative arts projects 
to learn about identified sacred spaces. 
Workshops on the day included a dance 
performance by the centre’s Aboriginal dance 
group, a visit with a local Elder, artefacts from 
the Australian Museum and a didgeridoo 
workshop. 

Acmena Juvenile Justice Centre 
In 2012, the ‘Us Mob’ Aboriginal Dance Group 
was established under the guidance and 
mentorship of youth officers at the centre.  
The dance group comprises Aboriginal youth 
from across northern NSW who are serving 
a custodial order at the centre. The group 
regularly perform in the local community 
including at aged care homes and festivals and 
special events. 

Juniperina Juvenile Justice Centre 
In 2014, Juniperina Juvenile Justice Centre 
initiated the Juniperina Aboriginal Community 
Consultative Committee. The Committee 
was formed with interested stakeholders 
from the community and within Juvenile 
Justice to assist Juniperina to develop 
culturally appropriate programs and activities 
for the young women in custody. Since 
its commencement, the committee has 
implemented culturally specific programs and 
activities such as the Yarning Circle Program, 
engaging an Aboriginal artist to work with 
detainees on Aboriginal art and participation in 
Juniperina’s NAIDOC celebration. 

Reiby Juvenile Justice Centre 
In 2014, Reiby Juvenile Justice Centre staff, 
in consultation with the Reiby Aboriginal 
Community Consultative Committee, created 
an Aboriginal Learning Circle where Elders, 
families and community members connect 
with clients in the centre in a comfortable and 
safe space. The Learning Circle provides an 
opportunity for clients of both Aboriginal and 
non-Aboriginal origin to reconnect with the 
land and learn about Aboriginal culture. The 
committee was formed to create the Learning 
Circle and provide financial assistance to the 
project. Other stakeholders include Tharawal 
Aboriginal Corporation, National Parks and 
Wildlife, The Botanical Gardens, Sydney Land 
Services and Missionaries from the Church of 
Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints along with 
Dorchester School.
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Orana Juvenile Justice Centre 
In collaboration with the Lincoln Education 
and Training Unit, several Orana projects 
have resulted in accredited TAFE building 
and construction qualifications for detainees. 
Three table tennis tables were constructed 
and placed at the rear of accommodation 
units for use by detainees and a cubby house 
was designed and constructed to support the 
activities of the local Pink Angels breast cancer 
charity in Dubbo. The cubby house will be 
raffled before the end of the year to raise funds 
for the Pink Angels. 

Riverina Juvenile Justice Centre 
This year, the centre had a large number 
of detainees on Work and development 
orders to assist with clearing debts relating 
to fines. Detainees are completing hours 
by participating in a grounds maintenance 
program and/or counselling programs. 

Juvenile Justice centre 
specialised programs
Chisholm Behaviour Program
The Chisholm Behaviour Program was 
developed to facilitate the transfer of juvenile 
detainees, housed at Kariong Correctional 
Centre, from Corrective Services to Juvenile 
Justice. This change in responsibility, as 
well as the physical location, provided an 
opportunity to introduce a new approach 
to working with high-risk young offenders. 
The program is designed for young males 
in custody with significant challenging 
behaviours. 
It is designed for young males between the 
age of 16 and 21 years with an A1(B) or A1(O) 
classification. Young people in custody with 
an A1 classification have been assessed as 
posing increased safety risks to themselves 
and others and require additional security 
measures. A young person is classified as 
A1(O) as a result of their criminal offence or 
offences, or A1(B) as a result of behaviour 
displayed while in custody.
The program aims to modify behaviour to 

facilitate reintegration into the mainstream 
custody population.
To complete the program, each young person 
must progress through a series of phases. 
The Behaviour Review Team reviews progress 
through the program and develops strategies 
for managing behaviour. The team also assists 
the young person to meet their behaviour 
goals.
The program is primarily based at Cobham 
Juvenile Justice Centre in Werrington which 
has capacity to accommodate 31 young 
people. Frank Baxter Juvenile Justice Centre 
offers a secondary site to accommodate up 
to 11 young people if the Chisholm facility is 
full, or if there is a requirement to separate 
particular young people for safety or other 
reasons. 

Waratah Pre-Release Unit Program
The Waratah Pre-Release Unit is an annexe to 
Reiby Juvenile Justice Centre, located outside 
the secure perimeter.  Waratah was opened 
in late 2010, and is a pre-release unit aimed 
at preparing young people for return into the 
community. The unit cares for up to 10 young 
people from across NSW.
Young people in the unit can attend work or 
study during the day, returning to the centre 
each night.
In 2014-15, staff and detainees from the 
Waratah Unit participated in a number of 
volunteer community partnerships, including 
packing food parcels for the local Aboriginal 
community and volunteering at a local soup 
kitchen.

Serious Young Offenders 
Review Panel
The Serious Young Offenders Review Panel 
provides independent advice to the Minister 
and Executive Director, Juvenile Justice on 
issues relating to serious violent offenders 
detained in Juvenile Justice Centres pursuant 
to Part 4B of the Children (Detention Centres) 
Act 1987. 
In 2014-15, the Review Panel met on 11 
occasions and dealt with 54 cases. 
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The Executive Director adopted 13 (87 per 
cent) of the review panel’s recommendations 
for reclassification. Of these, 15 were 
considered for re-classification resulting in nine 
(60 per cent) of the juvenile offenders being re-
classified. 
The review panel also considered 37 cases 
for leave, 92 per cent from regional Juvenile 
Justice centres and eight per cent from 
metropolitan centres. All Review Panel’s 
recommendations for leave were accepted.  

Target and increase 
success rates of 
intervention programs 
contributing to a 
reduction of reoffending

NSW Strategy to Reduce 
Reoffending 
In 2014, the Department commenced 
leadership of an inter-agency project 
to develop a NSW Strategy to Reduce 
Reoffending. The strategy aims to develop 
a cross-cluster approach to reducing 
reoffending, a key priority for the NSW 
Government in NSW 2021. Following an 
in-depth consultation process with justice-
related stakeholders, a draft strategy received 
in-principle support from Justice Cluster 
executives in December 2014.
The draft strategy creates a connected criminal 
justice system in which all Justice agencies 
prioritise agreed cohorts of reoffenders 
and implement responses to them that are 
swift, certain and tailored. The strategy 
seeks to punish offenders for their crime 
and simultaneously intervene to rehabilitate 
them and avoid future offending. This aims 
to address the current situation where 
approximately eight per cent of the NSW 
offender population is responsible for nineteen 
per cent of the annual crime. 

In the year ahead, elements of the strategy will 
be trialled in two sites to test implementation 
processes. Concurrently, the detail of 
three areas of medium term reform: end-
to-end offender management, sentencing 
and intervention and rehabilitation will be 
developed through inter-agency working 
groups.

Rates of reoffending: NSW 2021 
State Plan target figures
The NSW Reoffending Database contains 
information on each person who has been 
convicted of a criminal offence in NSW since 
1994 and is used to determine the proportion 
of offenders reconvicted for a further offence. 
For the purposes of NSW 2021, reconviction 
within 12 months is used as a proxy for 
reoffending. There is a delay of at least four 
months before the reoffending rates for each 
12-month period can be determined to ensure 
sufficient time for the majority of court matters 
for any new offences to be finalised. The 
reoffending rate for 2013-14 is expected to be 
released after publication of this annual report. 

Reconviction of adult offenders
Adult offenders exiting custody
Offenders who pose the highest risk of 
reoffending and who have committed the 
most serious crimes are more likely to receive 
sentences of imprisonment. Reducing the rate 
of reoffending by this group remains a priority 
for the community. Of adults exiting custody 
in 2012-13, 35.9 per cent were convicted for 
a new offence committed within 12 months 
of release. While this was an increase on the 
previous year’s result, it still reflects a reduction 
in reoffending by more than five per cent over 
four years. This is consistent with the NSW 
2021 goal for reducing reoffending. Within 
this group, there has been a reduction in the 
reconviction rate for women of 23 per cent 
over four years which is an exceptional result. 
The 12-month reconviction rate for women 
exiting prison in 2012-13 was 33.3 per cent. 
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Adult offenders reconvicted
Large numbers of adult offenders appear 
before courts in NSW for less serious offences, 
with the majority of these, on sentencing, 
receiving fines or good behaviour bonds. 
Many of these offenders have not committed 
offences of violence or property offences and 
do not pose a threat to community safety. 
While the proportion of adults, including this 
group, reconvicted within 12 months of a prior 
conviction has increased from 16.1 per cent 
in 2008-09 to 16.5 per cent in 2012-13, the 
total number of individuals reconvicted has 
decreased from 14,665 in 2008-09 to 12,394 in 
2012-13. This means 2,271 fewer individuals 
reoffending. 

Table 3.11 Percentage of adults convicted by any court who were convicted for a further offence 
committed within 12 months of index conviction

Year of index offence 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

per cent reconvicted 14.8 15.2 16.5 Not yet available

There have been marginal reductions in the 
number of days taken to reoffend. For adults 
exiting prison in 2012-13, the average time to a 
new proven offence was 169 days, down from 
171 in the previous year. For adult offenders, 
generally there was a decrease from 231 to 
222 days over the same period. Importantly, 
the seriousness of adult reoffending for all 
adults including those discharged from prison 
has not increased, and the number of new 
offences committed by those individuals who 
do reoffend has remained stable since 2009.

Table 3.10 Percentage of adults released from prison who were convicted for a further offence 
committed within 12 months of release or index conviction

Year of release from prison   2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

 per cent reconvicted 34.7 34.3 35.9 Not yet available

Table 3.12 Percentage of juveniles dealt with at Youth Justice Conference who were convicted 
for a further offence committed within 12 months of release or index conviction

Year of index offence 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
per cent reconvicted or dealt 
with by conference 35.8 37.6 38.0 Not yet available

Reconviction of juvenile 
offenders
For juvenile offenders, the reoffending measure 
also includes juveniles who reoffend but have 
their matters dealt with by way of a youth 
justice conference. This rate for juveniles has 
decreased by three per cent from 2008-09 to 
2011-12, however there was a small increase 
in the last 12-month period for which data is 
available.
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Table 3.13 Rates of offenders returning to Corrective Services with a new correctional sanction 
within two years as at 30 June 2015

Year discharged from community 
corrections order  
or released from prison

2010-11 2011-12
National 
Average 2012-13

2011-12

Offenders returning to community 
corrections 11.8 11.6 14.8 12.7

Offenders returning to corrective services* 21.8 21.5 21.1 22.6

Prisoners returning to prison 42.7 45.8 42.1 48.1

Prisoners returning to corrective services* 47.9 50.3 48.2 52.9

*includes a prison sentence or community-based order 

Report on Government Services 
figures for adult reoffending 
The Report on Government Services uses 
alternative measures of reoffending for the 
purposes of national comparisons. This 
captures specific cohorts of offenders 
managed by correctional agencies who return 
to corrective services management following 
a reconviction. The rate at which offenders 

Assessing offenders for 
effective interventions
Offenders are assessed for drug and 
alcohol issues, brain injuries and other 
disabilities, mental health, personality and 
cognitive deficits, as well as offence-specific 
assessments. Corrective Services uses the 
Corrections Victoria treatment readiness 
questionnaire (TRQ) as a pre-program 
suitability assessment. The TRQ addresses an 
offender’s readiness for, and responsiveness 
to, effective interventions. Failure to take this 
into account can produce lower participation 
and completion rates.  
In 2014-15, Corrective Services completed 
1,173 questionnaires of which 243 offenders 
(21 per cent) needed program preparation 
prior to progression into a criminogenic needs 
program. 

Level of Service Inventory – 
Revised (LSI-R)
Corrective Services uses the Level of Service 
Inventory – Revised (LSI-R) to determine an 
offender’s risk of reoffending and treatment/
intervention needs. The LSI-R is the most 
commonly administered assessment in 
Corrective Services.   
Table 3.14 LSI-R assessments 2013-2015 

Risk level Number of offenders

2013-14 2014-15
Low 4,386 4,476
Low-medium 7,955 7,903
Moderate 9,796 9,799
Medium-high 3,874 4,199
High 740 831
Total 26,751 27,208

returned to community corrections with a new 
correctional sanction increased slightly, but 
it remained below the national average of the 
previous year (2011-12). Over the same period, 
the rate at which prisoners return to prison 
or return to any corrective services order 
has increased which reflects the significant 
increase in the NSW inmate population in the 
last two years.
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Introduction of EQUIPS
In 2014-15, Corrective Services Offender 
Services and Programs Branch developed and 
implemented a new suite of four programs to 
reduce reoffending called EQUIPS (Explore, 
Question, Understand, Investigate, Practice, 
and Succeed). It consists of EQUIPS 
Foundation (a general offender program), 
EQUIPS Aggression, EQUIPS Addiction, and 
EQUIPS Domestic Abuse. 
Each of these programs has 20 two-hour 
sessions. All programs target empirically 
derived risk factors for offending. All offenders 
participating in EQUIPS develop an offence 
map and self-management plan specific 
to their individual needs. An offender may 
complete one or multiple EQUIPS programs 
depending on their risk of reoffending and risk 
factors (treatment needs).
In the reporting period, the implementation 
of EQUIPS required significant staff training, 
support and supervision to ensure evidence-
based standards were maintained. Research 
consistently demonstrates that for programs to 
be effective in reducing reoffending, program 
delivery needs to be facilitated by trained and 
skilled staff. In 2014-15, the Offender Programs 
Unit trained 586 Corrective Services staff and 
external facilitators, a 92 per cent increase on 
the previous year. Training was received by 106 
staff in basic or advanced group facilitation 
skills and 480 staff were trained in program 
content training. 
In 2014-15, program development workshops 
were conducted to support all field staff and 
monitor the integrity of the EQUIPS programs 
in line with the Australian Program and 
Facilitation Standards document. These will 
continue into 2015-16.
In 2014-15, a weekly report was developed 
which identifies eligible offender candidates 
for the EQUIPS suite of programs at each 
correctional centre. Specifically, these 
candidate lists identify those offenders who 
are medium to high risk of reoffending, meet 
the offence criteria for the programs and 
have between three months and two years 
until release from custody. Offenders are then 
assessed for current suitability to participate. 

During the reporting year, the High Risk 
Offenders Assessment Committee, chaired by 
the Corrective Services Commissioner, became 
a legislated body to provide recommendations 
to the Minister and Attorney General regarding 
the risk and rehabilitation needs of serious 
high risk sexual and violent offenders. High- 
intensity sex and violent offender therapeutic 
programs continue to prioritise highest risk 
and needs offenders for treatment, particularly 
those who may be subject to an order under 
the Crimes (High Risk Offenders) Act 2006. The 
Serious Offenders Assessment Unit completed 
52 psychological reports for the Serious 
Offenders Review Council to inform case plans 
for serious sexual and violent offenders.  
In 2014-15, the Serious Offenders Assessment 
Unit also completed nine high risk offender 
reports to inform recommendations made 
to the Minister and Attorney General for 
applications to be made under the Crimes 
(High Risk Offenders) Act 2006. In addition, 
senior psychologists in sex and violent 
offender therapeutic programs completed a 
further 16 reports totalling 25 high risk offender 
reports.

Reducing reoffending through 
targeted interventions 
In 2014-15, with the implementation of 
the EQUIPS programs, a number of other 
programs were discontinued or modified. 
Reporting on participation and completion 
rates reflects these changes. 
For example, the Domestic Abuse Program 
and Getting SMART program were phased 
out in January 2015 and replaced by EQUIPS 
Domestic Abuse and EQUIPS Addiction. 
Controlling Anger and Learning to Manage 
it (CALM) was phased out by April 2015 and 
replaced by EQUIPS Aggression.
In 2014-15, 15,861 offenders participated in 
at least one rehabilitation program addressing 
criminogenic needs, an overall decrease of 
eight per cent from the previous year. This can 
be accounted for as a result of transition to the 
new service delivery model.
In 2014-15, there was a maintained focus on 
increasing completion rates of all programs. 
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Forum Sentencing can provide victims with 
a sense of being heard and can contribute to 
recovery after victimisation. It can also support 
offenders’ reintegration into the community 
through their participation in intervention 
plans that target behaviour associated with 
offending.
In 2014-15, Forum Sentencing finalised a 
transition to a new centralised operating 
model in Parramatta. The program is managed 
centrally and made available at 48 Local 
Courts throughout NSW. 
The new operating model uses local 
forum facilitators to complete the relevant 
assessments and facilitate the conference. An 
outcome of the conference is the development 
of an intervention plan that outlines how an 
offender will repair harm and address any 
underlying issues. 

Drug and alcohol intervention
Intensive drug and alcohol 
treatment intervention
In 2014-15, the Intensive Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Program expanded to deliver 
operations for both male and female 
offenders on the John Morony Correctional 
Complex. The Program for women, Yallul 
Kaliarna, was established at Dillwynia 
Correctional Centre and is fully operational. 
The operational capacity for the program 
reached 136 and is scheduled to increase to 
full operational capacity of 150 concurrent 
treatment places in 2015-16, with more than 
300 treatment spaces available in an annual 
cycle. 
The program is based on a specialised 
therapeutic approach to treat drug and alcohol 
dependence and offending behaviour. The 
cognitive-behavioural program offers group 
involvement, peer support, education and 
vocational training as well as assistance to 
offenders who return to the mainstream prison 
environment or resettle in the community.
In 2014-15, 214 offenders participated in the 
program and 140 new participants entered the 
program, resulting in a total of 7,804 sessions 
attended. In total, 72 offenders completed the 

The overall completion rate for programs 
across custody and community was 71 per 
cent. 

EQUIPS Foundation 
The EQUIPS Foundation program was 
developed to ensure all offenders, irrespective 
of their offence type, would be able to 
complete a program designed to reduce their 
risk of reoffending. All offenders who are 
assessed as medium to high risk of reoffending 
are eligible to complete this program.
EQUIPS Foundation replaces a number of 
programs previously considered to motivate or 
‘ready’ an offender for treatment.
EQUIPS Foundation program can run as a 
stand-alone program or, depending on other 
eligibility criteria, in combination with other 
EQUIPS programs. This will ensure that higher 
risk offenders can complete a number of 
EQUIPS programs.
In 2014-15, 625 offenders attended the 
EQUIPS Foundation program. 
Sixty-one per cent of women participating in 
EQUIPS Foundation successfully completed 
the program in custody. Sixty-six per cent 
of women participating in EQUIPS Addiction 
successfully completed the program in 
custody, with 51 per cent of participants 
completing the program in the community. 

Forum Sentencing 
In May 2015, Forum Sentencing was 
transferred from the Justice Strategy and 
Policy Division to Corrective Services providing 
an opportunity for strategic alignment of 
restorative justice services for adults across 
NSW. In 2014-15, 199 matters were referred 
to Forum Sentencing, with 86 conferences 
held and 201 intervention plans successfully 
completed by offenders. 
Forum Sentencing provides a safe opportunity 
for victims, offenders and community members 
to discuss the impact and consequences of a 
crime. This process requires offenders to take 
responsibility for their actions and enables the 
victim and community to have a say in how to 
repair the harm caused by the crime.  
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treatment components of the program and 
progressed to maintenance programs in other 
correctional centres or on supervised parole. 
Treatment practice has been improved so 
that a reintegration plan is developed within 
the first four weeks of the program. On 
successful treatment completion, participants 
move into the final phases. The maintenance 
(reintegration) phase is eight weeks in duration 
and consists of weekly recovery meetings 
and planning a participant’s reintegration into 
community or transition to another centre. 
Participants now have access to the 50-bed 
Honour House at the Outer Metropolitan Multi 
Purpose Correctional Centre which assists in 
testing behaviour change in a staged way in 
the community.
Post-treatment support is provided by 
Corrective Services staff in partnership with 
other organisations. Telephone support is 
provided to individuals who are placed in 
other centres or in the community to provide 
support, advice and guidance. Two dedicated 
Throughcare and Placement Officers have 
been recruited to ensure reintegration is given 
the highest priority. 
The program continues to work closely with 
the Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research 
and the Corrective Services Corrections 
Research, Evaluation and Statistics unit.  
Corrective Services Corrections Research 
undertook a process evaluation of the Program 
which indicates the service configuration is 
exceptionally effective. The Bureau of Crime 
Statistics and Research is undertaking an 
outcome evaluation of the Program which will 
determine whether participation has an effect 
on the reduction of recidivism. This evaluation 
is scheduled for February 2016. 
The program also provided primary training 
to custodial staff on alcohol and other drugs. 
Similarly, the team have worked closely with 
the Assessment and Case Management Team 
to develop a clear addiction referral pathway 
to ensure timely and appropriate access to 
services.

Alcohol, drugs and addiction 
programs completion and 
participation rates
In 2014-15, the completion rate for alcohol, 
drugs, and addiction programs was 72.6 per 
cent. This continues the increases reported in 
2013-14 (68.5 per cent) and 2012-13 (66.9 per 
cent).
Participation in alcohol, drugs and addictions 
programs in custodial corrections showed a 
decline compared with 2013-14. In contrast, 
there was an increase in both participation and 
the number of sessions attended in community 
corrections settings.
A remand addiction group, based on 
the EQUIPS Addiction program, is being 
implemented and will be available to inmates 
on remand in 2015-16.

Violent offenders
Aggression and violence programs 
completion and participation rates
Improvements in completion rates for standard 
aggression and violence programs, noted last 
year, have been maintained with 68 per cent 
of all participants completing a program in this 
category in a custodial or community location, 
an increase of one per cent this year. This 
builds on the nine per cent increase reported 
over the past two years. It is important to 
note that a standard program contains a fixed 
number of sessions. An open and/or rolling 
group has no fixed start or end date and the 
duration is tailored to the individual need of the 
participant. Therefore, progam completions are 
recorded separately. 
The completion rate for the EQUIPS Domestic 
Abuse Program was 67 per cent and the new 
EQUIPS Aggression (incorporating CALM 
completions) was 68 per cent. 
The participation in the Domestic Abuse 
(now EQUIPS Domestic Abuse) program 
showed a three per cent increase and EQUIPS 
Aggression (which has replaced CALM) 
program showed an increase in participation of 
four per cent.
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Violent Offenders Therapeutic 
Program 
In 2014-15, 40 offenders completed the Violent 
Offenders Therapeutic Program (VOTP), a 
12-14 month custody-based high intensity 
therapeutic program for violent male offenders 
with medium-high to high risk of reoffending 
and treatment needs. There are currently 80 
offenders participating in the program. The 
completion rate for VOTP was 97.6 per cent. 
In 2014-15, six offenders completed the Self-
Regulation Program for Violent Offenders 
(SRPVO). This is an 18-month custody based 
high intensity program for cognitively impaired 
offenders with serious violence histories.  
Seven participants are continuing the program 
into the new financial year. The completion 

Table 3.15 Risk of sexual reoffending 2012-2015

Risk of sexual reoffending
Number of offenders

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Low 202 211 283

Medium-low 154 193 237

Medium-high 162 281 227

High 92 135 131

Total 610 820 878

rate was 100 per cent. The high intensity 
VOTP recorded a 30 per cent increase in 
participation, building on last year’s increase of 
15 per cent. 
 
Sex offenders
Sex offender assessments
Sex offenders require specialist risk 
assessments. Corrective Services uses the 
STATIC-99R risk assessment to assess sex 
offender risk of reoffending.
The following table shows offenders per 
categories of risk as identified by the STATIC-
99R. 

In 2014-15, Corrective Services introduced 
the STABLE and ACUTE 2007 dynamic risk 
assessment tools. Reports are expected in 
2015-16.

Sex offender programs completion 
and participation rates
In 2014-15, 43 offenders completed the 
intensive Custody-based Intensive Treatment 
(CUBIT) program, a six to ten month treatment 
program for male inmates who have sexually 
abused adults or children and are at a 
moderate to high risk of reoffending. This is an 
increase of 48 per cent on 2013-14. In 2014-
15, the completion rate for the CUBIT program 
was 97.7 per cent. 

In 2014-15, 22 offenders completed the CUBIT 
OutReach (CORE Moderate) program, a six-
month custody-based treatment program 
for male inmates who have sexually abused 
adults or children and are a moderate risk of 
reoffending. The completion rate for the CORE 
program was 100per cent. 
Six offenders completed the Self-Regulation 
Program for sexual offenders, an 18-month 
custody-based high intensity program for 
cognitively impaired offenders.  There were 13 
participants, with seven participants continuing 
with the program into 2015-16. The completion 
rate for the program was 100 per cent.  
Ten offenders commenced the Deniers 
Program, a custody-based treatment program 
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for male offenders who have sexually abused 
adults or children and maintain they were 
wrongfully accused or falsely identified. The 
program commenced in February and, to date, 
all participants have remained in the program.  
In 2014-15, 81 offenders were engaged in 
community-based sex offender programs 
treatment; 58 completed the program in this 
period and 19 have continued treatment into 
the next reporting period. The completion rate 
was 94 per cent.
The overall participation rate across the suite 
of sex offender programs showed a decrease 
of eight per cent.

Inmate employment 
In 2014-15, 76.2 per cent of the eligible inmate 
population were employed. This compares with 
the national average of 74.4 per cent. In 2014-
15, the average employment rate for inmates 
in Corrective Services, publicly operated 
correctional centres through Correctional 
Service Industries was 79.6 per cent.

Corrective Services Industries
In 2014-15, Corrective Services Industries 
(CSI) continued to support Corrective Services 
in its objective of reducing reoffending by 
providing work opportunities to inmates at 
106 commercial business units and 54 service 
industries in 26 correctional centres. 
During the reporting period, 139 inmates 
successfully completed the Heavy Vehicle 
Driver Training Program compared with 58 
inmates last year. Of the 117 participants 
released from custody who have completed 
this program, 87 have secured either full-time 
or casual employment. This is a 74 per cent 
increase from last year.
CSI established additional partnerships 
with private sector businesses, such as the 
contractual arrangement with Evolve Group, a 
Queensland-based company. This lightweight 
concrete product manufacturing operation 
provides opportunities for up to 30 female 
inmates to gain skills which are in demand in 
the labour market.

In 2014-15, in response to the increase in the 
inmate population, CSI successfully developed 
a concept for a prefabricated modular cell. The 
design was approved and CSI commenced 
manufacturing. This project has engaged over 
100 inmates, many of whom are learning new 
skills in construction-related trades. Twenty 
eligible inmates have commenced traineeships 
in engineering and construction. 
CSI enhanced its long-standing business 
relationship with Hyne Timber which is a 
national company operating in all eastern 
states. CSI is contracted to Hyne to provide 
timber-related products and services 
from operations at Mannus Correctional 
Centre. This provides up to 40 inmates 
with opportunities to learn skills and attain 
qualifications in related trades. 
In 2014-15, CSI’s Development and 
Technical Services group delivered 
significant infrastructure projects and cost-
effective facility maintenance services, 
including construction of additional inmate 
accommodation, program facilities and a 
Justice Health Clinic at the Outer Metropolitan 
Multi-Purpose Centre.
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Education, training and 
employment
The NSW Government provided enhancement 
funding over four years, until 30 June 2015, to 
increase the rate of inmate participation and 
completion in education and vocational training 
programs.
In 2014-15, 31.7 per cent of inmates 
participated in education programs. This 
compares to 33.6 per cent in 2013-14. The 
Adult Education and Vocational Training 
Institute (AEVTI) provided a service to 8,557 
inmates. This figure includes 8,150 individuals 
who enrolled in one or more education and/
or vocational training course as part of their 
case management plan. This is a five per cent 
increase on the previous year. 
In 2014-15, a major upgrade to the statewide 
offender access computer network was 
completed. The upgrade resulted in a faster, 
more reliable network with future capacity for 
growth in the number of users and resources 
to assist learning.
Corrective Services is committed to expanding 
the use of digital technology to increase 
education access and learning support to 
inmates. A trial use of in-cell computers for 
30 inmates at the South Coast Correctional 
Centre will take place between August and 
December 2015.

Corrective Services Industries 
commercial performance
In 2014-15, Corrective Services Industries 
provided sales of $111.2m, representing a 21 
per cent increase on the previous year’s sales 
of $91.8m. The gross return to Corrective 
Services was $40.6m, up from $35.9m in 2013-
14.

Table 3.16 Corrective Services Industries commercial performance 2012-2015

Commercial Performance 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Sales $m 88.2 91.8 111.2

Gross contribution (Trading 
Profit) $m 30.1 35.9 40.6

A trial of 16 laptop computers will take place in 
classrooms at the Intensive Learning Centre, 
Mid North Coast Correctional Centre, between 
August and December 2015.
In 2015-16, consideration will be given to 
adding a learning management system, 
implemented in partnership with the 
University of Southern Queensland. This will 
allow inmates to enrol in a limited number 
of distance education courses and provide 
access to course study and research materials. 

Intensive Learning Centres
Full-time learning programs operating as 
Intensive Learning Centres at Wellington, 
South Coast, Lithgow and Mid-North Coast 
Correctional Centres provide an opportunity 
for inmates with assessed low literacy and 
numeracy skills to complete a Certificate (1 to 
3) in the Access Employment Education and 
Training framework. 
In 2014-15, there were 209 enrolments in 
the program which resulted in 104 certificate 
completions and 1,772 units of competency 
completions. It is planned for the Centres to 
reach their full capacity in 2016 with a target 
of 280 student enrolments and certificate 
completions. 



Chapter 3 - Leading practice offender management

56

Table 3.17 Target group individual participation in educational and vocational training 

Target group
Individual participants % of total enrolments % of inmate population

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Aboriginal 
and Torres 
Strait 
Islanders 

1,754 1,811 1,800 23 23 22 23 23.5 24

Culturally 
and 
Linguistically 
Diverse 

2,032 2,061 2,031 27 27 25 28 19 26

Young Adult 
Offender 1,378 1,282 1,362 18 17 17 21 16 16

Women 915 955 933 12 12 11 7 7 7

Participation in education and 
vocational training programs
The Adult Education and Vocational Training 
Institute provides accredited courses and 
nationally recognised education and vocational 
qualifications to inmates in all NSW public 
operated correctional centres.  The Institute’s 
2014 Quality Indicators Report recorded an 
overall learner satisfaction rating of 83 per cent 
and an overall employer satisfaction rating of 
97 per cent.

In 2014-15, there were 433 certificate courses 
completed. This represents a 32 per cent 
increase in certificate completions from the 
previous year.

In 2014-15, educational services were provided 
to 8,557 inmates. This figure includes 8,150 
individuals enrolled in one or more education 
and/or vocational training course as part of 
their case management plan. This is a five per 
cent increase on the previous year.
Of all inmates with access, 31.7 per cent 
participated in an education and vocational 
training program. 

Table 3.18 Statement of attainments for unit completions 2012-15

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

AEVTI 7,414 7,556 9458 (+25 %)
Traineeships 3,180 2,074 3346 (+31 %)
Distance Education 156 252 328
Total 10,750 9,882 (-8 %) 13,132 (+33 %)
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Traineeships 
The Corrective Services Inmate Traineeship 
Program continues under the auspices of the 
NSW Department of Industry State Training 
Services, as part of the Commonwealth 
Australian Apprenticeship Program. In 2014-
2015, a total of 594 inmates engaged in a 
traineeship or apprenticeship. This represents 
a 14.5 per cent increase on the previous year. 
Of these, 239 completed the traineeship/
apprenticeship.

TAFE NSW - Corrective Services 
Memorandum of Understanding 
By mutual agreement, the 2011-14 TAFE NSW 
– Corrective Services NSW Memorandum of 
Understanding was extended until 30 June 
2015. 
In 2014-15, 16,625 hours were provided to 
correctional centres for the delivery of TAFE 
NSW courses to inmates as per funding 
arrangements (excluding Junee and Parklea 
Correctional Centres where services are not 
covered). 
The table below shows participation in target 
group-specific training. Members of these 
target groups may also participate in vocational 
training within a general group.

TAFE NSW short vocational courses 
In 2014-15, 563 short vocational courses were 
delivered, with participation by 4,896 inmates.
TAFE NSW – Corrective Services NSW pilot 
courses under ‘Smart and Skilled’
In 2014-15, TAFE NSW and Corrective 
Services NSW delivered training to inmates 
under the NSW vocational training program 
‘Smart and Skilled’. A number of pilot courses 
focused on whole qualification completion in 
contrast to unit completion. Three courses 
in Certificate III in Civil Construction were 
delivered to Aboriginal inmates at Ivanhoe, 
Broken Hill and Brewarrina Correctional 
Centres. A Certificate II Course in Information 
Technology was delivered to inmates with 
an intellectual disability on the Long Bay 
Correctional Complex. Inmates were supported 
with preparation for courses and some 
assisted with additional literacy and numeracy 
work.
In 2015-16, a new agreement with TAFE NSW 
will shift funding arrangements from an hourly 
‘transfer rate’ to a rate per student per course. 
This will allow ‘Smart and Skilled’ subsidies, 
concessions and exemptions to apply to 
inmates who meet specific criteria.

Table 3.19 Participation in TAFE NSW short courses by inmate target groups

TAFENSW Delivery Hours

Target Group 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15
Aboriginal 3,648 3,480 2,366
Women 1,850 2,302 1,688
Young adult offenders 900 1,240 1,197
Juvenile offenders 150 200 99
Disabled offenders 850 329 475
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WorkCover Authority NSW 
and Corrective Services NSW 
Memorandum of Understanding 
A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between NSW WorkCover Authority and 
Corrective Services NSW enables inmates 
to meet the requirements of a General 
(Construction) Induction Training (GIT) 
card and High Risk Work (HRW) licence as 
required under the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation. The MOU recognises the serious 
commitment of both parties to work together 
to ensure legislative responsibilities are met 
whilst upholding a high standard of training, 
assessing and licensing outcomes.
The attainment of High Risk Work licences and 
the General (Construction) Induction Training 
by inmates working in various Corrective 
Services Industries fulfils the requirements 
of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 
as stipulated by the WorkCover Authority 
NSW. These credentials form part of a work-
readiness portfolio which can be used by 
inmates to gain employment across a number 
of industries upon release. 

Young adult offenders
In 2014-15, young adult offenders, aged 
between 18 and 25 years, accounted for 
approximately 18 per cent of the offender 
population (May 2015). A suite of young adult 
offender programs are provided to male and 
female offenders to specifically target factors 
associated with the risks of reoffending. 
The 16-week Gurnang Life Challenge is 
conducted at Oberon Correctional Centre 
for male inmates aged 18–25.The 5-day 
Adventure Based Challenge is conducted for 
female inmates between Oberon and Dillwynia 
Correctional Centres four times a year. 
In 2014-15, the Young Adult Satellite Program  
continued to be facilitated for female offenders 
at Dillwynia Correctional Centre and young 
offenders at Kariong Juvenile Correctional 
Centre. Motivational and attitudinal modules 
from the YASP have been incorporated into the 
Intensive Drug and Alcohol Treatment Program 
and Intensive Learning Centre programs. 

Young adult offenders programs 
completion and participation rates 
In 2014-15, the completion rate for the male 
participants in the Gurnang Life Challenge 
at Oberon Correctional Centre increased to 
71 per cent from 59 per cent in 2013-14. 
The completion rate for female, young adult 
offenders participating in the Adventure Based 
Challenge was 100 per cent. 
In 2014-15, Kariong Assessment and 
Intervention Correctional Centre and X-Wing at 
Bathurst Correctional Centre became the new 
‘feeder centres’ for the Gurnang Life Challenge 
Program. This change resulted in more suitable 
young inmates being referred to the program 
and, at the same time, security has been 
strengthened. The new EQUIPS program is 
now being incorporated into both the Gurnang 
Life Challenge and ABC and an evaluation 
will take place to determine the impact on 
participation and completion rates.
In 2014-15, Oberon Correctional Centre 
continued a partnership with the Police Citizens 
and Youth Clubs in offering a Preventing 
Alcohol-Related Crime program to 13 young 
people who came under NSW Police Force 
notice in the Central West. Corrective Services 
provided experiential learning activities and 
adventure-based challenges adapted from 
the Young Adult Offender program. This 
collaboration aims to divert young people from 
entering custody.

Wellbeing completion and 
participation rates
Wellbeing programs address factors that 
may be related to responsivity which can be 
addressed prior to commencing criminogenic 
programs or to support a more pro-social 
lifestyle. However, these are not necessarily 
linked directly to the goal of reducing 
reoffending. 
These programs target those responsivity 
factors that can get in the way of an offender’s 
ability to engage in a program that targets 
criminogenic factors. This would then aid the 
offender to reintegrate into the community in a 
pro-social way. 
The following programs will continue to be 



Chapter 3 - Leading practice offender management

59

delivered as they address areas of responsivity 
that are not captured elsewhere in the 
compendium of programs: RUSH, Mothering 
at a Distance, Out of the Dark, Seasons for 
Growth and Hey Dad. They had a completion 
rate of 72 percent.

Health promotion
In 2014-15, 3,620 inmates participated in the 
Health Survival Tips Program, an increase of 
21 per cent compared with participation in 
2013-14. This program is an important part 
of the strategy to prevent the transmission of 
communicable diseases, especially blood-
borne viruses such as hepatitis B and C and 
HIV.
This year saw the addition of a knowledge 
assessment to ensure that the participants had 
a clear understanding of the content of the 
session.  

Reintegration interventions
In 2014-15, just over 4,000 inmates 
participated in interventions which reconnect 
them to the community, maintaining the 
progress made over the past two years. 
These inmates attended a NEXUS session 
which assesses inmates in the last six to 
three months of their custodial sentence to 
determine whether they need release planning 
assistance. 
In 2014-15, increases of 135 per cent in 2013-
14 and 42 per cent in the previous reporting 
period were maintained. Reports have also 
been developed to track whether those 
inmates requesting help actually received 
assistance. The main areas of assistance 
given are contacts with accommodation 
providers, housing agencies, alcohol and other 
drugs residential rehabilitation services, proof 
of identity issues, family/significant other, 
federal entitlements, clothing/transport for 
reintegration activities/release, cultural support 
and debt management.

Juvenile Justice practice review
A review of programs was undertaken in 
2014 to improve the delivery of interventions 
provided to young offenders across NSW. 
The review involved a comprehensive analysis 
of the research base relating to adolescent 
offenders and a stocktake of endorsed 
programs. 
Each program was reviewed specifically in 
relation to:

 ^ program aims and objectives
 ^ stated outcomes of the programs
 ^ the mode of delivery
 ^ monitoring and evaluation built into the 

program
 ^ the evidence base (Australian and 

international). 
The stocktake included analysis of both 
qualitative and quantitative data. Quantitative 
data included:

 ^ participation and completion rates for each 
program

 ^ mapping of entry and exclusion criteria for 
each program against the Juvenile Justice 
population.

Based on the results of the review, Juvenile 
Justice is moving towards a holistic 
intervention model to enable caseworkers to 
better respond to the diverse needs of young 
people. Under a new Practice Framework, 
caseworkers are responsible for providing 
and coordinating interventions for young 
people. Central to the Practice Framework is 
caseworkers assisting the young person to 
identify their needs and goals while engaging 
them in offence-focused interventions. The 
model stresses the importance of continuity of 
service through sometimes multiple transitions 
between community and custody creating an 
individual and continuous case management 
approach.
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Juvenile Justice Funded 
Services Program 
The Juvenile Justice Funded Services Policy 
has been developed to provide the strategic 
framework for the Juvenile Justice Funded 
Services Program. The policy outlines the key 
objectives of the program, including reducing 
reoffending by funding non-government 
organisations to provide evidence-based 
programs and interventions that address 
factors which influence the risk of young 
people reoffending. 
The policy is currently being reviewed and 
will be implemented by September 2015. 
The Community Funding Unit supports the 
administration of the Juvenile Justice Funded 
Services Program and the delivery of a range 
of targeted community funded services to 
young people under the supervision of Juvenile 
Justice.

Joint Support Program
The Joint Support Program is a key program 
within the Juvenile Justice Funded Services 
Program.  
This program targets young people under 
supervision of Juvenile Justice within the 
community who have been assessed as having 
a medium to high level of offending related risk 
and need. 
The service types provided through the 
program are:

 ^ casework support
 ^ crisis accommodation
 ^ long-term accommodation
 ^ employment placement and support
 ^ family intervention.

 
The Department will complete a social 
outcome evaluation and reoffending evaluation 
by mid-2018. The results of the evaluations 
will inform statewide expansion of the scheme. 
The new model moved from one year to three 
year funding contracts which will finish on 30 
June 2016.
The Community Funding Unit has reviewed the 

operation of the Joint Support Program and 
updated service specifications in preparation 
for a competitive tender process during 2015-
16 to award contracts from 1 July 2016 to 30 
June 2019. 

Other funded programs
Rural Residential Rehabilitation 
Services
Juvenile Justice funds the Rural Residential 
Rehabilitation Services, in Dubbo and Coffs 
Harbour, providing a comprehensive treatment 
program for 13 to 18-year-old adolescents with 
alcohol and drug related problems who are 
clients of Juvenile Justice. The program caters 
for up to eight adolescents at any one time in 
each location.
During 2014, Juvenile Justice reviewed the 
program and made significant changes to 
the service specifications in preparation for a 
competitive tender process. 
Mission Australia has been operating the 
services in both locations since 2011 and was 
the successful tenderer. Contracts have been 
awarded to Mission Australia to operate the 
services until 30 June 2018. 

Youth Justice Conferencing
Juvenile Justice is responsible for 
administering Youth Justice Conferences 
under Part 5 of the Young Offenders Act 
1997. Referrals for Youth Justice Conferences 
are made by police and the courts. Only 
certain types of offences can be referred for 
conferencing and the young person must have 
admitted the offence or been found guilty at 
court.
Youth Justice Conferences aim to help young 
people take responsibility for their behaviour 
and to think about the harm they have caused. 
A conference is managed by a convenor 
and brings together the young person and 
the victim (and relevant support people) to 
discuss the offence and its impact. During the 
conference an outcome plan will be discussed 
and agreed upon and may include:

 ^ an apology 
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 ^ restitution to the victim
 ^ steps to help the young person desist from 

further offending
 ^ strategies to reconnect the young person to 

their community.   
Once agreed, the outcome plan is a legally 
binding agreement.
In 2014-15, 1,416 referrals resulted in 1,196 
conferences with 86.9 per cent of young 
people completing their outcome plans.
The financial year 2010-11 saw the largest 
number of referrals to Youth Justice 
Conferences ever (2,145). However, the referral 
trend since 2011 has been steadily downward 
to a low of 1,416 in 2014-15.
Much of the decline in referrals to Youth 
Justice Conferences is directly related to the 
decline in the total number of proceedings 
against young people by the NSW Police Force 
over the past five years from approximately 
60,310 in 2011 to 39,979 in 2015.

Better assessment of young 
people’s needs
On 1 July 2014, Juvenile Justice introduced an 
evidence-based screening tool to assist youth 
justice conferencing convenors to identify 
a young person’s strengths and underlying 
needs. With this tool, convenors improve 
identification of needs and make appropriate 
referrals to services and invite certain services 
to participate in a conference to contribute 
ideas to the outcome plan.

Greater ties to community 
organisations 
Juvenile Justice Metropolitan/Southern Region 
identified a need to develop a collaborative and 
community based response to the number of 
stealing and assault offences referred for Youth 
Justice Conferences. In response, Juvenile 
Justice management supported convenors to 
strengthen working relationships with some of 
the key non-government organisations in the 
region including local youth services and larger 
agencies such as Anglicare and the State 
Emergency Services.

Table 3.20 Youth Justice Conferences and referrals

Referrals and conferences 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Number of referrals processed 2,134 1,897 1,612 1,582 1,416

Number of conferences facilitated 1,637 1,499 1,290 1,270 1,085

Number of outcome plans completed 1,549 1,439 1,185 1,070 958

Per cent of outcome plans completed 90.6 87.5 89.7 88.8 86.9 

Effective date 6 July 2015
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As a result, the region has seen an increase 
in community participation in youth justice 
conferences and greater involvement of young 
people in community activities including 
volunteer work.

Case study 
Sam* was referred to youth justice 
conferencing by the court for stealing a taxi 
while intoxicated. The taxi was damaged 
during the course of the offence. The victim 
considered attending the conference and met 
with the convenor during the preparation for 
the conference however decided not to attend. 
The victim told the convenor that he wanted 
some financial compensation and this was 
presented to Sam at the conference. Sam had 
recently started working and was getting his 
life back on track. Despite his limited income, 
Sam agreed to pay the victim $700 reparation. 
He also agreed to attend counselling for 
alcohol and other drug issues which he 
completed as part of his outcome plan. He has 
not committed any further offences.
*name changed

2015-16 Youth Justice 
Conferencing initiatives

Enhanced referral pathways

Following the introduction of the screening 
tool to assess young people’s needs, there 
will be continued focus on enhanced referral 
pathways for young people and their families 
to relevant services and interventions. 

NSW Police Force 
The NSW Police Force consistently makes 
40-50 per cent of all referrals to Youth Justice 
Conferencing making them a key partner in 
the Conferencing process. Juvenile Justice will 
seek to enhance the relationship with the NSW 
Police Force with a view to increasing referrals 
to Youth Justice Conferences.

Education and training in 
Juvenile Justice Centres
The Department of Education and 
Communities (DEC) administers education and 
training units in all juvenile justice centres. At 
each centre, meetings between centre staff 
and the education and training unit are held 
regularly to plan, assess risk and coordinate 
educational, vocational and centre programs. 
Sharing information enables a cohesive 
approach to providing interventions and 
managing detainees.

Reiby Juvenile Justice Centre 
DEC and Juvenile Justice are working with 
detainees in the pre-release Waratah Unit, 
coordating work experience, paid employment 
and TAFE NSW program opportunities aimed 
at allowing successful integration back into 
the community.

Riverina Juvenile Justice Centre
In partnership with DEC and TAFE NSW, 
young people are offered a wide range of 
rural vocational skills programs and are 
also provided with the opportunity for work 
experience placements with local businesses 
and agencies. 

Acmena Juvenile Justice Centre 
A range of educational, vocational, 
developmental and recreational programs 
are offered.  These programs are designed to 
assist young people gain the skills needed to 
reduce recidivism by reducing reoffending risk 
factors and assist with reintegration into the 
community.

Juniperina Juvenile Justice Centre
In partnership with Sydney Community 
College, community volunteers and the 
Sunning Hill Education and Training Unit, 
Juniperina offers a diverse range of programs 
for young women which encourages 
engagement with pro-social activities on being 
discharged from custody.
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Orana Juvenile Justice Centre
The Lincoln School provides individualised 
education for young people detained in Orana 
Juvenile Justice Centre at Dubbo. Dedicated 
teachers provide a quality academic program 
coupled with vocational and life skills that best 
supports students.  

Frank Baxter Juvenile Justice 
Centre
The Girrakool School provides education and 
vocational training programs for male juvenile 
offenders housed at Frank Baxter Juvenile 
Justice Centre. A variety of credentialed 
curriculum is provided including remedial, 
academic, recreational and vocational courses. 

Cobham Juvenile Justice Centre 
The Putland Education and Training Unit 
(ETU) offers a range of educational programs 
including basic skills remediation, living skills, 
secondary education, vocational education and 
tertiary studies. Students may enrol in courses 
delivered by distance education supported by 
staff, or school or TAFE delivered curricula. 

Table 3.21 Juvenile Justice enrolments in education 2013-15

20131 20141 20152

Total Education and Training Unit enrolments 1,791 1,642 833

TAFE enrolments 998 660 253

Awarded Record of School Achievement  68 89 na
Enrolments in the Record of School Achievement 
(ROSA) na na 152

Awarded year 11 Record of Achievement 35 69 na

Year 11 single subject completions 91 25 na

Year 11 single subject enrolments na na 215

Year 12 single subject completions 84 59 na

Year 12 single subject enrolments na na 2

Enrolments in the Higher School Certificate na na 7

Higher School Certificate completions 8 3 na
Notes: 
1. Figures for complete school year January to December 2014. 
2. Figures for young people enrolled in courses up to 30 June 2015. Completion figures not 
available until school year completed.
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In 2014-15, 87 per cent of participants 
completed CHART.

Alcohol and other drug programs
Juvenile Justice has two programs for young 
people with identified alcohol or drug issues. 

Alcohol and other drug education and 
harm minimisation skills program 
The Juvenile Justice alcohol and other drug 
education program provides young people with 
education and harm minimisation strategies.  

X-Roads
X-Roads was developed by the National Drug 
and Alcohol Research Centre, in collaboration 
with Juvenile Justice, to provide a skills-
based intervention for young people with more 
serious drug or alcohol issues. In 2014-15, 81 
per cent of participants completed alcohol and 
other drug education programs. 

Juvenile Justice staff training
The Operational Training Unit, within Juvenile 
Justice, is based in the Yasmar Training Facility 
in Haberfield, a centrally located training venue 
for custodial, community and other operational 
training for the Division. Yasmar is also used 
as a practical, hands-on training environment 
for other Department divisions and cluster 
agencies including Corrective Services and the 
NSW Police Force. 
Operational training regularly delivers the Youth 
Officer Induction Training and Assessment 
program, the core induction program for 
new custodial staff. A total of 65 participants 
attended and completed this 28-day program 
in 2014-15.
To support frontline community staff in 
delivering effective interventions to young 
people, a training needs survey was conducted 
with all caseworkers and their managers. The 
results informed the delivery of gap training 
programs including subjects such as core 
alcohol and other drugs skills, assessment, 
case management, working with young people 
who sexually abuse, working with young 
people with intellectual difficulties, suicide 

Key offending interventions
Juvenile Justice delivers a number of 
evidence-based interventions to reduce 
recidivism among young people. These 
interventions target key criminogenic areas and 
are supported by a strong case management 
approach. 

Intensive Supervision Program
The Intensive Supervision Program is aimed 
at young people who offend repeatedly and/or 
have committed serious offences. The program 
acknowledges the strengths of families 
and seeks to build upon these strengths by 
empowering caregivers to address systemic 
factors that predispose or maintain offending. 
The program uses the internationally 
recognised multi-systemic therapy model. 
In 2014-15, 16 of the 19 families enrolled, 
successfully completed the program. Of the 
families served, six were Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander. An internal review of outcomes 
of the families indicated that 84 per cent of 
caregivers had the parenting skills necessary 
for successful completion of future programs, 
87 per cent had improved family relations 
and 80 per cent had an improved network of 
supports.
In 2015-16, an evaluation of the program will 
be completed by the Bureau of Crime Statistics 
and Research as well as an evaluation by the 
University of Western Sydney of the family 
functioning component of the program.

CHART
Changing Habits and Reaching Targets 
(CHART) is a program routinely used with 
all young people subject to community 
supervision. 
CHART is a 12-module evidence-based 
intervention that uses a problem-solving and 
cognitive-behavioural approach to develop 
a young person’s skills and address key 
criminogenic areas. CHART assists young 
people to recognise factors contributing 
to their offending and provide strategies 
to support more pro-social behaviours by 
developing and rehearsing relapse prevention 
techniques. 
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awareness, child protection and mental health 
first aid.
Ongoing training is provided to frontline 
staff in key programs including motivational 
interactions, introduction to cognitive 
behavioural therapy, Changing Habits and 
Reaching Targets (CHART), together with 
e-learning modules on operational topics such 
as bail and remand, alcohol and other drugs 
knowledge, coaching and practice supervision 
and operational policy training. Suicide 
awareness, cultural respect and coaching 
and mentoring training were also delivered to 
frontline and community staff. 

Drive sustainability of 
custodial facilities
In 2014-15, Corrective Services NSW 
responded to continued growth in inmate 
numbers meeting the demand pressure 
successfully with increased staffing and 
additional beds being created within existing 
facilities.
In 2014-15, a review of administrative and 
stores staff roles in correctional centres was 
undertaken with the objective of implementing 
a consistent, efficient and cost-effective model 
of operation. The recommendations from this 
review will be implemented in 2015-16. Also 
within the year, a review of offender catering 
processes across all correctional centres was 
undertaken resulting in significant cost savings. 
The prisoner population forecasting model 
has been developed and is being used for 
long term infrastructure planning. A revised 
infrastructure plan was developed during the 
reporting year.

Legislative reforms to improve 
the effectiveness of offender 
management 
In 2014-15, a newly created Strategy and 
Policy Branch, within the Department, 
developed and implemented legislative reforms 
to improve the effectiveness of offender 
management in custody and in the community. 
Highlights in the year include improving 
compulsory drug treatment for offenders and 
smoke-free prisons.

Improving compulsory drug 
treatment for offenders 
The compulsory drug treatment program 
(CDTP) and the Compulsory Drug Treatment 
Correctional Centre (CDTCC) are key 
components of the Government’s ongoing 
strategy to tackle the problem of illicit drugs 
in the community and reduce the level of 
reoffending. In 2014, amendments were made 
to give effect to certain recommendations 
made by the statutory review of the 
legislation governing the CDTP and CDTCC. 
The amendments sought to clarify certain 
aspects of the legislation to better achieve 
the program’s policy objectives, and to make 
the program available to a greater number of 
eligible and suitable participants.

Smoke-free prisons
In 2015, the necessary regulatory changes 
were made to ensure that all prisons in NSW 
could be smoke-free in August 2015. 

Table 3.22 Cost1 of custody services per inmate per day 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2013-14 
National average 2014-15

Open $194.10 $164.13 $160.18 $192.08 $164.29

Secure $222.90 $203.18 $193.90 $226.67 $190.29

Total $212.31 $188.82 $181.51 $218.90 $180.95
1. Cost figures from previous years are revised by the Productivity Commission each year to reflect changes in the 
value of the dollar. They will, therefore, not match data published in the previous annual report.
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Inspector of Custodial Services
The Inspector of Custodial Services provides 
independent scrutiny of the conditions, 
treatment and outcomes for adults and young 
people in custody and promotes excellence in 
staff professional practice.
The Inspector is able to examine correctional 
and juvenile justice facilities at any time and 
make recommendations about issues of 
concern. Inspections may be instigated by the 
Inspector or at the request of the Minister for 
Justice or a Parliamentary Joint Committee or 
any public authority or public official.
The Inspector reports to Parliament and is 
subject to oversight by the Parliamentary 
Committee on the Ombudsman, the Police 
Integrity Commission, and the Crime 
Commission. Administration of the Office of 
the Inspector resides within the Department of 
Justice.  
In 2014-15, the Inspector of Custodial Services 
delivered the following reports.

 ^ Making connections: Providing family and 
community support to young people in 
custody (June 2015) is an examination of 
how custodial processes and procedures 
in Juvenile Justice deal with family contact 
with detainees. The report notes that a 
challenge for Juvenile Justice is sustaining 
family and community links for young 
people who are placed in centres that are 
far from their home regions.  

 ^ Full House: The growth of the inmate 
population in NSW  (April 2015) examines 
the risks inherent in prison overcrowding 
given prison populations continuing to rise 
into 2015.
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Reduce over representation of Aboriginal 
people in the Criminal Justice System
 
Improve services provided to victims of 
crime
 
Improve support for people with mental 
health and cognitive impairments
 
Representation and strengthening of life 
matters for individuals

An important part of the administration of justice is the upholding of a just 
outcome for involuntary participants in the criminal justice system who are 
victims of crime and for those whose circumstances or capacities require support 
to redress inequity. A just system also upholds the rights of individuals, and 
especially where the capacity to claim those rights is diminished.
The number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in contact with the 
criminal justice system in NSW remains high compared with percentage of 
population. This situation presents a continuing challenge for the Department. 
Successful interventions are necessarily complex, multi-dimensional, long-term 
and rely on an in-depth understanding of whole of community needs. 
Support for victims of crime includes compensation schemes offering counselling 
and financial assistance. Victims can participate in restorative justice programs 
and register to keep informed of the detention status of perpetrators. Programs 
for victims of domestic violence, led by the Department, are delivering improved 
multi-agency coordination for faster more holistic responses to victims needs. 
The Department provides support and protection for people with mental health 
and cognitive impairments through the work of the Trustee and Guardian Division 
and the Public Guardian. In the correctives’ systems, a range of processes and 
programs are in place to capture information on offenders with mental health 
issues and to work with them to improve their life outcomes.
In 2014-15, responses to the Martin Place Siege included a review of processes 
around registering changes of name and a specialist service response from the 
Victims Services Branch for victims of the siege.



Chapter 4 - Protection of the rights and provision of support for the most vulnerable

68

Reduce over 
representation of 
Aboriginal people in the 
Criminal Justice System

Aboriginal Services branch 
In the reporting year, Aboriginal Services 
Branch, within the Justice Strategy and Policy 
Division, maintained a focus on reducing the 
number of Aboriginal people having contact 
with the NSW justice system and on enhancing 
internal and external partnerships with key 
service providers to deliver quality outcomes 
for Aboriginal people and communities.

Referral plan for Aboriginal people 
with driving offences 
The Driving and Licence Offences Project, 
delivered in Local Courts, ensures Aboriginal 
people appearing with a driving or licence 
offence are engaged and, where suitable, 
assessed. Where clients require further 
support, a referral plan is developed which 
addresses underlying offending issues and 
needs.
In the initial two-year period since 
implementation, from May 2013 until April 
2015, 854 Aboriginal clients, with driving and 
licence offences, have been identified in 14 
Local Courts. Their needs have been assessed 
and a referral plan developed or they have 
been directly referred to services to address 
underlying issues that led to their offending. 
A number of referrals addressed fines by 
initiating Centrepay arrangements, time-to-
pay plans or work and development orders. 
Other clients were referred to driver knowledge 
and safety programs such as traffic offenders 
programs or TAFE NSW courses which assist 
people to obtain a licence. A further 782 ‘walk-
in’ clients have been supported at courts.
In partnership with Corrective Services, there 
has been an expansion of the Family Video 
Contact Program to Wyong, Broken Hill, 
Wilcannia and Menindee. This program uses 
audio visual links so family members can have 

video visits with family members in jail. The 
Family Video Contact Program is also available 
in Walgett, Moree and Wagga Wagga.

Circle Sentencing
Circle Sentencing is an alternative sentencing 
court for adult Aboriginal offenders who plead 
guilty or are found guilty in the Local Court. It 
currently operates in Armidale, Bourke, Dubbo, 
Kempsey, Nambucca Valley, Mt Druitt, Lismore 
and Nowra. It has had a life-changing impact 
on many Aboriginal offenders since it began in 
2002. There have been 971 defendants who 
have come before the Circle Sentencing Court 
in NSW.
Magistrates refer Aboriginal offenders who 
plead guilty, and want to participate in the 
program, to the Aboriginal Services Branch 
for assessment into the program with local 
Aboriginal community members.
If eligible, a sentencing date is declared and 
a panel of judicial officers and Aboriginal 
community members sit and discuss the 
offence, its consequences, and the offender’s 
history and then jointly develop a sentence 
plan that is culturally responsive.  
In 2015-16, negotiations with the Chief 
Magistrate’s Office will be undertaken to 
expand the program to Downing Centre, 
Broken Hill, Tamworth, Batemans Bay and 
Newcastle Local Courts. Work is being 
undertaken by the Department to streamline 
the administrative components of the program 
to make the process swifter.The Department 
will also be working on strengthening 
partnerships with key stakeholders such as 
the magistracy and NSW/ACT Aboriginal Legal 
Service to identify ways to increase referrals to 
the program.

Corrective Services initiatives 
and programs for Aboriginal 
offenders
The Corrective Services Aboriginal 
Advisory Council (AAC), provides a forum 
for engagement with Aboriginal people of 
significant standing in the community and with 
professionals with expertise related to social 
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justice and the legal system. The AAC provides 
advice and advocacy to the Commissioner of 
Corrective Services. The Council focuses on 
initiatives which support the implementation of 
the Corrective Services Strategy for supporting 
Aboriginal offenders to desist from reoffending. 
On the advice of the AAC, for example, 
Corrective Services is engaging with the 
Redfern Police Local Area Command to 
implement a pilot project based on the Clean 
Slate Without Prejudice Community Program. 
This is a voluntary sports program at the 
National Centre for Indigenous Excellence 
offered by police officers in Redfern to 
Aboriginal youth at risk of offending. The 
program focuses on early intervention, 
crime prevention and positive relationships.  
Participants are also assisted in finding 
accommodation, employment, education and 
training. 
In 2014-15, the Aboriginal participation rate in 
custody-based programs was 31 per cent. This 
represents an increase of four per cent from 
2013-14.
Programs specifically targeting Aboriginal 
inmates include the Balund-a residential 
diversionary program at Tabulam, and the 
Gundi program at St Heliers Correctional 
Centre which provides trade skills.  
Kariong Correctional Centre is now aimed 
primarily at young Aboriginal inmates serving 
short sentences, with a focus on criminogenic 
programs, education, fitness and wellbeing.

Aboriginal cultural awareness 
training 
In 2014-15, the Aboriginal Cultural Awareness 
Training program within Corrective Services 
was reviewed and updated by Aboriginal staff 
of the Corrective Services Aboriginal Strategy 
and Policy Unit. The training is periodically 
updated to reflect contemporary issues facing 
Aboriginal offenders and is delivered to staff 
in correctional centres and in the community 
in collaboration with the Corrective Services 
Brush Farm Academy. This training is aimed 
at enhancing the knowledge, skills and 
competencies of staff around the specific 
needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
offenders. 

Kariong Juvenile Correctional 
Centre Community Engagement 
In 2014-15, the Kariong Juvenile Correctional 
Centre hosted an Aboriginal community 
meeting to advise the local Aboriginal 
community of the changes planned for the 
centre and establish an ongoing collaborative 
relationship with local Aboriginal service 
providers, leaders and community members.

National Aboriginal and 
Islanders Day Observance 
Committee (NAIDOC) 
celebrations 
In July 2014, NAIDOC celebrations were 
held across the Department. NAIDOC Week 
is an important time for Justice workers 
interacting with Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. For Aboriginal people, 
the forming of networks is the key to building 
awareness and confidence to approach 
a service. NAIDOC events offer the rare 
opportunity for Aboriginal people to talk 
to services in a relaxed and culturally safe 
environment.
Each year, the number of events, activities 
and information stalls increases – a firm 
demonstration of the strong commitment 
of Justice Cluster staff to promote frontline 
services linked to key Departmental Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander strategies and 
programs.
In 2014, Aboriginal staff including Regional 
Aboriginal Project Officers worked with 
correctional centre management to host 
NAIDOC days. Aboriginal Elders, community 
leaders, mentors and local service providers 
attended celebrations including inmates 
performing traditional dances. Inmates also 
had an opportunity to exhibit their artworks 
and participate in sporting activities such as 
touch football competitions. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander young people
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people consistently make up around half of the 
Juvenile Justice client base. 



Chapter 4 - Protection of the rights and provision of support for the most vulnerable

70

Juvenile Justice faces a number of diverse 
and complex challenges in supporting the 
rehabilitation of Aboriginal young offenders 
and is committed to improving the social, 
educational, health and justice outcomes 
for the Aboriginal population.
Initiatives under the annual Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Strategic Direction 
include:  

 ^ building an evidence base of successful 
programs to reduce reoffending

 ^ continuation of the Cultural Respect 
Training pilot towards development of a 
Juvenile Justice Cultural Respect Training 
Package for staff

 ^ reviewing effectiveness of Juvenile Justice 
funded services for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander clients

 ^ increasing the number of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander staff in senior 
positions and transitioning between 
community, custody and central office in 
2014-15

 ^ identifying best practice management 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
young people participating in youth justice 
conferences and completing their outcome 
plans.

Achievements in 2014-15 include:

 ^ the launch and implementation of the 
Juvenile Justice Working with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Peoples Good 
Practice Guide to support the Cultural 
Respect Framework

 ^ ongoing monitoring of the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Recruitment and 
Retention Strategy

 ^ implementation of the Aboriginal Mentoring 
Program

 ^ the 2014 Aboriginal Staff Conference
 ^ evaluation of the pilot Cultural Respect 

Training
 ^ review of Juvenile Justice Aboriginal 

Programs and a literature review of 
Aboriginal programs for girls. 

In 2015-16, the annual Aboriginal Strategic 
Direction will continue to focus efforts to 
deliver better outcomes for clients in detention 
and in the community.

Aboriginal Strategic 
Advisory Committee 
The Aboriginal Strategic Advisory Committee 
provides Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
staff with the opportunity to provide guidance 
to the Juvenile Justice Executive on Aboriginal 
issues.  The Committee also helps build 
a stronger evidence base for successful 
interventions for Aboriginal young people.

Our Journey to Respect
The 14-session group work program, designed 
for young Aboriginal offenders, addresses all 
forms of violence against others and aims to 
motivate young people to make changes to 
violent behaviours through education, skills 
development and pro-social mentoring. It 
draws on cognitive-behavioural, strengths-
focussed and narrative approaches and 
includes a number of elements essential for 
Aboriginal programs including consciousness-
raising/empowerment, grief and loss and hope 
and healing.
Our Journey to Respect has been reviewed 
and changes to the program are currently 
being undertaken.
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Improve services 
provided to victims of 
crime
Victims Services assists victims of crime in NSW 
with support following a violent incident and 
throughout their involvement with the criminal 
justice and human services systems.  Victims 
Services is also responsible for implementing 
and monitoring the NSW Charter of Victims 
Rights. 

The Victims Support Scheme 
The Victims Rights and Support Act 2013 has 
been in operation for two years. The scheme 
is designed to deliver more effective support 
more quickly to victims of violent crime by 
looking at the impact of a violent crime on 
victims’ lives as a whole. It provides victims 
with practical and financial support designed 
to help them recover and get back on their 
feet. 
Under the Victims Support Scheme, victims 
receive support faster with four types of 
support:

 ^ counselling
 ^ immediate assistance, including relocation 

costs, urgent medical expenses and funeral 
costs

 ^ financial assistance, including loss of 
earnings and medical expenses

 ^ recognition payment in recognition of the 
violence and trauma experienced.

During 2014-15, financial assistance to victims 
of crime took, on average, 29 working days 
to provide from lodgement to determination. 
Almost 90 per cent of claims were successful 
in receiving some type of financial support.
In the reporting year, 13,061 people applied 
for support – an increase of 24.5 per cent on 
2013-14. As part of each application, the victim 
may claim numerous types of support. Types 
of support applied for included recognition 
payments (7,439), financial support (3,883) and 
counselling (8,625).

In 2014-15, Victims Services finalised 
all pending transitional applications that 
were lodged under the previous Victims 
Compensation Scheme.

Victims Access Line 
Victims Services administers the Victims 
Access Line (VAL). The VAL is a coordinated 
single entry point to victims of crime. Victims 
of crime are able to contact one reference 
point that will ensure they are able to access all 
information and services that they may require 
throughout their contact with the criminal 
justice system.
Victims Services has a support coordination 
function in order to develop an integrated 
referral network/pathway across the service 
sector. It also develops and implements a 
single entry point for victims of crime occurring 
in NSW that:

 ^ is staffed by trained Department officers 
specialising in analysing and interpreting 
the needs of victims of crime

 ^ provides information about victims services 
and entitlements

 ^ initiates referrals to key agencies and/
or external service providers on behalf of 
callers

 ^ provides a case coordination function 
to ensure referrals are received by those 
agencies/services in accordance with 
agreed protocols, particularly for more 
complicated matters

 ^ provides access to court information and 
court results for victims.

In 2014-15, Victims Services received 87,572 
calls. This was an increase of 0.6% in the calls 
received in 2013-14 (87,027). 

It Stops Here: Safer Pathway 
It Stops Here: Safer Pathway is a newly 
introduced streamlined referral system, led 
by the Department, for all victims who are ‘at 
threat’ or at ‘serious threat’ to their life, health 
or safety as a result of domestic and family 
violence. 
 



Chapter 4 - Protection of the rights and provision of support for the most vulnerable

72

The reform was launched at Waverley and 
Orange in September 2014, before expanding 
to Bankstown, Broken Hill, Parramatta and 
Tweed Heads in 2015. Victims identified to be 
at serious threat additionally have their cases 
referred to Safety Action Meetings to ensure 
coordinated action by government agencies to 
improve their safety. 
In 2014-15, the Department received 4,616 
referrals for victims of domestic and family 
violence under the Safer Pathway Domestic 
and Family Violence Reforms over eight 
months operation at Waverley and Orange.  
Of these, 1,011 referrals (22 per cent) were 
assessed by the NSW Police Force at ‘serious 
threat’; 587 (58 per cent) of referrals were 
closed following the completion of a Safety 
Action Plan and approximately 39 Safety 
Action Meetings were held.
Of all referrals, 412 (nine per cent) were for 
victims identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait 
Islander, 3,292 referrals (71 per cent) were for 
female victims, 1,282 referrals (29 per cent) 
were for male victims; and 42 referrals ( less 
than one per cent) were for victims identified 
as ‘unknown’ gender.
Of all referrals, 2,058 (44 per cent) received a 
Safety Action Meeting, information, referrals 
or support; 1,154 referrals (25 per cent) 
were unable to be contacted despite several 
attempts.

Martin Place siege victims 
The events that occurred in Martin Place, 
Sydney on 15 December 2014, deeply affected 
the community generally and profoundly 
affected victims and their families. It was 
recognised that the victims involved in this 
unprecedented incident required a specialist 
service response. The Commissioner of Victims 
Rights created a specialist team to work with 
other government agencies assisting and 
supporting those victims with their requests for 
support and assessment given priority.

Restorative justice
The Corrective Services Restorative Justice 
Unit specialises in victim-offender conferences 

and facilitates a range of other restorative 
justice processes at the post-sentence stage 
of the criminal justice system. The unit also 
manages the Victims Register for victims of 
sentenced adult offenders in NSW. 
The unit works closely with key stakeholders 
such as NSW victim support and advocacy 
groups including the Homicide Victims Support 
Group, Enough is Enough Anti Violence 
Movement, Victims of Crime Assistance 
League and domestic violence advocacy 
organisations. 
In 2014-15, a three-year research project was 
completed by the University of NSW which 
examined the prospects and issues related 
to restorative justice processes. The study 
found that Corrective Services victim-offender 
conferencing is a therapeutically-driven model 
of restorative justice based on the principle of 
doing no harm and that the Corrective Services 
Restorative Justice Unit is successfully 
meeting the unmet justice needs of victims 
and offenders in the aftermath of serious (often 
violent) crime. The official findings are due to 
be published in 2015-16. 
In 2014-15, the Unit facilitated 217 Restorative 
Justice Conferences and Mediations, 16 more 
than in 2013-14.

Corrective Services Victims 
Register
In 2014-15, on average, close to 1,150 victims 
were registered at any given time. In 2014-
15, 212 (17 more than last year) new victims 
of crime applied for registration. Registered 
victims can choose to make submissions 
to the State Parole Authority or the Serious 
Offenders Review Council in respect of a 
particular offender being considered for release 
on parole or for participation in external leave 
programs. 
Advice and practical assistance was given to 
registered victims in drafting their submissions. 
Registered victims also received support when 
attending Parole Authority public hearings, 
when making oral submissions and when 
viewing documents held by the Authority 
in relation to how a particular offender has 
addressed his/her offending behaviour.  
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In 2014-15, 51 registered victims were invited 
to make submissions concerning a reduction 
in a particular inmate’s security classification 
to allow for external leave. This was higher 
than in the previous year (43). Of the 51 victims 
contacted, 32 (63 per cent) made written 
submissions, 15 of these with support from the 
Department. 
In 2014-15, 118 registered victims were invited 
to make written submissions concerning the 
granting of parole to a particular offender. 
The Victims Register received 73 written 
submissions from victims (62 per cent) with 41 
made with support from the Department. The 
response rate is similar to 2013-14 where 61 
per cent of registered victims invited, made 
written submissions. 

Juvenile Justice Victims 
Register
Juvenile Justice maintains a Victims Register 
that has been in operation since 1998. The 
Office of the Executive Director administers 
the Victims Register. Victims are usually 
referred by other agencies including Corrective 
Services, the Office of the Director of Public 
Prosecutions and Victims Services.
Victims, registered with Juvenile Justice  have 
the right to be kept informed of certain events 
relating to young offenders who were found 
guilty of a crime, have been sentenced by the 
courts and are currently in custody in a juvenile 
justice centre.

Missing Persons 
The Family and Friends of Missing Persons 
Unit provides support to the families of missing 
people, providing counselling, information and 
referral as its core functions.
In 2014-15, 11 support group meetings were 
facilitated in metro and regional areas. The 
unit raised awareness and understanding of 
missing persons issues including conducting 
37 education sessions attended by 1,574 
people conducted with a range of community 
organisations and groups including the NSW 
Police Force, Department of Health, Victims 
Services, the Public Guardian, NSW Trustee 

& Guardian, counselling and non-government 
service providers.
The annual family forum event was attended 
by 25 family members, representatives 
from the NSW Police Force, the Coroners 
Court, Charles Sturt University and the 
Black Dog Institute. The Unit made delivered 
presentations and lectures at the Salvation 
Army Tracing Services Conference, the 
University of NSW, Australian Catholic 
University and Sydney University.

Improve support for 
people with mental 
health and cognitive 
impairments
The Department is continuing its work to 
increase the number of people with mental 
illness diverted from court and to prevent 
and reduce reoffending. Person-centred 
approaches are used to address factors 
contributing to offending behaviour in 
programs such as Court Referral of Eligible 
Defendants into Treatment and Life on Track.  
These approaches are implemented in the 
early stages of the criminal justice system and 
involve identification of a defendant’s needs 
and facilitation of access to a range of service 
and program providers, including mental health 
services. 
In addition, the Justice Health & Forensic 
Mental Health Network delivers the mental 
health-specific statewide community and court 
liaison service in 20 Local Courts. The network 
assists courts with the diversion of appropriate 
adult defendants from the criminal justice 
system into community mental health services 
through the provision of comprehensive 
psychiatric assessments for mentally ill or 
disordered defendants or defendants with a 
mental condition. 
Some teams also assist with the diversion of 
defendants with a cognitive impairment where 
there is documented evidence to support 
the diagnosis and its severity, although the 
service is not specifically to identify or assess 
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cognitive impairment.

Mentally ill people in prison
Mental illness affects a large number of people 
in custody in NSW. A health survey of inmates 
in 2009 found 49 per cent of inmates self-
reported mental health problems and there 
is an increasing trend for inmates to report 
an emotional or mental problem. Inmates 
with mental illness may require immediate, 
resource-intensive and often longer-term care. 
The Justice Health & Forensic Mental Health 
Network has primary responsibility for the 
assessment and treatment of inmates with 
serious mental illness. 
The network provides: 

 ^ a screening service for all new receptions 
to custody

 ^ clinics in every correctional centre 
staffed by nurses with visiting medical 
professionals

 ^ a remote duty psychiatrist service for 
access by all correctional centres

 ^ diagnosis and medical management of 
people with mental illness in custody 
including determination of placement in the 
Mental Health Screening Unit and Long Bay 
Prison Hospital

 ^ pre-release preparation and referral to 
community-based services for people with 
mental illness leaving custody

 ^ primary case management of forensic 
patients who are deemed not guilty due to 
mental illness.

Corrective Services employs psychologists 
and other professionals to meet the wellbeing 
needs of inmates and to provide interventions 
that support those medical treatments 
provided by Justice Health.
A range of support services for inmates with 
mental health problems are available including: 

 ^ multidisciplinary risk intervention teams at 
all correctional centres for the management 
of inmates at risk of suicide or self-harm

 ^ acute crisis management units for inmates 
who cannot be managed in mainstream 

correctional centres
 ^ mental health screening units for specialist 

assessment of inmates identified with 
symptoms of serious mental illness

 ^ Long Bay Prison Hospital psychiatric ward 
for inmates who require scheduling to a 
psychiatric facility during imprisonment 
(and possible transfer to the Justice Health 
Forensic Hospital)

 ^ mental health step-down areas to assist 
inmates with mental illness to adjust to the 
mainstream correctional environment

 ^ psychological assessment and intervention 
in all correctional centres

 ^ group programs to assist with self-
regulation and other symptoms of mental 
illness

 ^ the statewide, mobile personality and 
behavioural disorders service to assist 
correctional management of inmates with 
personality disorders

 ^ an option for post-release referral to the 
co-existing disorders project for offenders 
supervised in the community.

Statewide Disability Services and 
offender management
In 2014-15, Statewide Disability Services 
trained and supported 821 staff in correctional 
centres and in the community to effectively 
manage offenders with disabilities. This 
assisted with identifying and providing people 
with disabilities access to services and 
programs in correctional centres across the 
State. 
In 2014-15, 1,146 referrals were received for 
1,025 individuals with a range of possible 
impairments. 
Overall, there were slightly more referrals 
for each type of impairment aside from 
vision impairment. As the prison population 
increases, the number of people with 
disabilities consequently increases. 
In 2014-15, there were, on average, 627 
offenders with cognitive impairment in custody 
on any given day (a decrease of three from the 
previous financial year). 



Chapter 4 - Protection of the rights and provision of support for the most vulnerable

75

In 2014-15, there were 4,560 specific-
need service occasions delivered by State 
Disability Services for people with disabilities. 
The majority of these (2,595) related to 
advice provided to staff to assist with the 
management of inmates with disabilities 
or decisions about placement in additional 
support units or other correctional centre 
locations. There were 659 service occasions 
where State Disability Services liaised with 
other agencies to assist in case planning for 
inmates with disabilities. 
In 2014-15, there were 66 referrals made to 
Ageing, Disability and Home Care resulting in 
44 offenders accepted for disability services 
for the first time. 

Additional Support Units 
Additional Support Units housed up to 57 
offenders daily in 2014-15. Within these units, 
staff completed comprehensive case plans and 
delivered specialised services and programs to 
inmates with cognitive impairment who are at a 
higher risk of reoffending or otherwise needed 
to be placed away from the mainstream inmate 
population. 
There were 102 inmates admitted to Additional 
Support Units in 2014-15. These inmates 
received 1,025 hours of programs including 
EQUIPS Addiction, EQUIPS Foundation and 
the RUSH (Real Understanding of Self Help) 
program.  
Participation in education and psycho-
education courses for inmates with disabilities 
increased from the previous financial year.
Psychological services were provided on 
1,015 occasions to offenders and offenders 
on remand with disability. In 2014-15, 
168 screening questionnaires and 23 
comprehensive neuropsychology assessments 
were completed on inmates with acquired 
brain injury. 
There were 122 screenings and assessments 
(down from 158 in 2013-14) conducted 
on inmates with sensory and mobility 
impairments. These assessments assist in 
case planning especially for high-risk inmates 
who require specific supports in order to 
attend and complete criminogenic programs.

Personality and Behavioural 
Disorders Services 
The Personality and Behavioural Disorders 
Services is a mobile team providing high-level 
multi-disciplinary (psychological, behavioural 
and custodial) support to correctional centres 
managing offenders with a severe personality 
disorder and challenging behaviours. 
In 2014-15, the team trained 57 staff across 
Corrective Services and Justice Health & 
Forensic Mental Health Network in managing 
offenders with complex personality traits and 
provided general awareness training around 
challenging behaviours to all services and 
programs officers. In addition, there were 1,920 
occasions of specialist service to 29 inmates 
across 17 correctional centres. 

Mental Health Screening Units 
Mental health screening units operate at the 
Metropolitan Reception and Remand Centre, 
accommodating up to 43 male inmates, and 
at Silverwater Women’s Correctional Centre 
accommodating up to 10 female inmates. 
The units, jointly run by Justice Health & 
Forensic Mental Health Network and Corrective 
Services ensure comprehensive assessment, 
treatment and management of individuals 
with mental illness using a multi-disciplinary 
approach.
In 2014-15, 338 inmates were admitted to the 
units, each with an average stay of around 
37 days with admissions ranging up to 187 
days. The units provided 1,189 occasions of 
psychology services by Corrective Services to 
381 individuals as well as other services. 
In 2014-15, the unit at Silverwater Women’s 
Correctional Centre treated 126 women (down 
from 143 in 2013-14). The Mental Health Step- 
Down Unit assisted 77 female offenders (up 
from 72 in 2013-14).

Acute Crisis Management Units 
Acute Crisis Management Units accept 
referrals for inmates at acute risk of suicide 
or self-harm who cannot be managed at their 
prison of classification. Units for male inmates 
operated at the Metropolitan Special Purpose 
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Centre and at Bathurst Correctional Centre. 
The units provide assessment, stabilisation, 
review, and discharge management plans 
to be implemented at the inmate’s prison of 
classification. 
In 2014-15, inmates in these units were able 
to attend group-based programs to assist in 
the development of self-management skills. In 
addition, 118 individuals were provided 1,050 
occasions of psychology services.
Terms of reference for a review of the Acute 
Crisis Management Units were approved in 
2015 and the review will take place 2015-16. 

Mum Shirl Unit 
The Mum Shirl Unit (MSU) is a purpose-built 
high-dependency women’s mental health unit 
specifically designed to address criminogenic 
factors related to at-risk female inmates 
with complex personality, developmental, 
psychological and psychiatric issues. The 
Unit uses multi-disciplinary assessment, 
management and treatment. 
In 2014-15, 72 inmates were admitted and 
823 occasions of psychology services were 
provided to 115 individuals with an additional 
43 inmates receiving psychological services 
such as assessments.
The unit provided an alternative 
accommodation option for 266 women who 
were managed by the Risk Assessment and 
Intervention Team and were on a segregated 
custody direction.
Terms of reference for a review of the MSU 
were approved in 2015 and the review will take 
place 2015-16.

Diversity services 
The Diversity Services Unit, in the Justice 
Strategy and Policy Division, provides 
leadership across the Department on 
issues affecting diverse communities, with 
a primary focus on people with disability 
and multicultural communities. In 2014-15, 
achievements relating to disability included:

 ^ coordinating the Justice Cluster’s response 
and readiness for the National Disability 

Insurance Scheme.
 ^ delivering Flexible Service Delivery training 

to staff which provides guidance on 
adapting service delivery to ensure it is 
responsive to the needs of people with 
disability

 ^ distribution of DVD and printed resources, 
including So You Have To Go To Court, The 
Law and You and the Capacity Toolkit.

 
In 2015-16, the unit is planning to:

 ^ recruit a Justice Disability Advisory Council 
 ^ continue coordinating the Justice Cluster’s 

National Disability Insurance Scheme work
 ^ develop a new Disability Inclusion Action 

Plan which will commit the Department to 
inclusive practice when interacting with 
people with disability.

Representation and 
strengthening of life 
matters for individuals

NSW Trustee & Guardian
NSW Trustee & Guardian’s (NSWTG) role is to 
act as an independent and impartial executor, 
administrator, attorney and trustee for the 
people of NSW. It also provides direct financial 
management services and authorisation and 
direction to private financial managers. NSW 
Trustee & Guardian actively seeks to increase 
the number of people who plan for the future 
by making a Will, Enduring Power of Attorney, 
Enduring Guardianship and Advanced Care 
Directive  and to reduce the number of people 
under their direct management by providing 
enhanced supports and safeguards to private 
managers.

New partnerships with life matters-
related organisations
In the reporting year, NSW Trustee and 
Guardian initiated a cross-sector partnership 
to deliver information for carers in Aboriginal 
communities as part of the NSW Carers 
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Strategy 2014-19. A key outcome was the 
development of a culturally appropriate 
resource for Aboriginal people on planning 
ahead documents, Taking Care of Business, 
published by the agency in June 2015.
A partnership with Financial Literacy Australia 
Ltd for MoneySmart Week (1-7 September 
2014) aimed to promote the importance of 
financial literacy to the community. Extensive 
media coverage helped to increase community 
awareness of estate planning, wills and powers 
of attorney.

Financial management reform
NSW Trustee & Guardian is drafting a policy 
and procedure to authorise a private person 
to manage part or all of a protected person’s 
estate under s20 NSW Trustee & Guardian 
Act 2009 where NSW Trustee & Guardian 
is currently the direct manager. In addition,   
NSW Trustee & Guardian has initiated a bond 
scheme to provide protection to people whose 
estates are managed by a private manager. 
A tender for the scheme has been finalised 
and, in 2015-16, a policy framework is to be 
developed.
The ratio of externally (privately) managed 
clients to directly managed clients continues to 
increase.

Public advocacy policy
In 2014-15, the Public Guardian, NSW Trustee 
& Guardian and the Guardianship Division 
of the NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
prepared a submission for referral to the 
NSW Law Reform Commission for a review of 
guardianship and financial management laws.
The Public Guardian introduced revised 
decision-making guidelines that align with 
the principles of supported decision-making 
in guardianship decisions. These guidelines 
will be made public in late 2015 after an 
introductory period. 

Get it in Black & White campaign
The NSW Ageing Strategy committed the 
government to community education activities 
to increase the uptake of Wills, Powers of 
Attorney and Enduring Guardianships under 

strategy highlight, My Life, My Decisions, in 
response to relatively low rates of completion 
of these documents.
NSW Trustee & Guardian is the lead agency 
responsible for delivery of the Get it in Black 
& White media campaign. The aim of the 
program is to ensure people, particularly those 
45 years and older, plan ahead for their future 
health and wellbeing.
The first phase of the campaign ran from 
September 2013 to March 2014 and the 
second phase from April 2015 to June 
2015. Evaluation has shown the campaign 
messaging has been positive. A community 
and stakeholder engagement program for 
targeted information and community education 
supports the media campaign. 
NSW Trustee & Guardian is currently finalising 
the direct funding commitment to support 
phase three of the campaign in 2015-16.

Introduction of the initial hearing 
team
The Public Guardian usually attends hearings 
of the Guardianship Division of the NSW Civil 
and Administrative Tribunal only after it has 
been appointed, for review hearings.
In March 2014, the Public Guardian introduced 
the Initial Hearing Team. This small team of 
Principal Guardians collaborates with the 
Guardianship Division of the NSW Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal in initial hearings. 
The aim is to work with the Guardianship 
Division to improve availability of information 
when guardianship applications are being 
considered. 
The Initial Hearing Team identifies matters 
awaiting hearing where the Public Guardian 
could inform the process. In these cases, 
the guardians attend an initial guardianship 
hearing to give advice about how a guardian 
may or may not be able to achieve outcomes 
for the person with reference to the Principles 
of the Guardianship Act 1987 and available 
resources. The team advises families, service 
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providers and tribunal members about the 
role of the Public Guardian and possible 
alternatives to guardianship that applicants 
may not have considered. 
During 2014-15, the team reviewed 2,369 
applications and participated 1,110 hearings 
47 per cent. The Guardianship Division 
appointed either the Public Guardian or a 
private guardian in 1,187 instances during 
the 12 month period. The Public Guardian 
was appointed on 666 instances (56.1 per 
cent) and a private guardian was appointed 
on 521 instances (43.9 per cent). At the 
commencement of the team’s work, the Public 
Guardian was appointed 65 per cent of the 
time and a private guardian was appointed 35 
per cent. 
The continued success of the team’s work, in 
2015-16, will be measured through a decrease 
in requests for early review hearings, an 
increase in non-reviewable guardianship orders 
and an overall decrease in the appointment of 
guardians where alternatives are possible. 

Vulnerable offenders and their 
families
Work and development orders
The work and development order (WDO) 
scheme was introduced by State Debt 
Recovery Office (SDRO) to provide a non-
monetary way for people to reduce their debts 
caused by non-payment of fines.
Corrective Services and Juvenile Justice are 
empowered to administer WDOs to eligible 
offenders.
Inmates with a mental illness, an intellectual 
disability or cognitive impairment, a serious 
addiction to drugs, alcohol or volatile 
substance, or who are experiencing 
homelessness or acute financial hardship may 
register with the scheme. Inmates who meet 
one or more of these criteria must engage in 
programs to clear their fines. They can count 
satisfactory participation in Alcohol and Other 
Drugs treatment, financial or other counselling 
and education/vocational or life skills courses 
towards meeting their WDO requirements.

In 2014-15, Corrective Services successfully 
facilitated 463 WDOs, discharging a total debt 
of $852,499.85. As of 1 July 2015, there were 
340 WDOs being managed accounting in total 
for $1,899,574.99 of debt.
Over the reporting year, Juvenile Justice clients 
in custody and the community completed 
a total of 485 WDOs resulting in fines worth 
$302,961 being repaid.

Bail Assistance Line
In 2014-15, the Bail Assistance Line 
received 158 calls for assistance resulting 
in 37 placements of young people in need 
of accommodation, transport and/or case 
support to meet their bail conditions.
The Bail Assistance Line was evaluated by the 
Sydney University Institute of Criminology in 
2014 with the resulting report recommending 
further expansion of services and continued 
training and liaison with the NSW Police Force. 
Further training, networking and 
communication with the NSW Police Force and 
the non-government sector continued in 2014-
15 to ensure the service meets the needs and 
requirements of intended clients.
Keep Them Safe funding for the Bail 
Assistance Line was secured for a further 
two-year period from July 2014. In 2015-16, 
priorities are the consolidation of existing 
metropolitan services with the non-government 
sector and the expansion of services to a 
range of regional areas in New South Wales.

Victims Services counselling for 
offenders
In 2014-15, the Victims Services Branch trialled 
approved counselling services to offenders in 
Dillwynia and Wellington Correctional Centres 
who have been victims of a violent crime as a 
child or as an adult prior to their incarceration. 
A history of victimisation is likely to be a 
contributing factor to their offending behaviour. 
A schedule for a statewide implementation 
of the program is being determined in 
collaboration with Corrective Services.
The Juvenile Justice Division, in partnership 
with Victims Services, has developed a trial to 
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provide trauma-based counselling services to 
young people at two Juvenile Justice centres, 
Reiby (for boys) and Juniperina (for girls). The 
trial was initiated to meet a gap in services to 
young people in detention centres who are 
victims of crime and/or interpersonal violence.
From August 2014 to 31 July 2015, there were 
130 applications made to Victims Services. 
Of these, 92.3 per cent (120) were the primary 
victims of the offence. Over half (53.1 per 
cent) listed domestic violence as the offence 
with sexual assault the next highest at 26.2 
per cent. 70.8 per cent of victims were male 
with 29.2per cent female and 33.1 per cent 
identifies as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander. 
When a young person is exiting custody, they 
are made aware that they have the option 
to continue receiving counselling in the 
community. Counselling hours do not expire 
so they can choose to use them at a later date, 
with victims counsellors across the State in 
urban, rural and remote communities.
Groupwork programs have been established 
to provide a broader range of therapeutic 
interventions to assist victims of crime in their 
recovery. These include programs for inmates, 
juvenile detainees, Aboriginal male victims, 
male victims of child sexual assault, child 
victims, and female victims of child sexual 
assault. Evaluations of the pilot programs are 
underway and will be made available through 
the NSW Victims of Crime Clearinghouse.

Trauma-informed Practice Training 
for frontline staff
In 2014-15, the Corrective Services 
Women’s Advisory Council commissioned 
a major research project which resulted in 
the publication of Women as Offenders – 
Women as Victims – the role of Corrections 
in supporting women with histories of sexual 
abuse. It was evident that exposure of 
offenders to sexual and physical violence in 
childhood, adolescence and adulthood has 
contributed to a high prevalence of anxiety 
disorders and post traumatic stress disorder 
among female offenders.  To address the 
needs of this group, Corrective Services 
is working, in collaboration with Victims 
Services, to deliver Trauma-informed Practice 

Training for frontline staff. A trial has taken 
place in Dillwynia and Silverwater Women’s 
Correctional Centres, and the training is 
expected to be implemented across all centres 
housing women.

Mothers and Children’s Program
The Mothers and Children’s Program operates 
at Emu Plains Correctional Centre, Jacaranda 
Cottages and the Parramatta Transitional 
Centre to provide pregnant inmates and 
women with children under 12 an opportunity 
to remain with their children while incarcerated. 
Paramount consideration is given to the 
child’s social and emotional development and 
continuity of care.
In the 2014-2015, 34 women and 48 children 
participated in the Mothers and Children’s 
Program. Referrals were received from 
inmates, staff, Justice Health and external 
sources. As at 30 June 2015, a further 34 
applicants were registered to participate and 
two awaiting approval.
Pregnant women attended the High Risk 
Antenatal Clinic at Dillwynia Correctional 
Centre facilitated by specialist staff from 
Nepean Hospital. Resident mothers 
participated in the Early Childhood Clinic 
facilitated by the Sydney West Area Health 
Service, the Parent Infant Families Australia 
playgroup, Circle of Security facilitated by 
Relationships Australia and a weekly Mothers 
Group, in alternate terms, facilitated by Wesley 
Mission. All activities were conducted at 
Jacaranda Cottages. 
Blissful Babies provided one-on-one 
mothercraft assistance for women identified, 
by the Department of Family and Community 
Services, as requiring additional support. This 
service is provided on a fee-for-service basis 
and paid for by participating mothers using 
their Centrelink/Family Assistance benefits.

Mothering at a Distance
In 2014-15, the Mothering at a Distance 
program was delivered at Dillwynia, Emu 
Plains, Silverwater Women’s and Mid North 
Coast Correctional Centres. There were a total 
of 103 participants with an average completion 
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rate of 86 per cent.
Mothering at a Distance is an educational 
program developed by Tresillian Family Care 
Centres in collaboration with Corrective 
Services. The Mothering at a Distance program 
aims to enhance the mother-child relationship 
and increase the mother’s knowledge and skills 
to care for her infant. 

Child protection 
Corrective Services works collaboratively with 
other agencies such as Family and Community 
Services, the NSW Police Force, Housing NSW 
and SHINE for Kids to address issues relating 
to children of offenders’ families. 
The Corrective Services Child Contact 
Assessment Policy requires inmates who have 
been charged with, or convicted of an offence 
involving a child, to be assessed if they wish to 
have contact visits with children. 
In 2014-15, 507 inmates were identified 
under this policy. Seventy-eight carer consent 
applications were received for assessment with 
57 approved. 
In 2014-15, 850 information exchange 
requests were received, primarily from 
the Department of Family and Community 
Services. Information was also provided to 
the NSW Police Force Child Protection Unit 
in relation to Prohibition Orders. Twenty-three 
requests were processed to assist the NSW 
Police Force Child Protection Unit seek a court 
ordered Prohibition Order.  There have been 
305 exchange requests between Housing 
NSW related to registered offenders in the last 
financial year. 

Anti-Discrimination Board
The Board’s mission is to achieve maximum 
engagement with the NSW community in relation 
to promoting the rights and responsibilities to 
deal with unlawful discrimination.  Under the 
Anti-Discrimination Act (NSW) 1977, the Board 
has a number of statutory obligations.
In 2014-15, the Board received 1,877 complaints 
and finalised 1,023.
The Board’s education staff have delivered 
training in various formats ranging from in-

house sessions for employers, public seminars 
and consultative reviews which has enabled 
information delivery in a structured format.  
Additionally, attendance at various community 
events and forums has enabled delivery of 
information direct to the public. 
Board staff have travelled throughout the 
State to regional and remote areas to facilitate 
conciliation conferences, deliver education, 
outreach and community information services.
Board staff have worked with its Statutory 
Board and community consultative groups to 
identify emerging issues.  The Board provides 
advice and has made representations on actual 
and potential discrimination to appropriate 
bodies.

Working with multicultural 
communities
Achievements for the Department’s Diversity 
Services Unit in working with multicultural 
communities in 2014-15 include the following.

 ^ The development of the Department’s 
Multicultural Plan 2015-2018 in consultation 
within the Department and community 
members. 

 ^ The review of the model of community 
engagement and subsequent expansion 
to include all multicultural communities in 
NSW.

 ^ Engagement with multicultural communities 
and stakeholders in regional NSW. In 
2014-15, three Community Liaison 
Officers attended meetings and events 
in Coffs Harbour, Griffith, Cooma, Young, 
Newcastle, Wollongong and Bathurst.

 ^ Engagement at community events, 
festivals and legal information sessions 
across diverse communities, distributing 
information about the services of the 
Department with the highlight Auburn 
Law Week Expo, attended by over 400 
community members.

 ^ Recruitment of a Justice Disability Advisory 
Council and Justice Multicultural Advisory 
Council. These two high-level councils will 
provide advice to the Department on best 
practice when engaging with multicultural 
communities.
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Increase adaptability and appropriateness of 
justice processes 

Improve community understanding and 
confidence in the justice system
 
Maximise efficiency and effectiveness of 
department and cluster corporate services
 
Deliver key strategic frameworks and plans for 
the cluster
 
Deliver government budget and savings targets

Key to the Department meeting contemporary challenges is a continual review 
of laws, policies and programs, informed by high quality analysis from targeted 
investigations. 
The Department promotes knowledge and understanding of the legal and 
justice system by providing high quality information services and a wide range 
of outreach activities. In a first for Australia, NSW courts now support the 
broadcasting of judgment and sentences in major criminal trials. Revealing the 
workings of courts to the public improves understanding of case outcomes. 
In the area of corporate services, a major transformation program gained 
momentum in 2014-15 which will introduce SAP technology across the 
Department using a ‘software as a service’ approach.
Renovation and refurbishment of courthouses, to better serve court users, 
continued this year, seeing completion of the Coffs Harbour Justice Precinct. 
The Department has responded to the whole of government Decade of 
Decentralisation Policy with a 2,668 square metre reduction in leased CBD office 
accommodation.
In response to long-standing risks of ageing technology infrastructure,  the 
first year of a five-year program was successfully completed as part of the 
Department’s Communications Technology Strategic Plan. 
In 2014-15, the Department continued to seek efficiencies in use of the 
Department’s resources for delivery of justice services through restructuring and 
relocations, aligning functions and reducing duplications. 
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Increase adaptability 
and appropriateness of 
justice processes

Office of the Legal Services 
Commissioner
The Office of the Legal Services Commissioner 
is an independent statutory body that deals 
with complaints about lawyers under the Legal 
Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014. 

The Legal Services Commissioner receives all 
complaints about solicitors and barristers in 
New South Wales. 
In addition to receiving complaints, the 
Commissioner: 

 ^ oversees the investigation of complaints 
 ^ plays a major role in resolving consumer 

matters
 ^ may take disciplinary action against 

a solicitor or barrister, or commence 
disciplinary proceedings in the NSW 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (NCAT) - 
Occupational Division.  

In 2014-15, 2,505 complaints were received, 
including 1,629 for consumer disputes with 
1,159 of these being resolved. 
 
In 2015-16, the Legal Profession Act 2004 
will be repealed and replaced by the Legal 
Profession Uniform Law, Legal Profession 
Uniform Law Application Act 2015. The 
Uniform Law and Uniform Rules will be 
implemented in New South Wales and Victoria.

Legal Services Council
The Legal Services Council Board was 
appointed in October 2014. The Legal Services 
Council and Commissioner for Uniform Legal 
Services Regulation oversee the operation of 
the Legal Profession Uniform Law scheme 
– a regulatory framework for Australian legal 
professionals. The Law will apply to legal 
practitioners in New South Wales and Victoria 
from 1 July 2015.

The Legal Services Council monitors 
the overall operation of the Uniform Law 
framework while the Commissioner oversees 
those parts of the Law that relate to the making 
and handling of complaints about individual 
legal practitioners and professional discipline. 
The Council’s work is overseen by a standing 
committee, which comprises the Attorneys 
General of jurisdictions participating in the 
scheme, currently NSW and Victoria. 
Under the Uniform Law’s framework, local 
regulatory authorities, such as legal services 
commissioners, admission boards and 
professional associations continue to be 
responsible for the day-to-day regulation of the 
profession.

Legal Profession Admission 
Board
The Legal Profession Admission Board (the 
Board) determines the eligibility and suitability 
of people seeking to be admitted as a lawyer in 
NSW.  The Board also accredits academic law 
courses and practical legal training courses in 
NSW, administers a Diploma in Law course, 
and appoints public notaries in NSW.  
During 2014-15, the Board focused on 
preparing for the commencement of the 
Legal Profession Uniform Admission Rules 
which will take effect on 1 July 2015. The 
Rules will introduce a uniform approach to the 
admission of lawyers in NSW and Victoria. A 
suite of new application forms were developed 
to assist applicants with compliance, a 
comprehensive Guide for Applicants was 
issued to communicate the changes, and 
new policies and delegations were prepared 
to support efficient decision-making. Repeal 
of the Board’s existing rules required creation 
of a new instrument, the NSW Admission 
Board Rules 2015, to provide for the ongoing 
operation of the Board.
The Board also implemented other rules 
changes, effective from 1 January 2015, 
to improve community confidence in the 
knowledge and competence of entry-level 
lawyers. Persons who completed their 
academic qualifications in law more than five 
years before applying for admission must now 
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have their studies assessed by the Board, 
to determine if any further study is required.  
There are also new restrictions on when a law 
student may commence practical legal training 
prior to completing their academic studies.
The Board endorsed strategies to improve 
client services for admission applicants, 
including online applications and electronic 
payments, integrated data exchange for 
police checks, and the ability for successful 
applicants to book the date and time of their 
admission ceremony online. A computer 
system to deliver these improvements is 
planned for launch during 2015-16.
In 2015-16, the Board will review the rules 
governing its Diploma in Law course, to make 
them easier for students to understand and 
simpler to administer. The Board will also 
participate in the development of uniform 
standards for the accreditation of academic 
law courses and practical legal training 
courses.

Extinguishment of historical 
homosexuals offences 
In late 2014, the Justice Strategy and Policy 
Civil Team oversaw the introduction and 
commencement of the Criminal Records 
Amendment (Historical Homosexual Offences) 
Act 2014. This Act amended a number of 
sections of the Criminal Records Act 1991 
(Part 4A (secs 19A-19D), s 22 and s23). The 
amendments allowed convictions for historical 
homosexual offences to be extinguished. 
These provisions enable people convicted of 
an ‘eligible homosexual offence’ to apply to the 
Secretary of the Department of Justice for the 
conviction to become extinguished

Improving administration of 
Justices of the Peace
The Community Relations Unit administers 
Justice of the Peace appointments, 
maintaining a database of approximately 
93,000 Justices of the Peace (JPs) across 
NSW. To maintain high standards of service 
to the community, a new online JP application 
process was released in December 2014. 

Approximately 2,000 applicants have been 
appointed as JPs using this new system.
To further improve the service, a client 
focussed, web-based system that better 
meets the needs of JPs and the community 
is expected to be implemented in the new 
reporting year. This system will allow members 
of the community and businesses to use a 
computer, tablet or mobile phone to find and 
make an appointment with a JP at a time 
and place that suits them. All JPs will have 
an online account, making it easier for them 
to manage their appointments, update their 
personal details, record their work and apply 
for reappointment.
Members of the community without online 
access will be able to gain information 
about JP services through contact with the 
Department by phone or post. 

Registry of Births, Deaths and 
Marriages
In 2014-15, The Registry of Births, Deaths and 
Marriages implemented a significant program 
of process reviews and improvements, as 
well as system improvements to support 
and enhance the implementation of LifeLink, 
a business system launched in June 2014. 
The financial investment in LifeLink has been 
$17.3m over four years. As a non-budget 
dependant government entity, the Registry 
self-funded LifeLink.

Program of change
The program of change and review has 
significantly contributed to improved 
efficiencies and completion times on response 
to registration applications. As a direct result, 
the Registry returned to profitability in the 
months of March, April and May in 2015. 
The Registry has worked diligently to 
implement fixes to system issues and is 
currently delivering services within its targeted 
service levels. A review of internal processes 
and the LifeLink system commenced in 
April 2015 and changes are continuing to be 
implemented to ensure further efficiencies. 
These changes have assisted reduce backlogs.



Chapter 5 - Innovative organisation providing high quality and value for money services

84

The Registry is intent on introducing best 
practice in service delivery within the public 
sector and achieving ASS/NZS ISO 9001:2008 
accreditations by the end of 2015-16. This 
aims to ensure processes are streamlined and 
an efficient cost base achieved.

Improvements in Registry 
performance
In 2014-15, the Registry made some significant 
improvements in process efficiencies.
The turnaround time for birth registrations was 
six weeks in March 2015 and five days at the 
end of the reporting year.
Process times for marriage registrations 
peaked at 22 working days on 18 May 2015 
and fell to five working days by June 2015.
By June 2015, amendments to registers 
reduced by 66 per cent from May 2015 with 
turnaround times falling from eight weeks to 
one week.
By end of the reporting year, Change of Name 
applications on hand reduced by 19 per cent 
from May 2015 as a direct result of process 
improvement initiatives.
At June 2015, death registration processing 
times were three working days. In 90 per 
cent of instances, a death is automatically 
registered and printed on the day of lodgement 
by the funeral director.
In March 2015, the Registry implemented 
an image retrieval integration system which 
has helped staff process family history 
records more efficiently. The processing time 
is currently at three days for family history 
records. This has reduced markedly from nine 
weeks in March 2015. The Registry has made a 
number of enhancements to the family history 
website search.

Transition of transactional services 
to Service NSW
Service NSW has offered certificate application 
services for births, deaths and marriages 
since 5 July 2013 when they opened their first 
service centre at Kiama. Over 2014-15, all 
Service NSW centres accepted applications on 
behalf of the Registry.

Improved relationships with 
business partners
During the reporting year, the Registry 
worked closely with business partners such 
as funeral directors, marriage celebrants, 
NSW Health and genealogists, to repair and 
strengthen relationships. All business partners 
have welcomed continued improvement in 
communication and highlighted the need 
for proactive sharing of information prior to 
implementation of any changes in Registry 
processes.

Introduction of new Medical 
Certificate Cause of Death
The Medical Certificate Cause of Death for 
NSW, designed and implemented by the 
Registry in collaboration with NSW Health, 
the Australian Medical Association and the 
Office of the State Coroner was introduced 
in December 2014. The new Certificate 
responded to feedback indicating previous 
processes and forms did not include sufficient 
guidance on when to issue a certificate as 
opposed to reporting a death to the Coroner.  
Feedback was sought from funeral directors 
to ensure the new form fully met requirements 
and was reviewed in April 2015.

Recognition of Early Pregnancy 
Loss Project
In November 2014, the Registry introduced a 
new service to recognise early pregnancy loss. 
This is a non-legislative scheme to allow for 
optional issue of recognition of early pregnancy 
loss to families experiencing a loss that does 
not meet the current requirements for stillbirths 
under legislation.
Applicants are eligible to apply if:

 ^ loss of pregnancy took place before 20 
weeks or, if weeks are unknown, the baby 
weighed less than 400 grams

 ^ the loss occurred in NSW 
 ^ the treating medical practitioner or midwife 

signs the declaration on the application 
form.
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Under the scheme, recognition of early 
pregnancy loss is free and there is no limit on 
retrospectivity. Recognition of early pregnancy 
loss is not entered onto the register and 
there is no requirement for a Perinatal Cause 
of Death Certificate from hospitals. The 
recognition of early pregnancy loss cannot be 
used for official purposes.

Change of Name Working Group 
Project
The 2015 Report of the Martin Place 
Siege Review (the Review) recommended 
strengthening processes around identity 
checking, including the need for improved 
arrangements for sharing registered change 
of name information between federal and 
state bodies.  In March 2015, the National 
Identity Security Coordination Group agreed 
to convene a working group towards 
implementing the Review’s recommendations 
at a national level. 
A Change of Name Working Group was 
convened and co-chaired by the Federal 
Attorney General’s Department and the NSW 
Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages. In 
2015-16, recommendations will be considered 
for implementation within the Registry. 

Supporting emerging communities, 
disaster victims and special needs
The Registry provides a subsidy to new 
and emerging migrant communities, along 
with community-based organisations and 
government departments. These areas of 
subsidy are an internally funded community 
service obligation and include:

 ^ people seeking a change of name as a 
result of domestic violence or other matters

 ^ victims of disasters such as bushfires, 
floods and air crashes including death 
registration and certificates released as a 
result of acts of terrorism

 ^ providing death certificates for research 
purposes 

 ^ supplying the Ombudsman with the Child 
Death Report.

In April 2014, the High Court handed down 
its judgment in NSW Registrar of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages v Norrie and held that 
the Registrar has the power to record in 
the Register that the sex of Norrie is ‘non-
specific’. In May 2015, the Registry finalised 
updating processes including the website 
and application form to reflect the judgment. 
A specific section of the website provides for 
registering a change of sex when a person 
undergoes a sex affirmation procedure. The 
option to register as ‘non-specific’ was made 
available on application forms.

Improve community 
understanding and 
confidence in the 
justice system

Broadcasting court proceedings
NSW is the first state in Australia to introduce 
legislation to support the broadcasting of 
judgment and sentences in major criminal 
trials. 
The Courts Legislation Amendment 
(Broadcasting Judgments) Act 2014 was 
assented on 17 September 2014. The Act 
creates a presumption in favour of recording 
and broadcasting certain judgment remarks 
of the Supreme Court and District Court that 
are delivered in open court. Increasing media 
access to final proceedings has allowed 
greater public access to NSW courts and 
will improve the public’s understanding of 
the sentencing process. Since commencing 
in October 2014, the legislation has allowed 
video recording in 17 cases in Supreme and 
District Court proceedings. Previously, court 
broadcasts were rare with only four high-profile 
sentences video-recorded since 2009 and 
three documentaries made inside NSW courts 
since 2004.
In May, the State Coroner allowed video 
recording of the opening address of the inquest 
into the Lindt Cafe siege. The Department 
also streamed the opening of the inquest on 



Chapter 5 - Innovative organisation providing high quality and value for money services

86

the Department’s website, the first live online 
streaming of a NSW court matter. Towards the 
end of the reporting year, an ABC documentary 
team, looking into the court processes around 
domestic violence, was allowed into the courts 
to record proceedings.

LawAccess NSW
LawAccess NSW is a free service that provides 
legal information, managed referrals and, in 
some instances, legal advice. LawAccess is 
available to all people in NSW with a particular 
focus on providing a service to people in 
regional, rural and remote areas of NSW, 
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islanders, those 
with a disability, those from culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds or those at 
risk of harm who have an urgent legal problem.
LawAccess NSW also provides a website 
with tools and resources to assist people 
in resolving their legal problem, including 
Representing Yourself, designed to assist 
people representing themselves in a NSW 
court or tribunal.
In 2014-15, LawAccess NSW assisted 152,270 
customers with legal issues and delivered 
16,570 free legal advice sessions. Ninety per 
cent of customers received legal advice within 
two business days of contact with the service. 
Among 29 regional outreach visits were 
Menindee, Broken Hill, Wallaga Lake, Hay, 
Griffith, Pilliga, Collarenabri and Tenterfield. 
The LawAccess team participated in more than 
40 community events including NAIDOC week 
events, Auburn Welcomes You, Groovability 
Festival, International Day of People with 
Disability, Mana Aallawah Aboriginal Summit 
and Law Week events. There were 53 
presentations to community groups, workers 
and agencies.
During the year a new legal topic was added to 
the LawAccess website. After Someone Dies 
provides free legal help for people dealing with 
deceased estates. 
 
In the year ahead, LawAccess plans to launch 
two new legal topics on the Representing 
Yourself section of the LawAccess website, 
Animals and Noise. There are also plans to 

include audio descriptions on website videos 
to enhance accessibility. 
In 2015-16, the agency intends to implement 
the Police Engagement Plan to encourage 
early intervention in legal disputes. The 
LawAccess team will actively participate in the 
development of the Department’s Civil Justice 
Strategy including provision of key statistical 
data and customer experience feedback. There 
are also plans for collaboration with Court 
Services in the development of a LawAccess 
e-learning module to improve referral process 
from courts and encourage early intervention in 
legal problems.   

Bureau of Crime Statistics and 
Research
The Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research 
(BOCSAR) aims to identify factors that affect 
the frequency and distribution of crime and 
those that impact the effectiveness, efficacy 
or equity of the criminal justice system. The 
agency also ensures information and crime 
and justice trends are available and accessible 
to clients and the public by developing and 
maintaining statistical databases on crime and 
criminal justice in NSW, monitoring trends and 
conducting research on crime and criminal 
justice and providing information and advice 
on these issues. 

Research highlights 

2014-15 Crime Trends
Data from BOCSAR showed that:

 ^ the recorded rate of murder, burglary, 
robbery and motor vehicle theft in NSW in 
2014 was considerably lower than 25 years 
ago (in 1990)

 ^ the recorded rate of assault in 2014 was 
consistent with that recorded in 2007

 ^ The recorded rate of sexual offences in 
2014 was higher than in the previous 25 
years 

 ^ the impact on assault of the 2014 NSW 
Liquor Act reforms which require that 
licensed premises in the Sydney CBD 
and Kings Cross admit no new patrons 



Chapter 5 - Innovative organisation providing high quality and value for money services

87

after 1.30am and cease serving alcohol at 
3.00am. The evaluation found significant 
reductions in non-domestic assault in the 
target areas. 

Suspended sentences 
Research by BOCSAR showed that 
reintroduction of suspended sentences of 
imprisonment increased the NSW prison 
population rather than reducing it. For every 
10 additional offenders given a suspended 
sentence, an additional three to four offenders 
ended up in prison. This is because courts 
have been imposing suspended sentences 
on offenders who would previously have been 
given a non-custodial sanction. 

Effectiveness of parole 
Research by BOCSAR has found strong 
evidence that offenders released from 
prison on parole are less likely to reoffend 
than offenders released from prison without 
supervision. 

Modelling the criminal justice system
BOCSAR has been developing a number of 
statistical models to predict future demands 
on the criminal justice system and measure 
the flow on impact of policy changes. In April 
2015, the Bureau published a forecast of the 
growth in the NSW prison population up to 
2036. In 2015-16 the Bureau will finalise the 
development of a simulation model of the NSW 
criminal justice system. 

Public confidence in justice  
A public survey conducted by BOCSAR found 
two out of three NSW residents (64 per cent) 
are confident that the criminal justice system 
brings people who commit crimes to justice.  
The majority of those surveyed in 2014 also 
expressed confidence that the criminal justice 
system respects the rights of the accused 
(81 per cent) and treats people fairly (81per 
cent). The survey also found that confidence 
in the NSW criminal justice system increased 
between 2007 and 2014. 

Juvenile Justice seminars
Juvenile Justice runs a range of events as 
part of the Division’s Community Engagement 
Program. The program aims to better educate 
the public on different aspects of the juvenile 
justice system.

As part of the program, Juvenile Justice 
partners with the Sydney University Institute 
of Criminology to run seminars on the juvenile 
justice system. In 2014-15, the Institute hosted 
two seminars: 

 ^ Descent into crime: Serious repeat 
offending in the early to mid-life course?

 ^ Ephebiphobia: Why are we scared of young 
people?

Maximise efficiency 
and effectiveness of 
department and cluster 
corporate services

Office of the General Counsel
In June 2015, the Justice Legal unit became 
the Office of the General Counsel, completing 
the consolidation of the function and bringing 
together legal staff from the former Attorney 
General’s Division, Corrective Services NSW 
and Juvenile Justice. The Office continues 
its role in assisting the Department with legal 
matters and with managing formal applications 
under the Government Information (Public 
Access) Act 2009 (GIPA). 
In 2014-15, the Office dealt with over 570 
formal GIPA applications (a decrease of 
16.5 per cent from the 2013-14 period); 
856  subpoenas as well as a variety of other 
requests for access to information.
The Office developed and implemented new 
policy and procedures for centralised handling 
of requests for production of documents 
by subpoena, summons, statutory notices 
and orders. The Office is now responsible 
for processing the majority of  requests for 
production of the Department’s operational 
documents.
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Legal representation/assistance was also 
provided to 121 new clients - 57 clients in 
respect of matters before the Independent 
Commission Against Corruption, 37 Police 
Integrity Commission clients, and 27 clients 
in relation to the Ombudsman’s inquiry into 
Operation Prospect and the Parliamentary 
Inquiry into Operation Prospect.
Highlights of work completed during the 
reporting year include:

 ^ representing the Department before 
the Independent Commission Against 
Corruption inquiry in relation to Operation 
Yancey (ongoing)

 ^ assisting the Office of the State Coroner 
in coronial inquests and inquiries, with 15 
new matters, 10 matters finalised, and 21 
ongoing matters

 ^ representing the Commissioner of 
Corrective Services in relation to 24 new 
coronial inquests, 18 matters finalised, and 
38 ongoing matters

 ^ enhancing services provided by the 
Guardian ad Litem panel through the 
provision of 48 appointments, comprising 
39 court or tribunal ordered appointments, 
and nine  appointments in accordance with 
a Memorandum of Understanding  

 ^ Conducting four specialised training 
sessions for professional development of 
Guardians ad Litem, and implementing 
procedures to identify indigenous subject 
persons at the onset with a view to 
appointing indigenous Guardians ad Litem 

 ^ Establishing Aboriginal cultural advisors in 
matters where indigenous subject persons 
had been identified. 

Completion of a collaborative project with 
Procurement Services Branch relating to 
the development of policies, guidelines, 
procedures and a suite of templates for use by 
those involved in procurement activities.
During 2014-15, the significant increase in 
workload experienced relating to the Crimes 
(High Risk Offenders) Act 2006 in the 2013-
14 reporting year continued. In 2014-15, 
47 new matters were opened in relation to 
possible applications under the Act. During 

the reporting year, the Office of the General 
Counsel played a significant role in the 
development of legislative amendments, 
including provisions relating to a statutory High 
Risk Offenders Assessment Committee and 
provisions relating to Emergency Detention 
Orders. 

Corporate Services 
Transformation Program
In 2014, a decision was made by the 
Department to procure an enterprise 
resource planning (ERP) system, SAP ‘as 
a service’ using cloud technology housed 
in the NSW Government Data Centre to 
provide a consolidated finance and human 
resource management solution. There are 
two contracts, the first is a proof of concept 
(March to October 2015) for payroll services. If 
successful, this will be followed by a contract 
for the full solution for the Department.
The approach involving ‘software as a service’ 
has not been previously deployed at this level 
within the NSW Government.
The program provides the Department with a 
single platform for human resources processes 
including payroll, finance and purchasing. The 
solution supports service delivery and business 
divisions by providing accurate and timely 
information from a single source, improving 
decision-making capability around staff and 
financials and introducing system-controlled 
workflows to appropriately delegated staff 
(using financial, human resources and 
procurement delegations) and streamlined 
processes to improve timeliness and reduce 
double handling. 
Employees will have access to self-service 
facilities to manage human resource and 
purchasing activities online and managers will 
have access to self-service facilities to manage 
staff and cost centre financials. 
The new system will facilitate greater 
compliance in purchasing and reduce risk to 
the Department by introducing a system-based 
purchasing process, supported by online 
financial delegations-based workflows and, 
system-based goods/service receipts, invoice 
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scanning and three-way matching of invoices 
prior to payment. 

Asset management 
Asset Management Services is responsible 
for the administration of the Department’s 
major and minor construction projects, the 
maintenance of owned and leased property 
portfolios, planning for the Department’s 
asset base and managing the Department’s 
vehicle fleet and environmental and heritage 
responsibilities. 

Capital works 
 
In 2014-15, the branch completed: 

 ^ the Coffs Harbour Justice Precinct ($71m), 
including a new courthouse ($51m) and 
police station ($20m) 

 ^ the Hornsby Courthouse redevelopment 
($2.4m)

 ^ the Small Court Upgrade Program ($179m) 
delivering improved disability access, 
safety and security enhancements, and 
general refurbishment across the 128 
court locations servicing rural and regional 
communities

 ^ the upgrade of the Downing Centre/John 
Maddison Tower court complex in the 
Sydney CBD ($28m). 

During the reporting year, works were 
continued or commenced on: 

 ^ the upgrade to the Wagga Wagga 
Courthouse ($19.5m) and the upgrade to 
the Wollongong Courthouse ($17.5m)

 ^ construction on the Newcastle Justice 
Precinct ($90m)

 ^ purchase of the site and design for the new 
Sydney Children’s Court ($31.1m)

 ^ the pilot program for the manufacture 
and installation of modular prison cells 
($18.3m). 

Decade of Decentralisation policy 
implementation
At the end of the reporting year, the 
Department had completed 54 separate office 
relocations involving more than 980 staff, 
achieving a 2,668 square metre reduction in 
leased CBD office accommodation.

Upgrade to information and 
communications technology
In 2014-15, the information and 
communications technology (ICT) 
Consolidation, Optimisation, Remediation and 
Enhancement (CORE) program completed the 
first year of a five year program to implement 
the Department of Justice ICT Strategic Plan.
The program addresses long-standing critical 
ICT infrastructure, application and information 
management risks within key areas of the 
Department.
Expenditure for the CORE Program Stage 1, 
which was funded by Treasury, was $13.8m in 
2014-15. Stage one will continue into 2015-16 
with a budget of $14.1m.
Highlights for the CORE Program in 2014-15 
include:

 ^ migration of shared Department of Justice 
‘cloud’ services to the NSW Government 
Data Centres

 ^ new, high-priority business solutions 
including the central referred point system 
supporting domestic violence victims and 
the new caselaw system for publishing 
legal precedents

 ^ continued remediation of unreliable end-of-
life systems (remote file and print servers, 
network infrastructure)

 ^ renewal of legacy justice systems providing 
flexible options for accessing information 
and data both on the public interface and 
within the Department

 ^ a single internet/intranet platform for the 
Department established to support a 
consolidation of the Department’s digital 
and intranet content.
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In 2014-15, Information and Technology 
Services implemented programs to update 
end-user tools for desktops and on mobile 
devices including standardisation to a single 
standard operating environment (Windows 7/
Office 2010) across the Department.
Consolidation and deployment of an electronic 
document and records management system 
was partially completed in the reporting year. 
Systems were successfully deployed to the 
Information and Privacy Commission and the 
Supreme Court with upgrades to systems in 
Juvenile Justice and NSW Trustee & Guardian.
In 2014-15, the Jury Management System 
was deployed successfully as was the system 
supporting offender electronic monitoring.

Corrective Services business 
continuity plans
In 2014-15, Corrective Services developed 
business continuity plans for business units 
within the Security and Intelligence and 
Community Corrections Branches, including 
operations support offices and community 
residential facilities. 
In 2014-15, 60 of the  87 business continuity 
plans (70 per cent) were tested using disaster 
scenarios that severely interrupted ‘business-
as-usual’ for each business unit. 

Juvenile Justice quality 
assurance
The Juvenile Justice Quality Assurance 
Framework applies to all operational areas 
of Juvenile Justice including detention 
centres, community services, youth justice 
conferencing and court logistics/transport. In 
2014-15, work health and safety and the food 
safety programs were incorporated into the 
Framework.
In 2014-15, quality assurance reviews were 
conducted at each Juvenile Justice centre from 
March to June 2015. The Framework requires 
staff to continuously improve the services 
for which they are responsible across a wide 
range including safety and security, behaviour 
management, case management, incident 

reporting, admissions and inductions and use 
of force.
Areas for review in the community in 2014-15, 
included disability, court intake and remand 
intervention, bail, the Joint Support Program, 
case management, Work and development 
orders, and records management.
The framework involves a rigorous process of 
self-assessment, annual review, improvement 
review and progress review for custody. 
Following each review, a report is prepared 
with recommendations for improvement in 
service delivery.
The NSW Internal Audit Bureau is currently 
reviewing the governance arrangements for 
the framework for Juvenile Justice centres and 
community offices. This review will be finalised 
in August 2015.

Australasian Juvenile Justice 
Administrators
Australasian Juvenile Justice Administrators 
(AJJA) comprises Australian and New Zealand 
juvenile justice administrators who work 
collaboratively to lead and influence the 
development of youth justice systems. 
In 2014-15, the group continued development 
of working partnerships with data and research 
agencies including the Australian Institute of 
Health and Welfare and the Australian Institute 
of Criminology. The group also developed 
a National Youth Justice Framework to 
consolidate information and evidence from 
applicable international conventions, academic 
literature and reviews of youth justice services 
to inform the future development of youth 
justice standards. 
AJJA has established a National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Working Group 
to share information from each jurisdiction 
(except WA) and to discuss the potential 
opportunities for young offenders with 
significant permanent disabilities to receive 
support services that should reduce their risk 
factors for future offending. The group will also 
work toward developing tools to assist staff to 
access NDIS funding and supports.  
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Juvenile Justice memoranda of 
understanding
Juvenile Justice develops memoranda 
of understanding (MoU), protocols and 
service level agreements with other services 
and agencies to outline agreed terms and 
conditions for working together. These 
agreements aim to develop a collaborative 
relationship to working with young people in 
both custody and the community.
In 2014-15, Juvenile Justice and the 
Department of Education signed a new MoU 
outlining the role of each agency in supporting 
young people in custody and ensuring a 
smooth transition when they are released.
Juvenile Justice also signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Department of Family 
and Community Services (FACS). The MoU 
outlines the working partnership for timely and 
collaborative interventions for children and 
young people under the parental responsibility 
of the Minister for Family and Community 
Services who are case managed by either 
FACS or a non-government out-of-home care 
designated agency. 

Deliver key strategic 
frameworks and plans 
for the cluster
In 2014-15, a number of corporate plans 
and strategies were developed to guide the 
Department’s efforts in fulfilling functions, 
providing services and achieving defined 
outcomes and targets.
A significant achievement, in the year, was 
the preparation of the Department’s 2015-16 
Total Asset Management Plan, instrumental 
in obtaining more than $357m in new major 
capital funding for works, across a range of 
construction projects, over the next four years.
The release of the Information and 
Communications Technology (ICT) Strategic 
Plan 2015-2020 also represents a significant 
achievement. The plan, aligning with the 
whole of government ICT Strategy, will guide 

investment decision-making across the 
Department. It provides guiding principles to 
ensure technology solutions are aligned to the 
needs of the business and defines programs of 
work to deliver key ICT enablers that support 
Departmental goals and strategies.

Aboriginal Employment Strategy 
2015-17
The purpose of this strategy is to bring 
together a combined response and build on a 
range of strategies from across the Department 
for Aboriginal employment.

Disability Strategic Plan 2014-16
The Disability Strategic Plan 2014-2016 
demonstrates the Department’s commitment 
to providing access for people with disability, 
The Plan will help improve service delivery 
to people with disability and ensure the 
Department excels in employment practices. 

Multicultural Plan 2015-18
The Multicultural NSW Act 2000 (NSW) (section 
3(4)) requires each public authority to observe 
the multicultural principles in conducting its 
affairs. This Multicultural Plan provides an 
outline of how the Department has integrated 
the multicultural principles into its work and will 
engage with multicultural communities over the 
next four years.

The Open Government Plan  
2014-15
The Department of Justice is committed to 
the NSW Government priority of achieving the 
open government principles of transparency, 
participation, collaboration and innovation. 
The Open Government Plan addresses the six 
open government action points on which the 
NSW Government ICT strategy requires each 
government department to report.
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Workforce Diversity Program 
2015-16
 The program applies to all of the Department’s 
divisions and has been developed with the 
purpose of achieving: 

 ^ improved employment access and 
participation for workforce diversity groups

 ^ an inclusive workplace which displays fair 
and respectful practices and behaviours.  

Deliver government 
budget and savings 
targets
The Department continues to focus on 
providing high quality and value for money 
services and meeting government budget and 
savings targets.
The Department met the 2014-15 budget 
by achieving a net cost of services $21.8m 
below budget (before Crown liabilities and 
depreciation). This result was due to an 
underspend in other operating expenditure 
of $20.9m, mainly in crime prevention and 
a decrese in cluster agency grants, and a 
favourable outcome in the Department’s 
revenue (excluding Recurrent and Capital 
appropriations and Crown liabilities revenue).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SUMMARY

Financial Performance
The Department of Justice (DJ) entity incorporates the financial results of the former Attorney General’s 
business centres (including the employee related expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities of the NSW 
Trustee and Guardian, the Office of the Public Guardian and the Legal Profession Admission Board), Corrective 
Services NSW (including Corrective Services Industries), Juvenile Justice and 52.5% of all assets, liabilities, 
expenses and revenues of Law Courts Ltd by joint arrangement with the Commonwealth of Australia. The 
financial results also incorporate grants expenditure and appropriations to justice cluster agencies.

The Department prepared its financial statements in accordance with:
• The provisions  of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983
• The Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government Sector Entities
• The Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015
• The Treasurer’s Directions

• NSW Treasury Circulars.

Net Result for the Year
The net result for the year ended 30 June 2015 was a surplus of $114 million, compared with a budgeted 
surplus of $180 million.

Revenue
Revenue totalling $5,874 million was lower than budget by $107 million.  This was mainly due to reduced 
recurrent and capital funding of $151 million, reduced sale of good and services revenue of $68 million, 
offset by personnel services revenue of $69 million.

Expenses
Expenditure totalling $5,758 million was lower than budget by $44 million, partly due to employee related 
expenditure exceeding budget by $49 million, other expenses exceeding budget by $81 million, offset grants 
and subsidies expenditure being lower than budget by $161 million.

Other operating expenses were lower than budget by $21 million, mainly due to a budget misalignment for 
Crown Solicitors Office (CSO) legal fees of $53 million, with actuals reported in other expenses, offset by an 
increase in contractors and miscellaneous expenses of $24 million.

Assets
Total assets were higher than budget by $243 million, which was mainly due to a revaluation of properties 
as at 30 June 2015.

Liabilities
Total liabilities exceeded budget by $79 million, mainly due to an increase in provisions of $35 million and an 
increase in payables of $55 million.

Department of Justice 
Financial statements summary 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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STATEMENT BY DEPARTMENT HEAD

for the year ended 30 June 2015
Pursuant to Section 45F of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, I state that

(a) The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations), Public Finance and Audit 
Act 1983, the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 
Government Sector Entities, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions and 
NSW Treasury Circulars

(b) The financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the 
Department for the year ended 30 June 2015

(c) As at the date of this statement, I am not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

Brendan Thomas

Acting Secretary

21 September 2015

Department of Justice 
Statement by Department Head  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Department of Justice 
Independent auditor’s report  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Department of Justice 
Independent auditor’s report  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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   Actual Budget Restated*

  30 June 30 June 30 June

  2015 2015 2014

 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000

Expenses excluding losses     

Operating expenses     

Employee related expenses 2(a) 1,408,154 1,359,603 1,383,086

Other operating expenses 2(b) 466,650 487,600 458,510

Depreciation and amortisation 2(c) 185,692 180,090 180,447

Grants and subsidies 2(d) 3,570,999 3,731,036 3,521,730

Finance costs 2(e) 8,566 6,802 7,795

Other expenses 2(f) 117,914 37,193 124,786

Total expenses excluding losses  5,757,975 5,802,324 5,676,354
     

Revenue     

Recurrent appropriations 3(a) 5,166,749 5,256,142 5,070,461

Capital appropriations 3(b) 214,247 276,421 134,646

Sale of goods and services 3(c) 205,054 273,407 207,590

Investment revenue 3(d) 4,195 5,086 4,350

Retained taxes, fees and fines 3(e) 24,185 11,900 21,714

Grants and contributions 3(f) 43,349 40,451 45,481

Personnel services 3(g) 68,818  - 63,017

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits 
and other liabilities 3(h) 112,068 95,042 101,393

Other revenue 3(i) 35,507 23,291 28,818

Total revenue  5,874,172 5,981,740 5,677,470
     

Gain / (loss) on disposal  4 (2,132) 782 (3,122)

Other gains / (losses)  5 46 (504) (502)

Net result  114,111 179,694 (2,508)
     

Other comprehensive income     

Items that will not be reclassified to net result     

Net increase in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus  241,765  - 105,210

Net change in the asset revaluation reserve arising from 
a change in the restoration liability  -  - (35)

Superannuation actuarial gains/(losses)  (7,776)  - 2,987

Total other comprehensive income  233,989 - 108,162
     

Total comprehensive income  348,100 179,694 105,654
 
* Refer Note 7 for details of prior period adjustment 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Department of Justice 
Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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   Actual Budget Restated* Restated*

30 June 2015 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 1 July 2013

 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets      

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  9 95,067 97,981 84,884 67,031

Receivables  10 109,058 55,795 110,938 93,633

Inventories  11 13,910 8,336 11,643 9,690

Other financial assets  - 13,405 -

Total current assets  218,035 175,517 207,465 170,354

Non-current assets      

Receivables  10 102,243 67,426 91,932 92,045

Property, plant and equipment      

Land and buildings  12 3,578,594 3,463,760 3,350,193 3,295,070

Plant and equipment  12 238,956 258,356 233,969 238,969

Land and buildings under finance 
lease  12 184,574  - 166,089 165,204

Total property, plant and equipment  4,002,124 3,722,116 3,750,251 3,699,243

Intangible assets  13 184,050 172,747 156,544 152,473

Other  - 3,328 -  -

Other financial assets  - 122,796 -  -

Total non-current assets  4,288,417 4,088,413 3,998,727 3,943,761

Total assets  4,506,452 4,263,930 4,206,192 4,114,115

Liabilities      

Current liabilities      

Payables  15 145,522 90,293 147,898 102,387

Borrowings  16 5,515 3,772 4,859 5,511

Provisions  17 235,649 173,194 265,427 265,475

Other  18 - 12,459 2,934 2,226

Total current liabilities  386,686 279,718 421,118 375,599

Non-current liabilities      

Borrowings  16 77,663 78,696 82,135 86,994

Provisions  17 131,568 158,772 138,585 176,192

Total non-current liabilities  209,231 237,468 220,720 263,186

Total liabilities  595,917 517,186 641,838 638,785

Net assets  3,910,535 3,746,744 3,564,354 3,475,330

Equity      

Reserves  874,933 623,986 633,168 527,993

Accumulated funds  3,035,602 3,122,758 2,931,186 2,947,337

Total equity  3,910,535 3,746,744 3,564,354 3,475,330

* Refer note 7 for details of prior period adjustment. 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Department of Justice 
Statement of financial position  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Accumulated 

funds

Assets 
revaluation 

surplus Total
  Notes $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2014  2,931,186 633,168 3,564,354

Net result for the year  114,111 - 114,111

Other comprehensive income:     

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment   - 241,765 241,765

Superannuation actuarial (losses)  (7,776)  - (7,776)

Total other comprehensive income  (7,776) 241,765 233,989

Total comprehensive income for the year  106,335 241,765 348,100
     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

Decrease in net assets from equity transfer 19 (1,919)  - (1,919)

Balance at 30 June 2015  3,035,602 874,933 3,910,535
     

Balance at 1 July 2013  2,950,071 527,993 3,478,064

Changes in accounting policy  (2,734)  - (2,734)

Restated total equity at 1 July 2013  (refer Note 7)  2,947,337 527,993 3,475,330

Net result for the year  (2,508) - (2,508)

Other comprehensive income:     

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment   - 105,210 105,210

Change in the restoration liability   - (35) (35)

Superannuation actuarial gains  2,987  - 2,987

Total other comprehensive income  2,987 105,175 108,162

Total comprehensive income for the year  479 105,175 105,654
     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

Decrease in net assets from administrative restructure  19 (16,630)  - (16,630)

Balance at 30 June 2014  2,931,186 633,168 3,564,354

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Department of Justice 
Statement of changes in equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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   Actual Budget Restated*

  30 June 30 June 30 June

  2015 2015 2014

 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities     

Payments     

Employee related  (1,349,625) (1,264,951) (1,342,755)

Grants and subsidies  (3,569,757) (3,731,036) (3,520,038)

Finance costs  (8,566) (6,802) (7,795)

Other  (691,683) (675,309) (628,472)

Total payments  (5,619,631) (5,678,098) (5,499,060)

Receipts     

Recurrent appropriations  5,175,776 5,256,142 5,070,392

Capital appropriations (excluding equity appropriations)  214,247 276,421 137,580

Sale of goods and services  223,786 272,870 179,911

Interest received  4,195 1,867 4,350

Retained taxes, fees and fines  14,972 40,451 14,343

Cash reimbursements from the Crown Entity  61,084  - 73,626

Other  164,542 117,677 190,571

Total receipts  5,858,602 5,965,428 5,670,773

Net cash flows from operating activities 23 238,971 287,330 171,713

Cash flows from investing activities     

Proceeds from sale of land and buildings and plant and 
equipment  (63) 7,310 328

Purchases of land and buildings plant and equipment  (224,909) (251,387) (133,038)

Other  - (30,194)  -

Net cash flows from investing activities  (224,972) (274,271) (132,710)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from borrowings and advances  41 90 (904)

Repayment of borrowings and advances  (3,857) (3,459) (4,607)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (3,816) (3,369) (5,511)

Net increase in cash  10,183 9,690 33,492

Opening cash and cash equivalents  84,884 88,291 67,031

Cash transferred out as a result of administrative restructuring  -  - (15,639)

Closing cash and cash equivalents  9 95,067 97,981 84,884

* Refer note 7 for details of prior period adjustment. 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Department of Justice 
Statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Reporting entity
The Department of Justice (Department) (the Department of Police and Justice up to 30 June  2014) as 
a reporting entity incorporates the financial results of the former Attorney General’s business centres 
(including  the employee related  expenses,  employee related revenues, employee related assets and 
employee related liabilities of the NSW Trustee and Guardian, the Office of the Public Guardian and the 
Legal Profession Admission Board), Corrective Services NSW division (including Corrective Services 
Industries), Juvenile Justice division and 52.5% of all assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues of Law 
Courts Ltd by Joint Arrangement with the Commonwealth of Australia. The Department of Police and 
Justice changed its name by administrative order on 1 July 2014 to the Department of Justice.

In the process of preparing the financial statements for the economic entity consisting of the divisions and 
offices, all intra-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The Department is a New South Wales government department. The Department is a not-for-profit 
entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units. The reporting entity is 
consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts. 

These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been authorised for issue by the Acting 
Secretary on 21 September 2015, after recommendation by the Department’s Audit and Risk Committee.

(b) Basis of preparation
The Department’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared 
in accordance with: 

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting interpretations); 

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 
2015; and 

• the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 
Government Sector Entities or issued by the NSW Treasurer. 

Property, plant and equipment, investment property, assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and financial 
assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ and available for sale are measured at fair value. Other financial 
statements items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except where otherwise 
stated.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant 
notes to the financial statements. 

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency, 
except for: 

1) written notes that accompany the main notes to the financial statements which are expressed in 
millions of Australian dollars to one decimal place

2) the detailed actuarial reports on superannuation are provided by Pillar Administration and reported 
in single Australian dollars (refer Note 30)

3) details of a US dollar bank account held outside of the public monies accounts (refer Note 25). 

Department of Justice 
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(c) Statement of Compliance
The Department’s financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which 
include Australian Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Administered activities
The Department administers, but does not control, certain activities on behalf of the Crown Entity. It is 
accountable for the transactions relating to those administered activities but does not have the discretion 
to deploy the resources for the achievement of the Department’s own objectives. 

Transactions and balances relating to the administered activities are not recognised as the Department’s 
income, expenses, assets and liabilities, but are disclosed in the accompanying schedule as “Administered 
Assets and Liabilities’’ in Note 26.

The accrual basis of accounting and all applicable accounting standards have been adopted.

(e) Income recognition
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional 
comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below. 

(i) Parliamentary appropriations and contributions
Parliamentary appropriations and contributions from other bodies (including grants and donations) 
are recognised as income when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the 
appropriations / contributions. Control over appropriations and contributions is normally obtained 
upon the receipt of cash. 
The principal department within the Justice Cluster, which receives appropriations from NSW 
Treasury, is the Department.  The agencies within the Justice Cluster which receive funding by way 
of grants are the NSW Police Force, Ministry of Police and Emergency Services, Fire and Rescue 
NSW, Information and Privacy Commission, Legal Aid NSW, State Emergency Services, NSW Rural 
Fire Service and NSW Crime Commission. These amounts are shown as grants to budget dependent 
agencies in the financial statements of the Department (refer Note 2(d)). 
Appropriations are not recognised as income when unspent. Appropriations at year-end are 
recognised as liabilities rather than income, as the authority to spend the money lapses and the 
unspent amount must be repaid to the Consolidated Fund. The liability is disclosed in Note 18 as part 
of ‘Other Liabilities – Current’. The amount will be repaid and the liability will be extinguished next 
financial year.

(ii) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Department transfers the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the assets.

(iii) Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion.

(iv) Retained fees
Retained fees comprise monies due from individuals relating to matters dealt with by the Victims 
Compensation Tribunal, monies due from the confiscation of crime proceeds and levies raised by 
the Courts on perpetrators of acts of violence. The revenue is recognised when restitution orders are 
made or confirmed by the Tribunal or when payment arrangements between the Director or Registrar 
and defendants are entered into.
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(v) Investment revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Rental revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 
117 Leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(vi) Grants and contributions
Grants and contributions comprise monies received from outside entities, including budget sector 
agencies, relating to specific services provided by the Department. These monies are recognised 
as income when the Department gains control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or 
conditions are imposed on their use.

(vii) Other revenue
Other revenue comprises monies received from outside entities not categorised in the revenue 
headings mentioned above. The revenue is recognised when the fee in respect of services provided 
is receivable.

(viii) Personnel services revenue
Personnel services revenue relates to the provision of personnel services to the NSW Trustee and 
Guardian, including the Office of the Public Guardian, and the Legal Profession Admission Board. 
These entities are statutory bodies, which the Department does not control.

(f) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, in accordance with 
Treasury’s mandate to not-for-profit general government sector agencies.

(g) Insurance
The Department’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme 
of self-insurance for Government agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by the fund manager 
based on past claims experience.

(h) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that: 

• the amount of GST incurred by the Department as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an 
item of expense, and 

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
Australian Taxation Office, are classified as operating cash flows.
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(i) Assets
(i) Acquisition of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled 
by the Department. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the 
other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where 
applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the 
requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards. 
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at measurement date.
Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price 
equivalent, that is, deferred payment amount is effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate.

(ii) Capitalisation thresholds
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $10,000 and above individually (or 
forming part of a network costing more than $10,000) are capitalised and recognised as assets.

(iii) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the ‘Valuation of Physical Non-Current 
Assets at Fair Value’ Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP 14-01).  This policy adopts fair value in 
accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.  
Property, plant and equipment are measured at the highest and best use by market participants that 
is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.  The highest and best use must be 
available at a period that is not remote and take into account the characteristics of the asset being 
measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by government.  In most cases, after 
taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use.  In limited 
circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no 
restrictions on use or where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.
Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participants’ perspective, using 
valuation techniques (market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant 
observable inputs and minimise unobservable inputs.  Also refer Note 12 and Note 14 for further 
information regarding fair value.
The Department revalues each class of property, plant and equipment at least every five years or 
with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ 
materially from its fair value at reporting date. A comprehensive revaluation of properties has been 
completed as at 30 June 2015 and was based on an independent assessment. 
The Department mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as court houses, 
correctional centres and juvenile justice centres, which are valued using the depreciated replacement 
cost method. However, if a specialised asset is decommissioned and transferred as directed by 
Government Property NSW, a revaluation at market value is obtained for the land and buildings. If 
such specialised assets are no longer in use but are not decommissioned by Government 
Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at depreciated replacement cost, until a 
determination is made on the future of these assets.
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a 
surrogate for fair value.  The Department has assessed that any difference between fair value and 
depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material.
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For Law Courts Limited (refer Note 1 (o)), land is measured at fair value based on the market 
comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties.  Buildings are 
measured at fair value less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses.  The fair values are recognised in the financial 
statements, and are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the carrying value of 
the land and buildings is not materially different from their fair values.
When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the related 
accumulated depreciation are separately restated.
For other assets using other valuation techniques, any balances of accumulated depreciation at 
the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset accounts to which they 
relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or 
decrements.
Revaluation increments are credited directly to revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an 
increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as 
an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as revenue in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to 
the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of 
assets, they are debited directly to the revaluation surplus.
As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within 
a class of non-current assets, but not otherwise.
Where an asset that has previously been revalued and is disposed of, any balance remaining in the 
asset revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

(iv) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of 
Assets is unlikely to arise.  As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can 
only arise in the rare circumstances where the costs of disposal are material.  Specifically, impairment 
is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test for 
non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal 
and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.  

(v) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off 
the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Department.  All 
material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives. 
Land is not a depreciable asset.
The depreciation / amortisation rates used for each class of assets are shown in the table on the 
following page.
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Property, plant and equipment 30 June 2015 30 June 2014

Land & Buildings 

Buildings at valuation Estimated useful life Estimated useful life 

Buildings at cost 2% 2% 

Air conditioning 10% 10% 

Land and buildings under finance lease Over term of finance lease Over term of finance lease 

Plant & Equipment 

Make good assets Over term of operating lease Over term of operating lease 

Computer equipment, voice and data communications 25 % 25% 

Computer equipment, voice and data communications acquired 
after 1 July 2012 

  20% 20%

Desktop PCs 20% 20% 

Furniture and fittings 10% 10% 

Correctional centre equipment, including CCTV, and industrial 
plant and equipment used by Corrective Services Industries 

10% 10% 

Other plant and equipment 20% 20% 

Leasehold improvements Over term of the lease Over term of the lease 

Transport equipment 14.3% 14.3% 

Intangible assets 

Software 20% - 25% 20% - 25% 

Software – major projects 10% 10%

For Law Courts Limited (refer Note 1 (o)), the following depreciation rates apply:

Buildings                                                                                      2.5% - 11.11%                                          2.5% - 11.11%

Buildings (Plant component)                                                             2.5% - 10%                                               2.5% - 10%

Furniture, fixtures and fittings                                                         6.67% - 10%                                              6.67% - 10%

(vi) Restoration costs 
The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost 
of an asset, to the extent it is recognised as a liability.

(vii) Maintenance 
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where 
they relate to the replacement of a part or a component of an asset, in which case the costs are 
capitalised and depreciated.  Maintenance costs include an amount of $0.3 million (2014: $0.6 
million) concerning heritage program services provided free of charge by the Department of Finance, 
Services and Innovation.

(viii) Leased assets 
A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased assets, and operating 
leases under which the lessor effectively retains all such risks and benefits. 
Where a non-current asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised at its fair 
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value at the commencement of the lease term. The corresponding liability is established at the same 
amount. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component and the interest expense. 
Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the periods in 
which they are incurred.

(ix)  Intangible assets 
The Department recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the Department and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are 
measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value 
as at the date of acquisition. 
All research costs are expensed.  Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are 
met.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. 
Intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there 
is no active market for the Department’s intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
The Department’s intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over a period from 
four to ten years. 
Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and 
the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.

(x) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually 
based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any changes are 
recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation 
process. 
Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
With regard to Victims Compensation Fund debtors and Criminal Injury Compensation debtors, the 
rationale for recognising debt is based on average cash receipts over a five year period to 30 June 
2015. 
With regard to certain Court debtors held at the State Debt Recovery Office, the rationale for 
recognising debt is based on average cash receipts over a three year period to 30 June 2015.

(xi) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service 
potential. A loss of service potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current 
replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. Inventories (other than those held for 
distribution) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the 
weighted average cost or “first in first out” method. 
The cost of inventories acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration is the current replacement 
cost as at the date of acquisition. Current replacement cost is the cost the agency would incur to 
acquire the asset. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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(xii) Impairment of financial assets 
All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through the statement of comprehensive 
income, are subject to an annual review for impairment. An allowance for impairment is established 
when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
effective interest rate. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. 
Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net result for the year, where there 
is objective evidence. Reversal of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there 
not been an impairment loss. 

(xiii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
assets expire; or if the entity transfers the financial asset: 

• where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred or 

• where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not 
retained control. 

Where the entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or 
transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement in the 
asset. 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. 

(xiv) Trust funds including inmate funds
The Department receives monies in a trustee capacity for various trusts as set out in Note 25. As 
the Department performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies, and because the monies 
cannot be used for the achievement of the Department’s own objectives, these funds are not 
recognised in the financial statements.
In addition to the above, the Department holds monies outside of the Public Monies Account and 
invests them in accordance with various Court rules and orders.

(j) Liabilities
(i) Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Department and other 
amounts. Payables are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term 
payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

(ii) Borrowings 
All borrowings are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method (refer Note 
16). 
The finance lease liability is determined in accordance with AASB 117 Leases.

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015



Financial statements 2014-15

120

(iii) Financial Guarantees
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder (the Department) for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. The 
Department is the holder of one financial guarantee, which is disclosed as a contingent asset in Note 
21.
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a liability at the time the guarantee is issued and 
initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of financial guarantees not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs, where material. After initial recognition, the liability 
is measured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised, less accumulated 
amortisation, where appropriate. 
The Department has reviewed its financial guarantees and determined that there is no material liability 
to be recognised for financial guarantee contracts as at 30 June 2015 and as at 30 June 2014.

(iv) Employee benefits and other provisions 
 
(a) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on costs

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service 
are recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits. 
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the employees render the related service.  As such, it is required to be 
measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut 
methods are permitted).  Actuarial advice was obtained and confirmed that the use of a nominal 
approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of 
annual leave as per NSWTC 15/09) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual 
leave liability.  The Department has assessed the actuarial advice based on the Department’s 
circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability, as it is not considered probable that 
sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.  

 (b) Long service leave and superannuation

The Department’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed 
by the Crown Entity.  The Department accounts for the liability as having been extinguished; 
resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described 
as ‘’Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’’.  The following are 
not assumed by the Crown:  the former Compensation Court (closed in December 2003), the costs 
of which are recouped from the Workcover Authority; the Residual Court, the costs of which are 
recouped from Coal Services Pty Ltd; the Dust Diseases Tribunal, the costs of which are recouped 
from the Dust Diseases Board; the Legal Services Tribunal, the Legal Professional Advisory Council 
and the Office of the Legal Services Commissioner, the costs of which are recouped from the 
Public Purpose Fund, administered by the NSW Law Society. Liabilities for long service leave and 
superannuation in respect of the  Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages, the NSW Trustee and 
Guardian and the Legal Profession Admission Board are not assumed by the Crown Entity.
Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 
This is based on the application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with 
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five or more years of service, using current rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an 
actuarial review to approximate present value.
The Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages, the NSW Trustee and Guardian, the Office of the 
Public Guardian and the Legal Profession Admission Board contribute to the NSW Non Budget Long 
Service Leave Pool Account held by NSW Treasury. The Treasury “pool” account administers the 
long service leave provision for agencies and commercial activities whose liabilities were previously 
assumed by the Crown Entity due to being part of the Budget Sector. Contributions made to NSW 
Treasury are included in Employee Related Expenses. The Department recognises a receivable 
amount from the Long Service Leave Pool. 
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified 
in the Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (that is, Basic 
Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For 
other superannuation schemes (that is, State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions. 
 
(c) Consequential on-costs

Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee 
benefits to which they relate have been recognised.  This includes outstanding amounts of payroll 
tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax.
 
(d) Other provisions

Other provisions exist when: the Department has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Other provisions include a 
provision for Victims Support Fund – unpaid pending claims.

(k) Fair value hierarchy
A number of the Department’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation 
technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable 
inputs. Under AASB 13, Fair Value Measurement, the Department categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the entity can access at 
the measurement date.

• Level 2 – inputs other that quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or 
indirectly.

• Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The Department recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred. Refer Note 14 for further disclosures regarding fair value 
measurements of land, buildings and finance leases.
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(l) Equity and reserves
(i) Revaluation surplus 
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets. This accords with the Department’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment as discussed in 1(i) (iii).

(ii) Accumulated funds 
The category Accumulated funds includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(m) Equity transfers
The transfer of net assets between agencies as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of 
programs/ functions and parts thereof between NSW public sector agencies and equity appropriations’ 
(refer Note19) are designated or required by Accounting Standards to be treated as contributions by 
owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘’Accumulated Funds’’. 

This treatment is consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 
Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities. 

Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit government entities are 
recognised at fair value by the transferee immediately prior to the restructure. Subject to below, in most 
instances this will approximate fair value. 

All other equity transfers are recognised at fair value, except for intangibles. Where an intangible has been 
recognised at (amortised) cost by the transferor because there is no active market, the entity recognises 
the asset at the transferor’s carrying amount. Where the transferor is prohibited from recognising internally 
generated intangibles, the entity does not recognise that asset.

(n) Budgeted amounts 
The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to 
Parliament in respect of the reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (for 
example, adjustments for transfer of functions between entities as a result of Administrative Ar-
rangement Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original 
budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the primary financial statements explained 
in Note 22.

(o) Law Courts Limited – change of accounting treatment
The NSW Government entered into an arrangement with the Commonwealth in 1977. That arrangement 
was set out in a general letter between the parties, which was confirmed in a letter dated 13 August 
2008, co-signed by the Secretary, Federal Attorney General’s Department and the Director General, NSW 
Attorney General’s Department (now part of the Department of Justice), which confirmed ownership and 
funding arrangements of Law Courts Limited.

The NSW Government has an investment in Law Courts Limited, nominates Directors to the Board 
and votes at general meetings. The company is constituted under Corporations legislation and has a 
Constitution. Up to 30 June 2014, the Department recognised, at the direction of NSW Treasury, the 
investment in Law Courts Limited, which is an entity jointly controlled by the NSW State Government and 
the Australian Federal Government, and equity accounted for in accordance with AASB 131 Interests in 
Joint Ventures. 

Law Courts Limited is located at Level 3, Law Courts Building, Queen’s Square, Sydney, NSW 2000, and 
its principal activity is the provision of accommodation for Courts, Court registries and support services 
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at a standard that is suitable and available for occupation. The NSW State Government’s investment 
comprises 52.5 % (2014 – 52.5 %) of the net assets of Law Courts Limited.  Both Governments, however, 
have equal representation on the Board of Directors and in the membership of Law Courts Limited, with all 
decisions requiring unanimous consent. 

As the Department has in substance rights to Law Courts Limited’s assets, and obligations for its liabilities, 
it must recognise 52.5% of the assets and liabilities of Law Courts Limited on its statement of financial 
position and 52.5% of the revenues and expenditure on its statement of comprehensive Income (refer 
Note 7).

(p) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards
(i) Effective for the first time in 2014-15
The accounting policies applied in 2014-15 are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except as a result of new accounting standards that have been applied, if required, for the first time in 
2014-15 (refer Note 1 (o)).

(ii) Issued but not yet effective
The following relevant Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective, as per 
NSW Treasury Circular TC 15/03:

• AASB 9, AASB 2010-7, AASB 2013-9 (Part C), AASB 2014-1 (Part E), AASB 2014-7 and AASB 
2014-8 regarding financial instruments 

• AASB 14 and AASB 2014-1(Part D) regarding Regulatory Deferral Accounts

• AASB 15 and AASB 2014-5 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities

• AASB 2014-3 regarding accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations

• AASB 2014-4 regarding acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

• AASB 2014-9 regarding equity method in separate financial statements

• AASB 2014-10 regarding sale or contribution of assets between and investor and its associate or 
joint venture

• AASB 2015-1 regarding annual improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 
cycle

• AASB 2015-2 regarding amendments to AASB 101 disclosure initiatives 

• AASB 2015-3 regarding withdrawal of AASB 1031 materiality.

The Department has assessed the impact of the new standards and interpretations on issue but not 
effective where relevant and considers the impact to be not material.

(q) Comparative information
Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is 
disclosed in respect of the previous financial year for all amounts reported in the financial statements.
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2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

(a) Employee related expenses

30 June Restated 30 June
 2015 2014
 $’000 $’000

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 1,104,621 1,085,035
Superannuation - defined benefit plans 43,678 45,365
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 80,206 75,564
Long service leave 68,427 57,667
Workers’ compensation insurance 30,018 35,237
Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 74,269 71,529
Redundancy payments 6,877 12,656
Other 58 33

 1,408,154 1,383,086
 
(b) Other operating expenses
Advertising 109 85
Auditor’s remuneration - audit of the financial statements 973 864
Auditor’s remuneration - internal 949 790
Rental expenses relating to buildings 33,580 34,624
Consultancy costs 3,730 3,261
Contract payments 3,230 3,132
Contractors 27,530 23,060
Fees for services rendered 21,006 18,543
Insurance 10,932 9,195
Property and plant outgoings 49,296 49,757
Motor vehicle expenses 17,091 18,171
Inmate education and welfare 22,288 24,442
Rates and charges 8,459 8,136
Catering - inmates and juveniles 25,442 27,523
Stores, stationery and materials 3,609 3,786
Training (staff development) 689 509
Transcription, translation and interpreter services 1,422 1,118
Other expenses 582 3,454
Prison hospital service fee 2,277 1,793
Out sourced services 3,634 4,866
Publications 3,811 4,062
Correctional centre management 69,314 71,407
Corrective Services Industries (refer Note B below) 27,105 24,148
Staff uniform, travel & development 18,201 15,427
Telecommunications 15,992 14,254
Licenses 1,589 2,072
Forums costs 240 192
General administration 30,675 31,903
Repairs and routine maintenance (refer Note A below) 62,895 57,936
 466,650 458,510

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015



Financial statements 2014-15

125

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES (cont’d)

(b) Other operating expenses (cont’d)

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Note A - Reconciliation - Total maintenance   

Maintenance expense - contracted labour and other (non-employee related) as above 62,895 57,936

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(b) 62,895 57,936

Note B - Total Cost of Goods Sold is as follows   

Direct cost as reported above (Note 2 (b)) 27,105 24,148

Indirect costs - determined on a pro rata basis comprising salaries and wages, property 
outgoings, repairs and maintenance and depreciation 11,941 10,353

 39,046 34,501

(c) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Restated

30 June 30 June

2015 2014

Depreciation $’000 $’000

Buildings 102,319 98,492

Plant and equipment 45,504 45,459

Infrastructure systems 1,377 991

Leased assets 6,140 5,905

Law Courts Limited - joint arrangement 8,093 4,440

Total depreciation 163,433 155,287
   

Amortisation:   

Intangibles 22,259 25,160

Total amortisation 22,259 25,160
   

Total depreciation and amortisation 185,692 180,447
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2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES (cont’d) 

(d) Grants and subsidies
Religious attendance on inmates 2,857 2,751

Corrective Services NSW - prisoner after care activities (including community grants) 3,624 954

Other grants 2,778 2,156

Grants to other organisations 6,512 8,445

Contributions to other bodies 72 250

Grants - non-budget dependent agencies 2,584 2,439

Grants - budget dependent agencies - refer note 1(e)(i) 3,534,625 3,487,492

Grants issued by Juvenile Justice 9,634 9,124

Grants issued by other divisions of the Department 8,313 8,119

 3,570,999 3,521,730

 
(e) Finance costs
Finance lease interest charge 7,749 7,773

Other borrowing costs 79 147

Unwinding of discount rate 738 (125)

 8,566 7,795

(f) Other expenses

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Other 2,558 1,752

Ex gratia payments 16 13

Legal costs 52,022 15,477

Contribution to Law Courts Limited 1,388 2,851

Arbitration fees and inquest fees 6,150 5,688

Jury costs 12,059 9,923

Crown Solicitor’s Office disbursements 224 11,597

Victims compensation costs 43,497 77,485

 117,914 124,786
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3. REVENUE

(a) Recurrent appropriations
  30 June 30 June
 2015 2014
 $’000 $’000
Total recurrent draw-downs from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance) 5,166,749 5,070,461

Less: Liability to Consolidated Fund (per Summary of Compliance) - -

Total recurrent drawdowns from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance) 5,166,749 5,070,461
Comprising:   

Recurrent appropriations (per Statement of comprehensive income) (refer Note 1(e)(i)) 5,166,749 5,070,461
 5,166,749 5,070,461

 
(b) Capital appropriations
Total capital drawdowns from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance) 214,247 137,580
Less: Liability to Consolidate Fund (per Summary of Compliance) - (2,934)
Total capital drawdowns from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance) 214,247 134,646
Comprising:   

Capital appropriations (per Statement of Comprehensive Income) 214,247 134,646
 214,247 134,646

(c) Sale of goods and services
  30 June 30 June
 2015 2014
 $’000 $’000
Corrective Services Industries 41,415 38,838
Canteen sales 1,220 1,089
Certificates 30,059 30,168
Rent of premises 511 476
Minor usage charges 4,601 4,718
Family Law Court fees 639 517
Sheriffs fees 3,037 3,214
Other fees 1,986 650
Legal fees - 10,365
Transcription services 2,838 3,800
Sale of publications 140 156
Management fees 5,978 7,287
Other court fees 40,780 40,255
Filing fees 24,183 21,698
Filing fees probate 33,464 29,421
Statement of claims 14,203 14,938
 205,054 207,590
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3. REVENUE (con’t) 

(d) Investment revenue

30 June

Restated

30 June

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Interest revenue from financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss 1,287 1,182

Rents 1,358 1,886

TCorp - short term deposits 1,550 1,282

 4,195 4,350

 
(e) Retained taxes, fees and fines 
Restitution orders raised 13,897 9,881

Confiscation proceeds of crime 939 3,489

Victims compensation levies 9,349 8,344

 24,185 21,714

 
(f) Grants and contributions

30 June

Restated

30 June

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Department of Health 1,662 1,732

Grants from other agencies 25,354 19,737

Department of Family and Community Services 378 836

Department of Education and Communities 129 42

Contributions from Dust Diseases Board 5,272 6,300

Roads and Maritime Services 779 485

Other 8,491 11,662

NSW Treasury 1,284 4,687

 43,349 45,481
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3. REVENUE (cont’d)

(g) Personnel services revenue

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Personnel services revenue from statutory bodies (NSW TC 15/07) 68,818 63,017

 68,818 63,017

(h) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities
Superannuation - defined benefit 42,305 42,588

Long service leave 67,492 56,411

Payroll tax 2,271 2,394

 112,068 101,393

(i) Other revenue

30 June
Restated
30 June

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Insurance hindsight adjustments 14,153 6,559

Sundry income 2,210 4,510

Other miscellaneous 1,668 1,922

Commission 78 199

Senior Executive Service and judicial motor vehicle contributions 2,075 2,101

Law Society contributions 6,772 7,879

Services provided 8,551 5,648

 35,507 28,818
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4. GAIN / (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL 

  30 June
Restated
30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of land and buildings, plant and equipment   

Proceeds from disposal - 1,859

Written down value of assets disposed (2,132) (4,981)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment (2,132) (3,122)

5. OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES) 

  30 June

Restated

30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Gain/(loss) on impairment 46 (502)

Total other gains/(losses) 46 (502)

 
 
6. CONDITION ON CONTRIBUTIONS

(a) There were contributions of $0.4 million (2014: $0.2 million) recognised as revenue during the current 
financial year, which were obtained for expenditure in future year. 

(b) There were contributions of $0.2 million (2014: $0.8 million) recognised as revenue during the previous 
financial year, which were obtained for expenditure in respect of the current financial year. 

Contributions received have been for specific project objectives. Funds can only be expended on these 
programs over the nominated period. Any balance outstanding is refundable.
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7. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT  
– As a Result of Application of New Accounting Standards

The Department has identified the following prior period adjustments and the necessary adjustments have 
been made as required by AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors as 
follows:

(a) The amount of the adjustment for each financial line affected

(b) The amount of the adjustment at the beginning of the earliest prior period presented, 1 July 2013.

As per Note 1(o), the Department has amended its 2014 financial statements to accommodate changes 
resulting from the de-recognition of Law Courts Limited as a joint venture and previously accounted for 
under equity accounting rules and to account for the results as a joint operation in accordance with AASB 
11 Joint Arrangements.

The adjustments have been made by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the 
prior periods as follows: 

  30 June 2014 Adjustment 30 June 2014 1 July 2013 Adjustment 1 July 2013 

 Original  Restated Original  Restated

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of financial position 
(Excerpt)       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 83,090 1,794 84,884 64,160 2,871 67,031

Receivables 110,725 163 110,938 93,264 369 93,633

Total current assets 205,458 1,957 207,465 167,114 3,240 170,354

Property, plant and equipment       

Land and buildings 3,226,007 124,186 3,350,193 3,176,577 118,493 3,295,070

Plant and equipment 232,674 1,295 233,969 237,290 1,679 238,969

Investment accounted for using 
the equity method 127,326 (127,326) - 122,796 (122,796) -

Total non-current assets 4,000,572 (1,845) 3,998,727 3,946,385 (2,625) 3,943,761

Total assets 4,206,030 112 4,206,192 4,113,499 615 4,114,115
       

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Payables 147,736 112 147,898 101,771 615 102,387

Total current liabilities 420,956 112 421,118 374,983 615 375,599

Net Assets 3,564,354  - 3,564,354 3,475,330 - 3,475,330
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7. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
– As a Result of Application of New Accounting Standards (cont’d)

     30 June 2014 Adjustment 30 June 2014

    Original  Restated

    $’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Excerpt)     

Expenses excluding losses       

Operating expenses       

Employee related expenses    1,383,085 1 1,383,086

Other operating expenses    455,657 2,853 458,510

Depreciation and amortisation    176,007 4,440 180,447

Total expenses excluding losses    5,669,060 7,294 5,676,354
       

Revenue       

Investment revenue    4,240 110 4,350

Grants and contributions    42,254 3,227 45,481

Other revenue    28,548 270 28,818

Total revenue    5,673,863 3,607 5,677,470
       

Gain/(loss) on disposal    (2,671) (451) (3,122)

Other gains/(losses)    (4,640) 4,138 (502)

Net result    (2,508)  - (2,508)

Statement of Cash Flows (Excerpt)      

Cash flows from operating activities      

Payments       

Other    (625,319) (3,153) (628,472)

Total payments    (5,495,907) (3,153) (5,499,060)
       

Receipts       

Interest received    4,240 110 4,350

Other    187,074 3,497 190,571 

Total receipts    5,667,166 3,607 5,670,773
       

Cash flows from investing activities      

Proceeds from sale of land and buildings and plant and equipment 1,859 (1,531) 328

Net cash flows from investing activities  (131,179) (1,531) (132,710)
       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash  34,569 (1,077) 33,492

Opening cash and cash equivalents  64,160 2,871 67,031

Closing cash and cash equivalents  83,090 1,794 84,884
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8. SERVICE GROUPS OF THE AGENCY

(a) Service Group 1 – Legal Policy and Regulatory Services 
Objective: This service group covers the provision of advice to the Government on law and justice and 
the development and implementation of legislation, legal reforms, evidence-based policies and justice 
programs. It also covers the regulation of the activities of professional groups, collection of statistical 
information and research on crime, privacy services, legal assistance and representation, and investigation 
and resolution of complaints.

(b) Service Group 2 – Court and Tribunal Services 
Objective: This service group covers the administration of, and support services to, NSW Courts, tribunals 
and community justice centres. It also covers the Office of the Sheriff and transformational reform 
programs.

(c) Service Group 3 – Crime Prevention and Community Services  
Objective: This service group covers the development of evidence-based policies and programs to prevent 
crime and reduce re-offending, to reduce Aboriginal representation in criminal justice processes and to 
promote anti-discrimination and equal opportunity principles and policies. It also provides support to 
victims of crime by providing access to services and entitlements to assist in their recovery.

(d) Service Group 4 – Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages
Objective: This service group covers the provision of an accurate, consistent, equitable and secure system 
for the registration of births, deaths and marriages in New South Wales. Information recorded in the 
system is used to provide a range of certificates, products and information services, including reliable data 
for planning and research.

(e) Service Group 5 – Business and Personnel Services
Objective: This service group covers the provision of personnel services to the NSW Trustee and Guardian, 
which includes Office of the Public Guardian, and the Legal Profession Admission Board.

(f) Service Group 6 – Corrective Services
Objective:  This service group covers the management of inmates and the supervision of offenders in the 
community. It covers the delivery of services to offenders with a range of special needs, including age-
specific, health-related and Aboriginal inmate needs, therapeutic treatment for violent and sex offenders 
and the delivery of programs and services aimed at reducing re-offending. The group also covers secure 
escort services, advice to courts and releasing authorities, and security in courts and police/court cells.
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(g) Service Group 7 – Juvenile Justice 
Objective: This service group covers the supervision of young offenders in custody and in the community, 
the administration of Youth Justice Conferences, management of the Youth on Track service, the provision 
of court reports, and support for young people seeking bail and court-ordered supervision of young 
offenders on bail. It also covers the provision of interventions to address young offenders’ risk of re-
offending.

(h) Service Group 8 – Cluster Grant Funding 
Objective: This service group covers the provision of grant funding to agencies within the Justice 
cluster. This includes funding to the New South Wales Crime Commission, Information and Pri-
vacy Commission, Legal Aid Commission of New South Wales, NSW Police Force, Office of the 
NSW State Emergency Service, Fire and Rescue NSW, Office of the NSW Rural Fire Service and 
Ministry for Police and Emergency Services.

(i) Service Group 10 – Crown Solicitor’s Office (Transferred out on 24 February 2014: required 
for comparatives) 
Objective: This service group covers the provision of tied and untied legal services to Government. The 
Crown Solicitor must be engaged by government agencies to perform tied legal services described 
in Premier’s Memorandum 1995-39. The Crown Solicitor’s Office also competes with the private legal 
profession for untied legal work.
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  30 June
Restated
30 June

Restated
1 July

 2015 2014 2013

 $’000 $’000 $’000
    

Cash at bank 94,450 81,158 50,769

Cash on hand 601 758 830

Short-term deposits - TCorp 16 2,968 15,432

 95,067 84,884 67,031

Cash at bank and on hand 
Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances held through Westpac within the NSW Treasury banking 
system and cash held at Law Courts Limited (refer Note 7). Interest earnings on the bank balances are 
calculated under the Treasury Cash Management System. 

NSW Treasury Corporation Hour-Glass Cash Facility 
The Department has investments in NSW Treasury Corporation’s Hour-Glass Investment Cash Facility. 
These investments are represented by a number of units in managed investments within the facilities. 
Each facility has different investment horizons and comprises a mix of asset classes appropriate to that 
investment horizon. NSW Treasury Corporation appoints and monitors fund managers and establishes and 
monitors the application of appropriate investment guidelines. 

These investments can generally be redeemed with up to five business days’ notice (dependent upon 
the facility). The value of the investments held can decrease as well as increase depending upon market 
conditions. The value that best represents the maximum credit risk exposure is the net fair value. The value 
of the above investments represents the relevant entity’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the 
facility and is stated at net fair value. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash 
on hand, short term deposits and NSW Treasury Corporation Hour Glass Cash Facility. 

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are reconciled at the 
end of the financial year to the Statement of Cash Flows as follows:

  30 June 30 June
Restated

1 July

 2015 2014 2013

 $’000 $’000 $’000
    

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position) 95,067 84,884 67,031

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows) 95,067 84,884 67,031

Refer Note 24 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
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10. RECEIVABLES

  30 June
Restated
30 June

Restated
1 July

 2015 2014 2013

 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current receivables    

Sale of goods and services 36,551 52,006 23,356

Victims Compensation Fund/Criminal Injuries Compensation debtors 4,538 4,350 4,142

Goods and Services Tax recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 19,813 15,178 17,554

Prepayments 13,538 7,777 7,396

Personnel services 9,635 9,394 8,012

Other receivables 1,894 1,269 9,018

Receivables - long service leave 23,089 20,964 24,155

Total Current Receivables 109,058 110,938 93,633

Non-current receivables    

Personnel services 79,831 70,476 69,386

Prepayment of employee entitlements 3,794 3,286 5,186

Receivables - long service leave 466 769 906

Victims Compensation Fund/Criminal Injuries Compensation debtors 18,152 17,401 16,567

Total Non-Current Receivables 102,243 91,932 92,045

Total Receivables 211,301 202,870 185,678

   30 June 30 June

  2015 2014

  $’000 $’000

Movements in the allowance for impairment    

Balance at 1 July  10,899 10,291

Amounts written off during the year  (272) (1)

Amounts transferred in/(out) as a result of administrative restructure   - (84)

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss  (305) 693

Balance at 30 June  10,322 10,899

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are 
disclosed in Note 24.
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10. RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

(a) Sale of goods and services debtors 
Sales of goods and services debtors are recognised for accounting purposes only when they comply with 
established asset recognition criteria.

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Amounts receivable from the sale of goods and services 98,060 109,355

Less:   

Amounts receivable that do not meet the asset recognition criteria 51,186 46,450

Allowance for impairment 10,323 10,899

Sale of Goods and Services Receivable 36,551 52,006

Sales of goods and services debtors are recognised in accordance with established asset recognition 
criteria. 

This involves recognising certain court debtors held at the State Debt Recovery Office based on average 
cash receipts for the three years ended 30 June 2015. The balance of the court debts held at the State 
Debt Recovery Office, which are not recognised, are shown above as “Amounts receivable that do not 
meet the asset recognition criteria”.

(b) Retained fees – Victims Support Fund debtors 
Victims Support Fund debtors are recognised for accounting purposes only when they comply with 
established asset recognition criteria.

Amounts receivable from restitution orders made or confirmed by the Victims Compensation Tribunal 258,156 250,606

Less:   

Amounts receivable that do not meet the asset recognition criteria 235,466 228,886

Victims Compensation Fund Debtors 22,690 21,720

This is represented by:   

Current 4,534 4,344

Non-current 18,135 17,376

 22,669 21,720
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(c) Retained fees – Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Criminal Injuries Compensation debtors under the former Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 1967 are 
recognised for accounting purposes only when they comply with established asset recognition criteria.

Amounts receivable from restitution orders made or confirmed under the Criminal 
compensation Act 1967 144 145

Less:   

Amounts receivable that do not meet the asset recognition criteria 123 113

Criminal Injuries Compensation debtors 21 32

This is represented by:   

Current 4 6

Non-current 17 26

 21 32

11. INVENTORIES

  Note 30 June 30 June

  2015 2014

  $’000 $’000
    

Raw materials - at cost (i) 1,345 4,096

Work in progress - at cost (ii) 3,798 1,267

Finished goods - at cost (iii) 6,362 4,325

Livestock - At net realisable value (iv) 2,405 1,955

TOTAL  13,910 11,643

i.  Raw material inventory includes, but is not limited to, papers, solvents, cooking ingredients, bolts, timber bars, mesh  
 lubricant, copper sulphate fabric and buttons.

ii.  Work in progress inventory includes, but is not limited to, processed meat, bed bases, barrel backers and unfinished  
 clothing.

iii. Finished goods include, but are not limited to, signs, booklets, prepared meals, beds, cabinets, overalls and briefs.

iv. Professional valuations have been obtained to determine fair value less cost to sell of all livestock held at the end of the  
 reporting period.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 
Land and 

buildings*
Plant and 

equipment*

Land and 
buildings under 

finance lease Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2013 - fair value     

Gross carrying amount 5,032,317 438,096 248,310 5,718,723

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,737,247) (199,127) (83,106) (2,019,480)

Net carrying amount 3,295,070 238,969 165,204 3,699,243
     

At 1 July 2014 - fair value     

Gross carrying amount 5,237,077 461,948 259,364 5,958,389

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,887,406) (227,457) (93,275) (2,208,138)

Net carrying amount 3,349,671 234,491 166,089 3,750,251
     

At 30 June 2015 - fair value     

Gross carrying amount 5,423,870 491,514 262,908 6,178,292

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,845,276) (252,558) (78,334) (2,176,168)

Net carrying amount 3,578,594 238,956 184,574 4,002,124

 
Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning 
and end of the current reporting period is set out below:

 
Land and 

buildings*
Plant and 

equipment*

Land and 
buildings under 

finance lease Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2015     

Net carrying amount at start of year 3,350,193 233,969 166,089 3,750,251

Additions 125,449 52,650  - 178,099

Additions (non-cash)  - 1,669  - 1,669

Disposals (804) (1,153)  - (1,957)

Net revaluation increment less revaluation 
decrements 217,164 (24) 24,625 241,765

Assets transferred in / (out) as a result of 
administrative restructure (1,919)  -  - (1,919)

Depreciation expense (note 2 (c)) (111,388) (45,905) (6,140) (163,433)

Other movements - work in progress transfers (101) (2,250)  - (2,351)

Net carrying amount at end of year 3,578,594 238,956 184,574 4,002,124

*Includes amounts relating to joint arrangement with Law Courts Ltd.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

 
Land and 

buildings*
Plant and 

equipment*

Land and 
buildings 

under finance 
lease

Assets under 
construction Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2014      

Net carrying amount at start of year 3,295,070 238,969 165,204  - 3,699,243

Additions 56,158 47,396  - 2,699 106,253

Additions (non-cash)  - 15  -  - 15

Disposals (3,317) (1,660)  -  - (4,977)

Net revaluation increment less revaluation 
decrements 98,419 2 6,790  - 105,211

Assets transferred in / (out) as a result of 
administrative restructure  - (2,092)  -  (2,092)

Depreciation expense  (note 2 (c)) (103,423) (45,959) (5,905)  - (155,287)

Other movements - work in progress 
transfers 7,286 (2,702)  - (2,699) 1,885

Net carrying amount at end of year 3,350,193 233,969 166,089 - 3,750,251

*Includes amounts relating to joint arrangement with Law Courts Ltd.

Further details regarding the fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in 
Note 14.

Land and buildings comprise land, buildings and finance lease assets.  Plant and equipment comprises 
computer equipment, furniture and fittings, plant, equipment, make-good assets, leasehold improvements, 
voice communications, data communications and include work in progress of $52.7 million (2014: $59.5 
million).

 
Revaluation of Land and Buildings 
Each class of physical non-current assets is revalued at least every 5 years. Land and buildings were 
revalued as at 30 June 2015 for the Department by an independent registered valuer. Buildings and 
improvements have been valued at the estimated written down replacement cost of the most appropriate 
modern equivalent replacement facility having similar service potential or future economic benefit to the 
existing asset. Land has been valued on an existing use basis. In accordance with AASB 116, Property, 
Plant and Equipment, when revaluing its land and buildings, the Department has applied the proportional 
gross restatement method to separately restate the gross amount and the related accumulated 
depreciation.

The Berrima buildings and improvements are valued using the depreciation replacement cost method (net 
book value of $4.1 million) until a determination is made on the future of these assets. 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 

 
Land and Buildings under Finance Lease 
The finance lease asset relates to an arrangement entered into to lease the John Maddison Tower 
constructed by a private sector company to house the District Court and the Dust Diseases Tribunal. The 
lease commenced on 1 July 1995, with a non-cancellable term of 25 years and provision for an option of 
a further 15 years. The building is constructed on land owned by the Department. Such land is already 
subject to a head lease from the Department to the private sector company. The head lease rental is $1.04 
million (2014: $0.8 million) which the Department recovers in rental offsets. The finance lease was revalued 
as at 30 June 2015 by an independent registered valuer.  The leasehold asset will be amortised over the 
remainder of the lease. 

The finance lease of Corrective Services NSW relates to the Long Bay Forensic and Prison Hospitals at 
Long Bay under a Project Deed and was revalued on 30 June 2015 by an independent registered valuer.  
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13. INTANGIBLES

  Software Total

 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2014   

At cost (gross carrying amount) 240,551 240,551

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (84,007) (84,007)

Net Carrying Amount 156,544 156,544

At 30 June 2015   

At cost (gross carrying amount) 288,912 288,912

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (104,862) (104,862)

Net Carrying Amount 184,050 184,050

Year ended 30 June 2015    

Net carrying amount at start of year 156,544 156,544

Additions 47,558 47,558

Disposals (112) (112)

Impairment loss (29) (29)

Amortisation (Refer to Note 2(c)) (22,259) (22,259)

Other movements 2,348 2,348

Net carrying amount at end of year 184,050 184,050

 Software Total

 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2013   

At cost (gross carrying amount) 218,467 218,467

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (65,994) (65,994)

Net Carrying Amount 152,473 152,473

At 30 June 2014   

At cost (gross carrying amount) 240,551 240,551

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (84,007) (84,007)

 Net Carrying Amount 156,544 156,544

Year ended 30 June 2014   

Net carrying amount at start of year 152,473 152,473

Additions 33,885 33,885

Disposals (2) (2)

Assets transferred in / (out) as a result of administrative restructure (1,258) (1,258)

Amortisation (Refer to Note 2(c)) (25,160) (25,160)

Other movements (3,394) (3,394)

Net carrying amount at end of year 156,544 156,544
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14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

(i) Fair value hierarchy 

2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

Land and buildings  - 653,527 3,273,429 3,926,956

 - 653,527 3,273,429 3,926,956

2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

Land and buildings  - 418,489 3,058,417 3,476,906

 - 418,489 3,058,417 3,476,906

(ii) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes

Land, Buildings and Finance Leases

The Department owns land and buildings such as court houses, prisons and juvenile justice centres 
which are specialised public sector assets and are rarely traded.  Comparisons with similar assets 
can be rarely made, given the specialised nature of these assets.
Because the Government’s mandate specifies that services are provided to the public via the use of 
these assets, restrictions are imposed on the sale or use of these assets, because the Department is 
unable to sell them or change their use, unless approved by the Government.  These restrictions on 
the use and disposal of these public sector assets are a characteristic of these assets.  
Generally speaking, specialised buildings are assessed as a level 3 input of the fair value hierarchy 
at depreciated replacement cost, due to a lack of market evidence for specialised buildings.  Level 3 
inputs are unobservable inputs for which market data are not available and are developed using the 
best information available about the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
such assets.
The Department’s land assets, valued using market evidence, are usually measured using the market 
approach (that is, based on a market selling price), with an adjustment for condition, location, 
comparability, and are therefore categorised at Level 2.  The market approach will usually be available 
even where the land has no feasible use.
The Direct Comparison Method has been utilised as the primary method of valuation. In this 
approach, the relative merits of the subject property and each of the sales are analysed and 
compared, having regard to matters such as location, aspect, topography, size of land, shape of land, 
size and quality of the improvements, features and condition of the improvements and current market 
sentiment.
When the valuer values any piece of land, regardless of the size, shape, zoning and use, there is 
reliance upon comparable market evidence.  Hence the most appropriate method to value land is via 
the Direct Comparison Approach. 
Ultimately the valuer makes a judgement call when comparing sales to the subject property. Standard 
percentage adjustments are not always applicable.
The valuer considers the sales are “observable inputs” and have tried to maximise the use of 
observable inputs in accordance with the spirit of AASB 13.  In summary, the valuer has not applied a 
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percentage adjustment but rather made judgement decisions.
In the case of the Department’s land, which are specialised assets, the valuer has considered the 
current use of the land and also work on the basis the current use is in fact the highest and best use 
given there is no other feasible alternate use.
Where there are natural, legal, financial or socio-political restrictions on use and disposal of land such 
that there is no feasible alternative use in the relatively near future, such land should be valued at fair 
(market) value for its existing use.

Plant and Equipment
These assets are classified as non-specialised assets.  For non-specialised assets with short 
useful lives, recognition at depreciated historical costs as an acceptable surrogate for fair value is 
allowed.  Historical cost is an appropriate surrogate because any difference between fair value and 
depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material.

(iii) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements

2015 Buildings
Finance 
Leases Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000
Fair value as at 1 July 2014 2,892,329 166,088 3,058,417
Additions 123,692  - 123,692

Revaluation increments/decrements recognised in Net result - 
included in the line item ‘Other gains/ (losses)’ 167,808 24,625 192,433

Revaluation increments/ decrements recognised in other 
comprehensive income - included in line item Net increase/(decrease) 
in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 14,983  - 14,983
Transfers from Level 2 4,130  - 4,130
Transfers to Level 2 (1,492)  - (1,492)
Disposals (804)  - (804)
Depreciation (111,790) (6,140) (117,930)
Fair value as at 30 June 2015 3,088,856 184,573 3,273,429

Transfers to/from Level 2 relate to work in progress that has been re-categorised upon completion of the projects.

2014 Buildings
Finance 
Leases Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000
Fair value as at 1 July 2013 2,817,665 165,204 2,982,869
Additions 99,076  - 99,076

Revaluation increments/decrements recognised in Net result - 
included in the line item ‘Other gains/ (losses)’ 45,005 1,841 46,846

Revaluation increments/ decrements recognised in other 
comprehensive income - included in line item Net increase/(decrease) 
in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 31,239 4,948 36,187
Transfers from Level 2 (461)  - (461)
Transfers to Level 2 -  - -
Disposals (1,703)  - (1,703)
Depreciation (98,492) (5,905) (104,397)
Fair value as at 30 June 2014 2,892,329 166,088 3,058,417

Transfers to/from Level 2 relate to work in progress that has been re-categorised upon completion of the projects.

14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (cont’d)
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15. PAYABLES

  30 June
Restated
30 June

Restated
1 July

 2015 2014 2013

 $’000 $’000 $’000

Payables    

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 45,083 39,699 36,264

Creditors 58,269 49,730 41,279

Accruals 42,170 58,469 24,844

 145,522 147,898 102,387

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, are disclosed in 
Note 24.

Payables include accruals for claims relating to the Victims Support Fund totalling $8.6 million (2014: $33.2 million) (refer Note 27).

16. BORROWINGS

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Current borrowings   

Secured/unsecured   

Borrowings 1,133 800

Finance leases (see Note 20(d)) 4,382 4,059

Other - -

 5,515 4,859

Non-current borrowings   

Borrowings 912 1,000

Finance leases (see Note 20(d)) 76,751 81,135

Other - -

 77,663 82,135
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Finance Lease 
The Department has entered into two finance leases. At reporting date the value of the lease liability is:

    

Gross value of lease 189,643 196,724

Less: future finance charges (108,510) (111,531)

Lease liability 81,133 85,193

Repayment of finance leases   

Not later than one year 4,382 4,059

Between one and five years 21,384 19,815

Later than five years 55,367 61,319

Total - finance leases 81,133 85,193

Gross commitments   

Not later than one year 15,134 14,982

Between one and five years 60,538 60,055

Later than five years 113,971 121,687

Less: Future finance charge (108,510) (111,531)

Present value of minimum lease payments 81,133 85,193

The finance leases relate to the John Maddison Tower and the Long Bay Forensic and Prison Hospitals. The lease liability is the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.

Repayment of Treasury Advances 30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

TCorp borrowings $’000 $’000

Repayment of TCorp borrowings   

Not later than one year 1,133 800

Between one and five years 588 1,000

Later than five years 324  -

Total - TCorp borrowings 2,045 1,800

The loan relating to Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages was received from T-Corp to fund the Lifelink software project. The 
loan is at a fixed rate of 6% with a maturity date of 30 June 2016.

16. BORROWINGS (cont’d)
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17. PROVISIONS 

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Employee benefits and related on-costs   

Recreation leave 112,942 111,043

Sundays and public holidays 3,460 3,029

Payroll tax 15,088 12,959

Fringe benefits tax 484 420

Annual leave loading 10,141 10,900

Long service leave 52,097 45,957

Other employee benefits and related on-costs 21 11

Total current employee benefits and related on-costs 194,233 184,319

Current   

Other provisions   

Restoration provision 6,816 5,008

Victims Support Fund - pending victims’ comp claims 34,600 76,100

Total other provisions 41,416 81,108

Total current provisions 235,649 265,427

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Non-current   

Employee benefits and related on-costs   

Long service leave 2,225 1,795

Superannuation* 95,366 83,617

Total non-current employee benefits and related on-costs 97,591 85,412

* Reconciliation to Note 30 – Defined Benefit Superannuation Position
Non-current Superannuation Provision  95.366m
Less:  Prepayment of employee entitlements    3.794m
Net Superannuation Position   91.572m
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Non-current   

Other provisions   

Restoration provisions 7,077 6,273

Victims Support Fund - pending victims’ support claims 26,900 46,900

Total non-current other provisions 33,977 53,173

Total non-current provisions 131,568 138,585
   

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs   

Provisions - current 194,233 184,319

Provisions - non-current 97,591 85,412

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 15) 45,083 39,699

 336,907 309,430

Movements in provisions (other than employee benefits)   

 Restoration
Pending victims’ 

support claims Total

2015 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year 11,281 123,000 134,281

Additional provisions recognised 2,311 12,400 14,711

Amounts transferred in/(out) as a result of administrative restructure  -  - -

Amounts used (476) (60,379) (60,855)

Unused amounts reversed - (13,521) (13,521)

Unwinding/change in the discount rate 777  - 777

Net carrying amount at end of the year 13,893 61,500 75,393

Restoration provision
Restoration provisions represent estimated restoration costs that the Department is obliged to incur to 
restore premises to an acceptable condition as agreed with the owners of the premises, upon expiry of 
operating lease arrangements. 

Unpaid pending claims 
The provision for pending victims’ compensation claims is an actuarial assessment of the value of 
outstanding victims’ compensation claims as at 30 June 2015.

With regard to pending victims’ support claims, the recommended liabilities are accounted for by way of a 
provision and comply with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

17. PROVISIONS (cont’d)
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The recommended provision: 

1) Is only in respect of lodged but unresolved claims, hence no provision has been made for any acts 
of violence that may have already occurred but have not yet been lodged.

2) Contains an allowance for the time value of money, and in particular, we have discounted claims 
costs back to the valuation date using risk free discount rates.

3) Only includes claims costs, such as staff costs, that may be incurred as a result of processing 
these claims.

4) Is a central estimate and does not include any additional risk margin related to the uncertainty of 
estimates.

The actuarial Professional Standard 300 “Valuation of General insurance Claims” (PS 300) applies to 
actuaries undertaking a valuation of General Insurance Claims for an entity. While the claims being 
valued are not General Insurance Claims as defined under PS 300, there are some similarities in the 
characteristics of this valuation when compared to PS 300 valuations. Thus PS 300 has been used as a 
proxy for determining provisions in this valuation. 

18. OTHER LIABILITIES

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Current   

Liabilities to Consolidated Fund - 2,934

 - 2,934

19. INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS FROM EQUITY TRANSFERS 

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

Assets   

Land and buildings (1,919) -

 (1,919) -

The Norma Parker Correctional Centre was closed and transferred from the Department to Government Property NSW in 
November 2014.

Assets
Net assets transferred out for Crown Solicitors Office - (17,408)

Net assets transferred in for NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal - 778

Decrease in Net Assets from Administrative Restructure - (16,630)

As part of an Administrative Restructure, the functions of the Crown Solicitor’s Office were transferred out of the Department on 24 
February 2014 and elements of the NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal were transferred into the Department on 1 January 2014.

17. PROVISIONS (cont’d)
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20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

(a)    Capital commitments   

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted for 
at reporting date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 67,840 107,516

Later than one year and not later than five years  -  -

Total including GST 67,840 107,516
   

(b)    Other Expenditure Commitments   

Aggregate other expenditure, including maintenance contracts  
and correctional centre management fees contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 135,357 117,228

Later than one year and not later than five years 216,748 260,175

Later than five years  -  -

Total (including GST) 352,105 377,403
   

(c)    Operating Lease Commitments   

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for and payable

Not later than one year 43,556 46,072

Later than one year and not later than five years 78,550 92,056

Later than five years 84,396 67,084

Total (including GST) 206,502 205,212

These operating lease commitments mainly relate to leases currently held in relation to the occupancy of office premises by the 
Department in metropolitan and regional areas. At 30 June 2015, there are a number of leases where occupancy of the premises is 
on a month to month basis. These leases are not included in the above amounts, as no commitment exists as at 30 June 2015. 

The total “Capital Commitments”, “Other Expenditure Commitments”, “Operating Lease Commitments”, leases on a month to 
month basis and cancellable operating leases (motor vehicles) above include input tax credits of $53.8 million (2014: $62.5 million) 
that are expected to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. 
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  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000

(d)    Finance Lease Commitments   

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases payable as follows:

Not later than one year 15,134 14,982

Later than one year and not later than five years 60,538 60,055

Later than five years 113,971 121,687

Minimum lease payments 189,643 196,724

Less: future finance charges (108,510) (111,531)

Present value of minimum lease payments 81,133 85,193
   

The present value of finance lease commitments is as follows:   
   

Not later than one year 4,382 4,059

Later than one year and not later than five years 21,384 19,815

Later than five years 55,367 61,319

 81,133 85,193

Classified as:   

Current (Note 16) 4,382 4,059

Non-current (Note 16) 76,751 81,134

 81,133 85,193

In 2006/07, the former Department of Corrective Services engaged a private sector company, PPP Solutions (Long Bay) Pty 
Limited, to finance, design, construct and maintain the Long Bay Forensic and Prison Hospitals at Long Bay under a Project Deed. 
The development is a joint project between the NSW Department of Health and the former Department of Correctives Services. 
In addition to the hospital facilities, the project includes a new operations building and a new pharmacy building for Justice 
Health, and a new gatehouse for the former Department of Corrective Services. The new gatehouse component was completed 
on 18 June 2008 and the Prison Hospital on 14 July 2008. Upon commissioning, the former Department of Corrective Services 
recognised the new prison hospital as an asset of $61.4 million. The basis for the accounting treatment is that custodial services 
will be delivered by the Department for the duration of the term until May 2034. In addition, the Department will recognise a 
finance lease liability for the duration of the term until May 2034. 

The Department also entered into a finance lease arrangement to lease the John Maddison Tower from a private sector company 
to house the District Court. The lease commenced on 1 July 1995, with a non-cancellable lease of 25 years and provision for an 
option of a further 15 years. The building is constructed on land owned by the Department.

20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE (cont’d)

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015



Financial statements 2014-15

152

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent liabilities

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Suitor’s Fund 80 212

Current Litigation 3,775 -

Victims Support Scheme - Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Claims 340,000 -

Victims Support Scheme - Reassessment of Transitional Claims 124,400 -

 468,255 212

Suitors’ Fund 
There are 16 claims (2014:  22 claims) pending on the Suitors’ Fund as at 30 June 2015. 

Current litigation
There are various matters involving the Crown Solicitor and other General Counsel, which do not have a 
current year financial impact (2014– nil). Claims made against the Department in respect of compensation 
and litigation from normal operations is fully covered by the NSW Treasury Managed Fund. 

Victims Support Scheme – Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Claims
The Victims Support Scheme (the VSS) was created on 3 June 2013 through legislation known as the 
Victims Rights and Support Act 2013.  This act replaced the Victims Compensation Scheme (the VCS), 
legislated through the Victims Support and Rehabilitation Act 1996, and was closed to new applications 
for support on 7 May 2013.  The VSS provides victims of violent crime, upon application after 7 May 2013 
and within an eligibility period of 2 to 10 years from the date of the occurrence of a violent act of crime, 
support in the form counselling services, financial assistance and recognition payments.  Violent acts 
can include assault, sexual assault, child sexual assault, domestic violence, robbery, homicide and other 
eligible violent acts.

The Department has obtained actuarial advice from an independent Actuary to determine a liability 
provision as at 30 June 2015 in respect to Lodged But Unresolved Claims (refer to Note 17).  However, 
reliable estimates, which could be included in the liability provision, of the amount attributable for Incurred 
but Not Reported (IBNR) claims are unable to be made by the Actuary. The reasons noted by the Actuary 
are:

• The VSS is relatively immature, having been in operation for approximately 2 years. There is limited 
evidential experience under the VSS, with claim characteristics continuing to change and evolve as 
participants become more accustomed to the features of the VSS. Additionally, the benefit structures 
of the VSS are very different to the VCS, thus making evidential experience under the VCS not relevant 
when selecting IBNR assumptions to apply to the VSS.

• Future payments in respect to child sexual assault claims have accounted for the majority of the range 
of IBNR liabilities. The reporting of child sexual assault claims has increased in recent years, due to  
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a shift in societal attitudes and increased awareness from the Royal Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. This has exacerbated the uncertainties surrounding the estimates of 
IBNR liabilities for this category of crime.

• The number of domestic violence claims has changed significantly over the last couple of years, mainly 
driven by an increased media focus on family violence which may increase awareness and usage of 
assistance from the VSS, and also other initiatives aimed at helping domestic violence victims gain 
direct access to the Victims Services section of the Department.

• The plausible scenarios determined by the Actuary do not represent an upper or lower limit as to 
what the potential IBNR liability could be.  Rather, each represents the Actuary’s view of a particular 
plausible scenario depending on the valuation parameters used, and it is possible for combinations of 
scenarios to occur that would increase the range of outcomes.

• Probabilities attributable to each plausible scenario to determine a weighted average are unable to be 
determined due to the subjective nature of the valuation parameters and limited empirical evidence 
available to support actuarial assumptions.

Given the range of key uncertainties described above, the amount attributable to Incurred but Not 
Reported (IBNR) liabilities under the VSS could reasonably lie within the range of $140 million to $340 
million.  As the VSS matures, the Department’s Actuary will be able to determine a more reliable estimate 
to be used in future liability provisioning.

Victims Support Scheme – Reassessment of Transitional Claims
Refer to Note 29 – Events After the Reporting Period.

Other Matters
i. There is a potential liability on compliance issues regarding the placement of forensic patients in 

the correctional facilities. Following a court decision in the case of the State of NSW v TD 2013 
NSWCA32, the State and Corrective Services NSW are exposed to liability in relation to further 
claims for damages arising from non-compliance with the lawful orders of a Court or the Mental 
Health Review Tribunal. At this point the amount of the contingent liability for damage claims is being 
assessed by the State-wide Administrative Sentences and Orders Branch. The matter is subject to 
further appeal.  

ii. The liability for the development of the Long Bay Hospital is based on a financing arrangement 
involving floating interest rate bank debt. An interest rate adjustment will be made in accordance with 
interest rate movements over the project term. The estimate value of the contingent liability cannot be 
fully determined because of uncertain future events.

Contingent assets

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Guarantee undertaking 380 380

 380 380

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS (cont’d)
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Guarantee undertaking 
The Department has engaged Brookfield Multiplex Pty Limited to manage a facilities management 
contract. This contract is underpinned by a guarantee undertaking of $0.38 million with QBE Insurance 
(Australia) Limited, which expires at 4pm on 31 March 2017.

Bank guarantee
The Department holds a bank guarantee of $1.1milion relating to performance of work by Argus Global Pty 
Limited and its potential supply of biometric readers.

22. BUDGET REVIEW

Net result for the year 
The actual net result was less than budget by $65.6 million, primarily due to revenue being less than 
budget by $107.6 million and total expenditure excluding losses being less than budget by $44.4 million.

The unfavourable variance in total revenue of $107.6 million is mainly due to reduced recurrent and capital 
funding of $151.6 million and reduced sale of goods and services revenue of $68.4 million offset by 
personnel services revenue of $68.8 million. 

Employee related expenditure exceeded budget by $48.6 million mainly due to the use of casual staff 
and overtime to accommodate the increase in inmates in corrective facilities and additional unfavourable 
actuarial valuations on long service leave. 

Other expenses exceeded budget by $80.7 million, mainly due to higher computer licence fees, variations 
in outsourced correctional management fees as a result of increased inmate numbers.

Assets and liabilities 
Total assets were greater than budget by $242.5 million, which was mainly due to a revaluation of 
properties as at 30 June 2015.

Total liabilities were greater than budget by $78.7 million, mainly due to an increase in provisions of $35.3 
million and increase in payables of $55.2 million, offset by reduced liabilities in “other”.

Cash flows 
Cash flows from operating activities – Under the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government 
Sector Entities, the actual cash flows from operating activities are prepared inclusive of GST, whereas 
the budget is prepared in accordance with NSW Treasury guidelines and are exclusive of GST. As a 
consequence, budget variances are overstated by the GST amount.  Net cash flows from operating 
activities were lower than budget by $48.4 million.

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS (cont’d) 
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23. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO 
NET RESULT

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Net cash inflow from operating activities 238,971 171,713
   

Depreciation and amortisation (185,692) (180,447)

Net capital movements - 4,040

Decrease/(increase) in provisions 44,546 15,759

Increase/(decrease) in prepayments and other assets 10,701 37,674

Decrease/(increase) in creditors 6,969 (47,625)

Net gain/(loss) (1,384) (3,622)

Net result 114,111 (2,508)
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Department’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise 
directly from the Department’s operations or are required to finance the Department’s operations. The 
Department does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. 

The Department’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the 
Department’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative 
and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 

The Secretary has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Department, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. 
Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee on a continuous basis.

(i) Financial instrument categories

Financial Assets Note Category 30 June 30 June

   2015 2014

Class:   $’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents  9 N/A 95,067 84,884

Receivables 1  10 Loans and receivables (at amortised cost) 170,609 167,076

   265,676 251,960

Financial Liabilities  

   

Class:   

Payables 2  15 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 132,535 142,343

Borrowings  16 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 83,178 86,994

   215,713 229,337
 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, there were no defaults on any loans payable (2014:$ nil).

1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (that is, not within scope of AASB 7). 
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (that is, not within scope of AASB 7).

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s debtors defaulting on their 
contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Department. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any 
allowance for impairment). 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Department, including cash, receivables and 
authority deposits. No collateral is held by the Department. The Department has not granted any 
financial guarantees. 
Debtors are recognised for accounting purposes only when they comply with established asset 
recognition criteria, where debts can be reliably measured and provide a future economic benefit. 
This rationale applies to trade debtors and other debtors, including Victims Support Fund debtors 
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24.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(refer Note 10(b)), where debts are recognised on the basis of average receipts for the five years 
ended 30 June 2015. This represents the Department’s best estimate in accordance with accounting 
standards. For Victims Support Fund debtors, for example, although the total amounts receivable 
from restitution orders or confirmed by Victims Services is $258.2 million (2014: $250.7 million), only 
$22.7 million (2014: $21.7 million) are recognised (refer Note 10(b)).
The Department has raised the profile of its debt and revenue management activities in order to 
minimise credit risk. More comprehensive monthly debtor reporting has been introduced throughout 
the Department. Business centre managers must manage their debt to minimise impaired debt, with 
debtors over 90 days generally deemed to be subject to impairment testing. 
Cash 
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. Interest 
is earned on daily bank balances at the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation 11am unofficial 
cash rate, adjusted for a management fee to NSW Treasury. The NSW Treasury Corporation Hour 
Glass cash facility is discussed below. 
Receivables – trade debtors 
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date in accordance with the 
asset recognition criteria. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. The 
Debt Recovery Unit manages the procedures for collecting debt through approved debt collection 
agencies to collect debt that are deemed to be subject to impairment testing. Debts, which are 
known to be uncollectible, are written off, only after all avenues of debt collection have been 
exhausted. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will 
not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, current and expected 
changes in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. 
Sales are made on 30-day terms. 
The Department is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor 
or group of debtors. Based on past experience, debtors that are not past due (2015: $15.1 million; 
2014: $13.4 million) and less than six months past due (2015: $9.1 million; 2014: $11.6 million) are not 
considered impaired and together these represent 67 per cent (2014 – 70 per cent) of the total trade 
debtors. There are no debtors, which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been 
renegotiated.

  Total

Past due 
but not 

impaired
Considered 

impaired

 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015    

< 3 months overdue 24,236 24,015 221

3 months - 6 months overdue 4,400 3,593 807

> 6 months overdue 23,645 14,358 9,287
    

2014    

< 3 months overdue 6,424 5,416 1,008

3 months - 6 months overdue 3,911 2,164 1,747

> 6 months overdue 9,018 1,276 7,742
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24.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Department will be unable to meet its payment obligations when 
they fall due. As a budget dependent agency, the Department continuously manages risk through 
monitoring future cash flows, which coordinates the payment of creditors with cash inflows from the 
Crown Entity and cash receipts from debtors. 
NSW Treasury has included the Department’s bank accounts in the Treasury Performance Incentive 
Scheme, which charges interest penalties where large variations occur between actual cash balances 
and forecast balances.
The Department has raised the profile of its debt and revenue management activities in order to 
reduce liquidity risk. The Department is aware of its increased exposure to impaired debt and has 
established a more structured debt management facility, which liaises with approved debt collection 
agencies to maximise revenue through debt recovery and minimise impaired debt. The introduction of 
monthly debtor reporting has raised the profile of the debt management facility, with business centre 
managers having greater involvement in this process.
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services 
received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled 
in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small suppliers, where terms are not 
specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered 
invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end 
of the month following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. For small business 
suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period, simple interest must be paid 
automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the 
payment of simple interest is at the discretion of the Secretary. The rates of interest applied were 
10.69% per annum for the quarter ended 30 September 2014, 10.63% per annum for the quarter 
ended 31 December 2014, 10.75% for the quarter ended 31 March 2015 and 10.36% for the quarter 
ended 30 June 2015.
During the current year and prior year, there were no defaults of loans payable. No assets have been 
pledged as collateral. The Department’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on 
prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk. 
The Department, through the introduction of a more structured monthly accounting timetable, has 
also sought to gain better control over the accounts payable process by introducing better controls 
over the monthly accruals process. 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Department’s financial liabilities, together with 
the interest rate exposure.
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24.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 

Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate
Nominal 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Non-
interest 
bearing < 1 year 1 -5 years

> 5 
years

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2015         

Payables:         
Accrued salaries, wages 
and on-costs  - 42,595  -  - 42,595 42,595  -  -
Creditors  - 90,647  -  - 90,647 90,647  -  -
Borrowings:         

TCorp borrowings 3.0 2,045 2,045  -  - 1,133 588 324
Finance leases  6.88 18,785 18,785  -  - 3,268 15,517  -
Finance leases 10.44 144,847 144,847  -  - 7,668 30,673 106,506

  298,919 165,677 - 133,242 145,311 46,778 106,830
         

2014         

Payables:         

Accrued salaries, wages 
and on-costs - 37,725  -  - 37,725  -  -  -
Creditors - 104,618  -  - 104,618  -  -  -
Borrowings:         

TCorp borrowings 6.00 1,800 1,800  -  - 800 1,000  -
Finance leases 6.88 44,210 44,210  -  - 7,368 29,474 7,368
Finance leases 10.44 152,514 152,514  -  - 7,614 30,581 114,319
  340,867 198,524 - 142,343 15,782 61,055 121,687

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 
on which the Department can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows and therefore will not 
reconcile to the statement of financial position.

(iv) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The Department’s exposures to market risk are primarily 
through interest rate risk on the Department’s borrowings and other price risks associated with the 
movement in the unit price of the Hour Glass Investment facilities. The Department has no exposure 
to foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts. 
The effect on operating performance and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable 
is outlined in the information below, for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible 
change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment in 
which the Department operates and the time frame for the assessment (that is, until the end of the 
next annual reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the 
Statement of Financial Position date. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2014. The 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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24.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
(v) Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the Department’s interest bearing liabilities. 
This risk is minimised by having in place mainly fixed rate borrowings, primarily with NSW Treasury 
Corporation with regard to the loan to the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages and with a private 
sector company with regard to the finance lease. The Department does not account for any fixed rate 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. Therefore, for these 
financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably 
possible change of +/- 1 per cent is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis 
will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate 
volatility. The Department’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

    Impact of 1% Increase Impact of 1% decrease

 
Carrying 
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2015      
Financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 95,067  -  -  -  -
Receivables 170,609  -  -  -  -
Financial liabilities      

Payables 132,535  -  -  -  -
Borrowings 2,045 (20) (20) 20 20
Finance lease 81,133 (811) (811) 811 811
 481,389 (831) (831) 831 831
      

2014      

Financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 84,884 849 849 (849) (849)
Receivables 158,112  -  -  -  -
Financial liabilities      

Payables 142,343  -  -  -  -
Borrowings 1,800 (18) (18) 18 18
Finance lease 85,194 (852) (852) 852 852
 472,333 (21) (21) 21 21

Other price risk – TCorp Hour-Glass facilities

Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment 
facilities, which are held as cash for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Department has no direct 
equity investments.

Facility Investment Investment 2015 2014
 Sectors Horizon $’000 $’000

Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to 1.5 years 95,067 84,884
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24.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(i) Fair value compared to carrying amount
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost. Cash and cash equivalents include NSW 
Treasury Corporation investments which are assessed at fair value (refer Note 9). The amortised cost 
of financial instruments recognised in the Statement of Financial Position approximates the fair value, 
because of the short term nature of many of the financial instruments.

(ii) Fair value recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
 2015 2015 2015 2015

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets at fair value     

TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facility - 95,067 - 95,067

Total - 95,067 - 95,067

The table above only includes financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in 
the statement of financial position. 
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended 30 June 2015.

25. TRUST FUNDS
The Department holds monies in trust, which represent funds belonging to parties involved in court cases, 
or amounts held in trust for third parties, including inmates. These monies are excluded from the financial 
reports, as the Department cannot use them for the achievement of its objectives. Interest earned on funds 
held in trust accounts on behalf of inmates is brought to account in the financial statements and used 
for the benefit of inmates. Fees are held in public monies accounts on behalf of inmates. Interest earned 
is brought to account in the financial statements and used for the benefit of inmates. The following is a 
summary of the transactions in the trust accounts: 

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Cash balance at the beginning of the financial year 28,060 42,585

Add: Receipts 701,996 534,765

Less: Expenditure (680,962) (549,290)

Cash balance at the end of the financial year 49,094 28,060
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25.    TRUST FUNDS (cont’d)

For the Supreme Court, an amount of $81.7 million (2014:  $69.5 million) is held outside the Department’s 
Public Monies Account for Supreme Court matters and is invested with NSW Trustee and Guardian and 
an amount of US dollars 20.0 million (2014:  US dollars 20.0 million) is held at the Commonwealth Bank, in 
accordance with the Supreme Court rules and orders of the Court. These amounts are not included in the 
above figures. 

For the District Court, an amount of $31.6 million (2014:  $10.6 million) is held outside the Department’s 
Public Monies Account for District Court matters, being invested with NSW Trustee and Guardian, and 
represents suitors’ monies that the District Court has ordered the Registrar to invest on behalf of the 
parties concerned and for the sole benefit of those parties. This amount is not included in the above 
figures. 

For the Land and Environment Court, an amount of $0.08 million (2014:  $0.3 million) is held outside of the 
Department’s Public Monies Account.

Bail securities other than cash are held by the Supreme Court, District Courts and Local Courts. The Bail 
Act, 2013, does not define security, so many things are put forward by persons as security, for example,  
land title documents, jewellery, motor vehicles, bills of sale, bank guarantees. 

26. ADMINISTERED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

  30 June 30 June

 2015 2014

 $’000 $’000
   

Administered Assets   

Receivables - fines 13,123 11,517

Less:   

Allowance for impairment (2,357) (792)

Total administered assets and liabilities 10,766 10,725
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27. VICTIMS SUPPORT FUND

The Victims Compensation Fund (the Fund) was constituted by an amendment to the Victims 
Compensation Act 1987 (effective from 1 February 1990) for the purpose of compensating victims for 
injuries resulting from acts of violence, witnesses to such acts, close relatives of the deceased victims 
and to law enforcement victims. Under the Act, the control and management of the Fund rests with the 
corporation constituted with the corporate name of the “Victims Compensation Fund Corporation”, the 
affairs of which are managed by the Secretary, Department of Justice. The Victims Compensation Act 
1996, later known as the Victims Support and Rehabilitation Act 1996 commenced on 2 April 1997 and 
replicated the provisions in relation to the management of the Fund.

In 2011, the Attorney General commissioned an independent review of the financial sustainability of 
the compensation scheme. The independent review concluded that the compensation scheme was not 
financially viable and proposed a number of recommendations, including the introduction of the Victims 
Support Scheme.

The Victims’ Rights and Support Act 2013 commenced on 3 June 2013 and changed the name from 
the Victims Compensation Fund to the Victims Support Fund. The Act also abolished the Victims 
Compensation Fund Corporation. The affairs of the Victims Support Fund continue to be managed by the 
Secretary, Department of Justice. The Victims Support Scheme focuses on the immediate and ongoing 
support and treatment of victims, with minimal reliance upon lump sum payments. It is about providing 
support to victims of crime when they need it most and addressing support holistically.

Under the Victims Support Scheme, clients are able to claim for various types of practical and financial 
support for a period of up to 5 years. The Victims Support Scheme is focused on building a package of 
care which may include some or all of the following:

1. Information, referrals and support 

2. Counselling

3. Financial assistance for immediate needs up to $5,000

4. Financial assistance for economic loss up to $30,000

5. Recognition payment based on the nature of the offence.
 
All transactions relating to Victims Support, as reflected in these financial reports, flow through the Victims 
Support Fund. Total payment to victims of crime for the year ended 30 June 2015 was $60.4 million (2014: 
$77.5 million) (refer Note 2(f)), including an accrual of $8.6 million (2014: $33.2 million).

Collections payable to the fund include: 

• Restitution payments by offenders 

• Monies collected under the Confiscation of Proceeds of Crime Act, 1989 

• Monies required to be credited to the Fund under the Criminal Assets Recovery Act 1990 

• Victims’ support levies collected under section 106 of the Victims Rights and Support Act 2013 by the 
Supreme Court, Drug, Local and Children’s Courts, Land and Environment Court and the Industrial 
Relations Commission. 

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015



Financial statements 2014-15

164

28. CORRECTIONAL MEDICAL SERVICES

Justice Health is administered under the Health Services Act 1987 through the Department of Health. 

The cost of medical services provided to offenders for the year ended 30 June 2015 is estimated to be 
$113.8 million (2014: $108.2 million). This amount is not included in the Department’s operating result for 
the year.

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 
Administrative Arrangements Order (No 2) 2015
The Administrative Arrangements (Administrative Changes – Public Service Agencies) Order (No 2) 2015 
issued on 29 May 2015:

(a) Abolishes the Ministry of Police and Emergency Services and formally transfers the staff and functions 
to the Department of Justice from 1 July 2015;

(b) Transfers the staff and functions of the Ministry of Arts to the Department of Justice from 1 July 2015;

(c) Transfers the staff and functions of the Office of Liquor, Gaming and Racing, except for staff principally 
involved in the administration of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, to the Department of Justice from 
1 July 2015;

(d) Transfers the staff and functions of the Professional Standards Council to the Department of Finance, 
Services and Innovation from 1 July 2015.

Reassessment of Transition Claims under the Victims Rights and Support Act 2013
The Victims Support Scheme (the VSS) commenced on 3 June 2013 pursuant to the Victims Rights 
and Support Act 2013 (the Act).  The VSS replaced the Victims Compensation Scheme (the VCS), 
legislated through the Victims Support and Rehabilitation Act 1996, and was closed to new applications 
for compensation on 7 May 2013.  Claims that had been lodged but not finalised under the VCS were 
transferred to the VSS and determined under the transitional provisions of the Act.

During the 2015 NSW State Election, the Government made an election commitment that if re-elected, 
victims of crime whose compensation claims under the VCS were transferred to the VSS, would be 
eligible to have their claims reassessed under the provisions of the VCS.  A steering group, comprising 
representatives from the Department of Justice, NSW Treasury and Department of Premier and Cabinet, 
considered a range of implementation options to deliver on the Government’s election commitment and 
recommend a preferred option to enable the reassessment to Cabinet.

A Cabinet Submission was approved on 17 July 2015 recommending that all transitional claims, except 
for dismissed claims, be eligible for reassessment on an opt-in basis.  Regulations to bring into effect 
the reassessment by the Department of the transitional claims will commence on 01 September 2015.  
All transitional claimants will have 12 months from 01 September 2015 to apply for reassessment and 
transitional claimants will be individually notified of their eligibility for reassessment.  On 29 June 2015 the 
Expenditure Review Committee approved a funding allocation of $124.4 million over three years to meet 
the cost of the compensation payments to transitional claimants under the reassessment process.  A 
contingent liability of $124.4 million is disclosed (refer to Note 21) for the estimated amount payable for 
reassessed claims during 2015-16.
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Note 30              
 
Appendix 1

30 June 2015 superannuation position          
Basis – AASB 119             
    
 

SASS SANCS SSS TOTAL
30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15

Member Numbers
Contributors 77 116 39
Deferred benefits 0 0 12
Pensioners 2 0 157
Pensions fully commuted 0 0 35

Superannuation Position for AASB 119 
purposes

A$ A$ A$ A$

Accrued liability (Note 1) 27,905,953 6,775,288 190,974,068 225,655,309
Estimated reserve account balance (25,440,096) (5,686,525) (102,956,581) (134,083,202)
1. Deficit/(surplus) 2,465,857 1,088,763 88,017,487 91,572,107
2. Future Service Liability (Note 2) 4,578,767 2,453,105 3,547,555 10,579,427
3. Surplus in excess of recovery available 
from schemes (- 1. - 2. and subject to a 
minimum of zero)

0 0 0 0

4. Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in 
statement of financial position (1. + 3.) 2,465,857 1,088,763 88,017,487 91,572,107

 
Note 1:               
The accrued liability includes a contribution tax provision.  This is calculated based on grossing up the deficit/(surplus) less the 
allowance for past service expenses and insurable death and disability liabilities at a contribution tax rate of 15%.   
              

Note 2:              
The Future Service Liability (FSL) does not have to be recognised by an employer.  It is only used to determine if an asset ceiling 
limit should be imposed (AASB 119 para 64).  Under AASB 119, any prepaid superannuation asset recognised cannot exceed  
the present value of any economic benefits that may be available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan.  Where the “surplus in excess of recovery” is zero, no asset ceiling limit is imposed. (Note: this also 
includes a contribution tax provision).           
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

Appendix 2  
AASB 119 Disclosure Items 30 June 2015         
 
Nature of the benefits provided by the fund – Para 139(a)(i)      
The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector superannuation schemes: 
         

• State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS)        
         

• State Superannuation Scheme (SSS)          
       

• Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS)          
       

• State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS).    

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from 
a multiple of member salary and years of membership. Members receive lump sum or pension benefits on 
retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal.  
 
All the Schemes are closed to new members.         
             
Description of the regulatory framework - Para 139(a)(ii)      
The schemes in the Pooled Fund are established and governed by the following NSW legislation: 
Superannuation Act 1916, State Authorities Superannuation Act 1987, Police Regulation (Superannuation) 
Act 1906, State Authorities Non-Contributory Superannuation Act 1987, and their associated regulations. 
 
The schemes in the Pooled Fund are exempt public sector superannuation schemes under the 
Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). The SIS Legislation treats exempt 
public sector superannuation funds as complying funds for concessional taxation and superannuation 
guarantee purposes.  
 
Under a Heads of Government agreement, the New South Wales Government undertakes to ensure that 
the Pooled Fund  will conform with the principles of the Commonwealth’s retirement incomes policy 
relating to preservation, vesting and reporting to members and that members’ benefits are adequately 
protected. 

 
The New South Wales Government prudentially monitors and audits the Pooled Fund and the Trustee 
Board activities in a manner consistent with the prudential controls of the SIS legislation. These provisions 
are in addition to other legislative obligations on the Trustee Board and internal processes that monitor the 
Trustee Board’s adherence to the principles of the Commonwealth’s retirement incomes policy.  
 
An actuarial investigation of the Pooled Fund is performed every three years. The last actuarial 
investigation was performed as at 30 June 2012. The next actuarial investigation is due as at 30 June 2015 
and the report is expected to be released by the end of 2015.
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

 
Description of other entities’ responsibilities for the governance of the fund - Para 139(a)(iii) 
The Fund’s Trustee is responsible for the governance of the Fund. The Trustee has a legal obligation to act 
solely in the best interests of fund beneficiaries. The Trustee has the following roles:

• Administration of the fund and payment to the beneficiaries from fund assets when required in 
accordance  with the fund rules;         

• Management and investment of the fund assets; and       

• Compliance with other applicable regulations.          
        

               
Description of risks - Para 139(b)          
There are a number of risks to which the Fund exposes the Employer. The more significant risks relating to 
the defined benefits are:            

• Investment risk - The risk that investment returns will be lower than assumed and the Employer will 
need to increase contributions to offset this shortfall.        

• Longevity risk – The risk that pensioners live longer than assumed, increasing future pensions.

• Pension indexation risk – The risk that pensions will increase at a rate greater than assumed, increasing 
future pensions.  

• Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries (on which future benefit amounts for active 
members will be based) will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing defined benefit amounts and 
thereby requiring additional employer contributions.       

• Legislative risk - The risk is that legislative changes could be made which increase the cost of providing 
the defined benefits.            
     

The defined benefit fund assets are invested with independent fund managers and have a diversified asset 
mix. The Fund has no significant concentration of investment risk or liquidity risk.    
              

Description of significant events - Para 139(c)       
There were no fund amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year.
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Note 30 (cont’d)             
               
       

Reconciliation of the Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) - Para 140(a)     
              

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
 A$ A$ A$ A$
Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) 
at start of year

3,192,485 1,353,454 75,785,189 80,331,127

Current service cost 1,068,669 316,403 593,425 1,978,498
Net Interest on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset)

103,604 45,100 2,694,892 2,843,595

Past service cost 0 0 0 0
(Gains)/losses arising from settlements 0 0 0 0
Actual return on Fund assets less 
Interest income

(1,961,876) (417,992) (7,662,822) (10,042,690)

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
changes in demographic assumptions

(21,054) 279 167,876 147,101

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions

351,393 110,266 16,420,212 16,881,871

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
liability experience

313,470 (138,429) 614,749 789,791

Adjustment for effect of asset ceiling 0 0 0 0
Employer contributions (580,835) (180,317) (596,034) (1,357,186)
Effects of transfers in/out due to 
business combinations and disposals

0 0 0 0

Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) 
at end of year 2,465,857 1,088,763 88,017,487 91,572,107
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Fund Assets – Para 140(a)(i)      
    

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
 A$ A$ A$ A$

Fair value of Fund assets at 
beginning of the year 26,145,906 5,673,094 96,991,744 128,810,744

Interest income 890,590 193,212 3,367,802 4,451,603
Actual return on Fund assets less 
Interest income 1,961,876 417,992 7,662,822 10,042,690

Employer contributions 580,835 180,317 596,034 1,357,186
Contributions by participants 415,321 0 398,119 813,440
Benefits paid (4,495,010) (861,035) (6,493,795) (11,849,840)
Taxes, premiums & expenses paid (59,422) 82,944 433,856 457,378
Transfers in/out due to business 
combinations and disposals 0 0 0 0

Contributions to accumulation section 0 0 0 0
Settlements 0 0 0 0
Exchange rate changes 0 0 0 0
Fair value of Fund assets at end of 
the year 25,440,096 5,686,525 102,956,581 134,083,202
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

Reconciliation of the Defined Benefit Obligation – Para 140(a)(ii)      
           

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
 A$ A$ A$ A$

Present value of defined benefit 
obligations at beginning of the year 29,338,391 7,026,548 172,776,932 209,141,871

Current service cost 1,068,669 316,403 593,425 1,978,498
Interest cost 994,193 238,312 6,062,694 7,295,199
Contributions by participants 415,321 0 398,119 813,440
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
changes in demographic assumptions (21,054) 279 167,876 147,101

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions 351,393 110,266 16,420,212 16,881,871

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
liability experience 313,470 (138,429) 614,749 789,791

Benefits paid (4,495,010) (861,035) (6,493,795) (11,849,840)
Taxes, premiums & expenses paid (59,422) 82,944 433,856 457,378
Transfers in/out due to business 
combinations and disposals 0 0 0 0

Contributions to accumulation section 0 0 0 0
Past service cost 0 0 0 0
Settlements 0 0 0 0
Exchange rate changes 0 0 0 0
Present value of defined benefit 
obligations at end of the year 27,905,953 6,775,288 190,974,068 225,655,309
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

 
Reconciliation of the effect of the Asset Ceiling - Para 140(a)(iii)      
              

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
Financial Year to  

30 June 2015
 A$ A$ A$ A$

Adjustment for effect of asset 
ceiling at beginning of the year

0 0 0 0

Change in the effect of asset ceiling 0 0 0 0
Adjustment for effect of asset 
ceiling at end of the year 0 0 0 0
             
The adjustment for the effect of asset ceiling has been determined based on the maximum economic benefit available to the entity 
in the form of reductions in future employer contributions.         
           

Fair value of Fund assets - Para 142          
       
All Pooled Fund assets are invested by SAS Trustee Corporation (STC) at arm’s length through 
independent fund managers, assets are not separately invested for each entity and it is not possible or 
appropriate to disaggregate and attribute fund assets to individual entities.  As such, the disclosures below 
relate to total assets of the Pooled Fund.          
 

As at 30 June 2015             
    
Asset category Total (A$’000) Quoted prices in 

active markets for 
identical assets 
Level 1 (A$’000)

Significant 
observable inputs 

Level 2 (A$’000)

Unobservable 
inputs 

Level 3 (A$’000)

Short Term Securities  2,641,516  95,603  2,545,913  - 
Australian Fixed Interest  2,656,598  958  2,638,759  16,881 
International Fixed Interest  1,003,849 (110)  1,003,959  - 
Australian Equities  10,406,940  9,898,541  503,999  4,400 
International Equities  13,111,481  9,963,287  2,585,150  563,044 
Property  3,452,609  948,421  718,406  1,785,782 
Alternatives  7,170,187  622,102  3,020,225  3,527,860 
Total^  40,443,180  21,528,802  13,016,411  5,897,967 
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

The percentage invested in each asset class at the reporting date is:     
 
As at 30-Jun-15
Short Term Securities 6.5%
Australian Fixed Interest 6.6%
International Fixed Interest 2.5%
Australian Equities 25.7%
International Equities 32.4%
Property 8.6%
Alternatives 17.7%
Total 100.0%
             

^Additional to the assets disclosed above, at 30 June 2015 the Pooled Fund has provisions for receivables/(payables) estimated 
to be around $1.74 billion.  This gives total estimated assets of $42.2 billion.      

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  The assets in this level are listed shares; listed unit 
trusts.              

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.  The assets in this level 
are cash; notes; government, semi-government and corporate bonds; unlisted trusts where quoted prices are available in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.          

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. The assets in this level are unlisted property; 
unlisted shares; unlisted infrastructure; distressed debt; hedge funds.        
           

Derivatives, including futures and options, can be used by investment managers.  However, each 
manager’s investment mandate clearly states that derivatives may only be used to facilitate efficient 
cashflow management or to hedge the portfolio against market movements and cannot be used for 
speculative purposes or gearing of the investment portfolio.  As such managers make limited use of 
derivatives.              
     

Fair value of entity’s own financial instruments - Para 143       
   
The disclosures below relate to total assets of the Pooled Fund.  
 
The fair value of the Pooled Fund assets as at 30 June 2015 include $209.2 million in NSW government 
bonds.              

Of the direct properties owned by the Pooled Fund:       
 

• GPNSW occupies part of a property owned by the Pooled Fund with a fair value of $159 million (30 
June 2014: $153 million).  

• NSW Ambulance occupies part of a property 50% owned by the Pooled Fund with a fair value of $204 
million (30 June 2014: $205 million). 
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Note 30 (cont’d)             
            
Significant Actuarial Assumptions at the Reporting Date - Para 144    
 
As at 30-Jun-15
Discount rate 3.03% pa
Salary increase rate 
(excluding promotional increases)

2.50% 2015/2016 to 2018/2019; 3.50% 2019/2020; 3.00% pa 
2021/2022 to 2024/2025; 3.50% pa thereafter

Rate of CPI increase 2.50% 2015/2016; 2.75% 2016/2017 & 2017/2018; 2.50% pa thereafter
Pensioner mortality The pensioner mortality assumptions are as per the 2012 Actuarial 

Investigation of the Pooled Fund. These assumptions are disclosed in 
the actuarial investigation report available from the trustee’s website. The 
report shows the pension mortality rates for each age.

            

Sensitivity Analysis - Para 145        
The entity’s total defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2015 under several scenarios is presented 
below. The total defined benefit obligation disclosed is inclusive of the contribution tax provision which is 
calculated based on the asset level at 30 June 2015.     
Scenarios A to F relate to sensitivity of the total defined benefit obligation to economic assumptions, and 
scenarios G and H relate to sensitivity to demographic assumptions.      
              

Base Case Scenario A Scenario B
-1.0%  
discount rate

+1.0%  
discount rate

Discount rate 3.03% 2.03% 4.03%
Rate of CPI increase as above as above as above
Salary inflation rate as above as above as above
Defined benefit obligation (A$) 225,655,309 261,569,771 196,848,414

Base Case Scenario C Scenario D
+0.5% rate of CPI 
increase

-0.5% rate of CPI 
increase

Discount rate as above as above as above
Rate of CPI increase as above above rates plus 0.5% pa above rates less 0.5% pa
Salary inflation rate as above as above as above
Defined benefit obligation (A$) 225,655,309 240,745,884 211,965,779
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

Base Case Scenario E Scenario F
+0.5% salary increase 
rate

-0.5% salary increase 
rate

Discount rate as above as above as above
Rate of CPI increase as above as above as above
Salary inflation rate as above above rates plus 0.5% pa above rates less 0.5% pa
Defined benefit obligation (A$) 225,655,309 227,477,450 223,905,718

Base Case Scenario G Scenario H
+5% pensioner mortality 
rates

-5% pensioner mortality 
rates

Defined benefit obligation (A$) 225,655,309 223,186,034 228,275,278
              
The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst retaining all other 
assumptions.               
               
  

Asset-Liability matching strategies - Para 146       
The Trustee monitors its asset-liability risk continuously in setting its investment strategy.  It also monitors 
cashflows to manage liquidity requirements. No explicit asset-liability matching strategy is used by the 
Trustee.             
 

Funding arrangements - Para 147(a)        
Funding arrangements are reviewed at least every three years following the release of the triennial actuarial 
review and was last reviewed following completion of the triennial review as at 30 June 2012. Contribution 
rates are set after discussions between the employer, STC and NSW Treasury.    

The next triennial review as at 30 June 2015, the report is expected to be released by the end of 2015.

Funding positions are reviewed annually and funding arrangements may be adjusted as required after each 
annual review.              
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

 
Surplus/deficit
The following is a summary of the 30 June 2015 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance 
with AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:       
  

SASS SANCS SSS Total
30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-15

A$ A$ A$ A$
Accrued benefits* 23,897,736 5,221,006 96,605,638 125,724,380
Net market value of Fund assets (25,440,096) (5,686,525) (102,956,581) (134,083,202)
Net (surplus)/deficit (1,542,360) (465,519) (6,350,943) (8,358,822)
         

*There is no allowance for a contribution tax provision within the Accrued Benefits figure for AAS 25.  Allowance for contributions 
tax is made when setting the contribution rates.          
       

Contribution recommendations           
Recommended contribution rates for the entity are:        
 

SASS SANCS SSS
multiple of member 
contributions

% member salary multiple of member 
contributions

N/A N/A N/A

Economic assumptions
The economic assumptions adopted for the 30 June 2012 actuarial investigation of the Pooled Fund are: 
              
Weighted-Average Assumptions
Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing current 
pension liabilities 8.3% pa
Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing other 
liabilities 7.3% pa
Expected salary increase rate  
(excluding promotional salary increases)

SASS, SANCS, SSS 2.7% pa (PSS 3.5% pa) to 30 June 
2018, then 4.0% pa thereafter

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.5% pa
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 Note 30 (cont’d)    

 
Expected contributions - Para 147(b)          
       
 

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  
30 June 2016

Financial Year to  
30 June 2016

Financial Year to  
30 June 2016

Financial Year to  
30 June 2016

A$ A$ A$ A$
Expected employer 
contributions

540,349 180,460 500,573 1,221,381

            

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation - Para 147(c) 

              

Appendix 3             
Additional Information 30 June 2015          
          

Profit or Loss Impact            
          

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

 A$ A$ A$ A$
Current service cost 1,068,669 316,403 593,425 1,978,498
Net interest 103,604 45,100 2,694,892 2,843,595
Past service cost 0 0 0 0
(Gains)/Loss on settlement 0 0 0 0
Profit or loss component of the 
Defined Benefit Cost 1,172,273 361,503 3,288,317 4,822,093
               

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Note 30 (cont’d) 

Other Comprehensive Income           
          

SASS SANCS SSS Total
Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

Financial Year to  
30 June 2015

 A$ A$ A$ A$
Actuarial (gains) losses on 
liabilities

643,810 (27,884) 17,202,838 17,818,763

Actual return on Fund assets less 
Interest income

(1,961,876) (417,992) (7,662,822) (10,042,690)

Effects of transfers in/out due 
to business combinations and 
disposals

0 0 0 0

Adjustment for effect of asset 
ceiling

0 0 0 0

Total remeasurement in Other 
Comprehensive Income (1,318,066) (445,876) 9,540,015 7,776,073
               
           
End of audited financial statements           
      
               
  
               
  
               

Department of Justice 
Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Appendix 1 
Accounts payment performance

Year ended 30 June 2015

Aged analysis at the end of 
each quarter

Current (i.e. 
within due 
date)
$’000

Less than
30 days
overdue
$’000

Between
30 and 60 
days
overdue
$’000

Between
60 and 90 
days
overdue
$’000

More than
90 days
overdue
$’000

All suppliers
September 9,817 2,267 394 71 58
December 4,520 2,355 62 2 -2
March 9,528 907 49 15 194
June 14,443 842 479 279 88
Small business suppliers
September 398 131 3 0 10
December 491 285 4 4 2
March 665 35 5 6 4
June 1,436 100 13 5 41

Accounts due or paid within each quarter
Measure September December March June

All suppliers

No. of accounts due for payment 75,879 73,104 66,163 79,609

No. of accounts paid on time 72,275 68,464 59,907 76,077

Actual % of accounts paid on time (based on no. of 
Accounts) 95 94 91 96

Dollar amount of accounts due for payment ($’000) 278,905 214,009 218,732 304,144

Dollar amount of accounts paid on time ($’000) 262,873 192,403 194,168 286,872

Actual % of accounts paid on time (based on $) 94 90 89 94

No. of payments for interest on overdue accounts 3 1 3 1

Interest paid on overdue accounts 142.00 36.57 98.18 1,913.76

Small business suppliers
No. of accounts due for payment 6,573 4,931 4,365 5,587

No. of accounts paid on time 5,599 4,709 4,056 5,324
Actual % of accounts paid on time (based on no. of 
Accounts) 85 95 93 95
Dollar amount of accounts due for payment ($’000) 6,528 7,836 6,746 14,521
Dollar amount of accounts paid on time ($’000) 5,799 7,564 6,269 13,785
Actual % of accounts paid on time (based on $) 89 97 93 95
No. of payments for interest on overdue accounts 3 1 3 1
Interest paid on overdue accounts 142.00 36.57 98.18 1,913.76
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Payment of mandatory interest to small business

The Department has paid interest during the year to declared small business suppliers as advised above.  
The main reasons for payment delay are the misplacement of invoices and/or invoices lost in the post.

Department initiatives to improve payment performance

The Department has established the following initiatives to improve the timely payment of supplier 
invoices including:

 ^ consolidation of accounts payable processes with the establishment of a bulk-invoice upload 
function across the main divisions of the Department which reduces the risk of manual entry error

 ^ establishment of a Purchasing Card Program to ensure the prompt payment of small value 
invoices, in line with Treasury Circular TC 11/15. The purchasing card solution was implemented 
from June 2014 to all business centres in 2014-15

 ^ establishment of a supplier e-form to facilitate prompt onboarding of new suppliers and reduce 
the risk of losing paperwork

 ^ establishment of a spend cube and other performance indicators to analyse purchasing and 
payment patterns across the whole Department and target areas responsible for late approvals

 ^ monthly review of late payments with the relevant business centre managers
 ^ consolidation of major statewide accounts (such as utilities and telecommunications).

Appendix 1



p

181

Appendix 2 
Consultants

Consultant expenditure over $50,000 
 

Company name Amount Description Nature of 
services

Department of Finance & 
Services $51,970

Asset Management Services - Security 
without prejudice in the wireless 
courtroom

Management 
services

SAP Australia Pty Ltd $53,016 Corporate Services Management Office 
- SAP ARIBA procurement ICT Services

PriceWaterhouseCoopers $66,377
Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages 
- Review birth notices and secure paper 
destruction

Management 
services

The Corporate Executive 
Board Co. $70,500

Human Resources - Consultancy 
services for human resource 
management

Management 
services

PriceWaterhouseCoopers $72,271 Corporate Services Management Office 
- ERP TCO model development

Management 
services

BDO East Coast 
Partnership $75,040 Crime Prevention - Compliance audit of 

Work and Development Order scheme
Management 
services

Derwent Contracting 
Pty Ltd $94,952 Corrective Services Industries - Legal 

documentation formulation
Management 
services

KPMG $105,146 Life On Track - Process evaluation Management 
services

Asset Technologies Pacific $119,300
Corrective Services Industries - 
Procurement activities and tender 
preparation 

Management 
services

CEB SHL Talent 
Measurement $123,112 Corrective Services - Psychometric 

assessments for recruitment
Management 
services

PricewaterhouseCoopers $130,090
Corrective Services - Audit work within 
the Governance and Continuous 
Improvement business area

Management 
services

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu $134,900 Corporate Services Management Office 
- Consolidation of chart of accounts

Management 
services

KPMG $135,538
Crime Prevention - MERIT service 
delivery review

Management 
services

Contestability Strategy 
Project Group Roden Cutler 
House Administration

$190,890
Corrective Services - Development 
groups for national offender 
management

Management 
services

KPMG $473,459
Corrective Services - Public/private 
prison benchmark review and 
contestability strategy 

Management 
services

Ernst & Young $678,597 Crime Prevention - NSW Strategy to 
reduce reoffending

Management 
services

Total expenditure for 
consultants over $50,000 $2,575,158    
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Consultant expenditure under $50,000

Consultancy category Amount Number
Information and Communication Technology Services $125,791 6

Management Services $855,413 63

Training $32,206 5

Total expenditure for consultants under $50,000 $1,013,411

Total expenditure for consultants $3,588,569  

Appendix 2
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Appendix 3 
Consumer response

Reviewing feedback and complaints is an important part of improving Department services, policies and 
client relations. 

The Department’s complaints handling policy, Managing Complaints and Other Feedback, aims to ensure 
complaints are dealt with fairly and efficiently.

Further information can be found on the Feedback and Complaints page on the Department of Justice 
website.
Type of complaints received by business units in the former Attorney General’s Division

Service Policy/ 
Procedure

Cost Other Total

Alternative Dispute Resolution Directorate 
and Community Justice Centres 36 2 0 1 39

Anti-Discrimination Board 5 9 0 0 14

Community Relations Unit 1 0 7 0 8

Court Services 
(Local and District Court) 61 45 18 24 148

Finance 2 0 0 1 3

Information Technology Services 
(incorporating Switchboard) 1 1 0 0 2

Land and Environment Court of NSW 0 0 0 8 8

Law Access NSW 42 2 0 40 42

Legal Profession Admission Board 0 0 0 21 211

NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal 266 155 2 1 424

NSW State Coroner’s Office 9 3 1 10 23

Office of the Legal Services Commissioner 3 0 0 2 5

Office of the Sheriff 27 33 0 2 62

Public Guardian 24 30 0 14 68

Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages 6,205 96 24 22 6,3472

Reporting Services Branch 0 0 0 5 5

Supreme Court 18 8 0 19 45

Victims Services 17 27 105 6 155
 
1 These complaints relate to the content of the March 2015 examination in the subject of Legal Ethics in the Board’s Diploma of 
Law course. The content is set by an independent examiner. 
2 Increase in complaints in the reporting year coincided with the launch of LifeLink in June 2014 which caused delays to services 
provided by the Registry. These delays have been rectified.
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Appendix 3

Improvements as a result of client feedback and complaints 

In response to feedback from clients, the following business centres implemented a number of changes 
and improvements to their operations and/or practices during 2014–15 in an effort to better meet client 
needs.

Alternative Dispute Resolution Directorate and Community Justice Centres 
 ^ Frontline customer service staff were amalgamated into a single team and given training in 

managing difficult clients.  
 ^ A new position, Practice Manager, was created and filled. The position is responsible for 

supervising the performance of panel mediators.

Anti-Discrimination Board of NSW
 ^ Introduced a social media platform and expansion of consultative council framework to provide 

greater accessibility for clients, enabling enhancement of communication between the Board and 
members of the community.  

Court Services
 ^ Trained court staff on the correct procedure for filing forensic procedure applications by the NSW 

Police Force.

Finance 
 ^ Reviewed and standardised processes for Asset Management Services’ invoicing and contracts. 
 ^ Allocated staff to handle accounts payable enquiries.

Land and Environment Court
 ^ Introduced new practice notes for subpoena practices and urgent applications.

LawAccess NSW
 ^ Developing strategies to improve call wait times and general service efficiency. This includes 

telephone messages encouraging callers to use information-rich online service channels.

Legal Profession Admission Board
 ^ Developed strategies to improve services for admission applicants, including online applications 

and electronic payments, integrated data exchange for police checks and the ability for 
successful applicants to book the date and time of their admission ceremony online.  

NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
 ^ Reviewed and updated the strata adjudication form letter to improve usability. 
 ^ Reviewed and amended the tenancy application form to ensure the information is clear and 

concise.
NSW State Coroner’s Court

 ^ Improved timeframes for the issue of post mortem reports.
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Appendix 3

Public Guardian
 ^ Commenced development of training for staff on complaints management and a review of  

relevant policies and procedures.

Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages
 ^ Greater access to services with the expansion of services at Service NSW Offices.
 ^ Review of IT and business processes have been undertaken, changes implemented resulting in 

an improvement of services to customers.

Supreme Court
 ^ Initiated a procedure that provides parties with an electronic copy of material that has been 

produced under subpoena. This greatly reduces the need for parties or their legal representatives 
to attend the court, saving them time and the cost of inspecting the documents. 

 ^ Online Registry is now available for Supreme Court clients. This enables documents to reach the 
Court anytime, which greatly benefits regional and suburban practitioners and self-represented 
litigants. This change has reduced the number of complaints about loss of documents filed over 
the counter.  

 ^ Ongoing review of ways to manage the processing time of probate applications. 

Victims Services
 ^ Review of the Complaints Handling Guidelines for the Approved Counselling Service. Based 

on client feedback, the guidelines were validated by the external professional advisory panel in 
place for the scheme. 

Corrective Services complaint handling and response
Corrective Services encourages the resolution of complaints at a local level. Members of the public can 
direct their complaints to the relevant correctional centre, community corrections office, head office staff 
or management. 

Members of the public may lodge complaints via the Corrective Services section of the Department’s 
website. They may also write to the Commissioner of Corrective Services or the NSW Minister for 
Corrections.

Formal avenues through which inmates can make inquiries and/or raise complaints are set out in  
legislation and Corrective Services policies and procedures.                          

In 2014-15, a number of operational policies were reviewed and/or amended as a result of complaints 
received.  

Minister and Commissioner
In 2014-15, a total of 175 written complaints were received by the Minister and Commissioner. This is 18 
fewer than in 2013-14 (193).  

The highest number of complaints was about visits, unfair treatment, classification, property and 
placement. 
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Corrective Services Support Line 
In 2014-15, the Corrective Services Support Line (CSSL), answered 3,351 telephone calls from inmates in 
correctional centres. This was a decrease of 31 per cent on the number received in 2013-14 (4,836).  

Of the calls answered in 2014-15 1,595 (48 per cent), were recorded as complaints. In 2013-14 36 per 
cent of the calls were recorded as complaints (1,726).

The largest number of complaints were about property, phones (access to phones, getting numbers on 
phone lists and discrepancies in phone accounts), placement, medical issues and access to offender 
services or programs.  

Official Visitors
In 2014-15, Official Visitors reported making 1,394 visits to 40 correctional facilities. Inmates raised 6,563 
matters with Official Visitors which were recorded as complaints. The categories of complaint most 
often raised were medical issues, property, correctional centre routine (changes to or inconsistencies in 
centre routine) and work health and safety issues (shortage of clothing or bed linen, damaged or broken 
equipment).   

NSW Ombudsman 
In 2014-15, the NSW Ombudsman wrote to the Commissioner of Corrective Services on 64 occasions 
concerning 62 separate matters. 

Of the 62 matters, 56 were preliminary investigations pursuant to section 13AA of the Ombudsman’s Act 
1974 (the Act). Two matters were suggestions made pursuant to section 31AC, and one each related 
to section 34 (disclosure of information), the Terrorism (Police Powers) Act 2002, the National Disability 
Strategy Implementation and the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994.

Of the s13AA matters, as in the previous year, the highest categories related to inmate property and to 
alleged uses of force and/or assaults.

In 2014-15, the Ombudsman did not raise any matters under s16 of the Ombudsman Act 1974 (Notice of 
Investigation). The Ombudsman advised in October 2014 that the s16 investigation into the administration 
of segregated custody in NSW correctional centres, commenced in 2010, had been discontinued.

Of the 62 matters received, six had not been finalised by 30 June 2015.

Juvenile Justice 
In 2014-15, there were a total of 55 complaints received by Juvenile Justice.

Seventy six per cent of these complaints were made directly by a Juvenile Justice client. Sixteen per cent 
were made by a client’s family member or carer. The remainder consisted of complaints made by people or 
agencies on behalf of a client.

Fifty six per cent of these complaints were resolved within 48 hours. Forty four cent were resolved within 
three weeks.

Appendix 3
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Appendix 3

Type of Juvenile Justice complaint Number of complaints

Complaint against staff 7

Complaint about food/diet in centres 4

Complaint against rules/point system in centres 13

Complaint about appointments and interviews 1

Complaint about Department of Education and Communities/school 
attendance 0

Other: police, welfare, background reports, medical care, other clients, 
confidentiality/privacy, discrimination, transfer between centres 30
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Appendix 4 
Credit card certification

In accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction 205.01, it is hereby certified that the use of Department 
purchasing cards has been in accordance with government guidelines. 

Andrew Cappie-Wood 
Secretary
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Appendix 5 
Digital information security 

I, Andrew Cappie-Wood am of the opinion that:  

The Department of Justice had an Information Security Management System in place during the 2014-
15 financial year that is consistent with the Core Requirements set out in the NSW Government Digital 
Information Security Policy. 

The controls in place to mitigate identified risks to the digital information and digital information systems 
of the Department of Justice are adequate.

There is no agency under the control of the Department of Justice which is required to develop an 
independent ISMS in accordance with the NSW Government Digital Information Security Policy.

Where necessary in accordance with the Digital Information Security Policy for the NSW Public Sector, 
the Department of Justice has maintained certified compliance with AS/NZS ISO/IEC 27001 Information 
technology - Security techniques - Information security management systems - Requirements by an 
accredited third party during the 2014-15 financial year.

Andrew Cappie-Wood
Secretary



p

190

Appendix 6 
Disability action plan

Highlights from the Department’s work in implementing the Disability Strategic Plan 2014-16 are detailed 
below. In 2015-16, the Department will continue developing a new Disability Inclusion Action Plan which 
will align with the NSW Disability Inclusion Plan.

Outcome Key achievements

Outcome 1: 
Justice leadership

 ^ Diversity Services continues to coordinate work across the Department 
towards full implementation of the National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) in consideration of access necessary for people in contact with the 
justice system.

 ^ Victims Services developed a Disability Access Plan, in order to support 
people with disability who have been a victim of crime. Victims Services has 
also engaged People with Diasability Australia to improve service delivery 
outcomes for people with disability. 

Outcome 2: 
Service provision

 ^ Diversity Services provides information and resources to the Department 
on disability issues. This includes the Accesslink website and the Flexible 
Service Delivery Training Program. During the reporting period, training was 
completed by 349 staff. The Department also continued to deliver disability 
awareness training to staff.

 ^ The Communications Unit coordinated the training of all web authors 
across the Department on website accessibility standards in order to meet 
WCAG 2.0 AA compliance. 

 ^ The Anti-Discrimination Board’s education and information programs 
include material on disability discrimination and the importance of 
accessibility. 

 ^ An Assessment Guide for community-based staff has been implemented 
by Juvenile Justice. The guide includes a specific section on disability. In 
cases where a disability is suspected, Juvenile Justice staff will make a 
referral to a psychologist for further assessment. 

 ^ Juvenile Justice has also developed a range of resources for staff to ensure 
that young people with an intellectual disability or cognitive impairment 
are able to participate in programs. This includes the Working with Young 
People with Disabilities training package for staff and the training of staff 
for trial sites of the NDIS to assist in developing their understanding of the 
scheme. 

 ^ Juvenile Justice is part of a Disability Working Group that meets quarterly to 
develop better pathways for young people with particular emphasis on how 
young people in the justice system are accessing NDIS.

 ^ The CAIDS-Q disability screening tool in the Young People in Custody 
Health Survey 2015 to provide a comprehensive validation of the tool for 
young people in the justice system.



p

191

Outcome 3: 
Access to justice

 ^ Justice Strategy and Policy Branch ensures that the principles of the 
UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth), the Disability Inclusion Act 2014 (NSW) and 
the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW) are considered when reviewing, 
updating or drafting NSW legislation and regulations. The Branch has 
developed a Legislative and Policy Principles document which is provided 
to staff to ensure that such key principles are taken into consideration 
during the legislative reform process. 

 ^ In response to the NSW Law Reform Commission Report 135, People with 
Cognitive and Mental Health Impairments in the Criminal Justice System 
– Diversion, a diversionary legal framework is being developed for people 
with cognitive and mental health impairment who are in contact with the 
Local Court. Work is also being undertaken to develop and implement a 
services model for the early identification and assessment of offenders in 
the criminal justice system with cognitive and mental health impairment.

 ^ LawAccess NSW continued the implementation of its Communications 
Strategy – People with Disability 2012-15 including: 

^^ providing access through the National Relay Service in 2013-14 
^^ conducting activities to increase awareness with people with disability, 

their family and carers, disability support services and disability 
advocacy services 

^^ developing partnerships with government agencies and other 
organisations working closely with people with disability to increase 
the awareness of LawAccess NSW.  

 ^ Community Relations Unit introduced a new online application process for 
Justices of the Peace (JPs) in NSW. People who apply to become JPs are 
now required to answer the question - Is this location accessible for people 
with a mobility difficulty? 

 ^ Juvenile Justice signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department of Education to ensure that information can be shared between 
services to identify and suppport young people with disability in the Justice 
system.

Outcome 4: 
Communications

 ^ LawAccess NSW continued to attend and participate in community 
events for people with disability and continued to raise awareness of 
LawAccess services through visits and presentations to disability services 
in metropolitan and regional locations.

 ^ All Department websites now have ReadSpeaker, allowing website visitors 
to listen to an audio version of all website content.

Appendix 6
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Outcome 5: 
Buildings and 
facilities

 ^ The Department continued its update of courthouse facilities around NSW 
and access for people with disabilities was considered during refit and 
relocation to new premises. These locations included: 

^^ construction of new fully-compliant (Disability Discrimination Act 
Standards) Coffs Harbour Justice Precinct 

^^ upgrade works continued in the Downing Centre and John Maddison 
Tower. This included accessible toilets on various levels of the 
buildings

^^ major upgrade works undertaken at Hornsby and Raymond Terrace 
courthouse to improve accessibility for people with a disability. Minor 
upgrade works undertaken at Ballina, Lithgow, Parkes and Wyong 
courthouses to improve disability access

^^ disability access compliance work carried out at a number of small 
regional courthouses including Finley, Hay, Inverell, Junee, Leeton, 
Moama, Narranderra, Singleton, Tumut, Wauchope and Young. 

Outcome 6: 
Consultation and 
best practice 
management

 ^ The Justice Disability Advisory Council continued to meet and provide 
advice to the Secretary on best practice when working with people with 
disability in contact with the justice system. 

 ^ LawAccess NSW worked collaboratively with other government agencies 
and non-government organisations to identify opportunities to increase 
awareness among people with disability about LawAccess and the 
availability of other legal assistance services, including:

^^ federal government agencies and state government agencies that 
support people with disability through programs and services or 
provide funding or grants to organisations delivering services for 
people with disability

^^ Local government shires and councils through their Access Advisory 
Committees, Disability Forums and Community Development 
programs

^^ Australian Human Rights Commission and Anti-Discrimination Board 
of NSW

^^ Legal Aid NSW and NSW Community Legal Centres, in particular, 
specialist Community Legal Centres providing services for people with 
disability. 
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Outcome 7: 
Employment 
of people with 
disability

 ^ The Department launched its new Workforce Diversity Program 2015-16, 
which includes initiatives aimed at improving attraction, recruitment and 
development outcomes for people with disability.

 ^ Public Defenders provides work experience to young people with a 
disability, as part of the Transition to Work Program. 

 ^ The Department continued to partner with Disability Employment 
Service providers to provide job seekers with disability work experience 
placements. One person transitioned from the work experience program to 
a temporary role in Local Courts.

 ^ The Department also entered into a one-year partnership with the National 
Disability Recruitment Coordinator. The aim of the partnership is to review 
current recruitment practices and identify and address any barriers for 
people with a disability, and build disability knowledge and competency in 
the workplace. 

 ^ The Sherriff’s Office recruited four people with a disability into targeted 
roles. 

 ^ The Department’s Staff with a Disability Network held its annual conference 
to recognise International Day of People with Disability.

Appendix 6
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Appendix 7 
Disclosure of controlled entities and subsidiaries

Disclosure of controlled entities
The Department does not have any controlled entities.

Disclosure of subsidiaries
The Department does not have any subsidiaries.

Joint arrangement
The NSW Government has an investment in Law Courts Limited, which is an entity controlled jointly 
by the NSW Government and the Australian Government, and accounted for as a joint arrangement in 
accordance with AASB 11 Joint Arrangements. Both governments have equal representation on the 
board of directors and in the membership of Law Courts Limited, with all decisions requiring unanimous 
consent. Law Courts Limited is located at Level 3, Law Courts Building, Queen’s Square, Sydney, NSW 
2000, and its principal activity is the provision of accommodation for Courts, Courts Registries and 
support services at a standard that is suitable and available for occupation. The joint arrangement, 
entered into between the NSW Government and the Australian Federal Government, requires the 
recognition of 52.5 per cent of all revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of the entity.
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Appendix 8 
Environmental reporting

 
In July 2014, the NSW Government launched the Government Resource Efficiency Policy (GREP). This 
policy aims to reduce the operating costs of NSW Government agencies and ensure that they lead by 
example in increasing the efficiency of their resource use.

The Department of Justice continues to meet its obligations under the policy by operating and managing 
the assets under its control in an environmentally responsible way, to minimise pollution and waste, and 
to reduce energy use.
 
Waste and recycling

 ^ A secure printing solution was introduced at the Justice Precinct Offices in Parramatta and 
at the Department’s Spring Street, Sydney office. The new process involves print jobs being 
stored on a server until the document is correctly authorised to be released for printing. Since its 
implementation, there has been a reduction in paper usage at these locations. Secure printing 
will be rolled out to other locations over the coming year.

 ^ Paper recycling at Justice Precinct Offices has increased from the previous financial year by 150 
per cent to 13.6 tonnes.  

Energy efficiency 

 ^ More than 90 per cent of Department sites have six per cent or better green power, with other 
sites in the process of transferring across.

 ^ A boiler and chiller upgrade at the Downing Centre reduced energy consumption and generated 
energy savings certificates valued at $14,000.

 ^ Lighting upgrades at John Maddison Tower and the Downing Centre produced combined energy 
savings of over 180,000 kilowatt-hours, saving the Department $500,000 over five years.

 ^ A lighting upgrade, installation of 100kW solar panels and installation of variable speed drive 
pumps at William Morrow Building will return energy savings of over $50,000 per year with an 
estimated energy saving of 230 megawatt-hours per year.

Construction and demolition waste
In 2014-15 the Department diverted over 340 tonnes of waste from landfill across a number of building 
projects including the refurbishments of courthouses, saving over $60,000 in waste disposal costs. These 
projects include: 

 ^ Raymond Terrace Courthouse - more than 79 tonnes of waste material was recycled which 
achieved a 94 per cent recycling rate, saving in excess of $18,000 for the Department in disposal 
costs. Approximately 12 tonnes of material was purchased from recycled content.

 ^ Wagga Wagga Courthouse - over 30 tonnes of material (77 per cent) was purchased from 
recycled content. At the same location 270 tonnes of waste construction materials were recycled 
including vegetation, construction, asphalt, timber, brick, roof tiles and steel.

 ^ Wollongong Courthouse - 62 per cent of the steel construction materials purchased contained 
recycled content.

 ^ Newcastle Courthouse - 100 per cent of the brick and roof tiles purchased were from recycled 
content.



p

196

Fuel efficiency

 ^ The Department regularly reviews its vehicle selections to ensure that the vehicles leased meet 
the highest environmental standards. All Department fleet vehicles are within NSW Government 
allowable standards for carbon dioxide emissions.

Future environmental initiatives

 ^ A planned lighting upgrade at the Metropolitan Remand and Reception Centre is estimated 
to save the Department over $100,000 and reduce energy consumption by more than 500 
megawatt hours per year.

 ^ The Downing Centre has been identified as potentially suitable for energy programs including 
a solar photovoltaic system. Photovoltaic is a method of converting solar energy into direct- 
current electricity. The Department has entered into a participation agreement with the Office of 
Environment to progress this program.  

 ^ A new building project at the Children’s Court in Surry Hills will convert the existing building into 
a five-star energy-compliant facility.

 ^ Waste initiatives at the Henry Deane building are being investigated so to improve recycling rates 
and decrease the amount of waste going to landfill.

 ^ The Orana Juvenile Justice Centre is investigating rainwater, solar and lighting energy-saving 
programs.

Appendix 8
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Crime Prevention Programs 
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

Design Out Crime 
Research Centre 
(DOCRC)

University of 
Technology 
Sydney

$450,000.00 Funding for DOCRC to 
undertake research

Community,
business

WIPAN Mentoring 
Program 

Women in 
Prison Advocacy 
Network

$249,633.94 Mentoring and support 
services for previously 
incarcerated women

Community,
business

Safe Space/Outreach 
Service

City of Sydney 
Council

$67,500.00 Reduce alcohol-related 
crime

Community, 
business

Operation Out and 
About Project

Canterbury City 
Council

$50,000.00 Reduce steal from person 
and robbery offences, 
including an awareness 
campaign

Community, 
business

Closed-Circuit 
Television System 
Upgrade 

Council 
for Jewish 
Community 
Security

$250,000.00 Reduce malicious 
damage to property 
offences

Community

Resilience Program – 
East Dubbo Project

Leader in 
Development

$290,000.00 Enhance overall wellbeing 
of young people living in 
the Apollo Estate, Dubbo

Community

Lock it or Lose it 
Project

Armidale 
Dumaresq 
Council

$20,310.00 Steal from motor vehicle 
community awareness/ 
education campaign

Community, 
business

Springwood 
Commuter Car Park 
Project

Blue Mountains 
City Council

$38,000.00 Reduce graffiti and 
malicious damage to 
property offences

Community, 
business

Crime Prevention 
Through 
Environmental Design 
(CPTED) – Lighting 
Upgrade Project

Byron Shire 
Council

$50,000.00 Reduce assault (non-
domestic violence) 
offences with an 
emphasis on alcohol-
related assault

Community, 
business

Lock it Up Project City of Canada 
Bay Council

$50,000.00 Reduce steal from 
dwelling offences with an 
emphasis on identity theft 
and fraud

Community

Appendix 9 
Funds granted to community organisations
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Program Name of 
organisation

Amount Project purpose Target clients

Just Don’t Project Clarence Valley 
Shire Council

$49,874.00 Reduce malicious 
damage to property 
offences through CPTED 
and an awareness/ 
education campaign

Community, 
business

Break and Enter 
Dwelling Project

Liverpool City 
Council

$50,000.00 Reduce incidence of 
break and enter dwelling 
offences 

Community

Safe Communities 
Initiative 
- Phase 2

Moree Plains 
Shire Council

$50,000.00 Reduce malicious 
damage to property 
offences

Community, 
business

Be Safe Not Sorry 
Project

North Sydney 
Council

$45,455.00 Reduce steal from 
dwelling and break and 
enter dwelling offences 
with a focus on public 
awareness/education

Community, 
business

Crime Prevention 
Youth Outreach 
Program

Queanbeyan 
City Council

$10,500.00 Targets youth at risk of 
offending or those with 
prior convictions

Community, 
business

Warilla Laneways 
Project

Shellharbour 
City Council

$22,920.00 Reduce graffiti and 
malicious damage to 
property through CPTED

Community

Malicious Damage to 
Property Project

Sutherland Shire 
Council

$50,000.00 Reduce graffiti through 
CPTED and an education 
program

Community, 
business

Walanbaa Project Tamworth 
Regional 
Council

$50,000.00 Early intervention for 
children and youth at risk 
of offending

Community

Berkeley Safer 
Spaces Project

Wollongong City 
Council

$46,300.00 Reduce malicious 
damage to property 
(graffiti) and non-domestic 
violence offences through 
CPTED

Community, 
business

 
Total for Crime Prevention Programs $1,890,492.94 
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Safe Aboriginal Youth (SAY) Program
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

SAY Patrols
Armidale

Armidale Youth 
Assist Inc.

$79,631.71 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
the Armidale area

Community

SAY Patrols
Dubbo

Dubbo 
Neighbourhood 
Centre

$80,168.52 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
the Dubbo area

Community

SAY Patrols
Wilcannia

Maari Ma Health $115,600.00 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
Wilcannia area

Community

SAY Patrols
Dareton

Mallee Family Care $75,235.00 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
the Dareton area

Community

SAY Patrols
Bourke, Eastern 
Suburbs, Kempsey, 
Newcastle, Taree

Police & 
Community Youth 
Clubs (PCYC) NSW 
Ltd

$458,946.50 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
Bourke, La Perouse, 
Kempsey, Newcastle 
and Taree

Community

SAY Patrols 
Shoalhaven

Shoalhaven 
Community 
Development Ltd

$90,128.85 Provide safe transport 
and outreach service 
for young people on 
the streets at night in 
the Shoalhaven area

Community

 
Total for SAY Program $899,710.58 
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Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design/Graffiti Strategy
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Dapto Rotary 
Club

$2,000.00 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Hazelbrook 
Association 
Community Inc.

$2,000.00 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Lower Mountains 
Neighbourhood 
Centre

$2,000.00 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Rotary Club 
of Rutherford-
Telarah Inc.

$2,000.00 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Rotary Club of 
Turramurra Inc.

$378.88 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Mannering Park 
Tidy Towns Group 
Inc.

$2,000.00 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Volunteer Graffiti 
Removal Program

Rotary Club 
of Wallsend-
Maryland Inc.

$1,818.18 Reduce the incidence 
of malicious damage – 
graffiti

Community, 
business

Graffiti Removal Day Rotary Down 
Under Inc.

$143,818.18 Encourage people to 
volunteer their time 
and get involved in the 
removal and prevention 
of graffiti

Community, 
business

Graffiti Hotline 
Marketing Strategy

Adshel Street 
Furniture

$12,320.00 Provide public 
awareness and 
encourage reporting of 
graffiti 

Community, 
business

De-Tag Program Police & 
Community Youth 
Clubs (PCYC) 
NSW Ltd

$5,181.82 Deliver graffiti 
education program for 
juvenile offenders

Community, 
business

 
Total for CPTED/Graffiti Strategy $173,517.06 

Appendix 9



p

201

Life on Track
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

Life on Track 
Program

Mission Australia $627,880.86 A voluntary service for 
defendants, aimed at 
reducing reoffending

Community, 
business

 
Total for Life on Track $627,880.86 

 
Youth on Track 
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

Youth on Track 
Program

Uniting Care  
NSW-ACT

$2,032,870.00 An early intervention 
scheme targeting juvenile 
offenders and those at 
risk of offending

Community, 
business

 
Total for Youth on Track $2,032,870.00 

 
 
Victims Services
Program Name of 

organisation
Amount Project purpose Target clients

Victims of Crime Victims of Crime 
Assistance League 
(VOCAL)

$510,134.12 Provide support services 
to victims of crime in the 
Hunter region including 
information, support 
and referral services 
to victims of alcohol-
related crimes or anti-
social behaviour

Victims of 
violent crime

Victims Support 
and Advocacy

Enough is Enough $403,175.00 Provide support services 
to victims of crime 
including advocacy, case 
management and referral 
services

Victims of 
violent crime

 
Total for Victims Services $913,309.12 
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Corrective Services Community Funding Program  

The Corrective Services Community Funding Program (CFP) which allocated funding to community-
based non-profit organisations for the provision of support services to offenders, former inmates and their 
families was replaced by the Funded Partnership Initiative (FPI) which commenced on 1 September 2014.

The FPI was introduced to ensure that funding available to non-government organisations is prioritised 
towards the Government’s goal of reducing the risk of reoffending and protecting the community. The FPI 
allocates funding for services delivered in three service streams in custodial and community settings. 

Organisations funded under the CFP, that had funding agreements ending 30 June 2014 were provided 
with a two-month extension until the FPI tender was finalised and new contracts commenced. Yula-
Punaal Education and Healing Centre was not successful under the FPI and to assist with transitional 
arrangements an additional four-month extension was granted to 31 December 2014. 

Project Funded organisation Funding period covered by 
CFP extension 

Amount

Transitional 
Support

Namatjira Haven (operates a 
residential-based rehabilitation 
project for male Aboriginal offenders 
with alcohol and other drug 
dependence in the NSW North 
Coast region)

1 July - 31 August 2014 $65,760.00

Guthrie House (provides supported 
accommodation services for female 
offenders on release or as an 
alternative to incarceration)

1 July - 31 August 2014 $57,329.00

Glebe House (provides supported 
accommodation services for 
recently released male offenders)

1 July - 31 August 2014 $34,398.00

Community Restorative Centre 
(provides transitional and family 
support services, including transport 
to correctional centres)

1 July - 31 August 2014 $58,423.00

Judge Rainbow Memorial Fund 
(Rainbow Lodge)

1 July - 31 August 2014 $65,549.00

Yula-Punaal Education and Healing 
Centre (provides pre and post-
release services for Aboriginal 
women)

1 July - 31 December 2014 $60,161.00

Family and 
Children 
Support

SHINE for Kids (supports children 
and families of offenders) 

1 July - 31 August 2014 $130,248.00

Community Restorative Centre 1 July - 31 August 2014 $29,107.00
 
Total for Corrective Services Community Funding Porgram $500,975* 
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Project Funded organisation FPI funding period Amount  

Transitional 
Support

Namatjira Haven (three beds for 
Aboriginal male offenders, supported 
accommodation/AOD rehabilitation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$157,472.00

Guthrie House (five beds for female 
offenders, supported accommodation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$230,124.00

Glebe House (four beds for male 
offenders, supported accommodation / 
AOD rehabilitation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$188,423.00

St Vincent de Paul, Nowra (five beds for 
men, supported accommodation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$107,497.00

Judge Rainbow Memorial Fund (Rainbow 
Lodge eight beds for male offenders, 
supported accommodation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$367,350.00

Adele House (eight beds for male 
offenders, supported accommodation/
AOD rehabilitation)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$162,557.00

Arbias (transitional support in 10 locations 
including: Bathurst, Campbelltown, 
Dubbo, Kempsey, Lismore, Mt Druitt, 
Parramatta, Wagga Wagga, Wollongong, 
Wyong)

1 September 2014
 – 30 June 2015

$801,710.00

Salvation Army, Newcastle (transitional 
support)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$80,171.00

Salvation Army, Tamworth (transitional 
support)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$40,086.00

Community Restorative Centre 
(transitional support - Leichhardt and 
Broken Hill Extended Reintegration 
Service - Bankstown, Liverpool and 
Fairfield)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$400,855.00

Offenders’ 
Children and 
Family Stream 

SHINE for Kids (services to support 
children, families and young people) 

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$487,916.00

Community Restorative Centre (support 
and brokerage service for families and 
friends of an inmate) 

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$118,691.00
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Victim Support 
Stream

South West Sydney Legal Service  
(Partner support)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$22,667.00

Support Accommodation and 
Homelessness Services Shoalhaven 
Illawarra (Partner support)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$49,787.00

Centacare New England North-West 
(Partner support)

1 September 2014
– 30 June 2015

$34,143.00

Enough is Enough 
(Victim impact and risk management 
seminars in correctional centres)

1 September 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$47,454.00

Total for Corrective Service Funded Partnerships Initiative $3,296,902* 

Corrective Services Parolee Support Initiative - Mental Health/Intellectual Disability 
This project aims to reduce the cycle of homelessness and reoffending by targeting medium to high risk 
offenders who have a mental health disorder and/or an intellectual disability.

Funding for the Parolee Support Initiative concluded on 31 August 2014 and was replaced by the Extend-
ed Reintegration Service under the new FPI. 

Project Funded organisation Funding period Amount

Parolee Support 
Initiative 

Community Restorative Centre 1 July – 31 August 2014 $70,000.00*

Corrective Services Metropolitan Inmate Pre-Release Property Service 
The Metropolitan Inmate Pre-Release Property Service resumed operations on 1 November 2014 run by 
Prisoner’s Aid Association.  

Project Funded organisation Funding period Amount

Metropolitan Inmate 
Pre-Release Property 
Service

Prisoner’s Aid Association 1 November 2014 
– 30 June 2015

$175,620.00 * 
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Corrective Services Homelessness Action Plan 

Project Funded organisation Funding period Amount

Targeted Housing and 
Support Service

Community Restorative 
Centre

1 July - 31 October 2014 $99,218.00**

Aboriginal Women 
Leaving Custody - 
Targeted Housing and 
Support Service - 
Support, Transition and 
Referral Service

Community Restorative 
Centre

1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015 $197,481.00***

Total for Homelessnes Action Plan $296,699  
 

*The Social and Community Services Equal Remuneration Order (SACS-ERO) supplementation was provided to 
agencies as required by the changes to the sector award made by Fair Work Australia in June 2012.
**The final amount for the four-month extension was a pro rata amount based on the number of clients. The SACS-
ERO supplementation was provided to agencies as required by the changes to the sector award made by Fair Work 
Australia in June 2012.
***A SACS-ERO supplementation was not provided for this project, as per advice from NSW Department of Family 
and Community Services - Housing.

Juvenile Justice Community Funding Program 

Program Service provider Amount 
Joint Support Program 

Casework support  
(12 week program)

Marist Youth Care $257,870
CatholicCare $214,884
Regional Youth Support Service $85,948
Southern Youth and Family Services $214,884
Relationships Australia $128,936
Mission Australia $386,767
Centacare $343,794
PCYC $451,248
Allambie Youth Services $257,845
Albury/Wodonga Youth Emergency Service $128,922

Total casework support $2,471,098
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Program Service provider Amount 
Crisis accommodation support
(28 days )

Marist Youth Care $324,380
Mission Australia $178,823
Albury/Wodonga Youth Emergency Service $59,608

Total crisis accommodation $562,811

Employment placement and 
support (26 week program) 

Marist Youth Care $320,866

Total employment placement $320,866

Family intervention
(8-10 weeks)

Mission Australia $343,793
Southern Youth and Family Services $171,897
Relationships Australia $85,948
Each Ltd $21,487

Total family intervention $623,125

Long-term accommodation 
support (12 month program)

Mission Australia $96,074

Albury/Wodonga Youth Emergency Service $96,074
Regional Youth Support Service $119,279
CatholicCare Hunter Manning $144,435

Total long term accommodation $455,862

Statewide total Joint Support Program $4,433,762

National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness

Long-term supported 
accommodation 

Mission Australia $123,640
YP Space $116,330
CatholicCare $85,085

Total National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness programs  $325,055

Bail Assistance Line Program
Bail Assistance Line Program CatholicCare $572,897

Wundarra Services $14,834
Platform Youth $31,015
Coast Shelter $26,065

Total Bail Assistance Line Program $644,811

Alcohol and Other Drugs Rural Residential Rehabilitation Program 

Rural Residential Rehabilitation 
Program 

Mission Australia $2,601,000

Total Rural Residential Rehabilitation Program  $2,601,000
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Program Service provider Amount 
Other program funding 

Mentoring programs Shine for Kids Cooperative Ltd $60,000
Tribal Warrior $27,273

Juniperina Joint Support 
Housing and Assistance 
Program 

Mission Australia $22,000

Family Matters Program Karitane $101,705
Total other program funding $210,978

Legal support for young 
offenders

Legal Aid NSW $180,926

Total legal support for young offenders $180,926
Chaplaincy program in 
Juvenile Justice centres 

Civil Chaplaincies Advisory Committee $442,819

Total Chaplaincy Program  $442,819
 
Total for Juvenile Justice Community Funding Program $8,839,351
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Appendix 10 
Government Information Public Access Act 2009

1. Review of authorised proactive release program – Clause 7(a)
Under section 7 of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (GIPA Act), an agency must 
review its program for the release of government information. The purpose of the review is to identify 
the kinds of information that should in the public interest be made publicly available without imposing 
unreasonable additional costs on the agency. Agencies are not authorised under section 7 of the GIPA 
Act to release information if there is an overriding public interest against disclosure of the information. 
This review must be undertaken at least every 12 months.

As a result of the review, a number of documents were proactively released under section 7 of the GIPA 
Act. These were comprised of reports, newsletters, practice notes, speeches, papers and submissions. 
The Department also formed an Open Government Committee which considered ways in which proactive 
release, both mandatory and authorised, could be encouraged across the Department. 

2. Number of access applications received – Clause 7(b)
During the reporting period, the Department received 570 formal access applications. This includes 
withdrawn but not invalid applications.

3. Number of refused applications for Schedule 1 information –  Clause 7(c)
During the reporting period the Department refused a total of eight formal access applications on the 
basis that it was conclusively presumed that there was an overriding public interest against disclosure of 
information.
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Statistical information about access applications 

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*

Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Total

Media 3 2 0 3 0 1 0 0 9

Members of 
Parliament 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Private sector 
business 36 5 3 2 0 1 0 6 53

Not for profit 
organisations 
or community 
groups

3 7 0 7 0 0 0 0 17

Members of the 
public (by legal 
representative)

40 229 1 9 0 4 1 32 316

Members of the 
public (other) 49 88 8 14 0 2 0 7 168

Total 132 332 12 35 0 8 1 45 565

*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
 in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type or application outcome

Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Total

Personal 
information 
applications*

74 310 8 26 0 3 1 37 459

Access 
applications 
(other than 
personal 
information
applications)

53 13 5 9 0 3 1 8 92

Access 
applications 
that are partly 
personal 
information 
applications 
and partly 
other

5 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 14

Total 132 331 13 35 0 6 2 46 565
*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of  
 Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).

Table C: Invalid applications

Reason for invalidity Number of applications
Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)          95
Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)            6
Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)            0
Total number of invalid applications received          93
Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications          45
Total        239
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Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure matters listed in Schedule 1 
of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 1
Cabinet information 0
Executive Council information 0
Contempt 0
Legal professional privilege 6
Excluded information 1
Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 18
Transport safety 0
Adoption 0
Care and protection of children 0
Ministerial code of conduct 0
Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0
Total 26

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure matters listed in table to section 14 of the 
Act

Number of times consideration used*

Responsible and effective government 30
Law enforcement and security 24

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 318

Business interests of agencies and other persons 4
Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0
Secrecy provisions 0
Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0
Total 376

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 556
Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 8
Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 1
Total 565
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Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type review and outcome)

Decision varied Decision upheld Total
Internal review 4 6 10
Review by Information Commissioner* 5 5 10
Internal review following recommendation under
section 93 of the Act 2 4 6

Review by NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal (NCAT) 0 7 7
Total 11 22 33

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions but can make recommendations to the 
original decision maker. The data, in this case, indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made by the Information Commissioner.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant) 

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 6

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access 
application relates (see section 54 of the Act) 3

Total 9

Table I: Applications transferred to other agencies

Number of applications transferred

Agency initiated transfers 4
Applicant initiated transfers 0
Total 4
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NSW Ministers 
A minister’s office is classed as a separate agency under the GIPA Act and, under s125(2) of the Act, is 
required to comply with GIPA reporting requirements. Statistics for formal applications received by these 
agencies are provided below. 

These statistics cover the period from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015. They were provided to the NSW 
Department of Justice and collated for publication in the Department’s annual report as required by 
s125(3) of the GIPA Act.  

Premier, and Minister for Western Sydney The Hon. Mike Baird MP Entries recorded

Treasurer, and Minister for Industrial Relations** The Hon. Gladys Berejiklian Entries recorded 

Minister for Roads, Maritime and Freight The Hon. Duncan Gay MLC Entries recorded 

Minister for Industry, Resources and Energy The Hon. Anthony Roberts MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Planning The Hon. Rob Stokes MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Finance, Services and Property The Hon. Dominic Perrottet MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Trade, Tourism and Major Events, 
and Minister for Sport The Hon. Stuart Ayres MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Regional Development, Minister for 
Skills, and Minister for Small Business The Hon. John Barilaro MP Entries recorded 

Minister for the Environment, Minister for 
Heritage, and Assistant Minister for Planning The Hon. Mark Speakman MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Mental Health, Minister for Medical 
Research, Assistant Minister for Health, Minister 
for Women, and Minister for the Prevention of 
Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault 

The Hon. Pru Goward MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Health The Hon. Jillian Skinner MP Entries recorded 

Minister for Transport* The Hon. Gladys Berejiklian MP Entries recorded 
Deputy Premier, Minister for Justice and Police, 
Minister for the Arts, and Minister for Racing** The Hon. Troy Grant MP Nil report

Minister for Transport and Infrastructure** The Hon. Andrew Constance MP Nil report 

Minister for Family and Community Services, and 
Minister for Social Housing The Hon. Brad Hazzard MP Nil report 

Attorney General The Hon. Gabrielle Upton MP Nil report 

Minister for Ageing, Minister for Disability 
Services, and Minister for Multiculturalism The Hon. John Ajaka MLC Nil report 

Minister for Innovation and Better Regulation The Hon. Victor Dominello MP Nil report 

Minister for Education The Hon. Adrian Piccoli MP Nil report 

Minister for Local Government The Hon. Paul Toole MP Nil report 
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Minister for Primary Industries, and Minister for 
Lands and Water The Hon. Niall Blair

Nil report 

Minister for Corrections, Minister for Emergency 
Services, and Minister for Veterans Affairs The Hon. David Elliot MP

Nil report 

Minister for Early Childhood Education, Minister 
for Aboriginal Affairs, and Assistant Minister for 
Education 

The Hon. Leslie Williams MP
Nil report 

*  For the period 1/7/2014 - 2/4/2015

** For the period 2/4/2015 - 30/6/2015
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Premier and Minister for Western Sydney (The Hon. Mike Baird MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                   18

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

2 0 0 16 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 1

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 1

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 2

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 12

Total 18

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 1 1 1

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 3 3 3

Total 4 4 4

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 4

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act)

0
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Treasurer and Minister for Industrial Relations                                                  
(The Hon. Gladys Berejiklian MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 2 April 2015 and 30 June 2015 is:                                     3

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:    

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0
*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 3

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 3

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Roads, Maritime and Freight (The Hon. Duncan Gay MLC) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                    9

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

1

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   1

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

1 5 0 0 0 1 1 1

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 2

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 2

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 1

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 1

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.

Appendix 10



p

223

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 1

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 1

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 6

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 2

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 1

Total 9

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 1 0

Total 0 1 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Industry, Resources and Energy (The Hon. Anthony Roberts MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                      3

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 2

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 3

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by ADT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Planning (The Hon. Robert Stokes MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                      4

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.

Appendix 10



p

228

Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 3

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 3

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 1

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 4

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act)

0
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Minister for Finance, Services and Property (The Hon. Dominic Perrottet MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                     1

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0
*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.

Appendix 10



p

232

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 1

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Trade, Tourism and Major Events, Minister for Sport                   
(The Hon. Stuart Ayres MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                     6

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Members of 
Parliament 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

4 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 1

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 1

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 1

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 2

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 6

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act)

0
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Minister for Regional Development, Minister for Skills and Minister for Small 
Business (The Hon. John Barilaro MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                      1

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  1

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 1

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 1

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 1

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 1

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 1

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 1 1

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 1 1

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act)

1
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Minister for the Environment, Minister for Heritage and Assistant Minister for 
Planning (The Hon. Mark Speakman MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                      1

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Members of 
Parliament 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 1

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 1

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 1

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Mental Health, Minister for Medical Research, Assistant Minister 
for Health, Minister for Women and Minister for the Prevention of Domestic 
Violence and Sexual Assault (The Hon. Pru Goward MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                     7

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0

Private sector 
business 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

1 0 0 2 0 1 0 2

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 3

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 3

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 1

Total 7

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Health (The Hon. Jilliam Skinner MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015 is:                                      5

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:   0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 1 (part of)

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 1

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 4

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 2

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Minister for Transport (The Hon. Gladys Berejiklian MP) 

Total number of applications (including withdrawn applications, but not including invalid 
applications) received in between 1 July 2014 and 2 April 2015 is:                                       

1

Total number of access applications that were refused, either wholly or partly, because the 
application was for the disclosure of information in Schedule 1 of the Act (information for 
which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure) is:   

0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused wholly on that basis is:  0

 ^ Of the applications refused, the number that were refused partly on that basis is:  0

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Private sector 
business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (application by 
legal representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 
*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made 
in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome
Access 
granted in 
full

Access 
granted in 
part

Access 
refused in 
full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/
deny 
whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information 
applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
(other than personal 
information 
applications)

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Access applications 
that are partly 
personal information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of 
Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).  

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity Number of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 2

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 2

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure:
matters listed in Schedule 1 of the Act

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 0

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0
*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each 
such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
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Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: 
matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act

Number of occasions when application 
not successful

Responsible and effective government 0

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0

Business interests of agencies and other persons 0

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0

Table F: Timeliness
Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 1

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 1

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

Decision 
varied

Decision 
upheld

Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

 
*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendation to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision 
has been made.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0
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Appendix 11 
Human resources

Employees by category
The following table contains information on Department of Justice employees by category for the 
reporting years 2011-12 through to 2014-15. All information provided is an estimate compiled for the 
Department analysing information from the annual workforce profile.

Occupation classification 2011-12* 2012-13* 2013-14* 2014-15*

Managers 965.00 926.38 876.98 866.86
Professionals 1,927.71 1,854.93 1,751.60 1,878.80
Technicians and trades workers 480.83 457.04 473.33 478.48
Community and personal services workers 4,320.75 4,114.13 4,588.15 4,389.24
Clerical and administrative workers 3,890.60 3,708.84 3,564.12 3,434.23
Sales workers 14.54 16.09 14.40 17.40
Machinery operators and drivers 51.44 45.89 44.00 49.00
Labourers 13.86 13.38 13.79 13.24
 
*Non-casual FTE at census period based on information derived from workforce profile submission to Public Service Commission.

Exceptional salary movements
There were no exceptional employee salary movements in the 2014-15 financial year. Employees of the 
Department are covered by the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries 2008) Award. The Award 
provided for a 2.25 per cent salary increase from the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2014.

The majority of staff are covered by the Crown Employees (Public Service Conditions of Employment) 
Reviewed Award 2009, and the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries 2008) Award. 

The Government Sector Employee Act 2013 (GSE Act) commenced 24 February 2014, providing the 
new legislative basis for government employment in NSW, repealing the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 2002. The GSE Act introduced a single executive structure with one set of employment 
arrangements for all public service senior executives. Senior executives employed under the GSE Act are 
referred to as Public Service Senior Executives (PSSEs).

Section 13 of the Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Act 1975 (SOOR Act), requires the Statutory 
and Other Offices Remuneration Tribunal (SOORT) to make a determination of the remuneration to be 
paid to judicial officers on and from 1 July (formerly 1 October). SOORT made a determination to increase 
the remuneration paid to Supreme Court judges (and legislatively related judicial officers) by 1.88 per cent 
and for other judicial officers by 1.7 per cent, from 1 July 2014.

The SOOR Act was amended to provide for the Tribunal’s determinations to take effect annually from 1 
July (formerly 1 October). Due to this date being bought forward, an increase of 1.88 per cent rather than 
2.5 per cent was determined from 1 July 2014. 
 
Industrial relations policies and practices
There were no new industrial relations policies or practices implemented during 2014-15.
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Appendix 12 
Insurance activities

Major insurance risks for the Department are the security of its staff, property and other assets, 
and the risk of work-related injuries, which may result in workers’ compensation insurance claims. 
Accordingly, the Department has full workers’ compensation, motor vehicle accident, property, liability 
and miscellaneous insurance cover provided by the Treasury Managed Fund (TMF). The TMF is a 
government-wide self-insurance scheme that provides a systematic and coordinated approach to 
the practice of risk management. Under this scheme, benchmarking was introduced to gauge risk 
management performance with insurance premiums determined by a combination of benchmarks and 
the Department’s claims experience.

A comprehensive insurance program covers workers’ compensation, public liability, motor vehicle, 
property and miscellaneous liability.

QBE Insurance manages the Department’s workers’ compensation insurance and GIO General Ltd 
manages the Department’s other insurances. To reduce the number and value of workers’ compensation 
insurance claims, the Department monitors its claims experience on an ongoing basis, with a focus on 
occupational health and safety and claims management. 

Risk management policies and procedures are also continually being reviewed, with the aim of enhancing 
the Department’s risk management profile, thereby reducing future premiums.

Motor vehicle accident claims

Year No. of accidents Frequency of  
accidents per  

100 vehicles

Total cost of 
accidents 

$

Average         
cost 

$

2010-11 400 74 $1,154,697 $2,887
2011-12 376 61 $1,109,389 $2,951
2012-13 344 67 $1,040,823 $3,026
2013-14 372 91 $848,405 $2,281
2014-15 368 73 $566,267 $1,539
 
Public liability claims
The estimated outstanding value of potential claims against the current public liability policy (subject to 
TMF actuarial assessment) is $4,357,949.
 
Property claims

Year No. of claims Total cost of accidents Average cost
$ $

2010-11 71 $2,353,265 $33,145

2011-12 91 $1,393,370 $15,312

2012-13 127 $1,861,659 $14,659

2013-14 98 $1,039,592 $10,608

2014-15 175 $2,201,688 $12,581
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Miscellaneous claims

Year No. of claims Total cost of accidents Average cost

$ $
2010-11 8 $114,169 $14,271
2011-12 9 $100,851 $11,206
2012-13 7 $37,942 $5,420
2013-14 12 $13,847 $1,154
2014-15 14 $200,266 $14,305

Appendix 12



p

254

Appendix 13 
Intensive Correction Order Management Committee

The Intensive Correction Order Management Committee (ICOMC) was established under section 92 of 
the Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999. The ICOMC oversees administration and governance 
to promote consistency and fairness in the operational application of Intensive Correction Orders (ICOs), 
pursuant to Part 3 and Schedule 3 of the Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999.

In 2014-15, no matters were referred to the ICOMC. This is the result of significant structural and policy 
changes to Community Corrections in 2013 which resulted in all ICO matters being directly referred to the 
State Parole Authority.

In 2014-15, one ICOMC meeting was held at which it was agreed that ICOs are now well established and 
the oversight role of the ICOMC is no longer required.  

A request that section 92 of the Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999 and any other references 
to the ICOMC be removed from legislation has been made.
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Appendix 14 
Internal audit and risk management 

I, Andrew Cappie-Wood, am of the opinion that the Department of Justice has internal audit and 
risk management processes in operation that are, in all material respects, compliant with the core 
requirements set out in Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08 Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy.

I, Andrew Cappie-Wood, am of the opinion that the Audit and Risk Committee for the Department of 
Justice is constituted and operates in accordance with the independence and governance requirements 
of Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08. The Chair and Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:

 ^ Independent Chair, Brian Suttor, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member 1, Paul Crombie, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member 2, Ian Neale, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member 3, Joan Wilcox, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member 4, Arthur Butler, May 2013 - September 2015

The members of the Audit and Risk Subcommittees are:

Corrective Services NSW:
 ^ Independent Chair, Paul Crombie, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member, Ian Neale, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Non-independent Member, James Koulouris, January 2013 - September 2015

Juvenile Justice NSW: 
 ^ Independent Chair, Joan Wilcox, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Independent Member, Arthur Butler, May 2013 - September 2015
 ^ Non-independent Member, Kevin Harris, July 2013 - September 2015

As required by the policy, I have submitted an attestation statement outlining compliance with the policy 
to the Treasury on behalf of the Treasurer.

Andrew Cappie-Wood
Secretary
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Appendix 15  
Land disposal

The Department of Justice owns or operates a range of property assets including heritage courthouses, 
correctional facilities, shopfronts, office fit-outs and call centres.

During the reporting period 2014-15, there were no property disposals valued over $5 million. Documents 
relating to the disposal of Department property can be obtained under the Government Information 
(Public Access) Act 2009.
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Appendix 16 
Legislation and legal change

Legislation allocated to the Attorney 
General 

Administrative Decisions Review Act 1997 No 76

Anglican Church of Australia (Bodies Corporate) Act 
1938 No 15

Animals Act 1977 No 25

Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 No 48

Antiochian Orthodox Church Property Trust Act 1993 
No 20

Application of Laws (Coastal Sea) Act 1980 No 146 
 
Australian Mutual Provident Society Act 1988 No 47

Australian Mutual Provident Society (Demutualisation 
and Reconstruction) Act 1997 No 56

Bail Act 2013 No 26

Benevolent Society (Reconstitution) Act 1998 No 153

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1995 
No 62

Charitable Trusts Act 1993 No 10

Child Protection (Offenders Prohibition Orders) Act 
2004 No 46, jointly with the Minister for Justice and 
Police

Children (Criminal Proceedings) Act 1987 No 55

Children (Protection and Parental Responsibility)Act 
1997 No 78

Children’s Court Act 1987 No 53

Choice of Law (Limitation Periods) Act 1993 No 94

Christian Israelite Church Property Trust Act 2007 No 
41

Churches of Christ in New South Wales Incorporation 
Act 1947 No 2

Churches of Christ, Scientist, Incorporation Act 1962 
No 21

Classification (Publications, Films and Computer 
Games) Enforcement Act 1995 No 63

Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 2013 No 2 
 
Civil Liability Act 2002 No 22

Civil Procedure Act 2005 No 28

Commercial Arbitration Act 2010 No 61

Common Carriers Act 1902 No 48

Commonwealth Bank (Interpretation) Act 1953 No 29

Commonwealth Places (Administration of Laws) Act 
1970 No 80

Commonwealth Powers (De Facto Relationships) Act 
2003 No 49

Commonwealth Powers (Family Law—Children) Act 
1986 No 182

Community Justice Centres Act 1983 No 127

Compensation Court Repeal Act 2002 No 23

Compensation to Relatives Act 1897 No 31

Community Protection Act 1994 No 77

Confiscation of Proceeds of Crime Act 1989 No 90

Constitutional Powers (Coastal Waters) Act 1979 No 
138

Co-operative Schemes (Administrative Actions) Act 
2001 No 45

Coptic Orthodox Church (NSW) Property Trust Act 
1990 No 67

Coroners Act 2009 No 41

Corporations (Administrative Actions) Act 2001 No 33 
 
Corporations (Ancillary Provisions) Act 2001 No 32

Corporations (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2001 No 
1

Corporations (New South Wales) Act 1990 No 83

Costs in Criminal Cases Act 1967 No 13
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Appendix 16

Council of Law Reporting Act 1969 No 59

Court Information Act 2010 No 24

Court Security Act 2005 No 1

Court Suppression and Non-publication Orders Act 
2010 No 106

Crimes Act 1900 No 40

Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999 No 
93, section 183 (2)(a) (remainder, the Minister for 
Corrections)

Crimes (Appeal and Review) Act 2001 No 120

Crimes at Sea Act 1998 No 173

Crimes (Criminal Organisations Control) Act 2012  
No 9

Crimes (Domestic and Personal Violence) Act 2007 
No 80

Crimes (Forensic Procedures) Act 2000 No 59

Crimes (High Risk Offenders) Act 2006 No 7

Crimes Prevention Act 1916 No 80

Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act 1999 No 92

Criminal Appeal Act 1912 No 16

Criminal Procedure Act 1986 No 209

Criminal Records Act 1991 No 8

Crown Advocate Act 1979 No 59

Crown Proceedings Act 1988 No 70

Crown Prosecutors Act 1986 No 208

Defamation Act 2005 No 77

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986 No 207

Discharged Servicemen’s Badges Act 1964 No 49

District Court Act 1973 No 9

Dividing Fences Act 1991 No 72

Domicile Act 1979 No 118

Dormant Funds Act 1942 No 25

Drug Court Act 1998 No 150

Drug Misuse and Trafficking Act 1985 No 226 (except 
part, the Minister for Justice and Police and part, the 
Minister for Health)

Dust Diseases Tribunal Act 1989 No 63

Electronic Transactions Act 2000 No 8

Employees Liability Act 1991 No 4

Evidence Act 1995 No 25

Evidence (Audio and Audio Visual Links) Act 1998  
No 105

Evidence on Commission Act 1995 No 26

Factors (Mercantile Agents) Act 1923 No 2

Federal Courts (State Jurisdiction) Act 1999 No 22

Felons (Civil Proceedings) Act 1981 No 84

Financial Transaction Reports Act 1992 No 99

Fines Act 1996 No 99, Part 2, Divisions 1 and 2, 
section 13, section 120 (in so far as it relates to 
registrars of the courts and the Sheriff) and section 
123 (remainder, the Minister for Finance, Services 
and Property)

Forfeiture Act 1995 No 65

Frustrated Contracts Act 1978 No 105

Government Information (Information Commissioner) 
Act 2009 No 53

Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009  
No 52

Graffiti Control Act 2008 No 100 (except Part 4, 
jointly with the Minister for Local Government)

Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of Australia

Consolidated Trust Act 1994 No 65

Guardianship Act 1987 No 257

Guardianship of Infants Act 1916 No 41
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Habitual Criminals Act 1957 No 19

Health Practitioner Regulation (Adoption of National 
Law) Act 2009 No 86, section 4 in so far as it applies 
section 165B of the Health Practitioner Regulation 
National Law (NSW) as a law of New South Wales, 
and the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law 
(NSW), section 165B (remainder, the Minister for 
Health)

Holy Apostolic Catholic Assyrian Church of the East 
Property Trust Act 1992 No 10

Hunters Hill Congregational Church Property Trust 
Act 2013 No 67

Imperial Acts Application Act 1969 No 30

Inclosed Lands Protection Act 1901 No 33

Industrial Relations Act 1996 No 17, sections 
147, 148 (except in relation to the appointment of 
Commissioners), 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 156 
(3), 157 (3), 159 (2), 164 (2), 168, 180, 185 (2) (d) and 
(e), 196, 197, 207, 208, 381, 382, 383, 407 (in relation 
to provisions administered by the Attorney General), 
Schedule 2 (in relation to provisions administered 
by the Attorney General), and Schedule 4 (in relation 
to provisions administered by the Attorney General) 
(remainder, the Minister for Industrial Relations)

Infants’ Custody and Settlements Act 1899 No 39

Insurance Act 1902 No 49

Insurance (Application of Laws) Act 1986 No 13

James Hardie (Civil Liability) Act 2005 No 106

James Hardie (Civil Penalty Compensation Release) 
Act 2005 No 107

James Hardie Former Subsidiaries (Winding up and 
Administration) Act 2005 No 105

Judges’ Pensions Act 1953 No 41

Judicial Office (Papua New Guinea) Act 1979 No 177

Judicial Officers Act 1986 No 100

Jurisdiction of Courts (Cross-vesting) Act 1987 No 
125

Jurisdiction of Courts (Foreign Land) Act 1989 No 
190

Jury Act 1977 No 18

Justices of the Peace Act 2002 No 27

Land and Environment Court Act 1979 No 204

Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000 No 97

Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities) Act 
2002 No 103

Law Reform Commission Act 1967 No 39

Law Reform (Law and Equity) Act 1972 No 28

Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1944  
No 28

Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1946  
No 33

Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1965  
No 32

Law Reform (Vicarious Liability) Act 1983 No 38

Legal Aid Commission Act 1979 No 78

Legal Profession Act 2004 No 112

Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014 
No 16 and the Legal Profession Uniform Law (NSW)

Lie Detectors Act 1983 No 62

Limitation Act 1969 No 31

Local Court Act 2007 No 93

Lutheran Church of Australia (New South Wales 
District) Property Trust Act 1982 No 101

Marketable Securities Act 1970 No 72

Married Persons (Equality of Status) Act 1996 No 96

Mental Health (Forensic Provisions) Act 1990 No 10 
(except Part 5, jointly the Minister for Health and the 
Minister for Mental Health)

Methodist Church of Samoa in Australia Property 
Trust Act 1998 No 96

Mining Act 1992 No 29, section 293 (remainder, the 
Minister for Industry, Resources and Energy) 
Minors (Property and Contracts) Act 1970 No 60
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Moratorium Act 1932 No 57

Native Title (New South Wales) Act 1994 No 45

NSW Trustee and Guardian Act 2009 No 49

Oaths Act 1900 No 20

Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 
1975 No 49

Partnership Act 1892 55 Vic No 12 (except, in so far 
as it relates to the functions of the Registrar of the 
register of limited partnerships and incorporated 
limited partnerships and to the setting of fees to be 
charged for maintaining that register, jointly with the 
Minister for Finance, Services and Property and the 
Minister for Innovation and Better Regulation)

Personal Property Securities (Commonwealth 
Powers) Act 2009 No 35 (except Division 2 of Part 2 
of Schedule 1 and clause 24 of Schedule 1, jointly 
with the Minister for Finance, Services and Property 
and the Minister for Innovation and Better Regulation)

Piracy Punishment Act 1902 No 69

Presbyterian Church of Australia Act 1971 No 42

Pre-Trial Diversion of Offenders Act 1985 No 153

Printing and Newspapers Act 1973 No 46

Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 
No 133

Probate and Administration Act 1898 No 13

Property (Relationships) Act 1984 No 147

Public Defenders Act 1995 No 28

Public Notaries Act 1997 No 98

Recovery of Imposts Act 1963 No 21

Relationships Register Act 2010 No 19

Reorganised Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day 
Saints Trust Property Act 1959 No 13

Restraints of Trade Act 1976 No 67

Restricted Premises Act 1943 No 6

Roman Catholic Church Communities’ Lands Act 
1942 No 23

Roman Catholic Church Trust Property Act 1936  
No 24

Royal Blind Society (Merger) Act 2005 No 87

Royal Institute for Deaf and Blind Children Act 1998 
No 6

Russian Orthodox Church (NSW) Property Trust Act 
1991 No 91

Sale of Goods Act 1923 No 1

Sale of Goods (Vienna Convention) Act 1986 No 119

Scout Association of Australia (New South Wales 
Branch) Incorporation Act 1928 No 26

Sea-Carriage Documents Act 1997 No 92

Sheriff Act 2005 No 6

Solicitor General Act 1969 No 80

St. Shenouda Coptic Orthodox Monastery (NSW) 
Property Trust Act 2014 No 40

Standard Time Act 1987 No 149

Status of Children Act 1996 No 76

Stewards’ Foundation of Christian Brethren Act 1989 
No 172

Succession Act 2006 No 80

Suitors’ Fund Act 1951 No 3

Summary Offences Act 1988 No 25

Sunday (Service of Process) Act 1984 No 45

Supreme Court Act 1970 No 52

Surrogacy Act 2010 No 102

Surveillance Devices Act 2007 No 64

Telecommunications (Interception and Access) (New 
South Wales) Act 1987 No 290

Terrorism (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2002 No 114
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Terrorism (Police Powers) Act 2002 No 115

Trees (Disputes Between Neighbours) Act 2006  
No 126

Trustee Act 1925 No 14

Trustee Companies Act 1964 No 6

Unauthorised Documents Act 1922 No 6

Uniting Church in Australia Act 1977 No 47

Vexatious Proceedings Act 2008 No 80

Victims Rights and Support Act 2013 No 37

Westpac Banking Corporation (Transfer of 
Incorporation) Act 2000 No 71

Witnesses Examination Act 1900 No 34

Workplace Injury Management and Workers 
Compensation Act 1998 No 86, sections 368, 369 
and 373 and Schedule 5 (remainder, the Minister for 
Finance, Services and Property)

Workplace Surveillance Act 2005 No 47

Young Offenders Act 1997 No 54 (except parts, the 
Minister for Corrections)

Legislation allocated to the Minister for 
Corrections

Child Welfare (Commonwealth Agreement 
Ratification) Act 1941 No 11

Child Welfare (Commonwealth Agreement 
Ratification) Act 1962 No 28

Children (Community Service Orders) Act 1987 No 56

Children (Detention Centres) Act 1987 No 57

Children (Interstate Transfer of Offenders) Act 1988 
No 85

Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999 No 93 
(except part, the Attorney General)

Crimes (Interstate Transfer of Community Based 
Sentences) Act 2004 No 72

Inspector of Custodial Services Act 2012 No 55

International Transfer of Prisoners (New South Wales) 
Act 1997 No 144

Parole Orders (Transfer) Act 1983 No 190

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1982 No 104

Young Offenders Act 1997 No 54, sections 49, 60 
and 61, and Schedule 1 (remainder, the Attorney 
General)

Changes in Acts 

Bail Amendment Act 2014 No 52

Courts and Crimes Legislation Amendment Act 2015 
No 2

Courts Legislation Amendment (Broadcasting 
Judgments) Act 2014 No 44

Crimes Legislation Amendment Act 2014 No 59

Crimes Legislation Amendment (Child Sex Offences) 
Act 2015 No 13

Criminal Procedure Amendment (Domestic Violence 
Complainants) Act 2014 No 83

Criminal Records Amendment (Historical Homosexual 
Offences) Act 2014 No 69

Drug Court Legislation Amendment Act 2014 No 45

Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Legislation 
Amendment Act 2015 No 7

St. Shenouda Coptic Orthodox Monastery (NSW) 
Property Trust Act 2014 No 40

Statute Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2015  
No 15

Statute Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act (No 2) 
2014 No 88

Surveillance Devices Amendment (Police Body-
Worn Video) Act 2014 No 81 
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Amendments to regulations in 2014–15
Administrative Decisions Review Regulation 2014 
(2014-460) LW 25 July 2014

Anti-Discrimination Regulation 2014 (2014-554) LW 
29 August 2014

Bail Amendment (Bail Eligibility Information) 
Regulation 2014 (2014-814) LW 19 December 2014

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration 
Amendment (Corrective Services NSW) Regulation 
2014 (2014-461) LW 25 July 2014

Children (Protection and Parental Responsibility) 
Regulation 2014 (2014-496) LW 8 August 2014

Children’s Court Regulation 2014 (2014-547) LW 22 
August 2014

Crimes (Domestic and Personal Violence) 
Amendment (Apprehended Personal Violence Orders) 
Regulation 2015 (2015-113) LW 5 March 2015

Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Amendment 
(Access to Money) Regulation 2015 (2015-216) LW 
22 May 2015

Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Amendment 
(Classification and Placement) Regulation 2015 
(2015-68) LW 13 February 2015

Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Regulation 
2014 (2014-550) LW 22 August 2014

Crimes (Forensic Procedures) Regulation 2014 (2014-
449) LW 18 July 2014

Criminal Procedure Amendment (Fees) Regulation 
2014 (2014-414) LW 4 July 2014

Criminal Records Regulation 2014 (2014-558) LW 29 
August 2014

Dust Diseases Tribunal Amendment (Fees) Regulation 
2014 (2014-415) LW 4 July 2014

Evidence (Audio and Audio Visual Links) Amendment 
(Bail Exemption) Regulation 2014 (2014-416) LW 4 
July 2014

Evidence (Audio and Audio Visual Links) Regulation 
2015 (2015-218) LW 22 May 2015

Graffiti Control Regulation 2014 (2014-481) LW 25 
July 2014

Justices of the Peace Regulation 2014 (2014-527) 
LW 22 August 2014

Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Regulation 
2015 (2015-330) LW 26 June 2015

Legal Profession Uniform Regulations 2015 (2015-
354) LW 26 June 2015

Personal Property Securities (Commonwealth 
Powers) Amendment (Fees) Regulation 2015 (2015-
261) LW 29 May 2015

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Regulation 2014 (2014-
417) LW 4 July 2014

Privacy and Personal Information Protection 
Regulation 2014 (2014-549) LW 22 August 2014

Professional Standards Regulation 2014 (2014-562) 
LW 29 August 2014

Succession Amendment (Will Deposit Fee) 
Regulation 2014 (2014-419) LW 4 July 2014

Victims Rights and Support (Victims Support Levy) 
Amendment Notice 2015 (2015-356) LW 26 June 
2015
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Appendix 17 
Major works in progress

Project Estimated total 
cost 
($ million)

Cost up to 
30 June 2015 
($m)

Expected 
completion 
date (ECD)

Cost overruns 

Electronic Indictments Project 3.45 1.15 March 2015 Nil

Coffs Harbour Justice Precinct 51.2 51.2 June 2015 Project completed

Land and Environment Court 
System Transformation 1.2 1.2 June 2015 Project completed 

Correctional Centres Planning 1.6 1.6 June 2015 Project completed

Court Upgrade Program 179 179 June 2015 Project completed

John Maddison Tower/Down-
ing Centre Refurbishment 28 28 June 2015 Project completed

Newcastle Justice Precinct 89.6 70.9 November 
2015

Completion date 
revised from June 
2015 due to further 
construction delays.  
No impact on ECD.

Wollongong Courthouse 
redevelopment 17.5 8.7 February 

2016 Nil

NSW Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal Implementation Project 8.6 4.7 June 2016 Nil

Justice Online Project 9.2 5.3 June 2016 Nil

Justice CORE ICT Program 27.9 13.9 June 2016 Nil

Crime Reduction Initiatives 39.4 21.1 June 2016
Completion date re-
vised from June 2015 
due to 
project complexity 
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Project Estimated total 
cost 
($ million)

Cost up to 
30 June 2015 
($m)

Expected 
completion 
date (ECD)

Cost overruns 

Registry of Births, Deaths and 
Marriages relocation 7.3 0 June 2016

Announced as new 
works in 2014-15 
budget but 
commencement 
deferred to 2015-16

Wagga Wagga Courthouse 
redevelopment 19.5 5.6 June 2016 Nil

ICT Consolidation Optimisation 
Remediation Enhancement 
(CORE) Program Stage 1

27.9 13.8 June 2016 Nil

Justice Shared Corporate 
Services 46.3 9.3 June 2017 Nil

New Sydney Children’s Court 31.8 8.3 July 2017 Nil

Justice Audio Visual Link 
Consolidation Project 40 7 June 2018 Nil

Sydney CBD Decentralisation 15.5 2.9 June 2018 Nil
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Appendix 18 
Multicultural Policies and Services Program 

The Department is committed to working in partnership with multicultural communities in NSW. The 
Department’s Diversity Services Unit manages the Department’s multicultural planning and provides 
leadership on issues affecting multicultural communities.

Key achievements 2014–15

 ^ Launch of the Department’s Multicultural Plan 2015-18. The plan outlines the Department’s 
commitment to consultation and information sharing with multicultural communities. It includes 
strategies to improve service delivery to multicultural communities and support a culturally, 
linguistically and religiously diverse workforce. As part of developing the Multicultural Plan, the 
Department held a community consultation on 30 September 2014, which brought together a 
range of multicultural community groups to seek their comments on priorities for the plan.

 ^ Establishment of a Multicultural Consultation Council by the Anti-Discrimination Board. The 
Council aims to identify and discuss issues of discrimination and inequality experienced by 
diverse communities and to advise the President of the Anti-Discrimination Board on these 
issues.

 ^ Launch of the Department’s Workforce Diversity Program 2015-16, which includes initiatives 
aimed at improving employment outcomes for people from multicultural backgrounds across the 
areas of attraction, recruitment, development and retention. 

 ^ Continued participation at key events including the Culturally Diverse Carers Expo, Auburn 
Welcomes You and the Migrant Information Day.

 ^ Ongoing quality assurance reviews to ensure that the needs of multicultural Juvenile Justice 
clients are considered across the various streams of service delivery.

 ^ Participation in key information-sharing forums such as the NSW’s Multicultural Coordinators 
Forum and the Centrelink Multicultural Advisory Forum.

 ^ Ongoing support for staff from multicultural backgrounds through the coordination of the 
Department’s Cultural Diversity Network and the Equity and Diversity Alliance.

 ^ Celebration of significant events including Harmony Day. To enhance cultural connections, two 
speakers from the Australian Museum, a Pacific Communities Youth Worker and an Aboriginal 
Youth Worker were engaged to deliver a program showcasing some of the museum’s cultural 
exhibits to young people in Juvenile Justice.

 ^ Development of multicultural victims of crime profiles. The profiles identify key barriers to 
accessing information. Victims Services has also increased its engagement with multicultural 
communities, including connecting with established multicultural community networks, targeted 
community consultation and participation in interagency collaboration, as well as improved use 
of multicultural media to promote services. 

 ^ Data analysis of Victims Services clients and a multicultural client data profile developed. The 
client data profile will be used to identify core language and cultural needs as part of future 
service planning as well as to better target emerging community groups. 

 ^ Delivery of Juvenile Justice’s Pasefika Revisited – Islands of Change Program twice during the 
reporting period. The program aims to assist young people from Pacific Communities to address 
their risks of reoffending and connect with their cultural heritage. 

 ^ Completion of online induction cultural awareness training by 599 new staff including Corrective 
Services custodial, community corrections, administration and services and programs staff. 

 ^ Two-day religious awareness training, Understanding of Islam and Muslims, attended by 107 staff 
from across the Department, up from 27 people who attended the same training in the previous 
reporting period.
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 ^ Review of induction and client service programs for Court Services staff including:
^^ updating and facilitating the Enhancing Cultural Capabilities course
^^ updating and facilitating the Workplace Ethics course which touches on dignity and respect 

for all staff and clients
^^ rolling out Client Service training that covers diversity with respect to communications and 

language barriers and how to overcome these
^^ Value Diversity sessions at all inductions for NSW Office of the Sheriff.

 ^ Continued participation of Corrective Services staff in the Drug and Alcohol Multicultural 
Education Centre Transitions Project Advisory Committee. The project comprises of 
representatives from government agencies and community organisations who oversee the 
implementation of post-release services to Arabic and Vietnamese offenders released without 
parole and who intend to reside in Western and South-Western Sydney. A unique feature of the 
Transitions Project is the restorative support it provides to families of the participating offenders.   

 ^ Continued collaboration between Pacific Island client service officer and the Pearls Women 
Group to support women on parole orders. The group holds workshops to address domestic 
violence, manage emotions, self-development, finance and budgeting. The group has also 
entered into partnership with Centrelink and TAFE to offer an education pathway for women 
offenders.

 
Key multicultural strategies proposed for 2015–16 

 ^ Recruitment of a new Justice Multicultural Advisory Council comprising of ten community 
members who will provide advice on issues affecting people from multicultural communities in 
contact with the justice system or accessing Department services.

 ^ Corrective Services has approved the Migrant and Refugee Services of Anglicare to conduct 
a pilot of the pre and post-release Sudanese Prison Support Program, in particular for those 
inmates who have only recently settled in Australia under the Refugee and Special Humanitarian 
and Family Stream Program. It will commence at Parklea Correctional Centre where the majority 
of Sudanese inmates are incarcerated.

 ^ Corrective Services is exploring partnership opportunities with community organisations to 
provide services to Muslim offenders in the community. Preliminary discussions have started 
between Bankstown Community Corrections and the Islamic Research and Science Academy 
Australia to conduct a pilot program aimed at helping Muslim offenders on parole to integrate 
into society through spiritual, cultural and educational activities.

Agreements with Multicultural NSW 
The Department of Justice has an ongoing Memorandum of Understanding with Multicultural NSW, in 
relation to the provision of interpreting services in all NSW courts.
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Appendix 19  
Occupational health and safety 

The Department is committed to providing a safe, equitable and productive working environment that 
supports the requirements of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011.
 
The Department is also committed to providing a supportive environment for employees injured at work, 
ensuring effective treatment and management of the return to work process.

Key achievements in 2014-15 include:
Local audits and risk assessment
The Corrective Services Safety Team supported local managers to implement safe systems of work that 
comply with Work Health and Safety (WHS) legislative requirements. This was undertaken by conducting 
risk assessments to support implementation of organisational reforms and developing and implementing 
safety procedures to control high risk associated with plant, equipment and traffic management. A total 
of 44 audits were conducted, reviewing 52 notifiable incidents.

Work Health and Safety Action Plan
Development of a WHS Action Plan. The plan is designed to ensure compliance with legislative 
obligations, support WHS initiatives and provide a process of continual improvement at local sites across 
the Department.

Healthy Minds@Work Program
Continued implementation of the Healthy Minds@Work Program and development of tools and strategies 
supporting mental health. The program is designed to assist staff develop or maintain positive mental 
health and focuses on three key areas: prevention and early intervention, case management and monitor 
and review.

Smoke-Free Correctional Centre Program 
The Corrective Services Safety Team continued work on the Smoke-Free Correctional Centre Program. 
As part of the program, an extensive consultative framework was put in place with stakeholders and 
local workplace committees. A central project team supported local work place committees in driving the 
program which commenced on 10 August 2015.

Safety Plan
The Juvenile Justice Safety Plan has been introduced to all Juvenile Justice centres and Juvenile Justice 
community services offices with the plan further embedded into the operational areas of the division. The 
plan is based on the AUS/NZ Standard 4801 which is used as the benchmark to assess Occupational 
Health and Safety Management systems for organisations in Australia and New Zealand. The plan 
provides operational areas with a simple and effective tool to implement the five principles of the WHS 
Management System including, policy, planning, implementation, measurement and evaluation and 
management review.  

Work-related injuries
There were 576 workers compensation claims reported in the 2014-15 financial year, down from 731 in 
the previous year. This represents a decrease of 21 per cent in claims reported. 

The three most prevalent mechanisms of injury were: body stressing 33 per cent, being hit by a moving 
object 22 per cent, and falls, trips and slips 18 per cent.

WorkCover prosecutions 
There were no WorkCover prosecutions in 2014-15.
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Appendix 20  
Overseas visits

Officer Destination Purpose Date

Michelle Huntsman 
Director, Parliamentary and 
Executive Services 
Office of the Secretary

United Kingdom Trip to learn about corrective 
services reforms, including 
reoffending programs and 
solutions to rising prison 
population and recidivism

22 July-
3 August 2014

Luke Grant
Assistant Commissioner,
Corrections Strategy and 
Policy

British Columbia 
Canada

Asian and Pacific 
Conference of Correctional 
Administrators

7-12 September 2014

Brendan Thomas
Deputy Secretary

China Participation in ANZSOG’s 
China Reciprocal Program*

15-27 September 2014

Peter Severin
Commissioner of 
Corrective Services

Windhoek 
Namibia

International Corrections 
and Prisons Association 
Conference and Annual 
General Meeting

26-31 October 2014

Isabel Hight
Project Director,
Corrections Infrastructure 
Strategy

Windhoek 
Namibia

International Corrections 
and Prisons Association 
Conference* 

26-31 October 2014

Peter Murden
Senior Manager, 
Sentence Administration

Wellington
New Zealand

Executive Master of Public 
Administration Program

24-25 November 2014

Ivan Calder 
Director, 
Intensive Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Program 
and Compulsory Drug 
Treatment Correctional 
Centre

Buckinghamshire 
United Kingdom

Visit to Grendon Prison* 19 December 2014 - 
3 January 2015

Amanda Ianna 
Registrar, 
NSW Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages

New Zealand Lifelink presentation to New 
Zealand Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages*

2-4 February 2015

Venus Nguyen,
Manager LifeLink Support 
Group,
NSW Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages

New Zealand Lifelink presentation to New 
Zealand Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages*

2-4 February 2015

Russell Cox
Project Director, 
Custodial Corrections

London
United Kingdom

Consultations with 
the National Offender 
Management Services 

14-22 February 2015

Sandra Crawford
Director, 
Transformation Office

London
United Kingdom

Consultations with 
the National Offender 
Management Services 

14-24 February 2015
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Officer Destination Purpose Date

The Hon Justice James 
Roland Wood
Chairperson,
State Parole Authority

Ohio 
United States

Association of Paroling 
Authorities Conference

20-21 May 2015

Kevin Corcoran
Assistant Commissioner,
Custodial Corrections 

Barcelona 
Spain

Correctional Digital 
Technology Conference* 27-29 May 2015

Amanda Ianna
Registrar, 
NSW Registry of Births, 
Deaths and Marriages

Fiji Pacific Civil Registrar’s 
Network meeting*

9-12 June 2015

*Costs of these visits were contributed to by the officers themselves or external organisations. In all other cases, 
costs were met by the Department of Justice.
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Appendix 21 
Privacy and personal information

During 2014-15, the Department of Justice received six requests for privacy internal reviews under 
section 53 of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 (PPIP Act).

In addition to this, one request was received from an individual for access to personal information under 
section 14 of the PPIP Act and one request was received for amendment of personal information under 
section 15 of the PPIP Act. Full access was granted to the requested information. The amendment 
request was refused as it was not possible to change historical information on the database in question.
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Appendix 22 
Public interest disclosures 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 (PID Act) sets out the system under which people working 
within the NSW public sector, including individuals who are engaged as contractors, can come forward 
with important information about the functioning of the public sector in a way that minimises the risk of 
reprisal.

The Department of Justice has a Public Interest Disclosure (PID) policy which provides detailed 
information about how staff can provide information regarding corrupt conduct, maladministration of a 
serious nature, serious and substantial waste, and government information contraventions.

During the reporting period three PIDs were finalised.
  
Public interest disclosures July 2014 – June 2015 

PIDs made by 
public officials while 
performing their day-
to-day functions

PIDs made by public 
officials under a 
statutory or other 
legal obligation

All other PIDs made 
by public officials

The number of public 
officials who have made a 
public interest disclosure 
directly 

Nil Nil 1

The number of public             
 interest disclosures                                                     
 received (including                                                         
 referrals from other                                                     
 agencies under                                                           
 sections 25 or 26 of                                                     
 the PID Act)         

Nil Nil 8

Number relating to 
corrupt conduct

Nil Nil 7

Number relating to 
maladministration

Nil Nil 2

Number relating to 
serious and substantial 
waste of public money

Nil Nil Nil

Number relating to 
government information 
contraventions

Nil Nil Nil

Number relating to local 
government pecuniary 
interest contraventions

Nil Nil Nil
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Action the head of the public authority has taken to ensure staff awareness of their 
responsibilities under s6E(1)(b) of the PID Act

The Department’s Public Disclosure Policy and Procedures document was launched in October 2014. 
All staff were notified about the new resource via an email from the Secretary. The document was also 
published on the Department’s intranet and internet sites. 

In addition, PID training is provided to relevant members of staff. As part of induction training, all trainee 
custodial officers receive a briefing that includes information about their reponsibility to submit public 
interest disclosures. Training is also provided to Department officers who receive and assess PIDs.
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Appendix 23  
Research 

Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research

Subject Description
NSW Custody Statistics Reports reception, discharge and custody population data and 

comparisons, June quarter 2014. 
NSW Recorded Crime Statistics Overview of trends in recorded crime June quarter 2014.
Reoffending on parole Measures the rate of reoffending on parole and identifies the predictors 

of both general and violent offending on parole.
Parole supervision and 
reoffending: a propensity score 
matching analysis 

Provides evidence that parole is effective in reducing the risk of 
reoffending.

Predictors of guilty pleas in the 
NSW District Court

Examines factors associated with early, late and not guilty pleas in the 
District Court of NSW.

The effect of suspended 
sentences on imprisonment 

Examines whether the introduction of suspended sentences 
reduced the number of offenders receiving a full-time sentence of 
imprisonment.

NSW Custody Statistics Reports reception, discharge and custody population data and 
comparisons, September quarter 2014.

Reporting rates of assaults on 
licensed premises by licensed 
premises staff 2012-13 

Determines whether there has been any change in the rate of reporting 
of assaults on licensed premises by staff, in 2012-13, in both the top 
100 and unranked licensed premises for assaults. 

Supply-side reduction policy 
and drug-related harm 

Examines whether seizures of heroin, cocaine or amphetamine-
type substances (ATS) or supplier arrests for heroin, cocaine or 
ATS trafficking have any effect on hospital emergency Department 
admissions related to or arrests for use and possession of these drugs.

Malicious damage to property 
offences in Bourke Local 
Government Area

Describes the nature of malicious damage to property offences in 
Bourke Local Government Area.

Young but not so restless: 
Trends in the age-specific rate 
of offending 

Describes and discusses trends in age-specific rates of offending for 
property crime, robbery and serious assault.

NSW Recorded Crime Statistics Overview of trends in recorded crime September quarter 2014.

Legal service for defendants 
in Apprehended Domestic 
Violence Order (ADVO) 
proceedings: an evaluation

Determines whether providing legal advice to defendants in ADVO 
proceedings reduces the frequency with which ADVOs are breached. 
What defendants and stakeholders think about the pilot legal advice 
service provided to defendants by Legal Aid NSW.

NSW Custody Statistics Reports reception, discharge and custody population data and 
comparisons, December quarter 2014.

Public confidence in the NSW 
criminal justice system

Assesses the level of public confidence in the NSW criminal justice 
system in 2014.

The effect of liquor licence 
concentrations in local areas on 
rates of assault in NSW

Investigates the relationship between liquor licence concentrations and 
assault rates in Local Government Areas in NSW.
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Subject Description
Understanding fraud: the nature 
of fraud offences recorded by 
NSW Police

Provides an understanding of the nature of fraud incidents recorded by 
NSW Police and investigates which fraud types are contributing to the 
increase in recorded fraud.

Persons convicted of breaching 
Apprehended Domestic 
Violence Orders: their 
characteristics and penalties

Describes the characteristics of those found guilty of breaching an 
Apprehended Domestic Violence Order in NSW in 2013 and the 
principal penalties they received.

Driving while disqualified Describes trends in charges for driving while disqualified (DWD), and 
examines the characteristics of DWD offenders and the penalties 
imposed on them. 

Have NSW criminal courts 
become more lenient in the 
past 20 years?

Investigates whether the NSW higher and Local Courts have become 
more lenient across a range of offence categories.

NSW Recorded Crime Statistics Overview of trends in recorded crime December quarter 2014.

Lockouts and last drinks: the 
impact of the January 2014 
liquor licence reforms on 
assaults in NSW

Determines whether the January 2014 reforms to the NSW Liquor Act 
reduced the incidence of assault in the Kings Cross and Sydney CBD 
entertainment precincts. Examines whether the incidence of assault 
increased in areas proximate to these precincts as a result.

An update of long-term trends 
in property and violent crime in 
NSW 1990-2014

Analyses the trends in the rates of annual recorded incidents of 10 
categories of property and violent crime for the period 1990 to 2014 in 
NSW.

NSW Recorded Crime Statistics 
2014

Overview of trends in recorded crime 2014.

NSW Custody Statistics Reports reception, discharge and custody population data and 
comparisons, March quarter 2015.

NSW prison population 
forecasts

Provides short and long term forecasts of growth in the NSW prison 
population. 

NSW Criminal Courts Statistics 
2014

Criminal cases finalised in 2014 in the NSW Local, Children’s, District 
and Supreme Courts.

NSW Recorded Crime Statistics Overview of trends in recorded crime, March quarter 2015.
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Subject Description
Correlates of oral language 
skills of young offenders

This project is being conducted by a PhD student with the University of 
Sydney. The aim of the project is to examine the association between 
oral language skills, social cognition and emotional reactivity, and the 
severity of antisocial and offender behaviour. 

Investigating recidivism 
in primary and secondary 
variants of psychopathy in 
incarcerated youth

This project is being conducted by a University of NSW student and 
Dr Eva Kimonis. The study aims to investigate whether the callous 
unemotional scores and conduct disorder symptoms predict non-violent 
and violent recidivism post-release. 

An analysis of supervision 
skills used by Juvenile Justice 
workers

Dr Chris Trotter from Monash University is evaluating the use of pro-
social modelling techniques by Juvenile Justice caseworkers during 
supervision sessions with young people serving community-based 
orders. 

Effective methods of 
challenging pro-criminal 
attitudes and behaviour of 
juvenile offenders

This project is being conducted by a PhD student with Monash 
University. This project explores the specific skills workers employ in 
confronting antisocial attitudes in juvenile offenders in the context of a 
supervision relationship. This research will further explore which styles of 
challenging are more effective with different client groups. 

Case management in NSW 
Juvenile Justice: client 
perspectives

This project is being conducted by a PhD student with Monash 
University. This research aims to examine and describe a client’s 
understanding and experiences of case management as it occurs in the 
Juvenile Justice system in order to contribute to and improve effective 
case management theory and practice.

Annual Patient Snapshot 
Survey

A longitudinal study spanning five years, conducted by Justice Health, 
in collaboration with Juvenile Justice. The project aims to monitor the 
satisfaction of Justice Health patients and key socio-demographic and 
health-related indicators. 

Intensive Supervision 
Program (ISP) Family 
Functioning

The project is currently being undertaken by Dr Brian Stout of the 
University of Western Sydney. The aim of this project is to evaluate the 
use of multi-systemic therapy in the ISP. The research project includes a 
cost-benefit analysis on the program. 

Intensive Supervision 
Program: BOCSAR

This project is being undertaken by BOCSAR. The aim of the study is 
to determine whether young people who are referred to ISP have lower 
rates of reoffending than a similar group of young offenders who are 
supervised in the community in the usual way. 

Stand as One - Shine for Kids 
mentoring program

Dr Danielle Tracey, from the University of Western Sydney, is undertaking 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Stand as One mentoring 
program. The project also seeks to understand the experience Shine for 
Kids of young people and mentors involved in the program through the 
transition from custody to community. 

Collaborative family work in 
youth justice: a model for 
reducing recidivism in young 
offenders

This project is being conducted by Dr Chris Trotter from Monash 
University. The project is evaluating the effects of collaborative family 
work (Act Now, Together Strong program) on juvenile offenders and their 
families. 

Juvenile Justice
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Subject Description
Oral language deficits in 
young incarcerated offenders 
in NSW: prevalence and 
response to intervention

This study is being undertaken by Dr Pamela Snow of Monash 
University. The study aims to describe the incidence and profile of oral 
language impairment in incarcerated young people. The study also aims 
to describe the incidence and profile in two specific groups: incarcerated 
indigenous young male offenders and incarcerated young female 
offenders. Phase 1 (prevalence study) data collection is complete. An 
ethics application for Phase 2 (intervention study) has been approved. 

The stages of psychosis in 
prison population

This study is being undertaken by Associate Professor Kimberlie Dean 
from the University of NSW. The aim of this project is to establish the 
prevalence of ultra-high risk, first episode psychosis and established 
psychosis within the population of incarcerated young people. The study 
will examine the relationship between different stages of psychosis and 
offending. 

Exploring the subjectivities 
of the transitions between 
offending and desistance

This study is being undertaken by a PhD Student at the University of 
Western Sydney. The aim of the study is to explore the transitional stage 
between desistance and offending. The project will explore prospective 
strategies to sustain desistance within the Australian context. 

Do callous unemotional 
traits moderate response 
to cognitive behavioural 
treatment in incarcerated 
boys?

This project will provide insight into whether or not cognitive behavioural 
therapy-based programs are appropriate and beneficial for young people 
who display levels of callous and unemotional traits.

Cross validation of the 
ARMIDILO-YV to the 
ERASOR as a test for risk of 
sexual offenders 

The study is looking to compare the tool ARMIDILO–YV (Assessment of 
Risk and Manageability for Individuals with Development and Intellectual 
Limitations who offend sexually- Youth Version) with ERASOR (Estimate 
of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offence Recidivism). ERASOR is a 
commonly and frequently used assessment in Canada and the United 
States for assessment of risk for juvenile sex offenders.

The use of nicotine 
replacement therapy with 
adolescents in custody in 
NSW

This project proposes to identify young people with nicotine dependence 
on reception to custody (as identified on Fagestrom screening), 
and explore the reasons why nicotine patches are prescribed or not 
prescribed. The project also proposes to document any benefits or 
adverse outcomes through the prescription/non-prescription of nicotine 
patches in young people with nicotine dependence.
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Corrective Services

The Corrective Services Ethics Committee was established to provide advice to the Commissioner for 
Corrective Services on all applications to undertake research. The Commissioner maintains the right to 
approve or decline the conduct of any research application. 

Subject Description
Surveillance and 
treatment of prisoners 
with hepatitis C

The study is being conducted by Professor Gregory Hore from the University 
of NSW. The research aims to evaluate the feasibility and potential impact 
of a rapid scale-up of hepatitis C virus (HVC) treatment (with interferon-free 
direct acting anti-viral) on inmates in a correctional setting. The study will 
also monitor the incidence of HCV infection over a two-year period. If the 
findings validate the study, it will allow a more rapid treatment regime for 
inmates suffering HCV while in custody.

Looking beyond the fraud 
triangle: an investigation 
into the circumstances 
in which fraud is 
committed and the 
internal rationalisations of 
perpetrators

The study is being undertaken by Dr Clinton Free and Dr Paul Andon from 
the University of NSW. The research aims to empirically examine the veracity 
of key principles of the major theoretical model of accounting practice – the 
fraud triangle. The study will focus on the last two points of the triangle: the 
opportunity for the fraud to be undertaken and the capacity of perpetrators 
to rationalise their conduct. The study will specifically focus on how 
different control practices may have impacted on the perpetrators’ actions 
and rationalisations, a theme largely ignored in the available literature. 
This may assist in informing cognitive behaviour treatment approaches to 
fraud offenders. The researchers aim to conduct the study across NSW, 
Queensland and Victoria.

Reducing incarceration 
using justice 
reinvestment: an 
exploratory study

The study is being conducted by Dr Jill Guthrie from the Australian National 
University. The research aims to work with stakeholders and community 
members from Cowra in a community-driven research project which will 
explore the theory and research methodology of justice reinvestment as a 
way of reducing incarceration of juveniles. The researchers will invite and 
interview any persons 16-24 years old from Cowra held in a Corrective 
Services facility to participate. An underlying philosophy of justice 
reinvestment is that the community reclaims an individual who is in contact 
with the criminal justice system as belonging to that community. 

Evaluation of the 
Aboriginal Women 
Leaving Custody Strategy

The evaluation is being undertaken by ARTD Consultants. The evaluation will 
review the effectiveness of the Aboriginal Women Leaving Custody (AWLC) 
Strategy towards reducing homelessness and recidivism and increasing 
the quality of life outcomes amongst Aboriginal women leaving Silverwater 
Women’s Correctional Centre on short notice. It is hoped the evaluation 
will communicate the benefits, strengths and failures of the AWLC in 
supporting Aboriginal women at this critical juncture. The AWLC focuses on 
establishing and strengthening service partnerships and progressing policy 
and service improvements through avenues within Family and Community 
Services, Housing NSW, Corrective Services and Legal Aid NSW. The AWLC 
also involves the Support Transition and Referrals service provided by the 
Community Restorative Centre and legal services provided by Legal Aid 
NSW.
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Subject Description
The delivery and 
problems associated with 
innovative learning for 
detained students

The study is being undertaken by Dr Lorna Barrow from Macquarie 
University. The research aims to review and add to the limited literature 
on the use of technology by inmates to assist in their education whilst in 
custody.  The research will focus and explore the problems and needs 
associated with e-learning by inmates in Corrective Services. The project will 
use both quantitative and qualitative information about the experiences of 
staff and inmates regarding access to technology for use in study purposes. 
Corrective Services e-learning technology is moving forward and the study 
may assist to identify problems and propose solutions for the delivery of this 
expanding education service.

Determining social capital 
indicators associated 
with accessing treatment 
and changes in health-
related quality of life 
post-treatment: HCV 
treatment among male 
inmates in NSW

The study is being undertaken by Ms Lise Lafferty from the University of 
New South Wales. The research aims to define social capital in custody and 
identify differences which may exist between Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
inmates, for those who have access to HCV treatment and if there are any 
correlations between social capital and health-related quality of life. It is 
anticipated that inmates accessing HCV treatment in custody will have 
access to higher levels of social capital in forms of support networks than 
those inmates who do not access treatment.

Quality of life and 
substance-related 
offending treatment

The study is being undertaken by Dr Sharon Casey of Deakin University.  
The research aims to establish the utility of the construct of Quality of Life in 
developing more effective approaches to prison substance use treatment. 
The two parts of the study will aim to establish the level of quality of life 
for inmates who enter a compulsory drug treatment program and examine 
equality of life as a mechanism of change in the treatment for substance- 
using inmates. Dr Casey aims to use data available from her previous 
approved study undertaken at the Compulsory Drug Treatment Correctional 
Centre, entitled The impact of treatment modality, coercion and treatment 
readiness on criminal recidivism.

Evaluation of the 
Transitions Project

The study is being undertaken by Ms Rachel Rowe from the Drug and 
Alcohol Multicultural Education Centre (DAMEC). The research aims to 
evaluate the long-term efficacy of the DAMEC transitions project, an 
intensive case management support service for Vietnamese and Arabic 
speaking ex-offenders with alcohol or drug related issues. The transitions 
project aims to prevent relapse relating to drug use and crime within a 
culturally appropriate model. DAMEC is a non-government organisation and 
is funded by the NSW Ministry of Health to run the Transitions Project.

Evaluating the experience 
and performance of the 
Intensive Learning Centre 
design prototype

The study will be conducted by Dr Rohan Lulham from the University 
of Technology Sydney to undertake a post-occupancy evaluation of the 
Intensive Learning Centre (ILC) at the Mid-North Coast Correctional Centre. 
The ILC is an innovative educational facility in which Corrective Services 
staff and inmates have been central to its design, construction and delivery. 
Corrective Services and the Designing Out Crime (DOC) centre at the UTS 
have a three-year partnership agreement. Under the partnership, DOC 
collaborated with Corrective Services on the design and development of the 
ILC prototype which is the focus of this evaluation. The aim of the DOC is to 
inform and improve on the learning environments for inmates in correctional 
centres.
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Subject Description
Bowel Cancer Screening 
Program Pilot

The study is being undertaken by Mr Gary Clarke, Nurse Manager, Justice 
Health and Forensic Mental Health Network (JH&FMHN). The research aims 
to pilot a voluntary Bowel Cancer Screening Program for participating male 
inmates in NSW, equivalent to the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program 
available free to men over the age of 50 in the general community. The pilot 
will result in operational learning for JH&FMHN to help determine if a 
statewide screening program is feasible as well as possibly alerting 
JH&FMHN to a significant inmate health issue not previously measured.  

Interviewing Domestic 
Abuse Program 
participants about 
Apprehended Domestic 
Violence Orders

The study is being conducted by Dr Rory Gallagher from the Behavioural 
Insights Unit in the Department of Premier and Cabinet to interview domestic 
violence offenders (DVOs) on their views and understanding about the 
language used in current Apprehended Domestic Violence Orders (ADVOs), 
related court processes and support services/programs. The study will also 
interview NSW Community Corrections officers who supervise offenders 
subject to an ADVO. The officers’ views on the current orders as well as 
proposed amendments will also be sought. 

The relationship between 
serious mental illness 
and offending in NSW – a 
data linkage study

The study is being undertaken by Dr Stephen Allnutt from the University 
of NSW. The research aims to determine the population impact of serious 
mental illness on offending behaviour in NSW. Studies have been conducted 
overseas but this data linkage will be the first population-based study 
examining the relationship between mental illness and offending in NSW. The 
study will be a retrospective cohort involving a population level data linkage 
of several administrative data collections from various agencies in NSW 
which are linked through the NSW Ministry of Health. 

Network Patient Health 
Survey 2015

The survey is being managed by Dr Alex Wilde for Justice Health and 
Forensic Mental Health Network (JH&FMHN). The Network Patient Health 
Survey (NPHS) 2015 aims to survey the physical and mental health status of 
adult, juvenile and forensic patients in NSW correctional facilities to provide 
strategic input into the planning of JH&FMHN health services and guide 
health policy. The NPHS 2015 will also provide an opportunity to evaluate 
longitudinal health outcomes by linking data to the previous Inmate Health 
Surveys conducted in 2009, 2001 and 1996. The previous health surveys 
have been acknowledged as one of the most comprehensive assessments 
of the inmate population health needs in the world. The NPHS will also 
incorporate questions on behalf of the Australian Institute of Health and 
Welfare.
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Victims Services

NSW Victims of Crime Clearinghouse monitors research and provides reviews of relevant research 
undertaken. They also manage an online database of journal articles, reports, papers, books and other 
publications focusing on issues that affect victims of crime.

Ongoing Research

Subject Description
Coronial process The research aims to develop an understanding of coronial practices 

in missing persons’ investigations and investigate the experiences of 
families of missing persons of the coronial process.

Working with young people The research objectives are to identify and understand the psycho-social 
impact of missing on children and young people. Explore the coping 
strategies they employ and better inform and engage the community 
about missing persons issues as they relate to children and young 
people.

The following research is pending publication 

Subject Description
National Framework of Rights 
and Services for Victims of 
Crime

The publication provides an overview of international and national good 
practice for practioners working with clients who have experienced 
sexual assault.

National Framework of Rights 
and Services for Victims of 
Crime

The publication provides an overview of international and national good 
practice for practioners working with children who have been victims of 
violent crime.

National Framework of Rights 
and Services for Victims of 
Crime

The publication provides an overview of international and national good 
practice for practioners working with clients who have experienced 
domestic and family violence.

Approved Counselling 
Service

The report is an evaluation of the counselling in prisons trial, which was 
conducted in order to determine the effectiveness of providing victims 
counselling to inmates who have previously been a victim of a violent 
crime. 

Victims of Crime Research 
Fund 2013-14

Commissioned by Victims Services under the research grants program, 
this report was produced by Tyrone Kirchengast, PhD from the University 
of NSW. Using face to face interviews, questionnaires and analysis of 
court documents, the report evaluated how the needs of victims of crime 
can be best served by the NSW criminal justice system and makes 
recommendations for improving outcomes for victims of crime.

Victims of Crime Research 
Fund 2013-14

Commissioned by Victims Services under the research grants program, 
this report was produced by Leanne Dowse, PhD from the University 
of NSW. The research and subsequent report provide key findings and 
recommendations on the nature and experience of crime victimisation 
for victims of crime with complex needs who have been in the criminal 
justice system as offenders.
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Subject Description
Missing people: a guide for 
family members and service 
providers

Written by Families and Friends of Missing Persons Unit councillors in 
consultation with family members who have someone missing in their 
lives. The information provided is based on the knowledge of the Families 
and Friends of Missing Persons Unit team, information gained from other 
organisations and research findings about the emotional and psycho-
social impact of missing. This book assists service providers to better 
understand the difficulties they face, through the insights the families 
have provided. The book raises awareness and increases understanding 
of missing persons’ issues across the community.

Facebook - social media 
evaluation

A review of the Families and Friends of Missing Persons Unit facebook  
page to determine if the page is meeting current user needs and to 
further explore the potential of social media to respond to the needs of 
families, service providers and the community, resulting in compilation of 
a report to inform future practice.

Group work evaluation An evaluation of the group meetings to gain an understanding of families’ 
expectations about attending group meetings and whether these have 
been met. The evaluation also seeks to understand the therapeutic 
benefits of attending a group and to ensure families continue to receive 
these benefits in future meetings.

Coronial guide for families of 
missing people

This guide has been developed by Families and Friends of Missing 
Persons Unit in consultation with the NSW State Coroner. The guide 
addresses key aspects of the coronial process and answers frequently 
asked questions.

Appendix 23



p

282

Appendix 24 
Senior executives

Band
2014 2015

Female Male Female Male
Band 4 
Secretary 0 1 0 1
Band 3 
Deputy Secretary 6 7* 1 7*
Band 2 
Executive Director 12 11 8 10
Band 1 
Director 46 43 50 49
Totals 64 62 59 67

126 126

Band Range
$

Average remuneration 
2014 $

Average remuneration 
2015 $

Band 4 
Secretary

430,451 -
506,208 468,852 477,670

Band 3 
Deputy Secretary

305,401 -
430,450 312,759 333,224

Band 2 
Executive Director

242,801 -
305,400 262,784 270,365

Band 1 
Director

170,250 - 
242,800 188,504 195,440

 
The Department had not yet implemented the senior executive structure during the reporting year. The above table 
presents the number of transitional senior executives employed during the year and remuneration levels equivalent 
to the senior executive bands as per instructions in Public Service Commission Circular PSSC 2014-09. 
Two per cent of the Department’s employee related expenditure in 2014-15 was related to senior executives (both 
senior officers and senior executive service).  
 
*Note for 2013-14 and 2014-15, a 4.34 per cent on-cost was applied to senior executives and 13.59 per cent for 
senior officer base remuneration packages which resulted in an extra role moving into the Band 4 (Secretary) salary 
range. However, it should be noted that this is still a Band 3 role.
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Appendix 25 
Workforce diversity

The Department of Justice continues to develop and implement initiatives aimed at attracting, recruiting, 
developing and retaining people that reflect the diversity of our clients and the wider NSW community.

The Department is performing well against the NSW Public Sector workforce targets and benchmarks 
and continues to enhance its capabilities to deliver high quality, responsive services that meet the needs 
of clients.

Statistical information on workforce diversity target groups 
 
Table 1 Trends in the representation of workforce diversity groups1

% of Total Staff2

Workforce diversity group Benchmark 
or target

2012 2013 2014 2015

Women 50 50 50 49 48
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 2.63 4.8 4.9 5.1 4.8
People whose first language was not English 19 15.7 16.1 16.4 15.7
People with a disability N/A4 6.2 6.3 6.6 6.6
People with a disability requiring work-related 
adjustment5

1.1 (2011)

1.3 (2012)

1.5 (2013)

2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1

Table 2 Trends in the distribution of workforce diversity groups6 

Distribution index7

Workforce diversity group Benchmark 
or target

2012 2013 2014 2015

Women 100 98 98 99 99
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 100 91 91 92 94
People whose first language was not English 100 95 95 95 95

People with a disability 100 99 98 98 99

People with a disability requiring work-related 
adjustment

100 99 97 98 101

 
NOTE: Information for the above tables is provided by the Workforce Information Unit, NSW Public Service 
Commission.
1 Based on staff numbers as at 30 June 2015 
2 Excludes casual staff 
3 Minimum target by 2015 
4 Per cent employment levels are reported but a benchmark level has not been set 
5 Minimum annual incremental target 
6  Excludes casual staff 
7 A distribution index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the workforce diversity group across 
salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. Values less than 100 mean that the workforce diversity group tends 
to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced this tendency 
is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the workforce diversity 
group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The distribution index is not calculated where workforce diversity 
group or non-workforce group numbers are -less than 20. 
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Major workforce diversity outcomes 

In 2014-15, the Department continued to implement initiatives across all of its divisions to improve 
employment outcomes for workforce diversity groups. Underpinning this work was the launch of the 
Department’s Workforce Diversity Program 2015-16 which aims to improve employment access and 
participation for workforce diversity groups and promote an inclusive workplace which displays fair and 
respectful practices and behaviours. 

 
Aboriginal employment

 ^ In January 2015, the Department launched the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Employment 
Strategy 2015-17, which replaces a number of divisional Aboriginal Employment Strategies, 
and includes new initiatives across the areas of attraction, recruitment, career development and 
training.

 ^ The Department continued to offer employment pathways for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander students. Three Indigenous cadets successfully completed their cadetships with the 
Public Guardian, Victims Services and Corrective Services. Two new Indigenous cadetships were 
approved for Victims Services and Aboriginal Services Division with recruitment action currently 
underway. The Public Defender’s Office continued to provide internships for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander law graduates and there were four Aboriginal school-based trainees within 
the Department.

 ^ The Department continued to participate in the NSW Elsa Dixon program, which supports 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employment. The Department received approval and funding 
assistance for a career development opportunity at Juvenile Justice.

 ^ Court Services ran targeted employment activities, with a number of ongoing and temporary 
positions filled by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants.

 ^ Representatives from the Department continued to participate on a number external forums and 
working groups, including the Public Service Commission’s Aboriginal Employment Forum.

 ^ A broad range of activities and events to celebrate NAIDOC Week 2014 were organised across 
the Department.

 ^ Ten Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants were employed as casual correctional officers 
during 2014-15. In addition, two new identified roles for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
were created at Kariong Correctional Centre and four at Cobham Juvenile Justice Centre. 
Corrective Services converted five other roles in correctional centres to identified roles.

 ^ Corrective Services continued to deliver Aboriginal Cultural Awareness training to custodial 
and community corrections staff, as part of its induction and operational training courses, and 
continued to provide an e-learning course.

 ^ Juvenile Justice continued to deliver its Cultural Respect Training aimed at building the cultural 
competence of staff when dealing with clients and families. 

 ^ Juvenile Justice had fourteen new participants enrol in its Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Mentoring Program. The Program aims to promote the culture of self-directed work based 
learning and leadership and facilitate development.

 ^ The Juvenile Justice Aboriginal Strategic Advisory Committee continued to provide Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander staff with a platform to advise Senior Executives on Aboriginal issues.

 ^ Juvenile Justice held a successful Aboriginal Staff Network annual conference, which was 
attended by approximately sixty delegates.
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Employment of people with disability
 ^ In March 2015, the Department entered into a one-year partnership with the National Disability 

Recruitment Coordinator. The aim of the partnership is to build disability knowledge and 
competency in the workplace and help identify and address any barriers to the employment of 
people with a disability.

 ^ In December 2015, the Department’s Staff with a Disability Network held its annual conference to 
coincide with International Day for Disability. The network continued to hold meetings throughout 
the year to discuss issues pertinent to staff with disabilities at work. 

 ^ The Department continued to deliver disability awareness training to staff.
 ^ The Sherriff’s Office recruited into four disability-targeted roles.
 ^ The Department continued to partner with Disability Employment Services (DES) provider to 

provide job seekers with disability work experience placements and one person transitioned from 
the work experience program to a temporary role in Local Courts.

 ^ The Department continued to implement its Reasonable Adjustments Policy and Reasonable 
Adjustment Guidelines to staff, to ensure employees with a disability can access opportunities for 
development. 

Multicultural employment
 ^ The Department launched its Multicultural Plan 2015-18 which provides an outline of how 

the Department has integrated the multicultural principles into its work and will engage with 
multicultural communities.

 ^ The Department continued to implement the Community Language Allowance Scheme (CLAS). 
As part of the scheme, an allowance paid to selected employees who have a basic level of 
competency in a language other than English and who work in locations where their language 
skills can be utilised to assist clients in terms of Clause 50 of the Crown Employees (Public 
Service Conditions of Employment) Award 2009.

 ^ The Department’s Cultural Diversity Network held regular meetings during the year to discuss 
issues relevant to the group. 

 ^ Corrective Services continued to deliver cultural awareness training to custodial and community 
corrections staff as part of its induction and operational training programs. 

 ^ In addition 22 per cent of Corrective Services staff completed a new workforce diversity e-survey 
providing their country of birth and second language information. Of the 1,551 staff who 
completed the survey, 28 per cent were born overseas from 66 different countries and 17.5 per 
cent have a second language with 61 different languages in total. 

Employment of women
 ^ The representation of women in senior roles in the Department continued to exceed the NSW 

Public Sector target of 35 per cent. 
 ^ The Department delivered a number of training sessions for the career development of women, 

including the Springboard Program. 
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Employment of young people
 ^ The Department’s Young Professionals Network (YPN), formerly the Youth Network, was 

successfully relaunched in April 2015 and has a membership of over 120. The YPN is a 
professional and social networking forum for all employees aged 34 years and under and aims to 
promote collaboration, identify professional development opportunities and provide feedback to 
the Department on workforce planning strategies and policies.

 ^ In April 2015, the YPN held a corporate planning workshop which was attended by over 70 
members. 

Other outcomes
 ^ The Department’s Equity and Diversity Alliance held six meetings in the reporting year, which 

were well attended, and included representatives from across the divisions and workforce 
diversity staff networks. The Alliance provides oversight and leadership on workforce diversity 
issues in conjunction with Strategic Human Resources.

 ^ The first Department of Justice Diversity and Accessibility Excellence Award was presented 
to the ‘Us Mob’ Aboriginal Dance Troupe that operates under the guidance and mentorship of 
Juvenile Justice Youth Officers at the Acmena Juvenile Justice Centre at South Grafton. 

Future initiatives 

In 2015-16, the Department will continue to embed workforce diversity into its workforce planning 
processes and implement key workforce diversity initiatives including:

 ^ a whole-of-Department Disability Employment Strategy and employment initiatives for inclusion 
in the Department’s new Disability Inclusion Action Plan

 ^ a full suite of workforce diversity metrics and analytics and production of a workforce diversity 
baseline report

 ^ effective partnerships with Aboriginal and Disability Employment Service providers to promote 
vacancies and improve application and success rates for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
and people with disabilities

 ^ programs that support employment pathways for young people from workforce diversity groups
 ^ re-convening and promoting membership of workforce diversity staff networks, including 

establishing a network for employees who identify as LGBTI
 ^ programs promoting career pathways for women into senior roles
 ^ a suite of diversity resources and toolkits for managers and staff for practical application in the 

workplace.
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